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DEPARTMENT OF DEFENCE
ANNUAL REPORT FY2010/11

Ms L. N. Sisulu, MP
Minister of Defence & Military Veterans

Dear Minister

THE DEPARTMENT OF DEFENCE ANNUAL REPORT ON THE STRATEGIC PLAN 2010 (FY2010/11 TO
FY2012/13)

I have the honour of submitting the Department of Defence Annual Report for the reporting year 01 April 2010 to
31 March 2011.

The Annual Report has been prepared as required by Section 40 (1) (d), read together with Treasury Regulation
18.3 of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), Act 1 of 1999 as amended. The Government Framework for
Managing Programme Performance, the requirements of the Public Service Regulations, 2001, Chapter 1 part 111
and the reporting guidelines given by the National Treasury were also complied with.

I hereby formally submit this report to the National Assembly as a statutory requirement to Parliament.

SECRETARY FOR DEFENCE: DIRECTOR-GENERAL
(N.Z.H. MPOFU)
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For the purpose of this document the term “The Minister” will at all times refer to the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans
(MOD & MV), unless specifically stated otherwise.

At the time of publishing, a seperate vote for the Department of Military Veterans was not created. The term Department of
Defence and Military Veterans (DOD & MV) and the Department of Defence (DOD) are used interchangably in the document.
In general terms, the former will be used, however, the latter will be used mostly when referring specifically to DOD.
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Chapter  1

F o r e w o r d   b y   t h e   
H o n o u r a b l e   M i n i s t e r   

o f   D e f e n c e   a n d
M i l i t a r y   V e t e r a n s ,   

L . N .   S i s u l u ,   M P

The year under review has, from the outset, been framed by
the challenge issued by His Excellency JG Zuma, President
of the Republic of South Africa during his State of the Nation
address of 11 February 2010.  Here he articulated the strate-
gic focus of Government and its commitment to build a
strong developmental state, able to respond to the needs and
aspirations of the people of the country, and able to perform
better and faster.

This was amplified through the affirmation that the strategic
intent of Government for the period was to build a perform-
ance-orientated state, through the optimising of planning as
well as performance monitoring and evaluation.  Efforts were
to be measured by outcomes, with an emphasis on accounta-
bility and an action orientation.

Within the parameters of this context, the Departments of
Defence and Military Veterans have embarked on the vigor-
ous pursuance of a number of key strategic objectives.  These
have included, inter alia, a focus on such pivotal elements as
the creation of a Defence Dispensation; ensuring the full
functionality of the Department of Military Veterans;
addressing audit qualifications; border security; Defence
infrastructure and budget.  We also committed ourselves to a
much-needed policy review in a number of critical sectors
including the repositioning of the Defence Secretariat, the
creation of a National Youth Service, and the repositioning of
the Defence Industry. These areas of policy review have
yielded noteworthy results, and the positive realisation of
these is anticipated.

Furthermore, it is with much pleasure that we are able to
report on significant achievements in the majority of all other
domains. Most notably, a revised defence dispensation has
been instituted, with the associated Defence Amendment Bill
being passed in Parliament.  This will impact significantly on
the ability of the department to address such key aspects as

accommodation, grievance resolution and discipline, as well
as to optimise matters of human resource administration,
including remuneration, conditions of service in recognition
of associated hardships inherrently unique to the military.

Furthermore, the Department of Military Veterans has been
established, with the structures having been approved by the
Department of Public Service and Administration on 30 June
2010.  In support of this entity, the requisite regulations have
been drafted, including the Military Veterans Affairs Bill.

The matters of good governance in general, and audit quali-

MS L.N. SISULU
MINISTER OF DEFENCE AND
MILITARY VETERANS
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fications in particular, have been systematically pursued
through a programme of interventions addressing internal
departmental controls.  This has had the desired outcome,
with the concomitant reduction in audit qualifications from
seven in FY2007/08 to one in the FY2010/11. The remaining
audit qualification falls within the defence asset domain, an
area of genetic disadvantage in defence departments interna-
tionally, given the unique nature of the core business. The
matter of asset management, both pertaining to tangible and
intangible assets, will remain a critical departmental objective
in the coming period.

We are particularly proud to report on the return of our men
and women to the borders.  Currently, some 1500 kilometres
of border are being covered, with this distance anticipated to
expand to some 4 471 kilometres of land border, 2 700 kilo-
metres of maritime border and 76 600 kilometres of air bor-
der by the end of the deployment. The effects of this presence
are readily apparent, with cross-border crime having declined
significantly.

The matter of infrastructure has received considerable atten-
tion, and we are gratified to note that on 01 April 2011 the
Defence Works Capability was formally instituted. This has
been the result of constructive deliberation between the
department and the National Department of Public Works in
order to give effect to our intent of establishing a Defence
Estate Management mechanism. The implementation of the
capability in its full spectrum will receive our continued atten-
tion in the forthcoming period.

Two areas which have not seen full resolution have been the
revitalisation of the landward forces and the expansion of the
budget in order to accommodate the emergent Constitutional
requirements. These priorities will remain key strategic focus
areas for FY2011/12.

Further critical priorities which shall occupy our attention in
the coming period will include, inter alia, entrenchment of our
new dispensation for South African National Defence Force
members, and the associated improvement of the conditions

within the South African National Derence Force, including
the pressing concerns, raised by the Interim National
Defence Force Commission, of accommodation. Our efforts
in supporting Government intent on the matter of youth in
general and furthering our agenda with regard to the National
Youth Service in particular, will receive our concerted atten-
tion.  The effects of the successful implementation of this ini-
tiative will be significant, and we await the realisation there-
of with anticipation.

The defence and security of South Africa is inextricably
linked to that of the region and continent.  South Africa is
essentially a littoral state, and accordingly the requirement
for a balanced maritime capability, able to respond to identi-
fied and potential maritime security threats, is undisputed.
This is particularly pertinent, given the recent escalation of
maritime crime in the region. This matter will therefore be
given particular focus in our efforts.

Additional priorities for FY2011/12 remain the matter of the
repositioning of ARMSCOR and DENEL, to ensure synthe-
sis between these entities and departmental requirements,
and the revitalisation of our Reserve Force.

In conclusion, allow me to acknowledge the dedication, loy-
alty and commitment of our men and women who serve our
country and who so relentlessly pursue the furthering of our
strategic intent as a department.  We extend our considerable
appreciation to all those who have so selflessly ensured that
the year under review, has been such a notable success.

(MS L. N. SISULU)

MINISTER OF DEFENCE AND 
MILITARY VETERANS: MP
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D E P A R T M E N T  O F  D E F E N C E

I n s t i t u t i o n s   R e p o r t i n g   t o   t h e
E x e c u t i v e   A u t h o r i t y

The following Organs of State and Public Entities report to the
Minister of Defence and Military Veterans in terms of the
PFMA. These include the following;

Department of Military Veterans. The Department of
Military Veterans is responsible for the overall manage-
ment and administration of military veteran affairs
including but not limited to developing policy, legisla-
tion, programmes, benefits and services that assist the
transition from active service to civilian life.

Defence Force Service Commission (DFSC). The
Commission is responsible for making recommendations
to the Minister concerning conditions of service of
SANDF members.

Armaments Corporation of South Africa (ARM-
SCOR). ARMSCOR is a schedule 2 entity under the
Public Financial Management Act (PFMA) mandated to
support the delivery of the strategic Defence Capabilities.

Castle Control Board. The Castle Control Board is clas-
sified as a public entity under the PFMA and carries the

mandate of managing and protecting the Castle of Good
Hope on behalf of the Minister who has the ultimate
ownership responsibility for the Castle.

B i l l s   S u b m i t t e d   t o   t h e  L e g i s l a t u r e
a n d   F i n a l i s e d   D u r i n g   t h e
R e p o r t i n g   Y e a r

Defence Amendment Act, 2010 (Act No 22 of 2010)

Defence Force Service Commission (DFSC) Bill

Military Ombudsman Bill

Military Veterans Bill (B1 - 2011)

M i n i s t e r i a l   V i s i t s   A b r o a d   f o r
t h e   F Y 2 0 1 0 / 1 1

The Minister and Deputy Minister of Defence and Military
Veterans were engaged in a number of defence-related diplo-
matic activities. International visits made by the Minister are
shown in Table 1.1, whilst those made by the Deputy Minister
are shown in Table 1.2 below.  

PART  1:  THE  MINISTRY
Chapter  1

I n f o r m a t i o n   o n   
t h e   M i n i s t r y

Date

31 May 2010 - 06 June 2010

11 - 15 July 2010

22 - 23 July 2010

02 - 08 August 2010

17 - 21 August 2010

25 - 26 August 2010

09 - 10 September 2010

24 September 2010 - 
02 October 2010

Country

India

Seychelles

Mozambique

Russia

Sweden

Burundi

Namibia

Belgium

Purpose

Part of the President's delegation on a Bi-national 
meeting to strengthen relations between the two coun-
tries

Attended the International Symposium On Piracy

Attended the SADC Inter-State Defence and Security 
meeting

Part of the President's delegation on a Bi-national meeting 
to strengthen relations between the two countries

Chaired the meeting of the Board of the International  
Urban Poor Fund and attended the related seminar

Represented the President of the RSA at the inauguration 
of the President of Burundi in Bujumbura

Bilateral meeting on Defence Cooperation matters: Joint 
Permanent Commission on Defence  and Security
(JPCDS) 

Part of the President's delegation on a Bi-national meeting 
to strengthen relations between the two countries

Table 1.1:  International Visits by the Minister of Defence in the FY2010/11
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2

Date

19 - 21 October 2010

18 - 22 November 2010

31 January 2011 to 
04 February 2011

10 - 15 February 2011

Country

Botswana

Argentina

Spain

India

Purpose

Bilateral meeting of the Joint Permanent Commission on 
Defence and Security (JPCDS)

Sign a Memorandum of Understanding and to strengthen 
relations between the two countries

Invitation as part of the SANDF's commitment to 
strengthen relations with European countries 

Visited counterpart and attended the International 
Defence and Aerospace Exhibition 

Table 1.1:  International Visits by the Minister of Defence in the FY2010/11 (continued)

Date

08 - 12 May 2010

21 - 22 May 2010

28  - 30 May 2010

22 - 23 July 2010

09  - 10 September 2010

19 - 21 October 2010

24 - 30 October 2010

06 - 08 December 2010

Country

Jordan

Seychelles

Botswana

Mozambique

Namibia 

Botswana

France

Ethiopia

Purpose

Attend the Special Operation Forces Exhibition and 
Conference

Attended a Regional Ministerial Conference on a Regional 
Approach to fight piracy off the Coast of Somalia

Attended the funeral of a military veteran of uMkhonto 
weSizwe who died in Botswana

Attended the SADC Inter-State Defence and Security 
meeting

Bilateral meeting on Defence Cooperation matter: Joint 
Permanent Commission on Defence and Security in
Swakopmund

Bilateral meeting of the Joint Permanent Commission on 
Defence and Security (JPCDS)

Attended a EURONAVAL 2010 Exhibition in Paris

Attended a Defence Cooperation meeting of the African 
Chief Defence Staff and Heads of Security and Safety in
Addis Ababa

Table 1.2:  International Visits by the Deputy Minister of Defence and Military Veterans in the
FY2010/11

A p p e a r a n c e s   b e f o r e   t h e
P a r l i a m e n t a r y   C o m m i t t e e s

The Minister and DOD appeared before the Portfolio
Committee on Defence and Military Veterans (PCD) on 16
occasions and attended one hearing of the Standing
Committee on Public Accounts (SCOPA) during the report-
ing period.  

P a r l i a m e n t a r y   Q u e s t i o n s

The Minister replied to 16 questions form the National
Council of Provinces and gave 113 replies to the National
Assembly during the period under review.

C o u n c i l   o n   D e f e n c e

The Council on Defence, the highest decision making body in
the DOD, met four times during the period under review.

M I N I S T E R   O F   D E F E N C E
P R I O R I T I E S   F O R   F Y 2 0 1 0 / 1 1

Performance against the Priorities of the Minister of Defence
for the FY2010/11 is reported as follows:

The Establishment of a functional Department of
Military Veterans. In pursuit of this priority, the organ-
isational structure of this department was designed and
approved by the Minister on 28 May 2010, subsequent
to the approval, a determination of functions was done
by the Minister of Public Service & Administration. The
appointment of the senior members is in process and
will be completed in the early part of FY2011/12. To
ensure a mandate for the department, the Military
Veterans Affairs Bill has been drafted and the costing of
military veterans' benefits as contemplated in the Bill is
currently being considered by Cabinet.  

Rejuvenation and Upgrading of the Landward
Programme. This project has been prioritised for the
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FY2011/12. The Landward Defence Capability has not
had the advantage of being part of the Strategic Defence
Package programme and is thus lagging in technologi-
cally advanced prime mission equipment. The develop-
ment of this capability relies on the acquisition of specif-
ic combat and logistic product systems. This capability
is essential to ensure the sustainment of deployments
beyond the borders of the RSA. Apart from additional
funding allocated for the upgrade of the operational
ambulance fleet in FY2011/12, no additional funds have
been allocated or approved.

Infrastructure and the Department of Defence
Works Regiment. At the end of the period under
review, Project LEBAKA was completed and trans-
ferred from the SA Army to the Logistics Division and
merged with the Service Corps and existing facility
management agencies to form the Defence Works
Capability. The macro-structure was approved by the
Minister of Defence on 23 March 2011. Subsequently,
the A/CSANDF issued an implementation instruction
for the establishment of the Defence Works Formation
under command of Chief of Logistics with effect from
01 April 2011. The new formation is aimed at providing
efficient, effective and economical operational level
facility management, including maintenance, repair and
construction, in support of the strategy and objectives of
the DOD.  The Service Corps, previously under com-
mand of Chief of Human Resources, has also been inte-
grated into this capability. Skills development training
has been undertaken with 676 members (56 already
qualified) who have gained valuable practical experi-
ence by working on DOD and other construction proj-
ects. These members will form the core of the Defence
Works Formation.

Alignment of Defence Secretariat with its Constitu-
tional and Legislative Mandate. Research has been
conducted into the best possible manner of repositioning
the Defence Secretariat so as to assist the Minister in her
civil control responsibility.  Both domestic and interna-
tional experiences were taken into account in this
research.  During 2010, a Defence Secretariat reposition
proposal was submitted to the Minister for considera-
tion.  Depending on which option is adopted, the reposi-
tioning of the Defence Secretariat might have conse-
quential policy implications.

The Establishment of the Defence Force Service
Commission and Supporting Structures. The Defence
Amendment Act (Act No 22 of 2010) which provides
for the establishment of the permanent Defence Force
Service Commission was promulgated in December
2010.  FY2011/12 will see the promulgation of the
applicable regulations to give content to the Defence
Amendment Act with respect to the Service
Commission. Over and above this, all necessary support
structures to the Service Commission will also be estab-

lished and operationalised.

Transformation of ARMSCOR. ARMSCOR is estab-
lished in terms of legislation to serve as the acquisition
agency of the DOD. ARMSCOR is therefore a critical
stakeholder in so far as the SANDF operational effec-
tiveness is concerned.  ARMSCOR falls under the juris-
dictional authority of the Minister. Experience over the
years has repeatedly pointed towards the need for a
review of the relationship between the DOD and ARM-
SCOR so as to enhance efficiency and economy.  A con-
ceptual Framework for the repositioning of ARMSCOR
has been developed. This framework addresses details
of the relationship between ARMSCOR and the DOD in
the areas of business process, governance, risk, compli-
ance and accounting. 

Incremental Refocusing of DENEL to Support the
identified Defence Strategic Capabilities. DENEL is
a public enterprise that falls under the jurisdiction of the
Minister of Public Enterprises. DENEL is crucial to the
DOD in as much as it serves as the repository of certain
SANDF strategic capabilities. Noting the importance of
DENEL to the SANDF operational efficiency and effec-
tiveness, the DOD has adopted a framework which
forms the basis of its discussions with the Department of
Public Enterprises on its relationship with DENEL. The
aim is an end state in which DENEL remains a strategic
supplier to the DOD whilst maintaining economic via-
bility in its own right.

Promote a Culture of Good Governance Prescripts.
During 2009, the DOD introduced specific interventions
to strengthen internal controls. These interventions have
resulted in the reduction of audit qualifications from
seven to one. The one remaining audit qualification in
the area of defence asset management has been the focus
for this financial year.  International experience has
shown that most defence forces across the world experi-
ence major challenges with asset management.
Notwithstanding this, the DOD has made significant
improvement to the management of its tangible and
intangible assets. A new single logistic process has been
developed to ensure compliance with National Treasury
accounting and reporting requirements and international
auditing standards. An organisational structure was
developed to support this process.

Information Technology (IT). The pilot Human
Resource Module has been rolled-out with a formal
launch by the Department of Public Service and
Administration. The DOD is currently undergoing train-
ing and testing of the module which is intended to
replace the current Human Resources application with-
in the National Treasury set timelines. The DOD and the
National Treasury are finalising the discussions to gain
approval for the lifting of the moratorium for the devel-
opment of the DOD unique logistics systems.  An inte-
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grated financial management system for the asset regis-
ter and procurement implementation charter between
National Treasury and the DOD was also formulated.
Eleven units have been identified as lead sites for the
implementation of the asset register. Procurement will
commence from 01 April 2011. A number of IT projects
to help improve health care are also in various stages of
implementation. 

Defence Strategy that responds to the DOD's Cur-
rent and Emerging Needs. The Defence Strategy
Conceptual Framework has been completed and has
been accepted by the Minister. This can now be dis-
cussed with Cabinet as part of the consultation process.

The Revitalisation of the Reserves. The Defence
Amendment Act (Act 22 of 2010) promulgated in Dec-
ember 2010 makes provision for the utilisation of
Reserve members and their obligation to serve in times
of need. The implementation of the legislative provi-
sions shall be given effect through the applicable regula-
tions and contracts to be developed during the course of
FY2011/12. The roll-out of the University Reserve
Training Programme for under-graduates is progressing
well, with a number of tertiary education institutions
participating in the programme.

Optimal Utilisation of the Collateral Value of Def-
ence Capabilities in Responding to the Country's
Socio-Economic Needs. The SANDF prepared and
employed multi-roled military capabilities on request
and in accordance with the prescripts of the Defence Act
(42 of 2002) in support of other government depart-
ments. Border safeguarding, safety and security support,
maintaining essential services, disaster relief and
humanitarian assistance and search and rescue missions
were conducted during the period under review.
Assistance provided to 74 hospitals during the national
strike of nursing personnel, is a particular case in point.
In addition, two bridges were constructed by the SA
Army engineers in the Eastern Cape to provide safe and
easy access to the local communities.

Provide a lead to the development and Implementa-
tion of the Community Service Programme. A con-
cept paper on a National Youth Service has been com-
pleted and approved.  A pilot programme was launched
in Bloemfontein with a group of 500 recruits undergoing
training. A further 1500 recruits are planned for
FY2011/12, 2 000 for FY2012/13 and 6 000 for
FY2013/14. 

P R O G R A M M E   P E R F O R M A N C E :
A D M I N I S T R A T I O N :
S U B P R O G R A M M E :   M I N I S T R Y

O v e r v i e w

During the year under review, the Minister of Defence and

Military Veterans and the Deputy Minister of Defence and
Military Veterans, as the executive authorities, continued to
uphold and fulfil the mandate of the DOD as spelt out in the
Constitution of the Republic of South Africa. The primary
responsibility of the Ministry of Defence was to provide polit-
ical direction to the DOD enabling a contribution to global
peace, security and stability through the deployment of the
SANDF in peacekeeping missions and the participation in
defence-related bilateral and multilateral engagements.

The period under review began with the SANDF gearing up
for the increased demand on internal deployment capabilities
to support the South African Police Service (SAPS). During
the 2010 FIFA Soccer World Cup the SANDF (Operation
KGWELE) supported the SAPS by deploying on average
4 573 members per day, ensuring the maintenance of a safe
and secure South Africa. The success of this event proved to
the sceptics and the international community that South
Africa could successfully host world class major events. The
SANDF also provided internal assistance during the xeno-
phobia incidents, public service strikes, the opening of
Parliament and the voter registration security for the 2011
local elections.  The SANDF successfully partnered with the
SAPS by providing personnel, helicopters and fixed wing air-
craft for the crime combating operation DUTY CALLS dur-
ing the festive season.  

In compliance with the Cabinet decision for the SANDF to
return to border safeguarding, the Minister directed the
SANDF to undertake this function effectively. Phase 1 of the
deployment was completed by the 1st April 2011; the deploy-
ment has now moved into Phase 2 to cover additional areas
identified for border safeguarding.

Internally, in order to ensure full functionality of the
Department of Military Veterans (DMV), the Military
Veterans Bill was presented and approved during December
2010. An analysis and determination of the strategic resource
requirement of the DMV was completed and presented to the
Minister at the Ministerial Work session in March 2011. The
MTEF budget costing and MTEC funding requirements, as
approved by the Minister, were articulated in a Cabinet
Memorandum and presented to Cabinet on 16 March 2011.
The Minister is in the process of formulating departmental
regulations and policies in support of the approved Bill.

The Minister appointed a new Secretary for Defence and a
new Chief Financial Officer during the year under review. 

The Minister directed the DOD to resolve all audit qualifica-
tions in pursuance of the consolidation of good corporate
governance, effective administration and accounting. The
DOD was able to reduce the seven audit qualifications down
to one in the FY2009/10. During this review period, focussed
attention has been given to addressing the remaining complex
asset management qualification. 

The term of Interim Defence Force Service Commission
(IDFSC) came to an end in April 2011 and a permanent
Defence Force Service Commission (DFSC) will be appoint-
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ed during the course of the coming financial year. The prom-
ulgation of the Defence Amendment Act (Act 22 of 2010)
provides for the establishment of the permanent DFSC. The
mandate of the DFSC will be, amongst others, to focus on the
improvement of conditions of service of SANDF members. 

The Minister provided direction on the defence policy
reviews. This included, the Defence Review, the reposition-
ing of the Defence Secretariat, the National Youth Service
(NYS) programme and the repositioning of the Defence
Industry. Consultative processes will be followed during the
coming year prior to the above being submitted to the rele-
vant Parliamentary Committees for consideration and
approval.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Ministerial Direction Subprogramme provides political
direction to the DOD to ensure the defence of South Africa by
meeting the ordered defence commitments and providing
appropriate defence capabilities.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l   

Table 1.3 below provides details of the Ministerial Direction
Subprogramme outputs, performance measures and targets as
specified in the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output

Ministerial 
direction to the
Department of
Defence
(DOD)

Defence policy
Advisory
products and
services

Performance 
Indicators

Alignment of the 
DOD's priorities
and activities
with Govern-
ment's Program-
me of Action and
Cabinet Lekgotla
resolutions

Timeliness, rele-
vant and quality
defence and secu-
rity policy
updates, inputs
and proposals

Actual Target Achievement

Full implementation of 
Minister's priorities

A work team commenced 
with the drafting of the new
Defence Strategy. Various
papers on research subjects
related to the analysis of the
strategic environment have
been completed

Progress on other defence 
policy reviews: Defence
Review, the repositioning of
the Defence Secretariat, the
National Youth Service and the
Repositioning of the Defence
Industry

Table 1.3:  Ministerial Direction Output Detail for the FY2010/11

Annual Target

Full implementation 
of Minister's priori-
ties

Provide the national 
policy framework
on Defence matters
for the approval of
Cabinet and
Parliament and
direct and oversee
the implementation
of such policy in the
Department

Reason(s) for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

A moratorium was 
placed on the drafting of
the new Defence
Strategy. Later during the
period under review, the
Minister instructed that
work in this regard
should proceed

Effect of Programme / Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.

The Subprogramme Ministerial Direction successfully provided political direction to the DOD to ensure the defence of 
South Africa by meeting the ordered defence commitments and providing appropriate defence capabilities.
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S t r a t e g i c   O v e r v i e w   
B y   t h e   S e c r e t a r y   f o r   D e f e n c e ,   

D i r e c t o r - GG e n e r a l ,   
M s   N . Z . H .   M p o f u

I n t r o d u c t i o n

Accelerated service delivery, good governance and the insti-
tutionalisation of the Government's theme of doing things dif-
ferently to achieve more with less; have been identified as
important success factors in the attainment of our strategic
objectives. Within the context of many achievements, the
DOD is grappling with a limited budgetary allocation.
Comprehensive plans of action have been generated and
implemented in order to prioritise defence objectives and
optimise performance accordingly. In pursuit of the DOD's
mandate to provide, prepare and employ defence capabilities
commensurate with the needs of South Africa, a multitude of
decisive interventions aimed at improving the quality of lives
of all the people of South Africa, the region, the continent and
the globe were successfully implemented and are reported
herein.  

In the year under review, underperformance and revised tar-
gets were mainly as a result of severe underfunding of the
renewal of the Landward Defence Programme. The integra-
tion and operationalisation of the Strategic Defence Packages
were also affected by limited funding. The poor state of facil-
ities, IT infrastructure obsolescence in the financial, logistics
and human resource domains as well as prime mission equip-
ment maintenance negatively impacted the efficient and
effective functioning of the DOD. The loss of scarce skills
prior to specific interventions aimed at retention, led to a
shortage of critical personnel resulting in the overburdening
of the remaining capacity especially in the training environ-
ment.

P e a c e   M i s s i o n s

In pursuit of the Government's support for peace, security and
stability and to enhance the diplomatic initiatives in the region
and the continent, the DOD continued to play a pivotal role
during the year under review. On average a total of 2 238
SANDF members including 148 Reserves, were deployed in
two Peace Support Operations in the Democratic Republic of
Congo (DRC) and Sudan, as well as three general military
assistance operations in the DRC, the Central African
Republic (CAR) and the rendering of support to the
Mozambique Government to curb piracy in the Mozambique

Channel.  Operation TEUTONIC in DRC was successfully
completed and terminated at the end of October 2010. The
SA Army successfully trained 1 780 FARDC members and
handed soldiers over to the Minister of Defence of the CAR
after completing a planned cycle of training in October 2010.

S u p p o r t   t o   t h e   P e o p l e

Domestically, several missions in support of other
Government departments continued with the emphasis on
safety and security support, search and rescue on sea and land
and borderline control. A total of 556 099 man days were
used during internal operations. The deployment of the
SANDF for border safeguarding ensured that 20 613 illegal
immigrants were apprehended, 263 criminals were arrested,
21 stolen vehicles were recovered, 14 weapons were recov-
ered, 18 livestock were recovered and various narcotics were
confiscated including 807kg marijuana (dagga), 137g tik-tik
and 122 mandrax tablets.  The SANDF also provided safety
and security support during the 2010 FIFA World Cup and

The Secretary for Defence, 
Ms N.Z.H. Mpofu.
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public service strike.

E n t r e n c h i n g   t h e   n e w   D e f e n c e
D i s p e n s a t i o n

The promulgation of the Defence Amendment Act (Act 22 of
2010) provided for the establishment of the permanent
Defence Force Service Commission (DFSC). The mandate of
the DFSC will be amongst others, to focus on the conditions
of service of SANDF members. Support structures to facili-
tate the mandate of the DFSC are to be completed during the
FY2011/12.

M i l i t a r y   V e t e r a n s

The Department of Military Veterans was proclaimed in
December 2009. The organisational structure of the depart-
ment was approved by the Minister on 28 May 2010, subse-
quent to the approval, a determination of functions was done
by the Minister of Public Service & Administration. The
Director-General of the Department has been appointed and
other senior members of the department are in the process of
appointment. This senior staff appointment process will be
completed in the early part of FY2011/12. 

In order to realise the mandate of the department, the Military
Veterans Affairs Bill has been drafted. The costing of military
veterans benefits contemplated in the Bill was considered and
approved by Cabinet. The implementation of the Act will
occur soon after the Bill has been passed by Parliament and
accented to by the President. It is, however, important to note
that the full realisation of the object of the Military Veterans
Affairs Bill will be largely dependent on the availability of
the necessary budget for both the Department of Military
Veterans and the budget allocation in other government
departments towards the benefits for military veterans. It is
with this understanding that the Department of Military
Veterans accords this matter the priority status it deserves. 

The costing of military veterans' benefits, which include the
Non-statutory Forces (NSF) pension, as contemplated in the
Bill is currently being considered by Cabinet. The finalisa-
tion of the necessary budget for the NSF pension will enable
the payment of the NSF pension to the deserving military
veterans.

N a t i o n a l   Y o u t h   S e r v i c e

The DOD drafted the MOU with the Department of Rural
Development and Land Reform on co-operation regarding
National Youth Service (NYS), with particular reference to a
pilot programme. Participation in meetings with various
youth stakeholders in order to consult on the DOD's concept
for NYS (i.e. the National Youth Development Agency, polit-
ical parties, religious organisations, etc) was undertaken. A
Conference that took place in Egypt during late October 2010

was organised by the International Association for NYS
where the DOD was represented; thereafter a report with rec-
ommendations was submitted to the Sec Def. On 04 Nov-
ember 2010 a presentation was submitted to the Minister on
the DOD's concept for NYS. The DOD has also participated
in various social responsibility activities which have assisted
in the improvement of the living conditions of the youth in
the previously disadvantaged communities. 

During the period under review, the concept paper on NYS
was completed and at the same time a pilot programme in
Bloemfontein took place with a group of 500 recruits under-
going training. A further 1 500 recruits will be trained and are
planned for FY2011/12, 2 000 recruits planned for
FY2012/13 and 6 000 recruits planned for FY2013/14. 

P r o v i s i o n   o f   S k i l l s

The Military Skills Development System (MSDS) was
implemented in January 2003 with the aim to provide the
SANDF with military trained human resources as required
for force preparation and force employment specifications. It
forms the DOD's primary contribution to youth development
and alleviates unemployment and poverty by preparing
young people between the age of 18 and 26 years for reward-
ing careers either in the SANDF or for decent employment in
the broader public and private sectors. The MSDS is a two-
year contract based service system and is the main feeder sys-
tem for the Regulars and Reserves. 

Since the inception of the MSDS, 33 536 youths participated
in the system of the SANDF.  Of the total intake, 8 542 are
currently serving in the MSDS, 6 770 have separated from
the SANDF, of whom 4 821 are serving in the Reserves, and
18 224 translated to the Regulars where they are undergoing
advanced training in various disciplines and are being utilised
accordingly.  The results of implementing the MSDS are best
viewed from the vantage point of rank-age compliance: only
10.8% of Privates were in the age group 18 to 24 years old in
the year 2000 compared to 55% currently.  The MSDS also is
a feeder system, at entry levels, of scarce skills and critical
musterings. Since its inception, 6 172 youths were employed
in critical musterings i.e. air space control, aircrew, combat
navy, engineer, medical professional, nursing, technical and
technical air. Thus, the MSDS significantly contributes, at
entry level, to the sustainment of scarce skills and critical
musterings.  

The young men and women who emerge after MSDS service
are on the whole, much more mature, disciplined, service
delivery orientated, career orientated and patriotic than one
would normally expect from young people who have just
completed high-school. Through the MSDS, the SANDF
continues to invest directly in South Africa's most important
asset, our youth. In support of the government outcome on
job creation, the DOD plans to create job opportunities for
5 700 young South Africans per year through the MSDS.
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R e v i t a l i s a t i o n   o f   t h e   R e s e r v e s

The current Reserves strength has increased to 26 147 of
which approximately 84% are from the previously disadvan-
taged groups. About 12 000 Reserves are calledup per year.
This has enabled the DOD not only to utilise the Reserves in
external deployment but also to deploy them on the borders
where they are achieving success. During the reporting year,
the Defence Act was amended to make it compulsory for the
Reserves to respond to call-ups not only in times of war but
also in times of need. This has provided the ability to invest
in the development of the Reserves.

B o r d e r   S e c u r i t y

As per the 2009 Cabinet decision, the SANDF has assumed
the border safeguarding function. In execution of this task
under Operation CORONA, the SANDF has adopted a
phased strategy. The first phase of the borders between
Zimbabwe and South Africa and the second phase of the bor-
der between Mozambique and South Africa have been rolled
out. The last phase of the strategy with regard to the Lesotho
and South Africa border will be completed by FY2012/13.

The safeguarding of the borders of South Africa is one of the
key responsibilities of government which helps protect the
people and the economy of the country from illegal crossings
of people as well as the illegal exportation and importation of
goods. In the short period that the SANDF has been on the
borders, numerous illegal activities have been stopped and
prevented. The positive outcomes achieved by the SANDF
with the border safeguarding function will escalate as the
SANDF's presence at borders is expanded.

P o l i c y   R e v i e w

During September 2010, a work team finalized the develop-
ment of the Defence Strategy Conceptual Framework as a
prelude to the development and drafting of the Defence
Strategy. The Defence Strategy Conceptual Framework was
presented to the Minister during March 2011 for her consid-
eration and approval. As a further input to the development of
the Defence Strategy, two detailed staff papers pertaining to
geostrategic environment and defence scenarios as key ele-
ments of the Defence Strategy are in the process of develop-
ment.  It is envisaged that the Defence Strategy will be con-
sidered for approval by the Minister during the course of the
FY2011/12 after a public/stakeholder consultation process
has been finalized. In addition to the above, a staff paper on
the National Security Strategy is in the process of develop-

ment within which the National Security Strategy Policy
anchors impacting on Defence are to be identified.

D e f e n c e   W o r k s   C a p a b i l i t y

The reversal of the DOD deteriorating infrastructure requires
both additional financial allocations and increased technical
capacity. In order to address the declining state of defence
infrastructure, the DOD will be finalising discussions with
the National Department of Public Works on the establish-
ment of the Defence Estate Management mechanism which
will result in DOD progressively exiting from its current
arrangement on Property and Facilities Management with the
Department of Public Works. In pursuance of this objective
and the roll-out of the Defence Works Capability, which is an
in-house capacity to maintain and repair defence facilities,
will be implemented in the coming financial year. On 01
April 2011 Project LEBAKA officially merged with Service
Corps and existing Facility Management elements to form the
Defence Works Capability. The new formation is aimed at
providing efficient, effective and economical operational
level facility management in support of the strategy and
objectives of the DOD. The macro-structure of the Defence
Works Capability was approved by the Minister of Defence
on 23 March 2011. Subsequently, the A/CSANDF issued an
implementation instruction for the establishment of the
Defence Works Formation with effect from 01 April 2011. 

C l e a n   A u d i t

The DOD has reduced audit qualifications from 16 to seven
in FY2008/09. In the FY2009/10 the DOD introduced specif-
ic interventions to strengthen its internal controls and to
improve financial processes. These interventions further
resulted in the reduction of qualifications from seven to one.
During FY2010/11 particular focus was paid on addressing
the one very complex remaining asset management qualifica-
tion. Other matters of emphasis include the continuous
enhancement of financial management and internal controls. 

International experience shows that the asset management
challenge is not unique and is inherent in most Defence
Forces across the World. International benchmarking is being
pursued with the Auditor General, the Accountant General
and the Standing Committee on Public Accounts (SCOPA) in
order to implement a sustainable solution to this challenge.
Notwithstanding this, the DOD has made significant pro-
gress in putting action plans in place to address the qualifica-
tion on tangible and intangible assets.
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The audit on tangible assets has registered progress, with the
audit of the immovable assets, such as properties and the
large assets including transportation and equipment, already
completed.

In order to sustain the achieved audit results, the DOD has,
during the period under review, embarked on a process to
ensure robust internal controls. The Accounting Officer and
Chief Financial Officer of the DOD were appointed with
effect from 01 April 2010 and 01 May 2010 respectively.
These appointments have contributed to stability in the DOD
audit process. To complement this, the Minister has appoint-
ed the Compliance Officer in the Ministry to focus on DOD
compliance with all applicable regulatory frameworks.
FY2011/12 will see further consolidation of the DOD finan-

cial management and internal control system through the
implementation of the DOD Internal Audit Function. The one
remaining audit qualification in the area of defence assets
remained a focus in the reporting year.

(N.Z.H. MPOFU)

SECRETARY FOR DEFENCE:                                 
DIRECTOR-GENERAL
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PART  2:  STRATEGIC  DIRECTION
Chapter  2

S t r a t e g i c   P r o f i l e   a n d   
D e f e n c e   O b j e c t i v e s

I n t r o d u c t i o n

The Department of Defence Annual Report FY2010/11
accounts for the performance against the approved DOD
Strategic Business Plan for the period 01 April 2010 to 31
March 2011. The DOD outcomes have been fully aligned
with government policy enhancing national, regional and
global security goals through the existence of combat-ready
deployable defence capabilities. 

In the year under review, the DOD bid farewell to a number
of people who have contributed significantly to where the
DOD is. The DOD bid farewell to C SANDF, General G.N.
Ngwenya who has been appointed Ambassador of South
Africa to Angola. In addition, the Board of ARMSCOR and
the Commissioners of the Interim Defence Force
Commission (IDFSC) terms of office ended in April 2011.
The forthcoming period will mark the new dispensation with
new appointments; the DOD welcomed the new
Chairpersons of the Portfolio Committee on Defence (PCD)
and of the Joint Standing Committee on Defence (JSCD). 

The DOD has made significant progress in many areas
against priorities set. SANDF troops were deployed outside
the country in various peace missions and internally, on sev-
eral missions in support of other Government departments.
The emphasis on internal deployment was on safety and secu-
rity support, search and rescue on sea and land and border
safeguarding. Impressive achievements were made on
improving the service conditions of SANDF members and
military veteran's matters; policy reviews. Attention is further
given to the decline in defence infrastructure and cleaning up
the audit report. Notwithstanding the limited budgetary allo-
cation, the DOD is committed to executing its function in
terms of its mandate. 

C o n s t i t u t i o n a l   a n d   L e g i s l a t i v e
M a n d a t e   o f   t h e   D O D

The DOD derives its mandate primarily from Section 200(2)
of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act
108 of 1996). This mandate is given substance by the Defence
Act, 2002 (Act 42 of 2002), the White Paper on Defence
(1996), the Defence Review (1998) and delegated legislation.

The DOD comprises of the Defence Secretariat which is
established in terms of section 204 of the Defence Act and the
SANDF established in terms of section 200(2) of the interim
constitution.

V i s i o n

Effective defence for a democratic South Africa.

M i s s i o n

To provide, manage, prepare and employ defence
capabilities commensurate with the needs of South

Africa, as regulated by the Constitution, national legisla-
tion and Parliamentary and Executive direction.

This will be provided through the proper management,
provision, preparedness and employment of defence

capabilities that are in line with the domestic and
global needs of South Africa.

M i s s i o n   S u c c e s s   f a c t o r s

For the DOD to achieve its mission, it is essential that it is
managed strategically. As part of this process, certain factors
that are fundamental to achieving success were identified.
The Mission Success Factors of the DOD are as follows:

National consensus on Defence

Excellent strategic direction

Excellent resource management

Effective combat forces and support forces

Professionalism in the conduct of operations

Successful implementation of the transformation
process

T h e   D O D   S h a r e d   V a l u e   S y s t e m

The DOD has committed itself to organisational values that
are rooted in individual values, codes of conduct and unit
cohesion.
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In delivering the defence mission, the DOD will follow the
principles set out below:

Service standards. Service standards are based on clear
direction and strong leadership. Our priority is, and shall
always be, to maximise our defence capability and our
contribution to peace and security. We shall maintain
high standards of excellence and professionalism in
everything we do.

Excellence. We shall build on what we do well and
actively foster a climate of success. We shall invest in
our people and encourage innovation. We shall provide
the right incentives and recognise individual and team
contributions.

Ethics. We shall adopt and encourage reasonable work-
ing practices. We shall not be deflected by the demands
of vested interests. We shall foster fairness and trustwor-
thiness in all that we do. We shall not ignore difficult
issues.

Openness and transparency. We shall ensure clear
communication and better understanding. We shall
ensure that our messages are understood. We shall listen
to clients' concerns and make sure we understand what
they are saying to us. We shall aim to create a climate of
trust and transparency in our decision-making.

Consultation rooted in effective and efficient part-
nership and collaboration. We shall encourage and
improve links with other Government departments and
other relevant organs of state. We will strengthen part-
nerships with industry, allies and the community at
large. We shall promote collaboration within the DOD,
harmonise activities and systems and, where sensible,
share knowledge.

People. We shall uphold the values as espoused in the
founding principles of the Constitution and further
expressed in the Bill of Rights.

Teamwork. Within the DOD we are one team and
embrace one purpose. We shall debate issues fully,
whilst rigorously representing our individual responsi-
bilities. Our overriding aim, however, is to reach conclu-
sions that are best for the entire department and then to
act on them.

Accountability. We shall create a learning organisation
in which all employees seek and share knowledge and
information, whilst committing themselves to personal
growth. We shall lead by example and influence others
to follow these principles. We shall be sensible to the
demands we make on people and recognise the unique
commitments they make.

Discipline. We shall consistently strive towards uphold-
ing a high level of discipline. We shall individually and
collectively rebuild the profile and image of the defence
establishment as the best-disciplined profession.

II nn dd ii vv ii dd uu aa ll   VV aa ll uu ee ss

Patriotism

Loyalty

Human dignity

Professionalism

Integrity

Leadership

Accountability

D e f e n c e   S t r a t e g i c   O b j e c t i v e s   a n d
P r e c o n d i t i o n s

The following strategic objectives and preconditions, identi-
fied as being critical to the achievement of the DOD's mis-
sion, were incorporated into strategic plans at all levels:

The execution of defence commitments as ordered and
funded by Government.

The provision of contingency-ready and cost-effective
defence capabilities as specified by approved policy.

Sound management of the Department.

The administration of the DOD within the prescripts of
the law, the regulatory framework and Government pol-
icy.

The assurance of sustainability, the continuous improve-
ment of output quality and the reduction of the cost of
DOD processes, as well as the accounting thereof.

The assurance of the continuous quality improvement of
people in the DOD.

The assurance of quality command and management
information in the DOD.

The assurance of continuous quality improvement of
DOD equipment and facilities.

D e f e n c e   O u t c o m e

The DOD delivered all outputs as specified in the DOD
Strategic Plan for the FY2010/11 in order to achieve the
required outcome of 'Effective defence for a democratic
South Africa'.
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T h e   D O D   M e d i u m   T e r m   F o c u s

As directed by Government's imperatives, the DOD focused
on a mandate-driven force design and structure in order to

meet the ordered commitments stipulated in the Consti-
tution, of defending and protecting the Republic of
South Africa (RSA) and its people;

support Government's diplomatic initiatives on the
Continent and in the Region; and

provide support to other Government departments as
and when required.

These are met in accordance with the principles of interna-
tional law, the MTSF priorities, the Government Programme
of Action (POA) and the Medium Term Expenditure
Framework (MTEF) of Government.

Whilst primarily focussed on its constitutional obligation, the
DOD embraces Government initiatives and priorities to com-
bat poverty and underdevelopment through various socio-
economic development programmes. These are regarded as a
necessary condition for lasting peace and stability nationally,
sub-regionally and continentally. Such alignment shall entail
that

defence capabilities of the DOD are enhanced and main-
tained;

peace, security and confidence-building in the SADC
sub-region and on the entire Continent are promoted
through constructive dialogue aimed at nurturing sound
defence diplomatic relations and projecting South
Africa's foreign policy principles and objectives;

Government policy on the resolution of conflicts peace-
fully through recognised international instruments and
mechanisms will be supported by deploying the SANDF
in international peace missions; and

Government required diplomatic engagements are sup-
ported through participation in multilateral institutions
such as the Southern African Development Community
(SADC), African Union (AU) and United Nations (UN).

D e f e n c e   O u t p u t s

The outputs provided by the DOD to Government are as fol-
lows:

Defence commitments, which include:

operations that are ongoing in nature, and for
which plans and financial provision can be made in
advance;

operations that must be executed during the year
and, if unforeseeable, for which no provision has
been made;  and

joint and multinational exercises required to pre-
pare forces for operations.

Landward defence capabilities

Air defence capabilities

Maritime defence capabilities

Military health support capabilities

Defence diplomacy, which includes: 

the deployment of defence attachés; 

the servicing of defence-related Memoranda of
Understanding (MOUs); and 

participation in the defence structures of the UN,
the AU and SADC.

The provision of Defence-related policy and Ministerial
advice

Cryptographic security services for Government depart-
ments

The National Codification Bureau

The provision of appropriate framework for sound pol-
icy, direction and advice and the systemic monitoring
and evaluation thereof

The provision of defence capabilities that can respond
to the needs of South Africa within the evolving policy
and national priority trajectory that characterise a devel-
opmental state

The DOD's performance in achieving these outputs is
detailed in Chapters four to eleven of this document. 

D O D   A l i g n m e n t   w i t h   C a b i n e t   a n d
C l u s t e r   P r i o r i t i e s

The DOD is highly involved in the Justice, Crime Prevention
and Security (JCPS) Cluster and has a secretariat responsibil-
ity in the International Cooperation, Trade and Security
(ICTS) Cluster since the appointment of the Minister of
Defence and Military Veterans as Chairperson of the Cluster.
The DOD also actively participates in the Governance and
Administration (G&A), Economic and Skills Clusters as part
of the Government Programme of Action. In the period under
review, the DOD's role in the international affairs as far as the
defence diplomacy and security sphere are concerned has
been enhanced. In so far as Cluster participation is con-
cerned, the DOD achieved the following:

Was represented in the South African Delegation to the
regional meeting of 32 states during an African group of
experts seminar in the Cluster Munitions Convention
held in Pretoria 30 April 2010,

In line with the government outcome; "All people in SA
are and feel safe" and subsequent to a Cabinet decision
to confirm the long-term responsibility of the SANDF
for border safeguarding, the SANDF continued to col-
laborate with the SAPS in its crime fighting efforts.
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The signing of the Performance Agreement between the
President and the Minister was facilitated to commence
the implementation of Outcome 11. This process was
followed by a delivery agreement which defined the
outputs, key activities and inputs that described roles
and responsibilities against timelines and budgets of
ICTS Cluster departments.

Defence-related and security inputs were provided to
the Presidency and to various Clusters for incorporation
into the State of the Nation Address (SONA).

In collaboration with other organs of state, the DOD
contributed substantially towards the achievement of
national priorities and provided progress reports on obli-
gations arising from Clusters on time. 

S e r v i c e s   R e n d e r e d

The services rendered by the DOD are detailed in Chapters
four to eleven of this document. 

N e w   S e r v i c e s   o r   O u t p u t s   t o   b e
S c a l e d   U p

New Services/Outputs to be Scaled Up are described in
Appendix E of this document.

S e r v i c e s   D i s c o n t i n u e d / S c a l e d
D o w n   o r   S u s p e n d e d

Services Discontinued/Scaled Down or Suspended are
described in Appendix E of this document.

L o s s e s   a n d   D a m a g e s

During the year under review, the Minister’s task team inves-
tigated matters of efficiency and effectiveness with respect to
the utilisation of resources. A report containing 134 recom-
mendations was presented and adopted for implementation
during the coming financial year. These initiatives will signif-
icantly limit losses and damages in the years to come. 

Excluding the write-offs of the portion on the long outstand-
ing unauthorised expenditure and other prescribed debts,  this
expenditure was reduced from Rm49,5 to Rm 30,5. 

E v e n t s   a f t e r   t h e   A c c o u n t i n g   D a t e

There were no events after the accounting date. 
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A I M   O F   T H E   V O T E

The aim of the Department of Defence (DOD) is to defend
and protect the Republic of South Africa, its territorial integri-
ty and its people, in accordance with the Constitution and the
principles of international law regulating the use of force.

M a i n   P r o g r a m m e s

The outputs of Defence are provided through the pro-
grammes as indicated in Table 3.1.

PART  3:  PROGRAMME  PERFORMANCE
Chapter  3

T h e   D e f e n c e   V o t e

Programme

Administration

Force Employment

Landward Defence

Air Defence

Maritime Defence

Military Health Support

Defence Intelligence

General Support

Purpose

Conducts the policy development, management and administration of the 
department

Successfully conduct all operations, as well as joint interdepartmental and 
multinational military exercises.

Provide prepared and supported landward defence capabilities for the defence and 
protection of South Africa

Provide prepared and supported air defence capabilities for the defence and 
protection of South Africa

Provide prepared and supported maritime defence capabilities for the defence and 
protection of South Africa

Provide prepared and supported military health capabilities and services for the 
defence and protection of South Africa

Provide a Defence intelligence and counter-intelligence capability

Provide general support capabilities and services to the department

Table 3.1    Defence Budget Programme Structure

Defence Vote

Defence Vote per Main Programme

Administration

Force Employment

Landward Defence

Air Defence

Maritime Defence

2010/11
R'000

3 247 080 

1 908 870 

9 982 892 

6 059 126 

2 179 822 

Table 3.2    Defence Vote for the 2010/11 MTEF

2011/12
R'000

3 617 151 

1 997 142 

10 431 224 

7 910 491 

2 320 015 

2012/13
R'000

3 991 745 

2 086 315 

11 062 075 

8 361 920 

2 574 214 

D E F E N C E   V O T E   2 1

Details of the final DOD Medium Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) Allocation are reflected in the Defence Vote for the
FY2010/11, according to Table 3.2
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Defence Vote

Military Health Support

Defence Intelligence

General Support

Total Expenditure Estimates

Defence Vote per Economic Classification

Current Payments

Transfers and Subsidies

Payment for Capital Assets

Total Expenditure Estimates

2010/11
R'000

2 770 215 

631 149 

3 936 179 

30 715 333 

23 099 001 

6 830 147 

786 185 

30 715 333 

Table 3.2    Defence Vote for the 2010/11 MTEF (continued)

2011/12
R'000

2 961 306 

665 961 

4 028 066 

33 931 356 

24 858 914 

8 616 545 

455 897 

33 931 356 

2012/13
R'000

3 201 260 

698 899 

4 410 091 

36 386 519 

26 725 256 

8 815 707 

845 556 

36 386 519 

B U D G E T   A L L O C A T I O N

The total Defence budget for the 2010/11 MTEF is reflected in Table 3.3.

Defence Vote

2010/11 MTEF

2010/11
R'000

30 715 333

Table 3.3:  Total Defence Budget

2011/12
R'000

33 931 356

2012/13
R'000

36 386 519

Policy Proposal

SANDF Remuneration System

Upgrade of Landward Defence Systems

M & R of the Operational Vehicle Fleet

Procurement of Critical Ammunition

Replacing the Operational Ambulance Fleet

Operating the SDP Aircraft

Operating the SDP Vessels

Continuation Training for Reserves

Implementation of the DEIS Master Plan

Total Policy Proposals

2010/11
R'000

904 781 

543 870 

150 000 

100 000 

3 000 

224 500 

186 070 

135 864 

351 894 

2 599 979 

Table 3.4   Policy Proposals for Additional Funding

2011/12
R'000

959 068 

1 628 128 

158 000 

105 000 

244 800 

299 100 

204 677 

142 521 

397 991 

4 139 285 

2012/13
R'000

1 016 613 

2 081 330 

165 000 

110 000 

0

344 100 

225 144 

149 505 

461 889 

4 553 581 

A d d i t i o n a l   F u n d s   R e q u e s t e d

During the course of FY2010/11 MTEF process, the DOD submitted policy proposals for additional funding.

Details of submitted policy proposals for additional funding for the FY2010/11 are reflected in Table 3.4.
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A d d i t i o n a l   F u n d s   R e c e i v e d

After the 2010/11 MTEF process was completed, the DOD only received additional funding as reflected in Table 3.5. Only two
of the policy proposals were partially funded, while the department at the same time still had to institute efficiency savings.

Economic Classification

Tax revenue

None

Non-tax revenue

Sale of goods and services other than 
capital assets

Fines, penalties and forfeits

Interest, dividends and rent on land

Sales of capital assets

Financial transactions in assets and liabilities

Transfers received

Total Revenue Received

2007/08
Actual
R'000

0

0

551 855

172 484

1 157

1 710

128 913

22 894

224 626

551 855

Table 3.6    Sources of Revenue

2008/09
Actual
R'000

0

0

629 390

193 553

1 058

1 398

122 066

20 662

290 653

629 390

2009/10
Actual
R'000

0

0

699 949

209 606

3 724

2 750

19 481

236 097

228 291

699 949

2010/11
Target
R'000

0

0

902 466

299 497

3 615

2 473

52 684

348 515

195 682

902 466

20010/11
Actual
R'000

0

0

689 687

263 989

4 459

2 628

23 068

144 777

250 767

689 688

% Deviation
from Target

0

0

-23.58%

-11.86%

23.35%

6.27%

-56.21%

-58.46%

28.15%

-23.58%

Additional Funding Received

SANDF Remuneration System

Military Skills Development System

Office for Military Veterans Affairs

Landward Defence Modernisation

Strategic Defence Procurement Programme

Compensation of Employees Adjustment

Baseline Efficiency Savings

Savings from the A400M Contract Termination

AFB Waterkloof Upgrade Rescheduling

Total Policy Proposals

2010/11
R'000

600 000 

50 000 

20 000 

0   

(502 878)

422 721 

(446 792)

(2 067 022)

250 000 

(1 673 971)

Table 3.5    Additional Funding Received by the DOD

2011/12
R'000

730 000 

70 000 

30 000 

100 000 

0   

470 316 

(626 672)

(1 010 912)

(250 000)

(487 268)

2012/13
R'000

850 000 

100 000 

30 000 

500 000 

200 000 

510 142 

(624 367)

(1 445 170)

0

120 605 

D E P A R T M E N T A L   R E V E N U E ,   E X P E N D I T U R E   A N D   O T H E R   S P E C I F I C
A S P E C T S

C o l l e c t i o n   o f   D e p a r t m e n t a l   R e v e n u e

The general improvement in revenue management processes is a direct consequence of Operation Clean Audit. The substantial
increase in Transfers received was a result of the collection of arrears from the United Nations reimbursements for foreign
deployments.

The sources of revenue are reflected in Table 3.6 below.
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C O N D I T I O N A L   G R A N T S   A N D
E A R M A R K E D   F U N D S

No Conditional Grants and Earmarked Funds were reported
for the FY2010/11.

T R A N S F E R   P A Y M E N T S   F O R
2 0 1 0 / 1 1

T r a n s f e r   P a y m e n t s

The DOD provided transfer payments to the following insti-
tutions during the course of FY2010/11:

The Armaments Corporation of South Africa Ltd
(ARMSCOR) to subsidize them in their mission to meet
the acquisition, maintenance and disposal needs of the
DOD and other clients in terms of defence materiel,
related products and services. Audited financial state-
ments for FY2009/10 were submitted according to pay-
ment conditions.

The Safety and Security Sector Education and Training
Authority (SASSETA), which acts as the Sector Edu-
cational Training Authority (SETA) for Defence, to sub-
sidize their administrative expenditure in terms of the
Skills Development Act, No 97 of 1998. Audited finan-
cial statements for FY2009/10 were submitted accord-

ing to payment conditions.

The Reserve Force Council to subsidise it in their mis-
sion to obtain and secure community and private sector
support for the Reserves and to maintain a sound rela-
tionship and communication between the Reserves, the
Minister of Defence and the SA National Defence
Force. Audited financial statements for FY2009/10 were
submitted according to payment conditions.

The St John's Ambulance Brigade to provide accredita-
tion for training of Defence members and make their
members and equipment available to be called-up by the
SA Military Health Service (SAMHS) during times of
national disaster and emergency. Audited financial state-
ments for FY2009/10 were submitted according to pay-
ment conditions.

The Special Defence Account (SDA) to acquire, procure
and develop armament and technology. Audited finan-
cial statements for FY2009/10 were submitted accord-
ing to payment conditions.

To Defence Force members that are being separated
from the department through the Mobility Exit
Mechanism in terms of the employment benefits due to
them.

The estimated expenditure and actual amounts transferred for
the FY2010/11 are reflected in table 3.7 below.

Institution

Special Defence Account

Armaments Corporation of South Africa Ltd

Regular Force Medical Continuation Fund 

Social Benefits

Safety and Security Sector Education and Training Authority 
(SASSETA)

Reserve Force Council

St John's Ambulance Brigade

Total Transfer Payments

Estimated Expenditure
R'000

3 010 320 

737 510 

220 

120 609 

14 408

4,827 

360 

3 888 238 

Table 3.7    Transfer Payments for FY2010/11

Amount Transferred
R'000

3 010 320 

737 510 

0   

120 592 

14 408

4 827 

360 

3 888 017
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D E P A R T M E N T A L   E X P E N D I T U R E   F O R   F Y 2 0 1 0 / 1 1     

Programme

Administration

Force 
Employment

Landward  
Defence

Air Defence 

Maritime Defence

Military Health 
Support

Defence 
Intelligence

General Support

Total

Vote

R '000

3 247 080 

1 908 870

9 982 892

6 059 126 

2 179 822 

2 770 215

631 149

3 936 179 

30 715 333

Table 3.8     DOD Expenditure for FY2010/11

Total
Additional

Appro-
priation
R '000

170 132 

373 326

(973 326)

(522 709)

178 479 

279 354

25 464 

196 538 

(272 742)

Adjusted
Appro-
priation

R '000

3 417 212 

2 282 196

9 009 566

5 536 417

2 358 301

3 049 569

656 613

4 132 717

30 442 591

Shifting
of Funds

R '000

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Virement

R '000

35 703

(16 739)

286 002

(47 481)

(8 385)

100 765

(22 760)

(327 105)

0

Final
Appro-
priation

R '000

3 452 915

2 265 457

9 295 568

5 488 936

2 349 916

3 150 334

633 853

3 805 612

30 442 591

Actual
Expenditure

R '000

3 452 915

2 265 457

9 295 568

5 488 936

2 349 916

3 150 114

633 853

3 805 612

30 442 371

Variance

R '000

0

0

0

0

0

220

0

0

220

O V E R V I E W   O F   T H E   S E R V I C E
D E L I V E R Y   E N V I R O N M E N T   F O R
T H E   F Y   2 0 1 0 / 1 1

A d d i t i o n s   t o   M a i n   A p p r o p r i a t i o n

The Defence Vote was decreased by Rm272.742 to
Rbn30.442 through the Adjustments Vote for the following:

Unforeseeable and Unavoidable Expenditure.
Unforeseeable and Unavoidable Expenditure to Rm225:

An additional Rm200 was allocated for the support pro-
vided to the South African Police Service (SAPS) dur-
ing the hosting of the 2010 FIFA World Cup.

An additional amount of Rm25 was allocated for sup-
port provided during the 2010 public service strike.

Other Adjustments. Other adjustments of Rm497.742.

A d j u s t m e n t s   d u e   t o   s i g n i f i c a n t
a n d   u n f o r e s e e a b l e   e c o n o m i c   a n d
f i n a n c i a l   e v e n t s

An additional Rm352.400 has been allocated for higher per-
sonnel remuneration increases than the main budget provided
for, including the increased housing allowance, as follows:

Programme 1: Administration Rm   28.172

Programme 2: Force Employment Rm   20.032

Programme 3: Landward Defence Rm 149.412

Programme 4: Air Defence Rm   49.199

Programme 5: Maritime Defence Rm 29.789

Programme 6: Military Health Support Rm 43.754

Programme 7: Defence Intelligence Rm   4.340

Programme 8: General Support Rm 27.702

S e l f   F i n a n c i n g   E x p e n d i t u r e :
R m 1 4 9 . 8 5 8

Departmental revenue was collected from selling equipment
and spares procured through the Special Defence Account.
This amount will be used for special defence activities as fol-
lows:

Programme 3: Landward Defence Rm  13.396

Programme 4: Air Defence Rm135.197

Programme 5: Maritime Defence Rm   1.265

F u n d s   s h i f t e d   w i t h i n   a   V o t e   t o
f o l l o w   a   f u n c t i o n   s h i f t   w i t h i n   t h e
s a m e   V o t e

Programme 8 General Support:  Rm38 936 has been received
from Programme 3 following the migration of the Works
Regiment.

Declared Savings. Programme 4: Air Defence. Savings of
Rbn1 due to delays in the strategic defence procurement pro-
gramme have been declared.
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Roll-overs. No roll-overs were requested from the
FY2009/10 as a very small balance was available at the end
of the 2009/10 financial year. 

R E A S O N S   F O R   A D D I T I O N S   T O
O R   V I R E M E N T   B E T W E E N   M A I N
A P P R O P R I A T I O N   A L L O C A T I O N

N a t i o n a l   T r e a s u r y   ( N T )
A p p r o v e d :

The reallocation of Rm6 within Programme Maritime
Defence from Goods and Services to Transfers and
Subsidies to Departmental Agencies and Accounts for
an additional transfer to the ARMSCOR Dockyard. 

The reallocation of Rm50 from the Special Defence
Account to Programme Military Health Support for the
procurement of medical equipment.

The reallocation of Rm180.244 to increase
Compensation of Employees from various Programmes
within the Defence operating allocation in order to par-
tially fund the implementation of the Occupational
Specific Dispensation for engineers and the new
Defence Reserves Salary Dispensation.

The reallocation of Rm210 to increase Compensation of
Employees from Programme General Support
(Rm111.800 Capital Assets), from Programme Maritime
Defence (Rm9.500 Transfers and Subsidies
(Households)) and from various other Programmes'
budget (Rm8. 700 Goods and Services).

The reallocation of Rm41 from Programme General
Support (Capital Assets) to Programme Air Defence
(Goods and Services) to fund the shortfall as a result of
the increased number of VVIP flights.

T h e   A c c o u n t i n g   O f f i c e r
a p p r o v e d :

The reallocation of Rm4 from Programme Force
Employment to Programme Administration (Chief
Human Resources) for services rendered by the Centre
for Conflict Simulation to Joint Operations Division. 

The reallocation of Rm2.697 from Programme General
Support (Departmental Support) to Programme Military
Health Support for the establishment of a Private Public
Partnership (PPP). 

The reallocation of Rm11.790 from Programme General
Support (Command and Management Information
Services) to Programme Force Employment for the pro-
curement of UHF digital tactical radio equipment for
utilisation during border control by the SANDF. 

The reallocation of Rm5.378 from Programme Air
Defence to Programme Administration (Acquisition
Services) for the payment of ARMSCOR to set-up a
system of Intellectual Property (IP) Management.  

The reallocation of Rm117 from Programme General
Support (Joint Logistic Services) to Programme
Administration (Ministerial Direction and Property
Management) for the Multi Media Campaign (Rm8)
and Municipality Services (Rm109). 

The reallocation of funds between Programmes within
the Defence Budget to defray expenditure in respect of
authorised losses, Compensation of Employees and to
balance the expenditure for the FY2010/11.

D E S C R I P T I O N   O F   S I G N I F I C A N T
D E V E L O P M E N T S   E X T E R N A L   T O
T H E   D O D   T H A T   M A Y   H A V E
I M P A C T E D   E I T H E R   O N   T H E
D E M A N D   F O R   T H E   D O D ' S
S E R V I C E S ,   O R   T H E   D O D ' S
A B I L I T Y   T O   D E L I V E R   O N   T H E
S T R A T E G I C   P L A N

The following unforeseeable and unavoidable PSOs activities
led to the reprioritisation of activities;

Support to the SAPS during the hosting of the 2010
FIFA World Cup.

Support to the SAPS during the 2010 public service
strike.

The higher personnel remuneration increases than what
was provided for in the main budget.

C A P I T A L   I N V E S T M E N T ,
M A I N T E N A N C E   A N D   A S S E T
M A N A G E M E N T   P L A N

C a p i t a l   I n v e s t m e n t s

Details of Building projects currently in progress for
FY2010/11 are reflected in table 3.9 below.
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Location

Bloemfontein

Various

Ladysmith

Langebaan

Langebaan

Pretoria

Various

Phalaborwa

Project Description

Upgrading of 3 Military Hospital

Upgrading of facilities for disabled 
personnel

Installation of Burglar bars, security 
doors and gates in buildings

Construction of Boat Park

Construction of 20 married quarters

Upgrading of facilities for disabled 
personnel

Installation Burglar bars, security doors 
and gates in buildings

Construction of new ammunition 
storage facility 

Table 3.9:   Projects Currently in Progress for FY2010/11

Progress Status

Under Construction

Under construction

Under Construction

Under Construction

Planning

Construction

Planning

According to plan

Expected Completion
Date

March 2012

Ongoing

March 2012

March 2012

July 2013

Ongoing

Ongoing

September 2011

M a i n t e n a n c e

The Current Maintenance Backlog. The DOD made funds
available and requested NDPW to address the maintenance
backlog on identified facilities. During the reporting period,
the NDPW changed both the scope and procurement process-
es resulting in non-execution of projects and thereby increas-
ing the backlog. However, the DOD has increased the funds
for the upcoming years in order to decrease the maintenance
backlog. 

Actual Maintenance Expenditure. The DOD expressed
dissatisfaction with the resources allocated by NDPW for
maintenance projects. The figures provided by the NDPW on

25 February 2011 are as follows: 

Projected expenditure Rm112.8

Funds committed Rm101.2

Expenditure  Rm81.7

Addressing the Maintenance Backlog. Insufficient pro-
gress was made by NDPW to address the maintenance back-
log creating an increased in the backlog. In addressing the
problem, the NDPW has embarked on a Refurbishment
Programme in place of the Repair and Maintenance
Programme (RAMP), which will address the backlog during
the MTEF period. The Development of the Defence Works
Capability will impact positively in years to come.

Location

Pretoria

Pretoria

Cape Town

Dunnottar

Middelburg

Simon’s Town

Johannesburg

Mafikeng

Pretoria

Project Description

1 Military Hospital: Repair and Maintenance to hospital. 

AFB Waterkloof: Repair and Maintenance to facilities

2 Military Hospital: Repair and Maintenance to hospital

35 Engineer Support Regiment: Repair and Maintenance 
to facilities

4 SA Infantry Battalion: Repair and Maintenance to facilities

Repair and Maintenance to Naval Base

Repair and Maintenance to facilities

Repair and Maintenance to facilities

Repair and Maintenance to facilities

Table 3.10:    Major Maintenance Projects Undertaken during FY2010/11

Reason

Construction phase

Construction phase

Construction phase

Construction phase

Construction phase

Construction phase

Construction phase

Construction phase

Construction phase
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P r o j e c t s   C a r r i e d   F o r w a r d   

Details of projects carried forward to FY2010/11 from the previous reporting year are reflected in Table 3.12 below.

Location

Bloemfontein

Durban

Durban

Ladysmith

Langebaaan

Langebaan

Pretoria

Various

Project Description

Upgrading of 3 Military Hospital 

Installation of Burglar bars security doors and gates in 
buildings

Upgrading of facilities for disabled personnel

Installation of Burglar bars, security doors and gates in 
buildings

Construction of Boat Park

Construction of 20 married quarters

Upgrading of facilities for disabled personnel

Installation Burglar bars, security doors and gates in 
buildings.

Table 3:11   Projects carried forward to FY2010/11 from the previous reporting year

Reason

Multi-year project

Multi-year project

Multi-year project

Multi-year project

Multi-year project

Poorly managed by NDPW

Multi-year project

Multi-year project

N e w   P r o j e c t s   t o   C o m m e n c e   I n   F Y 2 0 1 1 / 1 2

Details of New Projects to Commence in FY2011/12 are reflected in Table 3.12 below.

Location

GIS

FRS/Assets Register System

Various

Various

Project Description

Geographic Information System

Merging of the two systems

Security Projects (10 projects)

Disability Projects (2 projects)

Table 3.12:    New Projects to commence in FY2011/12

Tendering Process. National Treasury compliant procure-
ment processes are followed by the department. 

A S S E T   M A N A G E M E N T

A s s e t   M a n a g e m e n t   R e g i s t e r   

The CSIR was appointed to verify all State immovable assets
utilised by the DOD in order to update the DOD Immovable
Asset Register.  

During the period under review, updates to the movable asset
systems were done so that the DOD can report accurately on
assets in the future. The population of the register is being
done according to the Asset Register Project Plan, which is
monitored on a bi-weekly basis.  

As part of National Treasury requirements for proper man-
agement of assets, the DOD has developed interfaces
between logistic and financial information management sys-
tems so as to ensure compliance with reporting on accruals

and additions in the Annual Financial Statements.

I m m o v a b l e   A s s e t   M a n a g e m e n t
P l a n

Environmental awareness within the DOD has to be
improved in order for the current initiatives to be successful
throughout the Department.

The facility management capability has played a vital role in
the DOD in ensuring that property, buildings and real estate
support DOD objectives. The lack of capacity of NDPW has
negatively impacted on this function. In order to solve this
problem, the Minister approved the proposed Macro
Structures for the establishment of the Defence Works
Capability. This has been done by merging Project LEBA-
KA, the Service Corps and facility elements of the Logistics
Div with effect from 1 April 2011. This will enable the DOD
to address facility matters with its own capabilities.
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The DOD has also developed a short and long-term plan to
address audit qualifications. In the short-term the focus is on
the utilisation of the existing systems (OSIS and CALMIS) to
establish an asset register, whereas the long-term plan focus-
es on the implementation of a single integrated defence logis-
tics information management system. 

The immovable asset management plan has ensured: 

Accountable, Fair and Transparent Management of
Immovable Assets. During the review period, an
Immovable Asset Register was compiled and the finali-
sation process will take place in the next financial year.

Effective, Efficient and Economic use of Immovable
Assets. Condition assessments were done to assist in
determining the maintenance requirements and estimat-
ed book value of immovable assets.

Reduced overall Cost of Service Delivery. Consul-
tation fees will decrease as soon as the condition of

immovable assets improves. 

Reduced Demand for new Immovable Assets. The
reduced demand is expected to continue and excess
properties will be disposed of.

G e n e r a l   A s s e t   M a n a g e m e n t
I s s u e s

The threat with respect to the high volume of unserviceable
ammunition in the SANDF is being managed through regular
inspections to determine any problematic degradation of the
ammunition resulting in the immediate disposal of any prob-
lem stock.

The DOD has adopted a proactive approach to resolving
issues so as to minimise negative impacts. Management inter-
ventions and teamwork between stakeholders has positively
affected outcomes.
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Chapter  4

P R O G R A M M E   1 :   
A d m i n i s t r a t i o n

I N T R O D U C T I O N

The Administration Programme is aimed at facilitating the
overall management of the DOD ensuring that the responsi-
bilities of the Accounting Officer are achieved. This pro-
gramme ensures that norms and standards throughout the
department are developed and complied with. Broadly, some
of the responsibilities included in this program are the provi-
sion of human resource support, financial and legal services,
governance, the provision of risk and compliance expertise,
the determination of working methods and procedures that
improve internal controls and the accuracy of information
provided.

The Administration Programme provides services in the form
of ministerial direction emanating from the office of the
Minister of Defence as well as departmental direction from
the office of the Secretary for Defence and Chief of the South
African National Defence Force (CSANDF). Administration
consists of the following subprogrammes;

Ministry

Departmental Direction*

Government Information Technology Officer (GITO)*

Policy and Planning (Defence Policy, Strategy and
Planning)*

Financial Services* 

Human Resource Support Services*

Legal Services* 

Acquisition Services (Defence Matériel)*

Defence Supply Chain Integration*

Defence International Affairs* 

In addition, the following subprogrammes of the Admin-
istration Programme fall within the responsibilities of the
C SANDF:

Military Policy, Strategy and Planning Office

Inspection Services

Communication Services

SANDF Command and Control

Corporate Staff Office

Religious Services 

Defence Reserve Direction

Defence Foreign Relations

Office Accommodation

The annual reports of the individual subprogrammes are pre-
sented below in the respective order of appearance in the
DOD Strategic Plan for the FY2010/11.

P U R P O S E   

The Defence Administration Programme ensures the overall
management, administration and policy development of the
DOD.

O U T P U T S

The main outputs of the Defence Administration Programme
are ministerial and departmental direction, defence policy
advice, strategic direction, corporate planning and reporting.

S U B P R O G R A M M E :   M I N I S T R Y
( s e e   C h a p t e r   1 )

S U B P R O G R A M M E :   D E P A R T M E N -
T A L   D I R E C T I O N

O v e r v i e w

During the period under review, Ms N.Z.H. Mpofu was
appointed as the Secretary for Defence (Sec Def). The main
responsibilities remained to provide strategic direction to the
DOD through various actions and interventions. These, inter
alia, included timeous decision-making on strategic matters,
effective consideration and processing of documents, atten-
dance of high-profile Cabinet Makgotla, Cabinet Cluster
meetings and chairing the various DOD command body
meetings. Furthermore, the Sec Def continually ensured
alignment of the strategic plans of the DOD to Government
programmes and outcomes. The Sec Def ensured that the

* Defence Secretariat
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DOD honoured all its engagements and obligations with the
Parliamentary Committees and oversight bodies including
the National Treasury and Auditor-General. 

One of the roles of Defence, as contemplated in the
Constitution, is to contribute to security, peace and stability
engagements in the region and on the continent. In pursuit of
defence diplomacy, the Sec Def undertook visits to and host-
ed various countries, strengthening bi-lateral relations and
defence co-operation. The Sec Def participated in numerous
defence related discussions held at multilateral organisations
like SADC, the African Union and the United Nations. 

As part of the responsibility of the DOD to support the peo-
ple of South Africa, the Sec Def engaged other government
departments and stakeholders to improve co-operation. These
efforts have had a positive outcome in streamlining defence
business processes with those of other state departments
enhancing co-operative governance. Some of the more note-
worthy achievements were; the DOD collaboration with
other government departments during the public service
strike, xenophobia attacks, the hosting of the 2010 FIFA
World Cup and the security challenges during the festive sea-
son. 

During the period under review, through Departmental
Direction the DOD achieved the following:

The Department of Military Veterans is functioning, its
supporting structures have been approved and legisla-
tion passed. 

The non-statutory Force Military Veterans Pension, as
contemplated in the Bill has been approved by
Parliament.

Improvement of the SANDF members service condi-
tions and the promulgation of legislation to establish the
permanent Defence Force Service Commission.

The reduction of audit qualifications from seven to one
in the FY2009/10 and special focus on the remaining
asset management qualification in the reporting year.

The ongoing development of the Balanced Score Card
(BSC) performance measurement tool within the DOD
has been enhanced through the development of the
DOD Strategic Planning Framework (SPF) during the
year under review. The BSC has been aligned with the
corporate Level 0 and 1 performance information as
contained within the SPF and approved by the Minister.
The translation of the noted SPF performance informa-
tion into the electronic COGNOS system in conjunction
with SITA will see the incremental roll-out of electroni-

cally managed performance information during the com-
ing year.  

As instructed by the Minister of Defence, the DOD
Strategic Plan (SP) and Annual Performance Plans (APP)
were separated into plans for the SANDF and the
Defence Secretariat respectively. These plans were suc-
cessfully tabled in parliament during March 2011.

In support of the government initiatives on job creation,
the DOD has developed plans to create job opportunities
for 5 700 young South Africans per year through the
Military Skills Development System (MSDS).

The SANDF has successfully assumed the border safe-
guarding function and has adopted a three phased strate-
gy for the rollout. The last phase of the strategy will be
completed during FY2012/13.

A concept paper on National Youth Service has been
developed and a pilot programme implemented in
Bloemfontein with a group of 500 recruits undergoing
training.

The Military Ombudsman Bill was approved by Cabinet
on 10 November 2010.

The Defence Amendment Act (Act 22 of 2010) promul-
gated in December 2010 regulates the obligation to serve
for Reserve Force members.

The Defence Strategy Conceptual framework has been
completed and is ready for consultation with Cabinet.

The Repositioning of the Defence Industry proposal,
including DENEL, is ready for consultation.

Two Peace Support Operations (PSOs) were conducted
under the Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs).1

Two General Military Assistance Operations were con-
ducted under the signed MOUs.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s   

The Departmental Direction Subprogramme provides depart-
mental direction to the DOD to ensure the effective, efficient
and proper conduct of defence activities in accordance with
legislation and policy. The Sec Def is the Accounting Officer
and the Principal Policy Advisor to the Minister of Defence.
The Sec Def, in conjunction with the Chief of the SANDF,
guide the provision of strategic direction to the DOD. The
Subprogramme provides corporate direction to the DOD
through the following:

1 At the time of publishing the MOUs were in the process of being signed.
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Provision of strategic direction to the DOD.

Policy advice to the Minister of Defence.

Management of DOD Parliamentary activities and
engagements.

Management of DOD participation in Cabinet Clusters
as well as the implementation of DOD obligations aris-
ing there from.

Management of defence policy in the DOD.

Management of National Convention Arms Control
(NCACC) support activities.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l   

Table 4.1 below provides details on the Departmental
Direction Subprogramme outputs, performance measures
and targets as specified in the DOD Strategic Plan
FY2010/11.

Output

Defence 
policy advice
to the
Minister of
Defence

Departmental 
direction to
the DOD

Directives
issued to
DOD-aligned
Government
programme
of action

Ensure trade 
in conven-
tional arms is
conducted in
compliance
with the
NCACC 

Ensure the 
internal regu-
latory
processes of
the NCACC
are complied
with

Performance 
Indicator

Defence policies aligned 
with Government 
priorities

Timeliness, relevance 
and quality of policy
advice to the Minister
('client')

Quality of directives to 
the Department and
planning guidelines to
the Department as a
whole

Timeous and relevant 
guidelines provided to
the DOD

Audit, inspections and 
investigations of regis-
tered / unregistered
armaments-related com-
panies nationally, with
respect to trade in said
armaments 

Audits and attendance of 
Scrutiny Council (SC)
meetings. Guidance to
NCACC on internal
processes

Table 4.1:   Departmental Direction Output Detail for the FY2010/11

Actual Target 
Achievement

Ministerial directives 
provided and implement-
ed  in the DOD

Relevant Policy advice pro-
vided to the Minister on
time

Timeous directives pro-
vided to the DOD and the
delegation of financial
authority provided to the
C SANDF

The implementation of 
C SANDF accounting and
reporting structures 
evaluated 

Government programme 
of action translated into
DOD priorities; planning
guidelines; and the imple-
mentation thereof moni-
tored and evaluated

8 audits and 100 inspec-
tions were conducted on
industry and other role-
players

All scheduled SC meeting 
were attended

Regular NCACC meetings 
commenced from August
2009 after the appointment
of the new Committee

Annual Target

Ministerial directives to 
the DOD

Complete client 
satisfaction

Timeous directives to 
the Department and
the delegation of 
financial authority to
the C SANDF

Evaluate the implemen-
tation of structure for
accounting and report-
ing by C SANDF and
make improvements

Full implementation of 
directives aligned to
POA

Continued audits, 
inspections and investi-
gations

Continued attendance of 
SC and NCACC meet-
ings and conducting
audits of role-players
involved in the internal
processes of the
NCACC

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

National audits could 
not be conducted
due to a moratorium
placed by the
Minister on Foreign
visits

Achieved

Effect of Programme / Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures. 

The Subprogramme Departmental Direction successfully provided departmental direction to the DOD to ensure the 
effective, efficient and proper conduct of defence activities in accordance with legislation and policy.
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S U B P R O G R A M M E :     G O V E R N M E N T
I N F O R M A T I O N   T E C H N O L O G Y
O F F I C E R   ( G I T O )

O v e r v i e w

In accordance with the Division's strategic objective to pro-
vide Information and Communication System (ICS) strategic
direction to the DOD, the Control Plan for the implementa-
tion of the DOD Information Strategy was developed. The
ICS Control Plan controls the implementation of the DOD
Information Strategy to enable the systematic improvement
of the effectiveness and interoperability of the ICS of the
DOD. ICS policies are promulgated in accordance with the
ICS Policy Development plan.  The risk identified within the
Division regarding possible non-realisation of promulgated
ICS Policy was mitigated and managed by an ICS Policy
Development Plan executed by the Command and
Management Information System (CMIS) Division by call-
ing up Reserve Force members to provide the capacity and
capability. 

To improve inter-operability and interconnectivity between
information and communication systems within and external
to the DOD, the following ICS Strategic Studies were com-
pleted and approved. These include the following:

Defence Information and Communication System
Standard on De-Militarised Zone (DMZ)

Defence Data and Information Standard for Data ware-
house

Strategic Study on the use of Virtualisation Technologies

Defence Information and Communication System
Standard for Key Public Infrastructure

During the period under review, another main concern was to
systematically improve compatibility and interoperability of
the ICS of the DOD through collaboration with the National
Treasury in preparation for the rollout of the Integration
Financial Management System (IFMS).  

The Human Resources (HR) Module, led by the Department
of Public Service & Administration (DPSA), was rolled out
with a formal launch in February 2011. The DOD is current-
ly undergoing training and testing of the said module which

is intended to replace the current HR application within the
NT's set timelines.  The DOD and the NT are finalising dis-
cussions on the lifting of the moratorium for the development
of the DOD unique logistics systems and is the lead site for
the implementation of Asset Management and Procurement
Modules of the IFMS.

It is important to note that the current Information and
Communication Technology (ICT) inventory is not integrat-
ed and has a high level of obsolescence.  Although efforts are
made to optimise the existing ICT systems, the current budg-
et only allows for a progressive approach that is linked to the
availability of financial resources as well as the ability of the
SITA and Defence ICT system providers to provide solutions
in accordance with the requirements of the Defence
Enterprise Information System (DEIS) Master Plan schedule.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The GITO is responsible for Strategic governance of the
DEIS.  The Division seeks to ensure the delivery of effective
and efficient strategic direction in order to manage informa-
tion as a strategic resource and provide guidelines to ensure
that the right, accurate and quality information is distribute
securely to support decision-making in achieving the depart-
ment’s objectives

The DEIS Management Division provides norms and stan-
dards for:

Providing sound Information and Communication
System direction and advice;

Developing consensus on Information and Commu-
nication System;

Providing sound policy and administration;  and

Systemic monitoring and evaluation.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l

Table 4.2 below details on the GITO Sub-programme's out-
puts, performance measures and targets as specified in the
DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

annrep 1011 1 to 148.qxp  2011/10/10  11:07  Page 26



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1 27

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

Output

To provide 
strategic
direction for
the manage-
ment of infor-
mation as a
strategic
resource in
the
Department

To manage 
the alignment
of the Infor-
mation and
Communicati
on System
Policy Regu-
latory Frame-
work

Performance 
Indicator

Promulgated DOD 
Information Strategy

Percentage of 
Information and
Communication System
Policy aligned to
Regulatory Framework

Table 4.2:   GITO Output Detail for FY2010/11

Actual Target 
Achievement

DOD Information Strategy was 
reviewed, approved and promulgat-
ed on 18 January 2010 by the PDSC

Control Plan for the implementation is 
in its second draft 

Completed:

Strategic Study on Defence Infor-
mation and Communication
Infrastructure Reference Model

Strategic Study on Defence Data 
and Information Reference
Model

Bulletin on Data Management

Defence Information and Com-
munication System Standard on
De-Militarised Zone (DMZ)

Defence Application Reference 
Model

Defence Data and Infor-
mation Reference Model

Defence Data and Infor-
mation Standard for Data ware-
house

Strategic Study on the use of 
Virtualisation Technologies

Defence Information and 
Communication System
Standard for Public Key
Infrastructure

The DOD ICS Policy Develop-
ment and Maintenance Plan is com-
pleted and await promulgation and
implementation

The Request for Bid to obtain  the
Regulatory Framework IT solution
was completed and it will be adver-
tised through the SITA procurement
process in April 2011

Annual 
Target

100%

100%

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Availability of 
Services and
Divisions for full 
collaboration

Final approval of the 
role clarifications and
responsibilities
between the GITO
and C CMIS as well
as the approval of
the CMIS Div
(Domino) structure

The ICS Regulatory 
Framework Enabler
Project was placed
on hold for three
months to ensure
proper interaction
with other role-play-
ers and information
systems

Effect of Programme / Subprogramme Output Achievement of ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures. 

The Sub-programme GITO successfully provided a command and management information system that is fully 
integrated and aligned with Government's Executive Information management system.
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S U B P R O G R A M M E :   P O L I C Y   A N D
P L A N N I N G   ( D E F E N C E   P O L I C Y ,
S T R A T E G Y   A N D   P L A N N I N G )

O v e r v i e w

In the period under review, the Division successfully achieved
most of its core objectives notwithstanding resource-related
challenges. The Division continued to provide excellent serv-
ices by ensuring that policy, strategic planning and reporting
were done according to national guidelines, policy and relat-
ed prescripts and in line with the Medium Term Strategic
Framework (MTSF).

During the period under review, fundamental work was done
to realise the announcements made in the Minister's Defence
Budget Vote Speech (2010) concerning a review of the
defence policy framework.  The Division led a departmental
process to develop a concept future Defence Policy, Defence
Strategy and Force Design, which was tailored through
engagements with the Minister.

Various other policy research initiatives that were conducted
included the development of a draft framework for a Military
Ombud, a framework for Defence inputs to the National
Security Strategy and the development of a DOD Research
Unit.  

In support of the priority of the Minister, the Division led the
process of developing the South African Maritime Security
Strategy with a particular focus on the linkages with the
deployment of the SANDF inside Mozambique and in inter-
national waters to effect SADC Maritime Security. The
Maritime Security Strategy was presented to Cabinet and
approved for engagement at the SADC level.

All ongoing defence deployments were approved for contin-
uance in the period under review. New authorisations were
processed for matters including, inter alia, the deployment of
the SANDF to monitor and deter piracy activities in the
Southern African region of the Indian Ocean, as well as
deployments to evacuate South African nationals from the
Ivory Coast, Libya and Sudan.

Following the National Treasury prescripts regarding plan-
ning and reporting on performance, the Division has devel-
oped the DOD Strategic Planning Framework (SPF), which
provides guidelines for the development of the Strategic Plans
(SPs) and Annual Performance Plans (APPs) in the DOD. The
DOD plans for the FY2010/11 were subjected to technical
evaluation, which ensured their alignment with DOD outputs
and outcomes.  In order to allow for statutory reporting of the
two Defence institutions that have complementary mandates
that are serviced differently, whilst not compromising the
security and sensitivity of the SANDF information, the
Defence Secretariat and SANDF Strategic Plans were sepa-
rated and successfully tabled in Parliament on  8 March 2011.

In line with the statutory requirements on the submission of

performance reports, the Division ensured that the DOD
Annual Report FY2009/10 was tabled in Parliament in
September 2010, and that quality DOD Quarterly Reports
were approved and submitted to the Executive Authority and
the Auditor-General within the prescribed timelines.   

The ongoing development of the Balanced Score Card (BSC)
within the DOD has been enhanced through the development
of the DOD Strategic Planning Framework (SPF) during the
reporting year. The BSC has aligned itself with the corporate
Level 0 and 1 performance information as contained within
the SPF and approved by the Minister. The translation of the
noted SPF performance information into the electronic COG-
NOS system in conjunction with SITA will see the incremen-
tal roll-out of electronically managed performance informa-
tion during the coming financial year.

As part of its mandate to provide expert advice and support
services to decision makers, the Division played a critical
role in the development of the Strategic Plans and Annual
Performance Plans of the Public Entities and Organs of state
reporting to the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans.
The Division also assisted in finalising the concept paper for
the National Youth Service, which was presented to a study
group on peace and security on 4 November 2010. 

In order to comply with Government policy on enterprise risk
management which stipulates that all enterprise risks should
be identified, assessed / appreciated and contingency meas-
ures be considered. The Division ensured the development of
the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Framework, which
was approved by the Secretary for Defence in December
2010. Excellent progress was made regarding the communi-
cation of the ERM philosophy within the Department
through ERM training workshops, assisting Services/
Divisions to ensure that risk management was encapsulated
in their day-to-day activities, the establishment of the
Strategic Risk Management Committee, and to address Risk
management issues in relevant strategic forums.  

In ensuring the effective regulation of arms transfer in South
Africa, the Division provided administrative and secretarial
support to the National Conventional Arms Control
Committee (NCACC). During the reporting period, about 6
587 permits were issued in this environment.  The Division
furthermore ensured that the operational commitments of the
DOD were authorised by Cabinet and the President as
required by the Constitution, National Legislation and the
Handbook on the Executive Acts of the President.

The Division provided timely and relevant reports and policy
inputs to ensure appropriate DOD representation and partici-
pation in the DG Cluster system. The Division represented
the DOD in the South African Delegation to the regional
meeting of 32 states for an African group of experts seminar
on the Cluster Munitions Convention held in Pretoria on 30
April 2010.
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In the area of integrated management systems, the Business
Process Management DODI was promulgated. The draft pol-
icy on the Macro Structure Management is in the corporate
approval process. About 15 Organizational Structure reports
were assessed for compliance through the Critical Design
Review process. 60 reports were implemented on the
Structural Management Control System (SMCS) and 700
requests were implemented on the Organization and
Information System (OIS). 317 Management Information
Reports were provided to clients. Systems changes as per
user requirement on DOD unit closure have been finalized
and implemented. A total of 1 087 posts/job evaluation
reports were quality controlled and moderated.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Subprogramme Defence Policy, Strategy and Planning

provides the DOD with defence policy, strategy and planning
capabilities through the following: 

Defence strategic business architecture, planning guid-
ance, plans, risk and performance management and
reports.

Defence policy advice and policy support to the DOD.

Provision of secretariat and administrative support to the
NCACC and its sub-committees.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l   

Table 4.3 below provides details of the Policy and Planning
Subprogramme outputs, performance measures and targets as
specified in the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output

To provide 
expert prod-
ucts, advice
and support
services on
National
Defence and
Security
Policy

Performance 
Indicator

Quality, policy decision 
support is given accord-
ing to decision-makers'
requirement

Operational commit-
ments products prepared
per requirement accord-
ing to law for authorisa-
tion by defence decision
makers

Timeous and relevant 
reports and policy inputs
to ensure appropriate
DOD representation and
participation in the DG
Cluster system in accor-
dance with Government
objectives

Departmental policies
are well developed
maintained, and accessi-
ble according to depart-
ment and Government
objectives

Table 4.3:   Policy and Planning Output Detail for the FY2010/11

Actual Target 
Achievement

Professional advice was 
given and acknowledged per
instance to higher  authori-
ties  

Timely Presidential authori-
sation and Cabinet approval
secured for each mission.
Terminated defence opera-
tional commitments with all
aspects of the termination
covered in terms of the
Ministerial Directives

DOD representation and par-
ticipation in  cluster meetings
POA reports submitted
according to defined time-
lines

Internal processes, proce-
dures and controls in the
DOD are regulated

Annual 
Target

Consistent provision 
of comprehensive,
expert and credible
advice is given
timeously to defence
decision makers for
the achievement of
the Defence Mandate

New and current 
Defence deployments
are properly mandat-
ed as required by law
and duly adjusted or
terminated when
required

Defined DOD respon-
ses and quality posi-
tions are provided
timeously Defence
decision makers are
kept updated on clus-
ter activities Integra-
tion of Government
priorities into depart-
mental strategic
direction

Policy Board operates 
and takes effective
control over policy
products according to
its constitution

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved
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Output

To provide 
effective
DOD
Strategic
Management

Provide effec-
tive and effi-
cient Admin-
istrative Sup-
port to the
National
Conventional
Arms Control
Committee
(NCACC)

Performance 
Indicator

Defence Strategy 
aligned with
Constitutional Mandate
and Government priori-
ties

Timeliness, relevance 
and quality of DOD
Strategic Plan and
Annual Performance
Plan

Timeliness, relevance
and quality of DOD
performance reports

Business processes and 
structures aligned with
Departmental require-
ments

All enterprise risks are 
identified, assessed/
appreciated and contin-
gency measures are
considered

Arms transfers conduct-
ed in line with the
National Conventional
Arms Control Act and
Government policy

Applications dealt with 
in terms of the determi-
nation of the NCACC
in the context of the Act

Table 4.3:   Policy and Planning Output Detail for the FY2010/11 (continued)

Actual Target 
Achievement

The draft Defence Strategy has 
been completed 

DOD Overarching Statement, 
Def Sec SP and the APP align-
ed with Government pre-
scripts on planning were
tabled and presented to Parlia-
ment on 09 March 2011 and 23
Mach 2011 respectively. Later
the SANDF SP and APP were
tabled as classified documents

DOD Annual Report for 
FY2009/10 was tabled in
Parliament in September 2010.
The DOD Quarterly Reports
were submitted to the
Executive Authority and
Auditor-General

DOD structures that support 
the Defence Strategy are
reviewed

DOD ERM Framework was 
promulgated

A total of 6587 Permits were 
issued on time

2 applications were received 
and processed accordingly
under the Regulation of
Foreign Military Assistance
Act (Act No 15 of 1998)

Annual Target

Defence Strategy will 
be presented for con-
sideration and
approval by Clusters,
Cabinet and
Parliament by October
2010

Strategic Plan and 
Annual Performance
Plan aligned to
requirement of
Presidency, National
Treasury as per pre-
scribed timelines

DOD Performance 
reports are provided
as per Government
requirements

DOD structures that 
support the Defence
Strategy

Risk Management 
Framework promul-
gated

Timely issuing of per-
mits and professional
service in terms of
applicable standards

Timely processing of 
applications for
Authorization in
terms of applicable
Act

Reasons for Over/ 
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Effect of Programme / Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.

The Subprogramme Defence Policy, Strategy and Planning successfully provided defence policy, strategy and planning 
capability to the DOD.
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S U B P R O G R A M M E :     M I L I T A R Y
P O L I C Y ,   S T R A T E G Y   A N D   P L A N -
N I N G

O v e r v i e w

The outputs of the Military Policy, Strategy and Planning
Office (MPSPO) have contributed positively to the achieve-
ment of the C SANDF strategic planning objectives and tar-
gets in compliance with the government timelines and the
goals of the DOD.  

During the period under review, the MPSPO took the lead at
defining the SANDF Readiness Index Model User
Requirement and has developed the preliminary Readiness
Index Strategy. The results of the Readiness Index Model will
be used for the Balanced Scorecard Measures. The Office
also developed the SANDF Strategic Plan in accordance with
the guidelines from National Treasury and identified the
Strategic Outcomes and Outputs, which the SANDF will
endeavour to achieve over the MTEF 2011/12 to 15/16 peri-
od.  These have also been incorporated into the SANDF
Annual Performance Plan FY2011/12.  

The Office completed and delivered the Environmental

Analysis of the DOD for the period FY2012/13 to
FY2014/15 as an input to the strategic planning process of
the DOD. This process identified clearly formulated Strategic
Issues and Enterprise Risks for the DOD. 

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The MPSPO is part of the Policy and Planning subpro-
gramme2 of the Administration Programme and is to advise
on national security policy matters and coordinate the strate-
gic direction process by developing, formulating, monitoring
and adapting defence policy, strategy and plans in accordance
with national policy to enable the effective, efficient and
proper conduct of defence activities.

O u t p u t s   

Table 4.4 below provides details of the Military Policy,
Strategy and Planning Office Subprogramme outputs, per-
formance measures and targets as specified in the DOD
Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output

Managing the 
strategic /
control and
programming
process of the
SANDF

Providing a 
military
strategising
capability
and service
for the Chief
of the
SANDF

Performance 
Indicator

Degree to which SANDF 
strategic planning and
reporting objectives are
met according to C
SANDF Directives

The degree of align-
ment of the Military
Strategy with National
Security Strategy impera-
tives and the successful
implementation thereof

Table 4.4:   Military Policy, Strategy and Planning Office Output Detail for the FY2010/11

Actual Target 
Achievement

SANDF plans and reports 
were submitted timeously

Compliance with Military 
Strategy in the SANDF was
monitored

Annual 
Target

SANDF plans and 
reports submitted in
time

Monitoring of com-
pliance with Military
Strategy in the
SANDF

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved

2 In the ENE, the Policy and Planning allocation includes funding for the Corporate Staff Office as well as the Military Policy,
Strategy and Planning Office.

Effect of Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.

The achievements of the Military Policy, Strategy and Planning Office's Outputs have contributed positively to the 
Administration Programme's Purpose to execute the DODs overall management, administration and policy 
development.
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S U B P R O G R A M M E :   F I N A N C I A L
S E R V I C E S

O v e r v i e w

During the reporting period, the Financial Management
Division played a pivotal role in ensuring that the DOD con-
tinued to uphold the principles of best practice of financial
management. The Division ensures an environment in which
the prescribed deliverables in the utilisation of resources are
in line with the principles in the Public Finance Management
Act (PFMA) of efficiency, effectiveness and economy. The
prescribed products include, inter alia, the Estimates of
National Revenue and Expenditure, the Annual and Interim
Financial Statements and the internal Financial Management
information and other related reports used for decision-mak-
ing in the DOD such as the monthly Early Warning Reports
on expenditure and cash flow as well as those that are submit-
ted to the National Treasury.

In support of the Minister of Defence's commitment to clean-
ing up the audit report, the Division coordinated the achieve-
ment of an improvement in the audit outcomes during the
year under review, within the auspices of the Operation Clean
Audit project whose central aim is to produce positive annu-
al audit outcomes for the DOD. Sustainable mitigation plans
of action have been put in place to ensure that the negative
audit outcomes of the past years do not recur and that the only
outstanding asset management audit qualification is also
eliminated.

During the year under review, the Division has worked hard
at refining departmental financial processes, systems and
policies with a view to aligning them with the public finance
management regulatory framework in order to improve serv-
ice delivery. It is planned that in the coming year, an
Accounting Manual will be completed to serve as a tool to
empower the DOD regarding defence accounting standards.

Furthermore, the Division collaborated with other key role-
players in the analysis of key issues during preparation for
DOD appearance before the Parliamentary Committees such
as the Portfolio Committee on Defence (PCD) and the
Standing Committee on Public Accounts (SCOPA) on budg-
etary and financial aspects of the strategic plan and the
Annual Report. The SCOPA preparation was used to sensitise
the DOD to key risk areas that contribute to the negative out-

comes in the financial statements of the DOD, such as irreg-
ular expenditure, fruitless and wasteful expenditure and unau-
thorised expenditure. 

The Financial Accounting function paid suppliers of goods
and services and remunerated personnel within the deter-
mined time frames. Financial transactions were recorded and
reported as required. Initiatives are in progress to improve
payments and reduce cash in circulation through the introduc-
tion of electronic methods of payment, for which a purchase
card is currently under investigation.

In the area of budget Management, the Division provided
advice and support in giving effect to both government prior-
ities and DOD initiatives within appropriate adjustments dur-
ing the year under review. These initiatives included inter
alia, general modernisation, MSDS, improved infrastructure,
training of Reserves, compensation of employees and peace
support operations within a limited budget. The Division also
focussed on improving revenue management by enhancing
existing policies, providing comprehensive monthly data
from the logistic and personnel feeder systems, despite their
outdated status. Budget Management also participated in the
development of the IFMS, while at the same time it enhanced
the existing Financial Management system to ensure compli-
ance with the new economic reporting framework.

Despite high staff turnover, the division continued the excel-
lent service in respect of its mandate. It recruited competent
and skilled people to join the Division by employing the HR
Division to speed up the staffing process. 

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s
To provide a cost-effective financial management service to
the Minister of Defence, the Secretary for Defence and the
Chief of the South African National Defence Force within the
evolving regulatory framework, by means of a professional
representative civilian financial management corps and an
appropriate financial management system.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l
Table 4.5 below provides detail of the Financial Services
Subprogramme output, performance measures and targets
specified in the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output

Provide an 
effective and
efficient
Financial
Management
service

Performance 
Indicator

Budget Preparations: 
Percentage deviation
from National Treasury
budget guidelines

Budget Control: 
Percentage of under
expenditure

Table 4.5:   Financial Services Output Detail for the FY2010/11

Actual Target 
Achievement

The budget proposals were 
submitted on due dates com-
pliant with the NT Guidelines.

All monthly presentations to 
PDSC were made. No adverse
findings on budget were
made.

Annual Target

Complete and accu-
rate Defence estimate
of Revenue and
Expenditure

Fully expended 
budget

Reasons for Over/ 
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved
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S U B P R O G R A M M E :   H U M A N
R E S O U R C E   S U P P O R T   S E R V I C E S
O v e r v i e w
In the year under review, the Division remained committed to
focus on establishing programmes to ensure the provision of
human resource support in the DOD. This has been achieved
by means of the development of the DOD Corporate HR
Support Plan, the provisioning of HR strategic inputs for the
DOD Strategic Direction Process, continuous monitoring of
the implementation of the DOD HR Strategy, provision of
advice on equal opportunity issues, monitoring of the imple-
mentation of equity legislation and monitoring the execution
of HR Support Plans and budgets through the monthly HR
Planning Committee.

During August 2010, the Division was convened and hosted
the annual DOD Gender Conference with the theme
"Together Entrenching Constitutional Imperatives within the
DOD". The primary purpose was to report on the progress
made in implementing the Gender Mainstreaming Action
Plan and also to reflect on the Research Findings on the sta-
tus of women in the DOD, sixteen years into Democracy.

During the period under review, the revised Non-statutory
Forces (NSF) Pension Dispensation was approved by
Cabinet. This makes provision for 100% recognition of the
service period of former NSF members without a require-
ment to contribute 5%. This, revised dispensation, also

brought about equity amongst members with more or less
than 10 years' service to the extent that the 50% recognition
for members with less than 10 years' service in the previous
dispensation was cancelled. The Government Employees
Pension Fund (GEPF) rules for the revised dispensation were
approved, paving the way for the implementation. 

The Division has had to embark on an additional project ema-
nating from a Government Instruction to implement Public
Service Co-ordinating Bargaining Council (PSCBC)
Resolution 7 of 1998 and Resolution 12 of 2002 relating to
pension restructuring.  Command Body sanction has been
granted for the Division to continue with the implementation
of these Resolutions within the DOD. Services and Divisions
provided personnel to form part of a Task Team to serve and
assist with the roll-out of the Pension Restructuring Project.
Subsequently, the Task Team has held a number of meetings,
primarily to discuss strategy, training venues, time frames
and funding of the Project that will include countrywide
training.

The Interim Defence Force Service Commission (IDFSC)
crafted a Programme of Action and embarked on the follow-
ing activities during the reporting period:

The process of advising the Minister on the organisa-
tional structure of the Defence Force Service
Commission and the Draft Defence Force Service
Regulations.

Output

Effective and 
efficient pro-
vision of
departmental
support
through the
timeous set-
tlement of
financial obli-
gations by the
Department.

Performance 
Indicator

Financial Accounting: 
Number of adverse
audit findings

Financial Services 
(Governance Risk
Compliance): Number
of incidences of non
compliance with the
framework

Timeous payments 
claims against the
Department

Timeous payments for 
external auditing for
services rendered to the
department

Timeous payments of 
transaction cost, includ-
ing bank charges

Table 4.5:   Financial Services Output Detail for the FY2010/11 (continued)

Actual Target 
Achievement

1 Audit qualification for 
2009/10 as issued by AG in
August 2010

Regulatory framework largely 
complied with.

100%  payment

85%  payment

100% paid within 30 days 
period

Annual Target

Complete and accu-
rate financial state-
ments

Compliance with reg-
ulatory framework
and appropriate King
report

Within 30 days of 
receipt of a court
order

Within 30 days of 
receipt of substantiat-
ing invoice

Within 30 days of sub
stantiating documen-
tation

Reasons for Over/ 
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Effect of Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.

The Subprogramme Financial Services succeeded in providing financial management service to the DOD within the evolv-
ing regulatory framework by means of professional, representative civilian financial management corps supported by an
appropriate financial management system.
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Visited the deployment areas to further evaluate and
gather first-hand information from deployed members
regarding remuneration and conditions of service on
deployment in order to present feedback to the Minister.

The final report was presented to the Minister and to the
Joint Standing Committee on Defence during March
2011.

The Military Bargaining Council (MBC) and Military
Arbitration Board (MAB) remained non-functional as none
of the military trade unions met the required threshold of 15
000 members, a requirement, as stipulated in Chapter 20 of
the General Regulations of the SANDF, to be admitted to the
MBC. However, the DOD continued to engage the military
trade unions outside the MBC to discuss issues of mutual
interest.

On 11 March 2011, the Registrar of Military Trade Unions
deregistered the South African Security Forces Union
(SASFU) for non-compliance with Regulation 42 of the
General regulations for the SANDF and Reserve members.
SASFU therefore has no collective bargaining and organiza-
tional rights in the DOD. 

During the year under review, the Minister approved the rec-
ommendation for the implementation of the re-ranking of for-
mer Non-statutory Force members within the Finance
Management Division. In terms of this recommendation, all
members who were so disadvantaged will have their ranks
rectified and be compensated accordingly.

Owing to serious infrastructure shortcomings at the Personnel
Services School, accreditation as a training facility could not

be obtained as a result and the accredited curricula for the
training of Human Resource Practitioners could not be
implemented. This situation is crippling the entire DOD in
terms of the training of Human Resource Practitioners.
During the FY2010/11 an amount of R600 000 was allocat-
ed towards the upgrading of the facilities and this project will
be carried to the next financial year.

The Division continued to coordinate the management of HR
related audit queries and with the establishment of a nodal
point for communication with the Auditor General (AG) on
HR related matters, this has already resulted in fewer nega-
tive findings.

Despite relatively low staffing levels and financial con-
straints, the Division has continued to render the expected
output during the past financial year. The Division is commit-
ted to continuing with its efforts to support the overall strate-
gic goals of the SANDF and the DOD as a whole.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Human Resource Strategic Support Services provide
direction and policy for the effective management of human
rights and labour relations in the DOD.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l   

Table 4.6 below provides details of the Human Resource
Support Services Subprogramme output, performance meas-
ures and targets specified in the output table in the DOD
Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output

Transforma-
tion manage-
ment service
to the DOD

Human Re-
sources (HR)
Strategic
Direction and
Plans service
to the DOD

HR manage-
ment service
to the DOD

Performance 
Indicator

Compilation and sub-
mission of an annual
DOD Equity Report

Annual approved DOD 
corporate HR Support
Plan

Annual reduction of 
DOD collective griev-
ances

Percentage completion 
of Non-Statutory Forces
Pension Project

Table 4.6:   Human Resource Support Services Output Detail for the FY2010/11

Actual Target 
Achievement

November

1

25%

8.26%

514/6220 = 8.26%

Annual Target

October

1

20%

30%

Reasons for Over/ 
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved. Implementation of the 
Single Grievance Procedure has
contributed to a higher target
achievement

The Cabinet Memorandum for 
the revised NSF dispensation
was only approved in Dec 2010
and the revised GEPF rules for
such a dispensation was only
approved on 16 Mar 2011.   The
implementation can only com-
mence after such an approval
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Output

Directed, 
orchestrated
and con-
trolled HR
development
for the DOD

Professional 
and non-com-
bat/ mission
common
functional
education
training and
development
for the DOD

Labour mar-
ket entry
enablement
and rede-
ployment
capability for
the SANDF

Establish-
ment of a
fully func-
tional
Department
of Military
Veterans

Peace Mission 
Training
Centre

Performance 
Indicator

Approved DOD HR 
Development Strategy

Implementation of an 
operational Level 2
DOD Law of Armed
Conflict capability

Annual graduation of 
Executive National
Security Programme
(ENSP) members with a
certificate in National
Security

Annual graduation of 
learners with a Military
Academy Bachelor's
Degree (B Mil)

Annual availability of 
re-skilling training
opportunities to learn-
ers exiting the DOD

Obtain full accreditation 
of the Centre for
Advanced Training
(CAT) provided skills
programmes/ courses

Fully functional 
Structure in place with
appropriate systems,
processes and policy

Fully operational Peace 
Mission Training
Centre

Table 4.6:   Human Resource Support Services Output Detail for the FY2010/11 (continued)

Actual Target 
Achievement

The draft Strategy 
finalised  

Structure not yet 
approved and only 1
post staffed

61 members completed 
course successfully  

40 Learners have gra-
duated during the FY
2010/11  

191 opportunities were 
provided in the
FY2010/11 

Partially accredited

Macro organisational
structure approved

Legislative mandate and 
administrative support
have been developed.
Benefits and services as
contemplated in the leg-
islation is currently
being considered by
Cabinet

100%

Annual Target

Approved

Implemented

72 Members

56 Learners

150 Opportuni-
ties

Fully accredited

Functional macro 
organisational
structure
approved

Develop and 
finalise appropri-
ate policies and
procedures

100%

Reasons for Over/ 
Under Achievement

Not Achieved.  The HR 
Development Strategy is still
under consideration

Not Achieved.  Full approval 
and staffing of the proposed post
structure has not yet taken place

Not Achieved.  Deviation ENSP 
21/10: 2 Foreign learners and 5
PSAP learners did not report for
ENSP 21/10. 1 learner with-
drawn for medical reasons.  
Deviation ENSP 22/10: 3 mem-
bers from other Departments did
not report. 1 additional SANDF
member was accepted. 1 learner
withdrawn by his Department
during mid-course

Not Achieved.  36 members 
graduated in Dec 2010, four
members graduated in March
2011, 9 members failed.  Only 49
students enrolled for academic
year 2010  

Achieved.  Additional assistance 
was provided for Military
Veterans and DOD Works
Capability clients

Not Achieved.  The facilities 
were not in line with the require-
ments of MERSETA

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Effect of Programme / Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.

The achievement of the Subprogramme Human Resources Support Services' Outputs has contributed positively to the 
Administration Programme's Purpose to execute the Department's overall management, administration and policy
development.
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S U B P R O G R A M M E :   L E G A L
S E R V I C E S

O v e r v i e w

The period under review saw the Defence Legal Services
Division (DLSD) making significant progress in filling all
newly established posts. However, further structural expan-
sions are still required.  

The Division provided law support and legal advice as
required for external and internal operations, exercises, ad
hoc deployments / investigations, operational law training
lectures and refresher law training sessions.  Military law sup-
port and legal advice was also rendered with the drafting of
17 bilateral and multilateral Memoranda of Understanding.
A total of 1 312 requests for legal advice was received and the
Division could attend to 1 305 of those.  The Court of
Military Appeals finalised 42 cases that were set down for
hearing and 29 dockets were received from the Military
Prosecution.  

In support of the priority of the Minister to improve the
service conditions of the members of the SANDF, the
Division was instrumental in the formulation and develop-
ment of the Defence Amendment Bill. The Bill was approved
by Cabinet, passed by the National Assembly and sent to the
National Council of Provinces and assented to by the Presi-
dent on 09 Dec 2010. The Defence Amendment Act (Act No.
22 of 2010) provides for the establishment of a permanent
Defence Force Service Commission (DFSC) to advise the
Minister on the conditions of service of SANDF members
and also for obligatory service for the Reserves in circum-
stances short of war or a state of national defence. 

In order to enhance skills development in the defence legal
corps, the Division presented four Military Law Courses at
the School for Military Justice. The school received full
accreditation from the SA Qualification Authority as a serv-
ice provider for three (3) subjects and accreditation for seven
(7) of the facilitators as moderators and assessors.   

The challenges that placed an enormous burden on the
Division during the reporting period, included the serious
decline in the allocated operating budget due to the expansion
of the human resources budget, the non-availability of vari-
ous posts as a result of the Division being inadequately capac-
itated in the operations environment as well as the shortage of
trained Military Law Practitioners, both Regular and Reserve
members.

Despite the human resources, skills and structural constraints
the Division continued to ensure that military justice was pro-
vided in the DOD in line with national standards.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Legal Services provides professional, legitimate and
deployable military legal services and support commensurate
with the needs of the DOD. 

O u t p u t   D e t a i l   

Table 4.7 below provides details of the Legal Services
Subprogramme output, performance measures and targets as
specified in the output table in the DOD Strategic Plan
FY2010/11.

Output

Defence Legal 
Service capa-
bility and
services

Performance 
Indicator

Degree to which Military 
Justice inputs and legal
support have been pro-
vided as prescribed in
the Military Discipline
Supplementary Mea-
sures Act (MDSMA), Act
No 16 of 1999, the
Defence Act, Act 42 of
2002 and any other appli-
cable legislation

Degree to which a com
prehensive legal advice
service and capability are
provided to the MOD,
Sec Def and the Chief of
the SANDF

Actual Target 
Achievement

Military justice inputs and 
legal support were provided
as prescribed

99% of all requested legal 
advice was provided

100% of all facilitated litiga-
tion was attended to

Annual 
Target

Military justice inputs 
and legal support
provided as pre-
scribed

100% of all requested 
legal advice provided

80% of all facilitated 
litigation must be
attended to

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Table 4.7:   Legal Services Output Detail for the FY2010/11

annrep 1011 1 to 148.qxp  2011/10/10  11:07  Page 36



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1 37

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

Output

Legal advice 
and support
service to the
DOD

Legal advice 
and support
service to the
DOD

Military 
judiciary
service to the
SANDF

Military 
Defence
Council serv-
ice to the
SANDF

Military 
judicial
review serv-
ice to the
SANDF

Defence 
Legal
Services
Support

Performance 
Indicator

Percentage compliance 
with the Chief of the
SANDF requirements
with regard to operational
legal advice and support
for all external and internal
operations

Timelines and quality to 
which HR, Policy, MOU
and Legislative legal
advice complies with
DOD Legislation, Policy
Prescripts and Instructions

The degree to which 
operations and force
preparations legal advice
policy and procedures
complies with DOD legis-
lation and instructions

The degree to which 
DLSD plans and proce-
dures in respect of Military
Judges, Presiding Officers
and Assessors complies
with the provisions of
Defence Act, Act No 42 of
2002 and the MDSMA,
Act No 16 of 1999

The degree to which 
Military Defence Counsel
sectoral policy with regard
to Military Counsel and
procedures complies with
the Defence Act, Act No 42
of 2002 and the MDSMA
Act No 16 of 1999 and
instructions

The degree to which 
Military Judicial Review
policy and procedures
complies with the Defence
Act, Act No 42 of 2002 and
the MDSMA Act No 16 of
1999

The degree to which an 
ETD service (legal train-
ing) is provided to the
DOD and the DLSD

Actual Target 
Achievement

100% Compliance with 
Chief of the SANDF
requirements

Fully complied with regu-
latory framework

Fully complied with regu-
latory framework to
ensure deployable opera-
tional legal advice and
support services to the
SANDF (CJ Ops) and rele-
vant Divisions

Full compliance with 
regulatory framework  

Full compliance with 
regulatory framework

Fully complied with 
regulatory framework

Fully complied with 
regulatory framework

Annual 
Target

100%

Full compliance with 
regulatory framework

Full compliance with 
regulatory framework
to ensure deployable
operational legal
advice and support
services to the SANDF
(CJ Ops), and relevant
Divisions

Full compliance with 
regulatory framework  

Full compliance with 
regulatory framework

Full compliance with 
regulatory framework

Provide and 
Implement an effective
ETD Service. "In accor-
dance with DOD
Policy and Prescripts"
expressed ito percent-
age of functions con-
ducted.

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Table 4.7:   Legal Services Output Detail for the FY2010/11 (continued)
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Output

Military 
prosecution
service to the
SANDF3

Performance 
Indicator

The degree to which 
Military Prosecution
(MPros) apply policy and
procedures that complies
with the Defence Act, 2002
(Act 42 of 2002) and the
MDSMA, 1999 (Act 16 of
1999)

Table 4.7:   Legal Services Output Detail for the FY2010/11 (continued)

Actual Target 
Achievement

Provided and implemented 
an effective Education,
Training and Development
service, "in accordance
with DOD policy and pre-
scripts" 

Annual Target

Full compliance with 
regulatory framework

Reasons for Over/ 
Under Achievement

Achieved

Effect of Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.

The achievement of the Subprogramme Legal Services' Outputs has contributed positively to the Administration 
Programme's Purpose to execute the Department's overall management, administration and policy development.

S U B P R O G R A M M E :   I N S P E C T I O N
S E R V I C E S

O v e r v i e w

During the year under review, the Defence Inspectorate
Division achieved its objectives as a multi-functionary Div-
ision by conducting performance, regulatory, compliance and
closing down unit audits, anti-corruption and anti-fraud serv-
ices. The Division also conducted perception surveys
notwithstanding capacity challenges experienced such as
vacant posts, the non-alignment of the Resource Management
structure and the unfunded status of Project MOUNTING
(closing down audits).  The Division helped the DOD to
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic and disci-
plined approach to evaluation and the improvement in the
effectiveness of governance, risk management and controls.

The Defence Inspectorate Division retained certification of
ISO 9001: 2008 Quality Management certificate and estab-
lished a nodal point for the Fraud and Corruption Forum. The
Fraud and Prevention Plan was finalized in the period under
review. All Commando Units and Group Headquarters were
successfully closed and de-activated from the system.

A SADC Seminar was hosted in Cape Town during August
2010, where the Division presented the draft Inspection

Manual as tasked by the SADC Standby Force. 

Formal training of Internal Auditors was conducted and 23
members completed the General Internal Auditors Course.
The graduation ceremony will take place in May 2011. The
Internal Auditors were also involved with the practical train-
ing presented by the KPMG Consortium. The Division uti-
lizes the Internal Auditors as required by law to ensure that
systems and processes are in place to minimize/prevent audit
qualifications.

The Directorates responsible for performance and regulatory
compliance audits achieved their audit objectives inclusive of
seven and eight ad hoc audits respectively.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Inspection Services Subprogramme ensures the validity
and veracity of the management information of the DOD.

O u t p u t s

Table 4.8 below provides details of the Inspection Services
outputs, performance measures and targets as specified in the
DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output

Performance 
Audit capa-
bility

Performance Measure

Number of performance 
audit reports finalized
according to the Annual
Performance Audit
Schedule

Actual Target 
Achievement

30 plus 7 ad hoc audits

Annual 
Target

30

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Over achieved as 7 ad hoc 
audits were conducted

Table 4.8:   Inspection Services Output Detail for FY2010/11

3 Changes to the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11, as directed by C SANDF Instruction 10/09: CCS/CMP/R/3022/2/1
(FY2010/11) dd 28 May 2009.
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S U B P R O G R A M M E :   A C Q U I S I T I O N
S E R V I C E S   ( D E F E N C E   M A T É R I E L )   

O v e r v i e w

The Defence Matériel Division, as the main policy advice
repository for the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans
as well as the Secretary for Defence on Category 1 Matériel
Acquisitions, directs and manages the acquisition of
Department of Defence specific matériel and technology
requirements within the allocated budget and in accordance
with all policies and prescripts. 

During the period under review, based on the SANDF prior-
ities determined by Chief of Joint Operations (CJ Ops) and

Output

Compliance 
Audit capa-
bility

Anti-Fraud 
and Anti-
Corruption
capability

Inspection 
Services capa-
bility

Closing 
Down capa-
bility

Perception 
Survey capa-
bility

Performance 
Indicator

Number of compliance 
audit reports finalized
according to the Annual
Compliance Audit
Schedule

Awareness Training.
Number of members
sensitized on the report-
ing of fraud and corrup-
tion in the DOD through
an awareness campaign.

Number of inspections/ 
reports finalized accord-
ing to the Annual
Inspection schedule

Number of closing down 
audit reports completed
according to the Annual
Closing Down Schedule

Number of perception 
survey reports completed
according to the Annual
Perception Survey
Schedule

Actual Target 
Achievement

50 plus 8 ad hoc 
audits

11 852

0

148

34

Annual 
Target

644

10 000

6

90

365

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Achieved. The fact that the 
Directorate was involved
with training and assistance
to the Consortium, 6 audits
were postponed

Overachievement. 
Successful road shows
attracted more members
than estimated

This function has not 
been undertaken yet as the
new structure  for the sepa-
ration of audit/inspection
function has not been imple-
mented 

Over achieved. The 
mandate of Project
MOUNTING was to close
down/de-activate the 183
Commando Units and the
14 Group HQ's, achieved
objective. 50 Naval Units
were also de-activated

Achieved.  Two percep-
tion surveys were cancelled
on request of the Services 

Table 4.8:   Inspection Services Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Effect of Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.

The achievement of the Inspection Services Outputs has contributed positively to the Administration Programme's 
Purpose to execute the Department's overall management, administration and policy development.

due consideration to the prevalent industrial capability as well
as the particular approval status and strategy of individual
projects, the Division scheduled update and renewal projects
for the DOD. This was done within the limits of MTEF allo-
cation for weapon systems and technology development and
acquisition.

The focus of defence acquisition for the year under review
was firstly to finalise the remaining part of the Strategic
Defence Packages and secondly on acquiring new equipment
and upgrading existing equipment, as prioritised by CJ Ops in
support of ordered commitments assigned to the SANDF.
Some of this equipment / systems played an integral role in
the SANDF participation in support of the 2010 FIFA World

4 The original target as per the DOD Strategic Plan FY 2010/11 was 65.
5 The original target as per the DOD Strategic Plan FY 2010/11 was 50.

annrep 1011 1 to 148.qxp  2011/10/10  11:08  Page 39



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

40

Cup. The technology development support to Chemical
Defence ensured that adequate decontamination support
measures were in place during the 2010 FIFA World Cup.
Similarly, some of the acquired or upgraded systems will
play an integral role in the SANDF border safeguarding
activities (Op CORONA).

Specific technology programmes were pursued to ensure the
retention of the required technology base for effective local
industry participation in scheduled acquisition programmes.
These technologies were also used to optimise or extend the
remaining life of existing equipment. The defence science,
engineering and technical expertise is focussed on the strate-
gically essential requirements of the SANDF.

During the period under review, Chief of Defence Matériel
(C Def Mat) accepted responsibility for the provision of a
nodal point for reporting to the Auditor General on matters
pertaining to the management of defence Intangible Capital
Assets (ICA). A distinct component of this portfolio consists
of interventions to manage the defence materiel and related
Intellectual Property (IP). This is done in collaboration with
ARMSCOR as mandated through the ARMSCOR Act as
being the custodian of the DOD IP. Defence IP will be man-
aged by the DOD as crucial to the enhancement of the DOD
technology knowledge base and possible economy of scale
benefits. Of critical importance is the development of future
orientated definitions of military strategic IP with requisite
protocol regimes for protection from infringement.

In the period under review the following capabilities were
completed:

Landward Defence Acquisition.

Strategic Defence Packages. No packages allo-
cated.

Other. The acquisition of the 60 mm long-range
mortar for the SA Army has been completed and
this weapon system will be commissioned in the
FY2011/12. The training module of the Unman-
ned Aerial Observation System was also delivered
to the SA Army. Night vision and navigation
equipment for dismounted soldiers was delivered
to the SA Army as well. Two Thuthla radars with
their support vehicles were deployed during the
2010 Soccer World Cup event.  The Thuthla radars
as well as the Tactical Battlefield Surveillance
System and the Mamba armoured personnel carri-
ers were handed over to the SA Army.

Air Defence Acquisition.

Strategic Defence Packages. With all 30 Agusta
A109 Light Utility Helicopters delivered, the
process of correcting deficiencies identified during
Operational Testing and Evaluation continued, as
did the delivery of contracted spares, training and
ground support and test equipment. A further four

single-seater Saab Gripen advanced light fighters
were delivered. Delivery of contracted spares,
training and ground support and test equipment
continued. The operational capability was
enhanced by the clearance of the IRIS-T interim
infra-red air-to-air missile. Operational Capability 4
expansion of the BAE Systems Hawk Lead-in
Fighter Trainer to the SA Air Force was tested and
qualified.  Imple-mentation will take place in the
next financial year.

Other. The Westland Super Lynx Maritime Heli-
copter has been handed over to the SA Air Force
with the exception of some training and delivery of
test equipment. The development of the A-Darter
infra-red air-to-air missile was continued as a suc-
cessful joint venture with the Brazilian Air Force,
with a number of successful test firings and clear-
ance on the Gripen fighter. The Minister of Defence
approved an interim continuation of the Rooivalk
Combat Support Helicopter in May 2010. In terms
of the programme, the first five aircraft were hand-
ed over with full Type Certification to the SA Air
Force on 01 April 2011. The avionics upgrade of
the Oryx Medium Transport Helicopter suffered a
significant setback when DENELAviation declared
a 14 month delay in schedule.  High-level manage-
ment intervention and oversight was instituted to
correct the deficiencies and to ensure that there was
no further delay in the schedule. The local imple-
mentation programme for the avionics upgrade of
the Astra PC7 Mk II aircraft has been initiated and
good progress has been made with 11 out of 35 air-
craft, as well as one of two aircraft simulators deliv-
ered. The upgrade of the Cessna 208 Caravan with
an observation ball (10 aircraft fitted for and three
observation balls provided) has been completed.

Naval Acquisition.

Strategic Defence Packages. Both the SA Navy
Strategic Defence Package programmes (four
Meko 200 Frigates and three Class 209 Type 1400
Submarines) have entered the closing phase.

Other. The focus of Naval Acquisition was aimed
at the SA Navy patrol vessel requirement, as well as
the core mine warfare and hydrographical capabili-
ties. The magnetic treatment range for the de-
perming of ships and submarines is in the process
of being handed over from the project to the SA
Navy, and the logistic support requirements for this
system are being addressed.

Common Weapon Acquisition. The Departmental
Information and Communications Infrastructure projects
development are progressing according to plan with the
first Ultra High Frequency and Very High Frequency
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tactical radios nearing a final product.  The tactical com-
mand and control systems, although not commissioned,
have been utilized in various joint exercises as part of
operational testing and evaluation.

Defence Technology Development. Research and tech-
nology development into High Energy Lasers and their
application to the protection of mobile defence systems,
achieved world-first outcomes and established the
National Laser Centre as the recognised world leader in
this field. Good progress between the Institute for
Maritime Technology (IMT) and the frigates was made
toward obtaining and sharing an integrated maritime
picture. This capability will enhance the SA Navy abili-
ty to conduct anti-piracy and anti-poaching patrols. IMT
also successfully conducted infra-red trials with a
NATO research institute. Within landward technology
development, excellent progress was made in determin-

ing the source of and elimination of unwanted pressure
waves in the combustion chamber of large calibre can-
non systems. 

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Acquisition Services Subprogramme optimally directs
and manages the acquisition of DOD specified matériel and
technology requirements by means of competent personnel
within the allocated budget and in accordance with policies
and prescripts.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l     

Table 4.9 below provides details of the Defence Matériel
Subprogramme outputs, performance measures and targets as
specified in the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

6 DAP 1000 = Process and Procedure for the Acquisition of Armaments.

Output

Defence 
Acquisition
Management

Technology
Development

Performance 
Indicator

Timely, relevance and 
quality of advice and
direction provided with
respect to Defence
acquisition matters

Execution of Defence 
acquisition projects as
approved on the
SCAMP

Technology Develop-
ment projects approv-
ed and funded by the
Defence Research and
Development Board
(DRDB)

Timely, relevance and 
quality of advice and
direction provided
during execution of
Technology
Development projects

Actual Target 
Achievement

Advice and direction provid-
ed to principals, clients and staff
as and when required through
official acquisition boards and
committees, briefings and writ-
ten correspondence 

Defence acquisition projects 
were executed in accordance
with the prescripts of DAP 10006. 
All projects were authorised for
their particular phase and all
expenditure took place accord-
ing to approved business plans
and within the bounds of the
financial allocations awarded to
each project

Programme approved and 
projects funded

Advice and direction provided 
to principals, clients and staff as
and when required through offi-
cial technology development
boards and committees, briefin-
gs, "show and tells" and written
correspondence

Annual 
Target

Advice and direc-
tion provided as
and when required

Execution of 
Defence acquisition
projects as approv-
ed on the SCAMP

Technology devel-
opment projects
approved and
funded

Advice provided as 
and when required

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Not all projects could 
be executed in accor-
dance with their
planned cardinal
date plans

Achieved

The Defence Science, 
Engineering and
Technical know-how
are focussed on
strategically essential
requirements of the
SANDF

Table 4.9:   Acquisition Services Subprogramme Output Detail for the FY2010/11

Effect of Programme / Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.

The Subprogramme Acquisition Services succeeded in directing and managing the acquisition of DOD specified matériel 
and technology requirements by means of competent personnel within the allocated budget and in accordance with
policies and prescripts.
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S U B P R O G R A M M E :     D E F E N C E
S U P P L Y   C H A I N   I N T E G R A T I O N

O v e r v i e w

The aim and objectives of Defence Supply Chain
Intervention (DSCI) have not changed as there have been no
corresponding policy changes that affected its mandate.
However, a work session was held during April 2010 to repo-
sition the Division in terms of its focal area. The intention of
repositioning was to form the strategic baseline for future
planning and meaningful reporting. The strategic reposition-
ing of the Division resulted in the overhauling of its strategic
objectives as reflected in the DOD Strategic Plan 2010. New
strategic objectives were formulated. The Divisional strategic
plan was then amended from the original copy to an abridged
version submitted to the Chief Defence Policy Strategy and
Planning for record and analysis purposes. 

The current structure as approved in February 2011 as well as
personnel does not complement the required operations. The
structure needs significant adjustments to support current and
future strategic initiatives. Appropriate steps have been taken
to have the structure reviewed in a scientific manner.    

Despite this challenging situation, the execution of the plan
was successful and steady progress has been made towards
the achievement of the DSCI objectives.  Key milestones in
line with performance were met. Notwithstanding personnel
limitations, the achievement of the milestones and execution
of the plan was successful.  The Division has made progress
toward supporting the Secretary for Defence in the oversight
function where identified policy gaps prevent enforcement of
compliance to the regulatory framework.

During the reporting period the following achievements were
recorded: 

The Division submitted a conceptual paper on the repo-
sitioning of the Defence Industry, in particular DENEL.
This is ready for consultation with various stakeholders
as well as Parliamentary Committees. DSCI is also par-
ticipating in the development of a Defence Industry
Support Strategy that will allow the magnification of
strategic areas such as the refocusing of DENEL versus
Defence Strategic Capabilities.  

The Division conducted research on the alignment of the
Defence Secretariat with its Constitutional and
Legislative Mandate in order to assist the Minister in her
civil control responsibility. During 2010 a Defence
Secretariat reposition proposal was submitted to the
Minister for consideration.

The Chief Director Matériel Governance and the
Director Defence Industry Governance attended the
RSA/Algeria bi-national in Algiers and developed an
agreement on the two countries' industrial participation.
This agreement formed part of the bi-national agreement

signed by the President of Algeria, Mr Bouteflika and
the President of RSA, Mr J.G. Zuma. 

The Division successfully customised three National
Treasury Practice Notes in line with Departmental
Supply Chain procedures, including "National Treasury
Instruction on the amended guidelines in respect of bids
that include functionality as a criterion for evaluation
(issued September 2010)", that revised the application
of Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act
(PPPFA) during evaluation of bids.  

Through implementing fraud prevention measures, the
Division successfully identified a "fronting" case by a
particular company. This was subsequently won in a
court of law and the contract was cancelled. 

The Division has exerted significant effort through
identification of 203 incomplete Ex Post Facto cases
that were referred back to the respective services and
divisions for investigation. The number of cases con-
doned is 242 out of 486 registered cases. The Division
is currently in the possession of 41 cases of which 13
have already been condoned.   

The Division successfully coordinated the conclusion of
phase 1 feasibility studies for Public-Private Partnership
(PPP) project pertaining to building of SAHMS and
Navy HQs.

The Division successfully led the process of contracting
the University of Stellenbosch to develop accreditation
of Military Academy qualification.  

The Division successfully hosted the 2011 Defence
Industry Day at the Council for Scientific and Industrial
Research (CSIR) on 17 March 2011. The Defence
Industry Day is fast transforming into a national event.
The event was attended by the Deputy Minister of
Defence and Military Veterans, Secretary for Defence,
Chiefs of Services and Divisions, various esteemed dig-
nitaries which include the following: 

Department of Trade and Industry

Department of International Relations and
Cooperation

Department of Science and Technology, and 

Gauteng Department of Economic Affairs that has
dictated DOD to invite other MECs to ensure
national support to Defence Industry international-
ly. 

DSCI successfully concluded the following contracts: 

Contract for the termination of accommodation of
the Ops SADAIT team,

Contract for Medical Air Evacuation of DOD
members who are detached to deployment areas
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who might need attention, and 

Contract for accommodation of Op VIMBEZELA
members.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Subprogramme Supply Chain Integration ensures the
effective and efficient procurement and disposal of goods and

services in the DOD. 

O u t p u t   D e t a i l     

Table 4.10 below provides details of the Defence Supply
Chain Integration Subprogramme outputs, performance
measures and targets as specified in the DOD Strategic Plan
FY2010/11.

Output

To strengthen 
the 'oversight'
role within
the matériel
value chain

To Promote 
representivity
and sustain-
ability in the
SA Defence
Industry 

To enforce 
policy with a
view to main-
taining and
guiding the
function of
consultant's
utilisation

To promote 
the sustain-
ability in the
SA Defence
Industry

Performance 
Indicator

Percentage Reduction of 
non compliance (tool) in
GRC

Increased economic 
participation by HDIs
and women (policy
requirement 25%)

Improved accounta-
bility on consultants
utilisation (violation
baseline 65%)

Increased participation 
of RSA industry in sup-
port of manufactured
products and services
supplied to the SANDF

Actual Target 
Achievement

The implementation of 
ARMSCOR Service Level
Agreement was monitored close-
ly where process deviations
were discussed and corrective
measures taken 

Investigations on 203 incidents of 
non-compliance/irregular
expenditure are being investigat-
ed to reach finality

The ARMSCOR Board meetings 
are often used to pursue the
monitoring functions, one of
them being performance of the
issuing of tenders to the
Historically Disadvantaged
Individuals (HDI).  The block-
ages of issuing of tenders to HDI
were identified in the ARM-
SCOR Tendering Processes and
were addressed

The policy on the utilisation of 
consultants is reviewed in order
to improve accountability.  An
item code that is specific to con-
sultants' utilisation has been cre-
ated to address the mix between
consultation and contracts for
goods and services.  There has
been a significant improvement
in the management of consult-
ants subsequent to the use of a
separate item code  

Visited by delegations from 
Congo Brazzaville, Democratic
Republic of Congo (DRC) and
Benin resulting in a tender for
SAAB.  The US/RSA Industry
Symposium was also held dur-
ing the 2010 AAD 

Annual 
Target

20%

15%

30%

15%

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Table 4.10:   Defence Supply Chain Integration Output Detail for the FY2010/11
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Effect of Programme / Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.

The Subprogramme Supply Chain Integration successfully ensured the effective and efficient procurement and 
disposal of goods and services in the DOD.

Output

Regularised 
the outsourc-
ing of all the
non-core
activities in
the DOD

Performance 
Indicator

Improved compliance 
with outsourcing regu-
lations

Actual Target 
Achievement

A database of companies used by 
the DOD has been updated and
the nodal points were also estab-
lished to improve the manage-
ment of Alternative Service
Delivery (ASD) at divisional
level.   The ASD Implementation
Board (ASD IB) ensured that the
criterion aimed at improving
efficiency was met  

Annual 
Target

40%

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Table 4.10:   Defence Supply Chain Integration Output Detail for the FY2010/11 (continued)

S U B P R O G R A M M E :
C O M M U N I C A T I O N   S E R V I C E S

O v e r v i e w

Defence Corporate Communication (DCC) continued with its
efforts to ensure stronger public awareness, understanding
and support for Defence, and to develop the Corporate
Communication (Corp Com) function to effectively support
operations and to promote the image of the DOD among key
stakeholders.

Liaison with the media ensured that several DOD events were
covered that showcased the capabilities of the SANDF and
portrayed the DOD as an organization that cares.  These
events included the budget vote of the Minister, the DOD sup-
port to the 2010 FIFA World Cup, the launch of the
Department of Military Veterans and the SANDF taking-over
of the border safeguarding responsibility from the South
African Police Service (SAPS). Coverage of major multi-
national exercises such as Exercise IBSAMAR between the
navies of India, Brazil and South Africa and Exercise ATLA-
SUR between Argentina, South Africa and Uruguay further
promoted the image of the DOD.

Other major activities that also significantly promoted the
image of the DOD were the SANDF support to hospitals dur-
ing the public service strike, the DOD participation in the
African Aerospace and Defence Exhibition (AAD), the Air
Force Day, the Naval Festival, Exercise YOUNG EAGLE,
the National Youth Service Pass-out Parade and the MOD &
MV's address to the MSDS intake in January 2011.

DCC has established a good working relationship with the
SABC and is able to secure free airtime during SABC 2
Morning Live programmes to conduct live broadcasts of
major events. Mutually beneficial working relationships were
also established with E TV and with print media houses. This

has provided the DOD with the opportunity to increase pub-
lic awareness of DOD support to government priorities.

During the period under review, Defence TV won an interna-
tional film award in Italy, the third such award since 2001. In
the Institutional Information Category the Defence TV entry:
"Cheetah Farewell" won the first prize and received the cov-
eted Chief of Staff of the Italian Defence Force Award.

The Corporate Communication Restructuring Task Team
(CCRTT) continued with a range of investigations that will
contribute to the establishment of a professional corporate
communication service. Smaller task teams have been estab-
lished to conduct the respective investigations. Some of the
task teams have commenced with their work and will contin-
ue until the end of the FY2010/11. The location of the Head
of Communication is still to be approved by the Minister.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Communication Services Subprogramme provides
defence communication policy, strategy and plans in accor-
dance with DOD policy and national (Government
Communication and Information System - GCIS) policy, and
provides a centralized corporate communication capability,
services and products in order to enable effective, efficient,
two-way communication between the DOD and its
publics/stakeholders.

O u t p u t s

Table 4.11 below provides details of the report on the
Communication Services (Corporate Communication)
Subprogramme outputs, performance Indicators and targets
as specified in the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11.
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S U B P R O G R A M M E :     S A N D F
C O M M A N D   A N D   C O N T R O L

O v e r v i e w

The Office of the C SANDF accomplished all the objectives
and targets set  for the year under review. The C SANDF pro-
vided effective strategic direction and command and control
over the SANDF. 

The Chief of the SANDF devoted his efforts during the year
under review towards advancing defence diplomacy and mul-
tilateral initiatives of Government within the multinational
organisations of the African Union (AU) and the Southern
African Development Community (SADC).  Internally, the
Chief of the SANDF was fully engaged in the Government
Programme of Action requirements, with full participation in
the monthly clusters, as well as the Forum of SA Directors-
General.  Military policy advice to the Minister and Deputy
Minister of Defence & Military Veterans was a constant and
ongoing activity.

Externally, on average a total of 2 238 members, including
148 Reserves, were successfully deployed by J Ops Div in
two Peace Support Operations in the Democratic Republic of
Congo (DRC) and Sudan, as well as three general military
assistance operations in the DRC, the Central African
Republic (CAR) and the support to the Mozambique
Government to curb piracy in the Mozambique Channel.

Output

Corporate 
Communica-
tion Policy,
Strategy and
specialist
advice 

Corporate
Communica-
tion products
and services

Performance 
Indicator

Timeliness, relevance 
and quality of corporate
communication advice to
the DOD

Degree of integrated and 
aligned DOD
Communication
Strategy, Policy and
Guidelines provided to
the DOD

Percentage compliance 
with annual require-
ments in terms of media
liaison, communication
information products
and services as well as
marketing and commu-
nication support require-
ments 

Actual Target 
Achievement

Corporate communication 
advice was provided as
and when required

Corporate Communication  
Policy was  completed

JWP 116 - Doctrine for 
Corporate Communication
in Operations was com-
pleted 

95%

Annual 
Target

Corporate commu-
nication advice provid-
ed as and when
required

Promulgated and 
implemented
Corporate
Communication
Strategy and Policy 

95%

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Approval and im-
plementation will
commence in
FY2011/12

Achieved 

Table 4.11:   Communication Services Output Detail for FY2010/11

Effect of Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.

The achievement of the Communication Services Subprogramme has contributed positively to the Administration 
Programme's Purpose to execute the Department's overall management, administration and policy development.

Operation TEUTONIC in DRC was successfully completed
and terminated at the end of October 2010. The SAArmy suc-
cessfully trained 1 780 Defence Force members of the DRC
(FARDC) and handed them over to the Minister of Defence of
the DRC after completing a planned cycle of training in
October 2010.

Internally, several missions in support of other Government
departments continued with the emphasis on safety and secu-
rity support, search and rescue on sea, land and border safe-
guarding.  A total of 556 099 man-days were used during
internal operations. The deployment of the SANDF for border
safeguarding resulted in the apprehension of 20 613 illegal
immigrants, 263 criminals were arrested, 21 stolen vehicles
were recovered, 14 weapons were recovered, 18 livestock
were recovered and various narcotics were confiscated includ-
ing 807kg marijuana (dagga), 137g tik-tik and 122 mandrax
tablets.  The SANDF also provided safety and security support
during the 2010 FIFA World Cup and the public service strike.

During the year under review, the A/C SANDF paid visits to
ten Defence Forces, namely, USA, India, Mozambique, Royal
Thai, Congo Brazzaville, Namibia, Lesotho, Peoples Republic
of China and Indonesia to strengthen ties and advance defence
diplomacy.  The Chiefs of Mozambique and Royal Thai
Armed Forces conducted reciprocal visits to the Chief of the
SANDF.  

In order to improve the Command and Control in the SANDF,

annrep 1011 1 to 148.qxp  2011/10/10  11:08  Page 45



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

46

Chief of the SANDF continued to conduct activities in terms
of the Commander Communication Strategy to ensure that
SANDF members were kept informed on the latest develop-
ments and continued progress was made with the reposition-
ing of the SANDF.

Through the Subprogramme SANDF Command and Control,
the Chief of the SANDF has continued to provide relevant
and timely military advice to the Minister of Defence while
simultaneously executing effective command and control
over the SANDF.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Subprogramme SANDF Command and Control pro-
vides command and control for the SANDF.

O u t p u t s   

Table 4.12 below provides detail of the SANDF Command
and Control outputs, performance Indicators and targets as
specified in the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output

Military poli-
cy advice to
the Minister
of Defence
(MOD)

Command 
and control of
the SANDF

Performance 
Indicator

Timeliness, relevance and 
quality of military policy
advice to the Minister 

Provision of strategic 
direction on operational-
readiness according to
SANDF Force Employ-
ment requirements 

Level of success of 
ordered commitments 

Actual Target 
Achievement

Military policy advice was 
provided as and when
required (continuous) 

Readiness was maintained 
in accordance with force
employment guidelines

Ordered commitments 
were successfully 
conducted

Annual 
Target

Military policy advice 
provided as and when
required

Readiness maintained 
in accordance with
force employment
guidelines

Successful conduct of 
ordered commitments

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved 

Achieved

Table 4.12:   SANDF Command and Control Output Detail for FY2010/11

Effect of Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.  

The achievement of the SANDF Command and Control Outputs has contributed positively to the Administration 
Programme Purpose to execute the Departmental overall management, administration and policy development.

S U B P R O G R A M M E :     C O R P O R A T E
S T A F F   O F F I C E

O v e r v i e w

The outputs of the Corporate Staff Office have contributed
positively to the achievement of C SANDF corporate staff
capability. The capability includes inter alia strategic direc-
tion, policy and strategic advice and support from the
Military Policy Strategy and Planning Office as well as the
support services provided by the DOD Headquarters Unit.

Other additional management responsibilities that were dele-
gated to the Corporate Staff Office include the performance
management of the Reserve Force Council and the manage-
ment of the Specialist Advisory Team (Team BULISA)
deployed to assist in the capacity building of the Democratic
Republic of the Congo Defence Force (FARDC). The
Corporate Staff Office ensured that the Specialist Advisory
Team made significant progress with the completion of the

respective strategy document for the FARDC. 

The Acting Chief of Corporate Staff involvement in three
bilateral and multilateral agreements of Defence Committee
meetings during FY2010/11 had a direct impact on enhanc-
ing international military relations and the portrayal of a pos-
itive image of the DOD / SANDF during the FY2010/11.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Corporate Staff Office is part of the Policy and Planning
subprogramme of the Administration Programme7.

O u t p u t s   

Table 4.13 below provides details of the Corporate Staff
Office of the outputs, performance Indicators and targets as
specified in the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

7 In the ENE, the Policy and Planning allocation includes funding for the Corporate Staff Office as well as the Military Policy, 
Strategy and Planning Office.
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8 Also budgeted within Policy and Planning.

Output

Corporate staff
capability for
Chief of the
SANDF (Military
Policy, Strategy
and Planning,
Religious
Services,
Corporate
Communication
and Defence 
Reserve
Direction)

Performance 
Indicator

Timeliness, relevance 
and quality of strategic
advice to the Chief of
the SANDF

Timeliness, relevance 
and quality of direction
provided to the
Divisions and Offices
within the Corporate
Staff Division

Timeliness, relevance 
and quality of staff
coordination of the
Supporting Divisions as
delegated by Chief of
the SANDF

Actual Target 
Achievement

Strategic advice was 
provided as and when
required

Direction was provided 
as and when required

Staff coordination was 
provided as and when
required

Annual 
Target

Strategic advice pro-
vided as and when
required

Direction provided as 
and when required

Staff coordination 
provided as and when
required

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved 

Achieved 

Table 4.13:   Corporate Staff Office8 Administration Subprogramme Output for FY2010/11

Effect of Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.  

The achievement of the Corporate Staff Office's Output has contributed positively to the Administration Programme's 
Purpose to execute the Department's overall management, administration and policy development.

S U B P R O G R A M M E :     R E L I G I O U S
S E R V I C E S   

O v e r v i e w

During the year under review, the Religious Services
achieved their planned objectives. The Chaplain General
Division (Religious Services) focus was on a ministry that
followed a holistic religious approach to all DOD members
and their dependants including those on internal and external
deployments.

The Chaplain Service contributed immensely to SADC chap-
lains' development. As chair of the Spiritual and Moral
Support Workgroup of the Operations Sub-subcommittee
(OSSC) of the Interstate Defence and Security Council
(ISDSC), the Chaplain General attended the ISDSC in
Maputo, Mozambique to present a report.  He also chaired the
Spiritual and Moral Support Work Group work session in
Lesotho.  Assistance in writing religious policies was provid-
ed to Namibia and Lesotho and three SADC chaplains
obtained training. Support was provided during the research
missions to the SANAE bases, Gough and Marion islands.
Three chaplains participated in these voyages where each
chaplain was attached to one of the three destinations.

Ten Chaplains were deployed externally in all DOD deploy-
ment missions and both Regular and Reserve chaplains were

deployed at the borders. The Chaplain General and some of
his Senior Staff Officers were part of the team that conduct-
ed a goodwill visit to deployed areas and military hospitals
during which  Christmas related devotions were conducted.

The Chaplain Service also played an important role during
the 2010 FIFA World Cup event by offering trauma counsel-
ing and participating in national, regional and local structures
of this event. It also contributed to the Government Moral
Regeneration Programme by running specific ethical pro-
grammes in all units. The Combating HIV and AIDS through
Spiritual and Ethical Conduct (CHATSEC) programme
trained approximately 4 507 MSDS candidates. Training was
also extended to facilitators where 30 chaplains were trained
including two from Botswana and other government depart-
ments where 15 members from the Department of Social
Development trained as facilitators. An interdepartmental tie
was also sustained between the DOD and the Department of
Environmental Affairs. 

The Chaplain Service was invited to the international
Chaplains conference in Germany and the Chaplain General
also attended the Chief of Chaplains Conference in the Czech
Republic.  A senior member of the Division was invited to a
Chaplains conference in Italy where he shared with them the
subject of reconciliation from the South African perspective
and experience. The Chaplain Service also took advantage of
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the international learning opportunities by sending three
chaplains to the annual NATO Chaplains Peace Operation
course in Germany.

The Chaplain Service also continued to make strides in their
covenantal relationship with the internal Religious Advisory
Boards (RABs). Meetings and invitation to events with RABs
of all recognized religions in the DOD such as Christianity,
Islam and Hinduism were conducted and communication was
also made with the African Traditional Religions.

About 29 Reserve chaplains attended courses during the year.
Reserve chaplains were also allowed on the M Phil
Chaplaincy Studies Programme at the University of

Stellenbosch for the first time.

Throughout the reporting year, the Chaplain Service has suc-
cessfully supported the DOD by proactively enhancing the
spiritual, moral and ethical level of members of the DOD
contributing to the maintenance of the defence capabilities of
the SANDF for the people of South Africa.

O u t p u t s   

Table 4.14 below provides details of the Religious Services
Subprogramme outputs, performance indicators and targets
as specified in the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output

Religious pol-
icy advice
and chaplain
capability
and service
for the
SANDF

Performance 
Indicator

Degree of relevance and 
credibility of religious poli-
cies and guidelines accord-
ing to National and
Departmental policy as
well as Religious Advisory
Board guidelines

Level  of acceptance of 
SANDF Religious Services
by Religious Advisory
Boards (RABs) of major
religions represented with-
in the DOD

Effective spiritual, ethical 
and social support is avail-
able at all levels of the
DOD

Actual Target 
Achievement

Compliance with reli-
gious policies and
guidelines in the
SANDF was monitored

DOD religious policy 
was accepted by all
RABs

A chaplain was avail-
able to ensure support at
95% of units

Annual 
Target

Monitoring of com-
pliance with religious
policies and guidelines
in the SANDF

DOD religious policy 
accepted by all RABs

A chaplain available to 
ensure support at 92%
of units

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved 

Achieved

Twenty new chap-
lains were appointed

Table 4.14:    Religious Services Output Detail for FY2010/11

Effect of Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.    

The achievement of the Religious Services Output has contributed positively to the Administration Programme purpose 
to execute the Department’s overall management, administration and policy development.
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S U B P R O G R A M M E :     D E F E N C E
R E S E R V E   D I R E C T I O N

O v e r v i e w

The Defence Reserve Division continued its monitoring role
through the Defence Reserve Board to ensure the implemen-
tation of the Reserve Strategy by the Services and Divisions.
During the period under review, the strength of the total
Reserves was 26 147 of which 12 362 were called up. The
external deployments conducted by the Reserves in Peace
Support Operations continued and Reserves were also suc-
cessfully employed in border safeguarding duties.

Several tertiary institutions have been engaged to give effect
to the roll-out of the University Reserve Training Programme
(URTP) and most institutions have shown great enthusiasm
and have pledged to support the programme.  The SA Army
will commence with the programme at the University of the
Free State during FY2011/12 and the other services will start
implementing the programme in FY2012/13.

Six Defence Provincial Liaison Councils (DPLCs) have been
established in six of the nine provinces to ensure support for
Reserves service from industry, non-governmental
Organisations (NGOs), academia and traditional leaders.
Other DPLCs are in the process of being established. 

A delegation from the Defence Reserve Division and Service
Reserve representatives attended the New York State
Partnership Program Conference conducted by the New York
National Guard.  The aim of the visit was to bring together
representatives of the South African Ministry of Defence and
Military Veterans, the SANDF, the New York National Guard
and the New York State Government to discuss the future of
the partnership programme.

In terms of marketing the Defence Reserve System, the fol-
lowing was achieved:

Two editions of the "Reserve Force Volunteer" were
published and widely distributed while the website
www.rfdiv.mil.za was continuously updated.

Marketing and physical support were provided to the
expanded annual Combat Rifle Shooting Competition in

Bloemfontein in which 34 Reserve shooting teams
from different units competed.

A number of Captains of Industry and local opinion
makers attended marketing and promotional activities
of the Reserves, such as the SA Navy seagoing days
and the Artillery Corps of the South African Army open
day.

Support was provided to the Cape Town and KwaZulu
Natal tattoos.

The Division was instrumental in providing strategic direc-
tion and specialist policy advice to the Minister, C SANDF,
Secretary for Defence, Service and Division during a
Ministerial work session on matters pertaining to the
enhancement of the Reserve Service System. 

The Division was active in the development of the Defence
Amendment Bill that provided for the obligation on Reserve
members to serve when called upon to do so in times other
than war. This bill was passed in December 2010 and the leg-
islation is now part of the Defence Amendment Act (Act No.
22 of 2010). Another achievement is that the 22% pay differ-
ential between Regulars and Reserves was resolved during
the reporting year.

Strategically, the main challenges for the development of a
viable Reserve System remain the lack of an effective feed-
er system to ensure the rejuvenation of the Reserve and the
limited continuation training budget to maintain the readi-
ness of the members in the system.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Defence Reserve Direction Subprogramme directs the
development and maintenance of the Reserve Force system,
provides specialist advice on Reserve matters and promotes/
markets the Reserve and the volunteer Reserve system.

O u t p u t s

Table 4.15 below provides details of the Defence Reserve
Direction outputs, performance indicators and targets as
specified in the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11.
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S U B P R O G R A M M E :   D E F E N C E
I N T E R N A T I O N A L   A F F A I R S

O v e r v i e w

The Defence International Affairs Division is mandated to
provide policy related products and strategic direction relat-
ing to establishing bilateral and multilateral relations in the
field of defence. In addition the Division provides advice and
support on international legal instruments within the context
of defence international affairs.

The Division was actively involved in co-ordinating and pro-
viding policy direction in the following spheres:

Provided advice to the Minister of Defence and the
Military Veterans through the Secretary for Defence on
key defence international affairs policy issues and inter-
national engagements,

Participated in the diplomatic activities of the AU,
SADC and the UN multilateral organisations, and.

Ensured that the DOD met its diplomatic obligations by
servicing all existing defence co-operation agreements. 

In the year under review, the Division was instrumental in
negotiating and concluding bilateral and multilateral agree-
ments with South Africa's foreign allies and international
organisations. In order to ensure that the conduct of interna-
tional relations by the DOD accords with government policy,
the Division coordinated several departmental meetings to
ensure proper preparation for bilateral engagements with for-
eign partners. The Division coordinated and supported the
formulation of South African International Relations Policy
through participation in the Department of International

Output

Strategic direc-
tion to the devel-
opment and
maintenance of
the Reserve 
system

Reserve promo-
tion and employ-
ers' support serv-
ice to the Chief
of the SANDF

Performance 
Indicator

Timeliness, relevance 
and quality of Reserve
strategic and policy
advice to the DOD

The number of Provin-
cial Business Liaison
Forum structures func-
tional

The number of public 
events facilitated to
market the Reserve
System

Actual Target 
Achievement

Reserve strategic and 
policy advice were pro-
vided as and when
required

6

20 

Annual 
Target

Reserve strategic 
and policy advice
provided as and
when required

6

20 

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved. Amendments 
to the Defence Act (Act
22 of 2010) as promul-
gated on the 09
December 2010

Achieved.  The Forums 
still have to undergo a
process of vetting and
screening

Achieved.  All planned 
marketing events were
conducted and achieved
successfully 

Table 4.15:   Defence Reserve Direction Output Detail for FY2010/11

Effect of Sub programme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.   

The achievement of the Defence Reserve Direction Outputs has contributed positively to the Administration Programme 
Purpose to execute the Department overall management, administration and policy development.

Relations and Cooperation (DIRCO) led scheduled meetings
and activities.

The Division facilitated the processing and signing of the
Defence Cooperation agreements/Memoranda of Under-
standing (MOUs) with countries such as Argentina,
Zimbabwe and Botswana. The Division succeeded in the
negotiating and finalisation of defence co-operation agree-
ments with Ecuador and Kenya. However, the former is
awaiting Ministerial consideration, while the latter will be
signed at a period to be determined by the Minister. 

The Division participated during the planning of the SANDF
contingency evacuation plan for South African citizens in the
event of the situation deteriorating during the Southern Sudan
referendum. In this respect, the Note of Exchange between
RSA and Uganda was prepared and finalised in order to facil-
itate the airlifting of South African nationals from the Sudan
to Uganda. A similar legal instrument in the form of an MOU
was finalised to provide legal and administrative protection
for the deployment of the SA Navy element in a joint mar-
itime patrol with Mozambique to counter piracy on the Indian
Ocean.

During the period under review, the Division led the co-ordi-
nation and successful convening of obligatory defence inter-
national agreements such as bi-national Commissions, the
Joint permanent Commission on Defence and Security
(JPCDS), Defence Committees and SADC forums such as
the Inter-State Defence and Security Committee (ISDSC). In
particular, these involved Mozambique, Algeria, Botswana,
DRC, the USA, Namibia, China, Zimbabwe and the UK. As
part of its core responsibility to represent the DOD at forums
convened and/or led by the DIRCO.
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The Division provided reports on the state of defence rela-
tions, including progress on defence co-operation with
France, Spain, India, Benin and Kenya. As the DOD begun
initiating formal defence relations with Cuba, the Division
provided valuable policy advice to a high level delegation
tasked by the Minister to visit in order to initiate steps to for-
malise defence relations.  

Notwithstanding the structural challenges that impacted on
continuity, the Division was able to achieve its planned objec-
tives. Structural transformation was necessitated by the
upgrading of the function to a Divisional level from a
Directorate. Despite this, the current structure has proven to
be inappropriate and inadequate. A revised structure has been
developed and tabled for consideration.   

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Subprogramme Defence International Affairs provides
the Minister of Defence and the DOD with a foreign relations
capability and services.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l     

Table 4.16 below provides details of the Defence
International Affairs' Subprogramme outputs, performance
measures and targets specified in the output table in the DOD
Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output

Aligned Foreign 
Relations Policy
with Govern-
ment and
Defence needs

Marketing strate-
gy and Plan of
the Defence
Foreign
Relations Policy

Foreign 
Relations
Strategy

Legal instru-
ments to inform
Defence
Diplomacy

Performance 
Indicator

Timeliness, relevance 
and quality of policy
advice and support to
the DOD

Improved compliance 
with the policy

Defence Diplomacy 
informed by foreign
policy and DOD for-
eign relations strategy

Legal instruments in 
line with the Constitu-
tional mandate, Gov-
ernment prescripts and
international law

Actual Target 
Achievement

Engaged actively in 
SADC, AU, international
forums wrt Def Coms and
other bilateral meetings in
pursuit of defence inter-
ests 

Led the co-ordination 
and successful convening
of obligatory defence
international agreements
such as the Binational
Commissions, Joint per-
manent Commission on
Defence and Security
(JPCDS), Defence
Committees and SADC
forums such as the Inter-
State Defence and Security
Committee (ISDSC)

A draft Position Paper on 
DOD Foreign relation
Strategy has been complet-
ed

Serviced various Def Co--
operation agreements with
key international partners

Annual 
Target

Collaboratively 
developed Defence
foreign policy that is
aligned with
Government policy

Information cam-
paign targeting
DOD and other
social partners

Position Paper on 
DOD Foreign rela-
tion Strategy

Timeliness, rele-
vance quality servic-
ing of legal
Instruments

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Table 4.16:   Defence International Affairs Output Detail for the FY2010/11

Effect of Programme / Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.   

The Subprogramme Defence International Affairs successfully provided the Minister of Defence and the DOD with a 
foreign relations capability and services.

S U B P R O G R A M M E :   D E F E N C E
F O R E I G N   R E L A T I O N S

O v e r v i e w

The Defence Foreign Relations (DFR) Subdivision has main-
tained its defence representation abroad.  Although a new

Defence Office was opened in Cuba, the Defence Office in
Tunisia will be closed shortly, bringing the Subdivision back
to its objective of 37 military diplomatic missions abroad. In
March 2011, accreditation to Ghana on a non-residential basis
was received.
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The Subdivision contributed to the promotion of the South
African foreign relation policy by facilitating Defence
Committee meeting with Germany, the PRC, the USA and the
UK, as well as the bilateral Joint Permanent Commissions on
Defence and Security with respectively Namibia, Zimbabwe
and Botswana. The Subdivision also facilitated the attendance
by the Minister and a representative of C SANDF at the 6th
Meeting of the African Chiefs of Defence Staff and Heads of
Security in Addis Ababa.  At the same time, the 4th Ordinary
Meeting of the Specialised Technical Committee on Defence,
Safety and Security met and was attended by a SANDF rep-
resentative. The Defence Attachés supported the SA Defence
Related Industry abroad through the facilitation of trade meet-
ings. 

In order to provide strategic direction, staff teams visited var-
ious Defence Attaché offices abroad, these offices included
Ethiopia, Vietnam, Kenya and the DRC.

The DOD VIP Lounge at the O.R. Tambo International
Airport continued to render a service to the members of the
DOD and visiting foreign delegations.  About 1 346 persons
moved through the lounge.  

During September 2010, the biennual African Aerospace and
Defence Exposition was co-hosted with the SA Defence
Industry. The Subdivision was responsible for coordinating
the Foreign Visitors Programme whereby seventeen Ministers
of Defence  six Chiefs of Defence force; seven Chiefs of
Army; 21 Chiefs of Air force; seven Chiefs of Navy and two
Surgeons General and/or their representatives were hosted
during the Defence Industry Exposition.

During the year under review, the Subdivision focused on the
preparation of Defence Attachés designated for the
changeovers and no new courses were presented. The next
Defence Attaché course is scheduled for May 2011 to prepare
Defence Attachés designate to deploy in July and December
2011.

Despite the structural misalignment and insufficient budget
allocation for operational requirements of Defence Attaché
offices, the subdivision has managed to reach the perform-
ance outputs that were within the direct control.  Services and
Divisions contributed to the development and maintenance of
the Subdivision as part of their on going activities within the
broader context of defence diplomacy. In turn, the
Subdivision has contributed positively to the purpose of the
Administration Programme.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Defence Foreign Relations Subprogramme purpose is to
provide the DOD and MOD with a foreign relations capabil-
ity and services.

O u t p u t s

Table 4.17 below provides details of the Defence Foreign
Relations Subprogramme outputs, performance indicators
and targets as specified in the DOD Strategic Plan
FY2010/11.

Output

Defence Foreign 
Relations capa-
bility and servic-
es

Performance 
Indicator

Level of compliance 
with timely and accu-
rate delivery of con-
sular services as
required

Number of diplomatic 
missions

Actual Target 
Achievement

Full compliance

38

Annual 
Target

Full compliance

37

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

A Defence Office was 
opened in Cuba during
October 2010.  The office
in Tunisia will be closed
by May 2011 returning
to the planned target

Table 4.17:   Defence Foreign Relations Output Detail for FY2010/11

Effect of Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.     

DFR remained in the forefront in directing the DOD's foreign relations effort towards the region, the African continent and 
the international community as a whole. The successful achievement of the objectives contributed positively to the pur-
pose of Administration Programme to execute the DOD's overall management, administration and policy development.
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S U B P R O G R A M M E :     O F F I C E
A C C O M M O D A T I O N

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The Office Accommodation is a Subprogramme of the
Administration Programme (managed within General
Support Subprogramme) and is responsible for managing the
payment of accommodation charges, leases and municipal
services as a direct result of the devolution of a portion of the

National Department of Public Works budget to national
departments.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l   

Table 4.18 below provides details of the Office Accommo-
dation Subprogramme output, performance indicator and tar-
get as spesified in the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010.11.

Output

Payment of 
accommodation
charges, leases
and municipal
services

Performance 
Indicator

Percentage expendi-
ture according to plan
in respect of the service
level agreements with
National Department
of Public Works 

Actual Target 
Achievement

100%

Annual 
Target

100%

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Achieved

Table 4.18:  Office Accommodation Subprogramme Output Detail for FY2010/11
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Chapter  5

P R O G R A M M E   2 :   
F o r c e   E m p l o y m e n t

O v e r v i e w

During the year under review, the SANDF maintained what is
called a "mission based" approach as opposed to a "military
threat dependent" approach.  This allowed for the required
flexibility to deal with a number of issues within a volatile
and unpredictable environment. 

The SANDF established a situational awareness system that
included strategic early warning, regional military coopera-
tion, the conducting of joint, interdepartmental and multina-
tional (JIM) military exercises. It maintained the ability to
react quickly to safety and security support requirements
from other government departments. 

On average a total of 2 2381 members, including 148 Reserve
members, were successfully deployed for the FY2010/11 in
two peace support operations, namely Operation MISTRAL
in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) and Operation
CORDITE in the Sudan, as well as three general military
assistance operations, namely Operation TEUTONIC in the
DRC, Operation VIMBEZELA in the Central African
Republic (CAR) and Operation COPPER.  Operation COP-
PER is a new operation whereby the RSA Government is ren-
dering support to the Mozambique Government as requested,
to curb piracy in the Mozambique Channel.  Operation TEU-
TONIC in the DRC was terminated at the end of October
2010 after all the objectives for the operation were achieved.

The SANDF continuously provided support to government
departments in pursuance of national security objectives and
government initiatives. In realising these, the SANDF provid-
ed safety and security-related support to the South African
Police Service (SAPS).  During the 2010 FIFA World Cup
(Operation KGWELE), the SANDF cooperated with the
SAPS by deploying on average 4 573 members per day
ensuring the maintenance of safety and security.  Assistance
was also provided during the xenophobia incidents, public
service strike, the opening of Parliament and the voter regis-
tration for local elections.  The SANDF continued to partner
with the SAPS by providing personnel, helicopters and fixed

wing aircraft for Operation DUTY CALLS during the festive
season for the combat of crime.  

In supporting the people of South Africa, the SANDF built a
Bailey bridge in April 2010 and a pedestrian suspension
bridge during September 2010 in the Umtata area in the
Eastern Cape.  These bridges were built and donated by the
SA Army Engineers to provide safe and easy access to the
communities. The SANDF provided assistance with fire-
fighting in the Western Cape, Northern Cape, Eastern Cape
and Limpopo Provinces, search-and-rescue at sea and on land
in the Eastern Cape, Free State and KwaZulu-Natal Provinces
as well as support during the floods in the Northern Cape
(Upington area). 

Subsequent to the cabinet decision that the SANDF should
takeover the responsibility for border safeguarding, the
SANDF changed the limited concept of borderline control to
that of border safeguarding. Operation CORONA has been
designed to encompass the safeguarding of the land, air and
maritime borders simultaneously. The SANDF has been
deployed in Limpopo (Pontdrift and Musina), Mpumalanga
(Macadamia) and Kwa-Zulu Natal (Ndumu) Provinces.  The
deployment of the SANDF for border safeguarding ensured
that 20 613 illegal immigrants were apprehended, 263 crimi-
nals were arrested, 21 stolen vehicles were recovered, 14
weapons were recovered, 18 livestock were recovered and
various narcotics were confiscated. The SANDF also provid-
ed control of the maritime and airspace environment. This
support was provided by the SANDF through the collateral
value of core conventional capabilities.

The Joint Operations Division planned, co-ordinated and
directed seven JIM force preparation activities. These
exclude the Special Forces exercises and the support to for-
eign defence force exercises conducted in accordance with
the Joint Force Employment concept and existing bilateral/
multilateral agreements.

During the year under review, the Joint Operations Division
utilised 922 Reserve members to alleviate staff shortages and

1 In the Minister's budget speech inputs, the figures for external deployments are 2 045 and they represent only deployments 
up until 01 March 2011. Op COPPER also played a major role in increasing the average figure to 2 238.
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capacity problems; and to address structural inadequacies in
the various support environments.

The land claims on the Madimbo training area remained
unresolved although various meetings were scheduled
between the Department of Rural Development and Land
Reform, the Regional Land Claims Commissioner and the
DOD to resolve the land claims. The risk and impact of this
claim will be that, if successful, there will be a gap on the bor-
der that could be exploited for the illegal crossing of people
and merchandise, and as a consequence, undermine the
SANDF deployments for border safeguarding.

Strategic lift capability remains a challenge which negatively
impacts deployments and sustainment of the SANDF exter-
nal operations, as well as the deployment and sustainment of
the SANDF reaction force. The chartering of aircraft and
ships is a short-term solution and comes at a high price. 

The total cost for the SANDF support to the preparation and
hosting of the 2010 FIFA World Cup, (Operation KGWELE)
was Rm276.  The SANDF received an additional allocation
from the National Treasury of Rm200 and the deficit of
Rm76 was obtained by reprioritising the Joint Operations
Division Budget.  

During the reporting period, the Division focused on ensuring
the safety and security of the RSA and its people by maintain-
ing the employment of military capabilities as directed by the
authorities. In addition, the SANDF continued to execute its
mandate to defend the RSA's sovereignty and its territorial
integrity through the Force Employment Programme.  

P u r p o s e   o f   t h e   P r o g r a m m e

The Force Employment Programme provides and employs
defence capabilities, including an operational command and
control capability that ensures the successful conduct of all
operations as well as all joint, interdepartmental and multina-
tional military training exercises.

S u b p r o g r a m m e s

Strategic Direction formulates and controls strategies,
policies and plans for the employment of forces.
Funding is based on the cost of operating a joint opera-
tions division headquarters.

Operational Direction provides direction to joint and
multinational task forces and joint tactical headquarters
through an operational level headquarters. Funding is
distributed according to the cost of operating one opera-
tional and nine tactical headquarters.

Special Operations provides and employs a special
operations capability within the approved Special
Forces mandate for the SANDF. Funding is distributed
according to the number and size of units, systems and
equipment operating, maintenance requirements and the
number of Special Forces operations, force preparation
exercises and training courses.

Regional Security provides for the deployment of
forces in support of South Africa's commitment to
regional, continental and global security. Funding is dis-
tributed according to the number, size and duration of
deployments, and systems and equipment operating and
maintenance requirements.

Support to the People provides for the internal deploy-
ment of forces in support of the SAPS and other
Government departments. Funding is distributed
according to the number, size and duration of deploy-
ments, and systems and equipment operating and main-
tenance requirement.

Defence Capability Management provides for the
planning and control of joint, interdepartmental and
multi-national (JIM) military force preparation exercis-
es; the development of joint force employment com-
mand and control plans; and the management of capa-
bility development.  Funding is distributed according to
the needs of exercise control equipment for JIM military
exercises and contractual obligations for the develop-
ment of joint force employment command and control
plans and capability development.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s   

Provide and manage defence capabilities, including an oper-
ational capability, to conduct operations and JIM military
exercises by:

Providing and employing special operations capability
in accordance with national requirements;

Conducting an average of 122 external peace missions
per year in accordance with requirements to promote
peace and security;

Conducting 21 joint, interdepartmental and multination-
al military force preparation exercises over the next 3
years (excluding Special Forces and multinational air
transport exercises); and

Conducting an average of 4 operations per year in sup-
port of other Government departments and complying
with international obligations.

2 As Instructed in Chief SANDF Directive 133/2009: Short and Medium Term Force Employment Requirements and 
Guidelines: Period 2010/11 to 2013/14.
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O u t p u t   D e t a i l

Table 5.1 below reports of the achievement of the outputs,
performance indicators and targets as specified in the DOD
Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 5.1:   Force Employment Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11

Peace Support 
Operations

Number of Large-3 to 
Medium4 Scale Peace
Support Operations

Number of Small-5

Scale Peace Support
Operations 

Number of Small Scale 
General Military
Assistance Operations

2

0

3

4

4

4

The SANDF participated in 
two large to medium scale
Peace Support Operations
namely, Operations MIS-
TRAL (DRC) and CORDITE
(Sudan)

The SANDF received no fur-
ther requests to participate in
medium to large scale Peace
Support Operations

Note. Deployments in Peace 
Support Operations are
dependent on requests from
the United Nations and/or
African Union and the securi-
ty situation that can change at
any moment leading to addi-
tional requests being received

The SANDF received no  
requests from the United
Nations and/or African
Union to participate in small
scale Peace Support
Operations

Note.  Deployments in Peace 
Support Operations are
dependent on requests from
the United Nations and/or
African Union and the securi-
ty situation that can change at
any moment leading to addi-
tional requests being received

The SANDF conducted three 
small-scale general military
assistance operations namely
Operations TEUTONIC
(DRC), VIMBEZELA (CAR)
and COPPER (SANDF assist-
ed by deploying SANDF
assets  in the Mozambique
Channel for counter piracy
operations)

Regional Security

3 Large-scale deployment. Unit-size joint task force/formed elements with command and control capabilities, main equipment 
including tailor-made support and specialist elements from the force providers.

4 Medium-scale deployment. Unit-size (minus) joint task force/formed elements with command and control capabilities, main 
equipment including tailor-made support and specialist elements from the force providers.

5 Small-scale deployment. Sub-unit joint task force/formed elements including specialised elements and tailor-made support 
from force providers.
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 5.1:   Force Employment Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Internal
Operations

Percentage compliance
with approved border-
safeguarding tasks
(Operation CORONA) 

Percentage compliance 
with approved safety
and security support
requests 
(Operation PROSPER) 

Percentage compliance 
with approved disaster
aid and disaster relief
requests (Operation
CHARIOT) 

Percentage compliance 
with approved search
and rescue requests 
(Operation ARABEL-
LA) 

Percentage compliance 
with requirements for
support to the 2010
FIFA World Cup
(Operation KGWELE)

100% 

100%

100%

100%

100%

100% 

100%

100%

100%

100%
by 31 July 2010

Operation TEUTONIC (DRC) 
was planned to be terminated
on 31 March 2010, but follow-
ing a request by the DRC gov-
ernment, the missions have
been extended (see Joint
Operations Directives
056/2010 and 061/2010). This
Operation's focus was to par-
ticipate in the process to regis-
ter candidates for the DRC
Armed Forces. After all objec-
tives were reached Operation
TEUTONIC was terminated
on 31 October 2010. Closing
Authority: Joint Operation
Headquarters Instruction
103/2010: Closing down
Operation TEUTONIC dated
20 August 2010

The SANDF received no 
further requests to participate
in general military assistance
operations

Note. Deployments in gen-
eral military assistance opera-
tions are dependent on
requests from the United
Nations and/or African
Union and the security situa-
tion that can change at any
moment leading to additional
requests being received

Achieved 

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Support to the People
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 5.1:   Force Employment Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Controlled
JIM Exercises

The number of JIM
exercises (excluding
Special Forces exercis-
es) controlled annually

68 Exercise OXIDE was post-
poned to FY2011/12 by the
French Navy.  The SANDF
does not have any control
over decisions made by
Foreign Forces with regards
to exercises where the SANDF
is invited to participate

Ex TRANSOCEANIC was 
cancelled by the South
African Navy, due to the fact
that they were unable to
attend the planning meeting
in Argentina prior to the
exercise 

Defence Capability Management 

Effect of Programme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.    

The achievement of the Force Employment Programme's Outputs has contributed positively to the Programme's Purpose 
to provide and employ defence capabilities, including an operational capability to successfully conduct all operations
and joint interdepartmental and multinational (JIM) military exercises.

J O I N T ,   I N T E R D E P A R T M E N T A L   A N D   M U L T I N A T I O N A L   E X E R C I S E S

Table 5.2 provides feedback on Force Employment Programme Joint, Interdepartmental and Multinational Exercises for
FY2010/11.

Exercise Name Scheduling 2010/11Aim Actual Achievement

Table 5.2:    Force Employment Programme Joint, Interdepartmental and Multinational Exercises for
the FY2010/11.

Exercise SHIELD

Exercise WAYSIDE

April/May

May

Command post and field
training exercise in prepa-
ration for Operation
KGWELE

Command post exercise 
in preparation for
Operation KGWELE
(2010 FIFA World Cup)

Maintenance of the 
Provincial Chemical,
Biological and
Radiological Response
Teams and interdepart-
mental co-operation for
the management of
Chemical, Biological and
Radiological incidents

Exercise SHIELD took place during April 2010 
with all the Services and relevant Divisions of
the SANDF as well as SAPS participating.  The
purpose of the exercise was successfully execut-
ed in order to confirm and exercise command
and control for the conduct of Airspace Control
in the RSA especially during the hosting of the
2010 FIFA World Cup

The purpose of this exercise was to maintain the 
Provincial Chemical, Biological and Radiological
Response and interdepartmental co-operation for
the management of Chemical, Biological and
Radiological incidents. This exercise took place
during May 2010 and was aimed at the provi-
sion of Chemical, Biological and Radiological
response support during the 2010 FIFA World
Cup

Interdepartmental Exercises   
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Exercise Name Scheduling 2010/11Aim Actual Achievement

Table 5.2:    Force Employment Programme Joint, Interdepartmental and Multinational Exercises for
the FY2010/11.  (continued)

Exercise OXIDE
incorporating
Exercise 
BOURBON

Exercise TRANS-
OCEANIC

Exercise BELL
BUOY

Exercise FAIR-
WAY BUOY

Exercise 
ATLASUR

November 
La Réunion

August

May

June 
Namibia

September
Argentina

Field training exercise to
develop and maintain mar-
itime co-operation at the
operational and tactical
levels between the SA
Navy and French forces
based in La Réunion

Command post exercise 
to exercise naval control
and guidance of shipping
(NCAGS) and to represent
the SANDF as a full-time
member of the TRANS-
OCEANIC organisation

Command post exercise 
to exercise NCAGS and to
represent the SANDF as a
full-time member of the
Pacific and Indian Ocean
Ship Work Group

Command post exercise to 
exercise NCAGS within
Southern African
Development Community
context

Exercise to maintain and 
promote maritime co-oper-
ation between the SA
Navy and South American
countries (Argentina,
Brazil and Uruguay)

Exercise OXIDE was postponed to FY2011/12 by 
the French Navy.  The SANDF does not have
any control over decisions made by Foreign
Forces with regards to exercises where the
SANDF is invited to participate

Ex TRANSOCEANIC was cancelled by the South 
African Navy, due to the fact that they were
unable to attend the planning meeting in
Argentina prior to the exercise 

The participation in the conduct of Exercise BELL 
BOUY's main purpose was of ensuring coopera-
tion between countries sharing the same oceans
in order to provide for safer Sea Lines of
Communication. This was a naval exercise, exe-
cuted in Australia, between various countries.
The purpose of this exercise was to exercise the
necessary procedures for the guiding of ships in
the Pacific Ocean. It was attended by two
SANDF staff officers and no SANDF main
equipment was utilised

Exercise FAIRWAY BUOY was scheduled to be 
executed in June 2010 on verbal request from the
Namibian Defence Force was postponed to
August 2010.  The Namibian Defence Force was
responsible for the planning and arrangement
thereof. This naval exercise was executed in
Namibia over the period 02 August 2010 to 18
August 2010. The main purpose was to ensure
co-operation with countries sharing the same
oceans in order to provide for safer Sea Lines of
Communication. The relevant navies of the
Southern African Development Community par-
ticipated in a Command Post Exercise (CPX)
with the purpose to exercise the necessary proce-
dures for guiding of ships in the Indian and
Atlantic Oceans. It was attended by nine SANDF
members and no SANDF main equipment was
utilised 

Exercise ATLASUR was an exercise between the 
navies of SA, Argentina, Brazil and Uruguay.
A Senior Staff Officer from the Joint Operations
Division attended the final planning conference
in Argentina over the period 28 June 2010 to 02
July 2010. The exercise was executed over the
period 27 October 2010 to 10 November 2010.
The SANDF contingent deployed consisted of
the SAS DRAKENSBERG, the SAS CHAR-
LOTTE MAXEKE, 1 x Operational Diving Team,
1 x Maritime Reaction Section, 1 x Oryx helicop-
ter with its support team, 1 x Submarine Logistic
support team, 1 x Submarine Operating
Authority team and a medical team

Multinational Exercises
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Exercise Name Scheduling 2010/11Aim Actual Achievement

Table 5.2:    Force Employment Programme Joint, Interdepartmental and Multinational Exercises for
the FY2010/11.

Exercise IBSAMAR SeptemberExercise to maintain and
promote maritime co-
operation between the SA
Navy and South
American countries
(Argentina, Brazil and
Uruguay)

Exercise IBSAMAR took place over the period 07 
to 27 September 2010 in the RSA between India,
Brazil and South Africa with the aim to maintain
and promote maritime co-operation between the
navies.  The SANDF contingent participating in
this exercise consisted of the SAS DRAKENS-
BERG, the SAS GALESHEWE, SAS AMATOLA
and SAS SPIOENKOP
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Chapter  6

P R O G R A M M E   3 :   
L a n d w a r d   D e f e n c e

O v e r v i e w

In the year under review, the South African Army (SAArmy)
fulfilled all its internal and external commitments, notwith-
standing the fact that it is severely overstretched, especially in
the infantry, engineer and support capabilities.
Approximately 85% of force levels required by C SANDF
were provided.  Deviations were as a result of logistics and
human resource challenges experienced, especially the
unavailability and / or un-serviceability of prime mission
equipment (PME) (A, B, C and D vehicle fleets), shortages of
certain ammunition types, medical health status of personnel,
shortage of personnel in specific musterings, ie technical and
hospitality service personnel as well as suitable qualified and
knowledgeable instructors to ensure quality training and
skills transfer.  

The SA Army's commitments for the year under review,
included inter alia, the provisioning of landward forces for
PSO deployment in the Democratic Republic of the Congo
(DRC) (Op MISTRAL) and Sudan (Op CORDITE); training
missions in the Central African Republic (CAR) (Op VIM-
BEZELA) and the DRC (Mission THEBE); border safe-
guarding deployments on the RSA/Zimbabwe, Mozambique/
RSA and Swaziland/RSA borders; and internal deployment in
co-operation with the South African Police Service (SAPS).
In the DRC 109 SAArmy members are on the verge of com-
pleting training of two rapid deployment battalions (FARDC
42 & 43 Bns) consisting of six infantry companies trained
from lower / sub-unit level.  In total 1 780 FARDC members
were trained.  In the DRC soldiers were handed over to the
Minister of Defence of the DRC after completing a planned
cycle of training in October 2010.

The SAArmy provided 8 923 members for deployment to the
United Nations (UN) and African Union (AU) Missions in
Africa, border safeguarding and internal deployment.
Learning opportunities were afforded to 93 members belong-
ing to 11 foreign defence forces namely: Botswana,
Zimbabwe, Namibia, Rwanda, South Korea, Nigeria,
Republic of Congo, Pakistan, CAR, India and Tanzania at SA
Army Centres of Excellence.

The support to the SAPS and the Department of Health by the
SA Army forces provided during the national public service

strike by government employees in August/September 2010
was among the 'not initially planned for' milestones. In this
regard, 1 868 members were deployed. This was over and
above the forces provided for the successful hosting of 2010
FIFA World Cup (Op KGWELE).  

The SAArmy demonstrated its collateral utility by contribut-
ing to the construction of a suspension bridge in conjunction
with the National Department of Public Works (NDPW).
Limited construction work by SAArmy engineers is in stages
of completion at a number of facilities. The Works Regiment
refurbished the hospice in the Lenz military base and the
Regiment was transferred to Joint Logistics as an operational
capability on 1 April 2011.

The rejuvenation of the support musterings, particularly in
the Technical Service Corps (TSC), Ordinance Service Corps
(OSC), Signals, Catering and Ammunition Corps environ-
ments remains a challenge as only a limited number of
MSDS members could be accommodated due to financial
limitations. The retention of qualified members is not always
guaranteed and this negatively impacts on the sustainment
capacity and the ability to support SA Army forces and units
in their force employment and preparation roles.  

In the wake of the increased operational tempo in external,
internal and border safeguarding deployments, the SA Army
utilized its Reserve component substantially to augment
shortages in its Regular component.  Approximately 18 000
call-ups were issued for a variety of duties including admin-
istrative, guards training and operations.  Despite this, the
defined end state for the SA Army Reserves could not be
achieved, due to the low rate of MSDS members entering the
Reserves and a lack of funding in general.

All current SA Army projects are essentially partial acquisi-
tions and do not provide for the full capability requirements
in accordance with the Defence Review or the SA Army
Force Design/Structure due to current funding shortfalls.
Operational gaps due to shortages of PME are already evi-
dent in certain capability areas due to end of life-cycle, obso-
lescence, under-funding and late delivery dates.  Current
funding levels will not be able to sustain the SAArmy's PME
requirement.  An achievement however, in terms of the reju-
venation of PME, is the 35mm Mk V Gun system that has
been re-commissioned.
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In summary, the challenges faced by the SA Army remained
the critical shortage and continued loss of scarce skills, the
age and health status of the HR component and the unsatis-
factory status of the A, B and D vehicle fleets, PME, ammu-
nition and facilities, as well as the lack of critical structures to
produce specific outputs in support of force preparation and
operations. These challenges are being addressed through
various initiatives, but owing to the cost and time, they will
not be fully mitigated in the near future.  However, the imple-
mentation of a technical allowance in the SA Army and the
SANDF at large will go a long way to alleviate continued loss
of scarce skills in the technical service environment. Salary
increases as instituted by the Minister of Defence have also
reduced the high outflow figures but have not stopped them. 

Notwithstanding the complex challenges and limited
resources, the SA Army provided combat-ready forces and
supported landward operations as required. The SA Army
remains committed to the achievement of its constitutional
obligations.

P u r p o s e   o f   t h e   P r o g r a m m e
The Landward Defence Programme provides prepared and
supported landward defence capabilities for the defence and
protection of South Africa.

S u b p r o g r a m m e s
Strategic Direction directs, orchestrates and controls
the South African Army in achieving its mission to pro-
vide prepared and supported landward capabilities for
the defence and protection of South Africa. Funding is
based on the cost of operating the landward defence
headquarters and managing centralised funds for scarce
commodities and specialist services.

Infantry Capability provides combat-ready infantry
capabilities through training, preparing, exercising and
supporting mechanized, motorized and airborne infantry
units. Funding is distributed according to the number
and size of units, systems and equipment operating and
maintenance requirements, and the number of force
preparation exercises and training courses.

Armour Capability provides combat-ready armour
capabilities through training, preparing, exercising and
supporting tank and armoured car units. Funding is dis-
tributed according to the number and size of units, sys-
tems and equipment operating and maintenance require-
ments, and the number of force preparation exercises
and training courses.

Artillery Capability provides combat-ready artillery
capabilities through training, preparing, exercising and
supporting composite and light artillery units. Funding
is distributed according to the number and size of units,
systems and equipment operating and maintenance

requirements, and the number of force preparation exer-
cises and training courses.

Air Defence Artillery Capability provides combat-
ready air defence artillery capabilities through training,
preparing, exercising and supporting air defence
artillery units. Funding is distributed according to the
number and size of units, systems and equipment oper-
ating and maintenance requirements, and the number of
force preparation exercises and training courses.

Engineering Capability provides combat-ready engi-
neering capabilities to ensure mobility and establish
infrastructure during exercises and deployments,
through training, preparing, exercising and supporting
field and construction engineer units. Funding is distrib-
uted according to the number and size of units, systems
and equipment operating and maintenance require-
ments, and the number of force preparation exercises
and training courses.

Operational Intelligence provides combat-ready oper-
ational intelligence capabilities to enable successful
planning and execution of operations, through training,
preparing, exercising and supporting intelligence units.
Funding is distributed according to the number and size
of units, systems and equipment operating and mainte-
nance requirements, and the number of force prepara-
tion exercises and training courses.

Command and Control Capability provides combat-
ready tactical command and control capabilities for inte-
grated forces during force preparation and force
employment. Funding is distributed according to the
number and size of units, systems and equipment oper-
ating and maintenance requirements, and the number of
force preparation exercises and training courses.

Support Capability provides first and second line sup-
port capabilities to units and bases and ensures support
to deployed combat units through training, preparing,
exercising and supporting of first and second line main-
tenance units and workshops. Funding is distributed
according to the number and size of units, systems and
equipment operating and maintenance requirements, the
number of force preparation exercises and training
courses and product systems requirement.

General Training Capability provides general training
capabilities through basic military training, junior leader
training, common landward training and command and
management training at the Training Depot (and decen-
tralized units), SA Army Gymnasium, the Combat
Training Centre and the SA Army College. Funding is
distributed according to the number and size of units,
equipment operating and maintenance requirements,
and the number of force preparation exercises and train-
ing courses.

Signal Capability provides combat-ready signal capa-

annrep 1011 1 to 148.qxp  2011/10/10  11:09  Page 62



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1 63

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

bilities to ensure command, control and communica-
tions during exercises and deployments, through train-
ing, preparing, exercising and supporting signal units.
Funding is distributed according to the number and size
of units, systems and equipment operating and mainte-
nance requirements, and the number of force prepara-
tion exercises and training courses.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

Defend and protect South Africa and its territory by:

Preparing an infantry capability to provide 3 infantry
battalions a year for external deployment, 1 battalion as
Chief of the South African National Defence Force
Reaction Force, 1 multi-role battalion for internal safety
and security, 1 battalion in support of internal security
operations and 4 battalions involved in exercises;

Preparing an armoured capability by exercising 1 tank
regiment and 1 armoured car regiment with one
squadron for internal deployment a year;

Preparing an artillery capability by exercising 1 com-
posite artillery regiment and 1 light (airborne) artillery

battery, having 1 light artillery battery in reserve and 1
battery for internal deployment a year;

Preparing an air defence artillery capability by exercis-
ing 1 air defence artillery regiment and 1 light (airborne)
air defence artillery battery, and having the 1 light air
defence artillery battery as part of the mobile capability
and one battery for internal deployment a year;

Preparing an engineer capability by providing 3 sus-
tained composite engineer squadrons for external
deployment, 1 composite engineer squadron for internal
reserve and exercising 1 light (airborne) engineer
squadron a year; and

Preparing a signal capability by providing 2 signal regi-
ments a year for external deployment, internal reserve
and involvement in exercises.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l

Table 6.1 below reports of the achievement of the outputs,
performance indicators and targets as specified in the DOD
Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Table 6.1:    Landward Defence Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11

Mechanised
Capability

Airborne 
Capability

Motorised 
Capability

Number of units
prepared according
to force require-
ments

Number of units 
prepared according
to force require-
ments

Number of units 
prepared according
to force require-
ments

One battalion was available for
conventional exercises, howev-
er did not participate in any
conventional exercise therefore
combat readiness could not be
established

One parachute batallion 
was combat-ready for conven-
tional exercises (YOUNG
EAGLE) and Chief of the
SANDF reserve

Three battalions were 
combat-ready for peace sup-
port operations and deployed
in the DRC and Sudan

One  battalion was combat-
ready for conventional exercis-
es, however, the other battalion
did not participate in any con-
ventional exercise therefore
combat readiness could not be
established

Two battalions were com-
bat-ready at all times for inter-
nal reserve and were utilised in
Op CORONA (Border safe-
guarding)

One battalion combat-
ready for conventional
exercises

One parachute batal-
lion combat-ready for
conventional exercises
and Chief of the
SANDF reserve

Three battalions com-
bat-ready for peace
support operations

Two battalions combat-
ready for conventional
exercises

Two battalions combat-
ready at all times for
internal reserve

Achieved

Achieved 

Achieved 

Achieved

Achieved 

Infantry Capability
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 6.1:    Landward Defence Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Tank
Capability 

Armoured 
Car
Capability 

Composite
Artillery 

Composite
Air Defence
Artillery
Capability

Number of units
prepared according
to force require-
ments

Number of units 
prepared according
to force require-
ments

Number of units
prepared according
to force require-
ments

Number of units
prepared according
to force require-
ments

One tank regiment
(minus) was combat-ready
for conventional exercises
(DIBETSA and KUTL-
WANO)

One armoured car regi-
ment (minus) was combat-
ready for conventional
exercises (DIBETSA and
KUTLWANO)

One composite artillery
regiment (minus) was
combat-ready for conven-
tional exercises (sus-
tained). The capability par-
ticipated in an integrated
corps conventional exer-
cise under the auspices of
the School of Artillery

One light (parachute) 
artillery battery was com-
bat-ready for conventional
exercises (YOUNG
EAGLE) and Chief of the
SANDF reserve (sustained)

One air defence artillery
regiment (minus) was not
combat-ready for conven-
tional exercises but was
used in its secondary role
(infantry) 

One light (parachute) air 
defence artillery battery
was trained, but not fully
combat-ready for conven-
tional exercises and Chief
of the SANDF reserve due
to a lack of equipment

One tank regiment
(minus) combat-ready
for conventional 
exercises 

One armoured car regi-
ment (minus) combat-
ready for conventional
exercises 

One composite artillery
regiment (minus) com-
bat-ready for conven-
tional exercises (sus-
tained)

One light (parachute) 
artillery battery com-
bat-ready for conven-
tional exercises and
Chief of the SANDF
reserve (sustained)

One air defence 
artillery regiment
(minus) combat-ready
for conventional exer-
cises 

One light (parachute) 
air defence artillery
battery combat-ready
for conventional exer-
cises and Chief of the
SANDF reserve

Achieved

Achieved 

Achieved 

Achieved

No unit exercises were 
conducted therefore criti-
cal elements of the capa-
bility were not evaluated
in terms of combat readi-
ness

The Regimental Head-
quarters structure was
staffed and equipped but
did not conduct any train-
ing as main equipment
was not available and
only recommissioned late
in the financial year

Only a sub-unit of the 
Mobile Air Defence
System could be provided
due to the shortage of
equipment

Partially Achieved 
The capability was para-
chute trained but the req-
uisite equipment was not
delivered by industry as
planned. Commissioning
of the equipment will take
place in the short to 
medium term

Armour Capability

Artillery Capability

Air Defence Artillery Capability
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 6.1:    Landward Defence Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Field
Engineer
Capability

General train-
ing for
Regular and
Reserve mem-
bers 

Signal
Capability

Number of units
prepared according
to force require-
ments

Number of learners 
on planned courses 

Number of units
prepared according
to force require-
ments

One engineer regiment
(minus) was combat-ready
for conventional exercises
(SUPER SAPPER)

Three composite 
squadrons were combat
ready for peace support
operations and utilised in
the DRC, Sudan and the
CAR

One composite squadron 
for internal deployment as
required (sustained) in Op
CORONA

One light (parachute) field 
engineer squadron was
combat-ready at all times
for Chief of the SANDF
reserve and conventional
exercise (sustained)
(YOUNG EAGLE)

3 825

Two signal regiments 
(minus) were combat-
ready for conventional
exercises (YOUNG
EAGLE) and peace sup-
port operations in the
DRC and Sudan

One engineer regiment
(minus) combat-ready
for conventional exer-
cises

Three composite 
squadrons combat
ready for peace sup-
port operations

One composite 
squadron for internal
deployment as
required (sustained)

One light (parachute) 
field engineer
squadron combat-
ready at all times for
Chief of the SANDF
reserve and conven-
tional exercises

4 7091

Two signal regiments 
(minus) combat-ready
for conventional exer-
cises and peace sup-
port operations

Achieved 

Achieved 

Achieved 

Achieved

Partially Achieved 

Five courses were can-
celled due to insufficient
nominations. 37 courses
were not conducted at full
strength as planned
because of unavailability
of learners due to deploy-
ment. Some learners with-
drew for medical reasons

Achieved 

Engineer Capability

General Training Capability

Signal Capability

Effect of Programme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.    

The achievement of the Landward Defence Programme's Outputs has contributed positively to the Programme's 
Purpose to provide prepared and supported landward defence capabilities for the defence and protection of South
Africa.

1 The original target as per the DOD Strategic Plan FY 2010/11 was 4 375, however this was increased to 4 709. 
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P L A N N E D   E X E R C I S E S   ( S E R V I C E   U N I Q U E )   

Table 6.2 provides feedback on Landward Defence Programme unique exercises that were planned for FY2010/11.

Exercise:  Name and Aim Scheduling 2010/11 Actual Achievement

Table 6.2:   Landward Defence Programme Planned Exercises (Service Unique) for the FY 2010/11

Exercise SEBOKA.  Conventional exercise for
one Brigade (minus) 

Exercise YOUNG EAGLE. Conventional exer-
cise for one Airborne Brigade (minus) in com-
pliance with C SANDF reserve

November

February

The exercise was replaced by a number of forma-
tion specific exercises, namely Ex DIBETSA, Ex
KUTLWANO and Ex SUPER SAPPER, in prepa-
ration for the command post exercise, Exercise
NDLOVU

Training objectives for MSDS integrated training 
were not achieved in totality due to a lack of
leader group training at the tactical level. The SA
Army will in future focus on the empowerment
of the junior leader group at tactical level to
ensure proper execution of TTPs and doctrine

Key personnel of regular units were exercised at a 
brigade level planning session and training
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Chapter  7

P R O G R A M M E   4 :   
A i r   D e f e n c e

O v e r v i e w

During the year under review, the South African Air Force
(SAAF) has again demonstrated its dependability in deliver-
ing on its mandate despite the diverse challenges encountered
during FY2010/11. The SAAF managed to keep combat
readiness at the required levels and ensured that 98,6% of the
planned flying hours were achieved.  In total 33 930 flying
hours were generated which included amongst others internal
operational missions, force preparation activities, support to
SANDF contingents outside RSA in support to government
imperatives. The Air Force Reserve Squadrons generated 2
860 hours during the year under review.  This figure indicates
that the Air Force Reserves contributed 8,4% of the Air
Force's total flying hours and 17.5% of the force employment
hours.  The successes of the Air Force can be attributed to the
dedication and commitment of the Air Force personnel who
had continually demonstrated dependable skill and loyalty
under challenging circumstances.  However, these achieve-
ments came at a cost of lack of future assurance in terms of the
Air Force's diverse capabilities' integrity and sustainability. 

There was a marked and visible increase in the Air Force's
contribution towards Defence Diplomacy during the year
under review.  These include flying of VVIPs and VIPs dur-
ing the reporting period. The support towards Defence
Diplomatic activities is regarded as an essential contribution
towards the country's first line of defence within the context of
conflict prevention and peaceful resolution of conflicts. In this
regard the Air Force has managed to meet its mandate
notwithstanding challenging conditions. The considerably
changed scope and frequency of activities of the RSA govern-
ment's involvement in regional and international affairs from
1994 to date has a direct impact on the current SAAF avail-
able resources.  During the Africa Aerospace and Defence
Exhibition (AAD) held in September 2010, 28 Air Force
Chiefs or representatives were hosted with the aim to strength-
en military relations with these countries and to discuss possi-
ble areas of future cooperation. 

The SAAF has supported different Joint Operations
Requirements for external operations and internal exercises.

Within the external operations domain the Air Force provid-
ed sustainment flights to the external SANDF operations.
Successful exercises with foreign countries included partici-
pation in the naval exercise held on the East Coast of South
Africa with Brazil, India and the South African Navy. These
combined efforts have contributed in enhancing the Air
Force's expertise in combined maritime operations.

In keeping with the mandate of providing support to the peo-
ple the Air Force provided support to the people by executing
15 flights in fire-fighting operations, 34 flights during med-
ical and casualty evacuationsa and 9 flights searching for per-
sons.  

The 2010 FIFAWorld Cup was the RSA's highlight event that
required high level of expertise in airspace security and con-
tinuous surveillance and monitoring. During this event the
National Airspace Security was delegated to the SAAF via
the National Joint Operations Centre. Over this period, the
SAAF committed diverse assets and resources such as control
sectors, different tactical mobile radar systems, Hawk and
Gripen supersonic fighters, helicopters, Electronic Warfare
(EW) capabilities and Intelligence Surveillance
Reconnaissance (ISR) capabilities.  

Utilizing these diverse capabilities, the SAAF managed to
screen 12 921 aircrew of which 6 were rejected as undesir-
able, conducted 64 739 flight authorisations, 347 combat air
patrols, took appropriate action against 65 non-compliant air-
crafts, carried out 51 interceptions and diverted 9 aircraft
away from the prohibited flying zones. The technological
edge of the Gripen's data link, advanced airborne radar and
IIR pod proved to be a valuable investment as it provided real
time information simultaneously to diverse users during the
air defence operations. Opportunities to use Air Power to sup-
port Government security and anti-crime initiatives with new
technology were fully exploited. 

The Hawk lead in fighter trainers were delivered and handed
over to the Air Force. Integration and phasing in of the system
into the SAAF is essentially completed but diverse challenges
continue to prevail due to insufficient operational funding.
During the year under review, 9 crew members were quali-
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fied. The lack of steady state contract for the Hawk capabili-
ty will continue to negatively impact on the sustained long
term combat and mission readiness of this capability. 

The Helicopter Capability has served as a paramount asset to
both internal and external operations. Long lead times on
components required by the Lynx and late approval of an
interim support contract for the Rooivalk system had a direct
impact on the cash flow of the capability area. The ordered
commitments, humanitarian support and search and rescue
operations were honoured.  

The Side-by-Side pupil pilot training by Babcock Flying
Academy at Air Force Base Swartkop was conducted and due
observations were made regarding its overall impact on the
SAAF pupil pilot training efforts.  

The Avionic retrofit of the PC7 MKII aircraft progressed as
planned. Funds were made available to repair three engines
and overhaul six engines in order to increase aircraft avail-
ability and mission readiness.  

The Air Force unfortunately suffered two major accidents
with the Agusta A109 helicopter crashes in November 2010
at Potchefstroom and in December 2010 at Balito. Relevant
Boards of Inquiry have been convened and are in progress. 

There is another investigation being conducted following the
incident at AFB Makhado where a pilot lost his life during his
first solo flight on a HAWK aircraft. Aviation safety training,
however, continued to be provided, with 306 Air Force mem-
bers qualifying in aviation safety. Safety, Health,
Environment, Risk and Quality (SHERQ) training courses
were presented with a total of 266 SAAF members being
declared competent during the financial year. 

Within the SAAF strategic focus, the critical challenges in the
short and medium term remains in the domain of four areas,
Human Resource development and utilization, affordability,
operational readiness and support optimisation. Actions were
initiated to retain skilled personnel and to improve represen-
tivity. Although recruitment by aviation industries has
reduced, skilled Air Force personnel will be in demand once
the effect of the global economic downturn improves.
Cutting through every sphere of these strategic issues is a
challenge of underfunding. The Air Force's diverse interven-
tions efforts towards infrastructure maintenance, develop-
ment and retention of specialist skills, enhancing operational
support, do not have a long term and lasting impact. They
provide an important emergency relief of a temporal nature.
The impact of underfunding further exacerbates the obsoles-
cence problems especially on the older generation aircraft
systems that are more than 40 years old.  

A strategic guideline decision to relocate the Air Force Base
Durban to King Shaka during the year under review could not
be implemented due to the financial implication. The total
costs for the relocation is estimated at Rm 800.  

Given the account of the SAAF on the expected output for the
year under review, the Air Force has managed to deliver on

the planned output albeit at a cost. There is clear evidence, as
elaborated in this report, that the previous cuts and under
funding in the SAAF operating budget has reached culmina-
tion point in terms of adverse effects on SAAF capabilities.
A risk exists that not all the required system tests can be
effectively done due to lack of adequate flying hours. The
system operational hand-over timeline to the SAAF is
planned for March 2012.  

There is no doubt that the SAAF diverse air capabilities,
given the adequate support in terms of resources, can deliver
on the required output beyond expectations as was demon-
strated during the 2010 FIFA World Cup.

P u r p o s e   o f   t h e   P r o g r a m m e

The Air Defence Programme provides prepared and support-
ed air defence capabilities for the defence and protection of
South Africa.

S u b p r o g r a m m e s   

Strategic Direction provides strategic direction to the
Air Defence programme by formulating and controlling
strategies, policies and plans via the Air Force Office to
prepare and provide the capabilities required by Chief of
the SANDF.  In principle, budgeting is based on the cost
of operating the air defence headquarters.

Operational Direction provides operational direction
to the Air Defence programme by means of an Air
Command.  In principle, budgeting is based on the cost
of operating the air command.

Helicopter Capability provides and sustains opera-
tionally ready light utility helicopters, medium transport
helicopters and combat support helicopters, staffed by
appropriately qualified personnel.  In principle, funding
is distributed according to the number and size of units,
systems and equipment operating and maintenance
requirements, and the number of force preparation exer-
cises and training courses.

Transport and Maritime Capability provides and sus-
tains operationally ready transport and maritime air-
craft, staffed by appropriately qualified personnel.  In
principle, funding is distributed according to the number
and size of units, systems and equipment operating and
maintenance requirements, and the number of force
preparation exercises and training courses.

Air Combat Capability provides and sustains opera-
tionally ready fighter aircraft, staffed by appropriately
qualified personnel.  In principle, funding is distributed
according to the number and size of units, systems and
equipment operating and maintenance requirements,
and the number of force preparation exercises and train-
ing courses.
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Operational Support and Intelligence Capability
prepares, develops, provides and supports protection
support, intelligence systems and counter-intelligence
support to the South African Air Force (SAAF) through
protection squadrons, intelligence subsystems and Air
Force-unique intelligence training.  In principle, funding
is distributed according to the number and size of
squadrons, systems and equipment operating and main-
tenance requirements, and training courses.

Command and Control Capability supplies and main-
tains operationally ready command and control ele-
ments in support of air battle space operations.  In prin-
ciple, funding is distributed according to the number and
size of units, systems and equipment operating and
maintenance requirements, and of force preparation and
training courses.

Base Support provides air base infrastructure facilities
to squadrons and resident units on bases, including
maintenance of all relevant systems and personnel, to
support flying operations.  In principle, funding is dis-
tributed according to the number and size of Air Force
bases and units, systems and equipment operating and
maintenance requirements, and the number of training
courses.

Command Post renders command and control over all
missions flown.  In principle funding is distributed
according to the number and size of command posts and
deployments, and readiness and aircraft chartering
requirements.

Training Capability provides for the general education,
training and development of SAAF personnel.  Funding

is distributed according to the number and size of units,
systems and equipment operations and maintenance
requirements, and the number of force preparation exer-
cises and training courses.

Technical Support Services establishes, maintains and
prepares optimized technical and tactical logistic sup-
port capabilities to provide support to system groups
and manage air service units.  In principle, funding is
distributed according to the number and size of units,
systems and equipment operating and maintenance
requirements, and contracted human resources and
product system requirements.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

Defend and protect South Africa and its airspace by provid-
ing

Four helicopter squadrons and one combat support
squadron a year;

Three medium transport squadrons, one maritime and
transport squadron, one light transport squadron and
nine reserve squadrons at the required readiness levels a
year;

One air combat squadron a year; and 

A 24-hour air command and control capability.  

O u t p u t   D e t a i l

Table 7.1 below reports on the achievement of the outputs,
performance indicators and targets as specified in the DOD
Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 7.1:  Air Defence Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11

Medium and
Light
Transport
Capability
Combat 
Support
Capability

Number of flying
hours

Number of 
squadrons available
according to force
requirements

10 700.5

Four mixed (medium and 
light) squadrons

One combat support 
squadron

12 900

Four mixed (medium 
and light) squadrons

One combat support 
squadron

Due to operational 
requirements less force
preparation hours were
flown. Due to protracted
contract negotiations no
PSS contract was in place
for the technical support
of the Rooivalk fleet.
Insufficient crews trained
on Lynx

Achieved

Achieved

Helicopter Capability
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 7.1:  Air Defence Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Very impor-
tant persons
(VIP)
Transport
Capability,
Medium and
Light
Transport
Capability,
Maritime
Capability

Fighter
Capability

Base Support
Capability
countrywide

Air Defence
Management
Capability

Number of flying
hours

Number of 
squadrons available
according to force
requirements

Number of flying
hours

Number of 
squadrons available
according to Force
Requirements

Number of air
bases/stations pro-
vided throughout
the year, ensuring
compliance with
force requirements

Number of mission-
ready mission con-
trollers available 

Percentage availabil-
ity of two mission-
ready static control
centres 

Number of radar 
systems available

10 015.9

Three medium transport 
squadrons including one
VIP squadron

One maritime surveillance 
and transport squadron

One light transport 
squadron

Nine Air Force Reserve 
squadrons

2 962.2

One combat squadron

Eight air bases

One air station

27 daily

95% at all times

12 radars at least 90% of 
the time

11 394

Three medium trans-
port squadrons includ-
ing one VIP squadron

One maritime surveil-
lance and transport
squadron

One light transport 
squadron

Nine Air Force Reserve 
squadrons

550 

One combat squadron

Eight air bases

One air station

27 daily

95% at all times

10 at all times

Technical failures (await-
ing spares) and scheduled
maintenance.  Additional
flying required during
Basic Air Transport
Courses, Operational
Camps, tasks and the 2010
FIFA World Cup

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Additional hours flown 
due to Operation
KGWELE

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved.   In preparation 
for the implementation of
OP CORONA, additional
mission controllers were
required to be mission-
ready to form part of the
24hr/7

Achieved

Achieved

Transport and Maritime Surveillance Capability

Air Combat Capability

Air Base Support Capability

Command and Control Capability
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 7.1:  Air Defence Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Air Traffic
Management
Capability

General edu-
cation, train-
ing and devel-
opment of SA
Air Force per-
sonnel

Number of mission-
ready Air Traffic
Controllers available

Percentage availabil-
ity of seven mission
ready air traffic serv-
ice units

Number of learners
on planned courses

32 daily

100% at all times

1 471 learners

64 daily

98% at all times

2 556 learners

Not achieved. Due to fail-
ures of fitness tests, mem-
bers could not complete
initial training.  Vast num-
ber of transfers also result-
ed in retraining to be con-
ducted at various units

Achieved

Not achieved. Some cours-
es were ad hoc and not
required during quarter.
Members did not pass fit-
ness test or medical

Training Capability

Effect of Programme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.    

The achievement of the Air Defence Programme's Outputs has contributed positively to the Programme's Purpose to 
provide prepared and supported air defence capabilities for the defence and protection of South Africa.

P L A N N E D   E X E R C I S E S   ( S E R V I C E   U N I Q U E )

Table 7.2 provides feedback on Air Defence Programme exercises (service unique) that were planned for FY2010/11. 

Table 7.3 provides feedback on Air Defence Programme Joint, Inter-departmental and Multi-national exercises that were planned
for FY2010/11.

Exercise:  Name and Aim Scheduling 2010/11 Actual Achievement

Table 7.2:   Air Defence Programme Planned Exercises (Service Unique) for the FY2010/11

Electronic Warfare (EW) Camp, provid-
ing Air Force pilots an opportunity to
fly in a high density EW threat environ-
ment.

August Partially achieved

28 Squadron is currently the only Squadron with 
the C-130BZ aircraft that has EW self-protection equip-
ment on the aircraft.  Due to the high demand for the
C-130BZ aircraft in support of operations, a very limit-
ed interaction with the EW camp is currently possible

Exercise:  Name and Aim Scheduling 2010/11 Actual Achievement

Table 7.3:  Air Defence Programme Planned Joint, Inter-departmental and Multi-national Exercises for
the FY2010/11

Exercise PEGASUS, a combined air transport 
exercise involving the South African and
Regional Air Forces

September/
October
Botswana

Ex PEGASUS was not exercised during 
FY2010/11 due to various exercises, especially
with Operation KGWELE (2010 FIFA World
Cup) that took place from June 2010 to July 2010  
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Chapter  8

P R O G R A M M E   5 :   
M a r i t i m e   D e f e n c e

O v e r v i e w

The FY2010/11 was extremely demanding for the SA Navy
due to an increased operational tempo. 

At the multi-national level, the SA Navy successfully partic-
ipated in Exercise ATLASUR - a biennual, joint and com-
bined maritime exercise between the Navies of Argentina,
Brazil, South Africa and Uruguay. The aim of the exercise
was to provide collective training, improve interoperability
and enhance mutual understanding on maritime matters for
the participating nations. This exercise was held in Argentina,
South America and all the objectives were achieved. The SA
Navy also participated successfully in Exercise IBSAMAR II
- a multi-national exercise involving the navies of Brazil,
India and South Africa.  The objective of the exercise was to
improve interoperability and this was deemed to have been
an overwhelming success by the participating nations. The
skills and experience acquired during Exercise IBSAMAR II
will contribute to the SA Navy's ability to deal with issues
such as conducting humanitarian aid operations and the com-
bating of threats like terrorism and piracy in the future. The
Indian Commander of the IBSAMAR II Task Force com-
mented on the exercise as follows:  "The meticulous plan-
ning, efficient co-ordination and flawless execution of the
exercises reflect dynamic leadership, high levels of motiva-
tion, well-trained crews, efficient ship management and
material preparedness of the three Navies."

The SA Navy's international diplomacy program with its
strong regional focus continued to yield good results.  At the
strategic level of international cooperation, the Chief of the
Navy or his delegated representative visited the following
countries: Argentina, China, France, India, Italy, Sri Lanka,
UK, Vietnam and USA with reciprocal visits being paid by
India, Vietnam, UK and USA.  Elements of the Maritime
Reaction Squadron and support personnel were deployed in
various peacekeeping missions thereby contributing to the
RSA's diplomatic initiatives in Africa.  The deployment of
the frigate SAS MENDI on Operation COPPER, an anti-pira-
cy patrol in the Mozambique Channel, further enhanced the
RSA's contribution to safety and security in the region. The
combat support vessel, SAS DRAKENSBERG conducted
Operation IKHALA, an emergency evacuation contingency
operation off the West Coast of Africa.   

The SA Navy successfully prepared and deployed the SAS

DRAKENSBERG, the frigate SAS AMATOLA, the hydro-
graphic survey vessel SAS PROTEA and the mine counter
measures vessels SAS UMZIMKULU and SAS UMKO-
MAAS at the required levels of readiness during the 2010
FIFA World Cup (Operation KGWELE).  Also deployed
were the submarines SAS CHARLOTTE MAXEKE and
SAS QUEEN MODJADJI I, as part of force preparation to
ensure maximum maritime security during this period.  What
is significant about Operation KGWELE is that the SA Navy
was at its highest level of operational readiness, since the
acquisition of the Strategic Defence Packages. In total 16 897
sea hours were achieved during force preparation and
employment, of which 3 033 were during the unforeseen
operations off the West coast and in the Mozambique
Channel.

The SA Navy acquired the Shallow Water Route Survey
System and the system proved most effective in mine detec-
tion operations conducted during Operation KGWELE. The
system has proved to be an excellent asset in ensuring the
continued safety and security of the RSA ports.  What is
equally significant is that policy option funding obtained was
directed at providing a core maritime defence capability. This
is a niche capability that no other state maritime agency could
provide and also proved to be invaluable during recovery
operations when it was used to assist the South African Civil
Aviation Authority to locate and recover the wreckage of the
light aircraft that crashed off Plettenberg Bay. 

Internally, the SA Navy achieved a payment figure of 99.2%
for FY2010/11. The SA Navy also participated actively in the
task team that prepared a report on achieving better efficien-
cies with the DOD's budget.

An integral part of the SA Navy's planning and strategic
direction process is the SA Navy's social responsibility pro-
gramme.  Several disadvantaged communities have been
assisted and continue to be assisted through these pro-
grammes. The ISIVUNGUVUNGU sailing team continued
to attain excellent results in international competitions where
two sailors attained ninth position at the Volvo Youth Sailing
ISAF World Championships held in Turkey and fifth position
in the Open 420 World Championships in Haifa, Israel.  At
national level one sailor, Asenathi Jim, was twice nominated
as SA Sailor of the month and eventually became the SA
Sailor of the year for 2010.  This great achievement resulted
in him being introduced to the Olympic Class 470.  He will
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also skipper the SB3 to defend their title in the UK in the
2011 UK championships.

The SA Navy continued to experience critical shortages of
personnel within the technical, combat, diver, submariner and
logistics domains during the reporting period. Although there
are sufficient newly recruited candidates in these domains
that are under training, it will take time before these candi-
dates acquire the requisite skills, knowledge and experience
to counter the loss of experienced personnel.

The general status of buildings in the Simon’s Town area
continued to be a cause for concern.  Day to day maintenance
is being carried out, but due to the age of the buildings their
condition continues to deteriorate.  

Although the Directed Levels of Capability as stipulated in
terms of the force employment requirements for the respec-
tive capabilities were achieved, the SA Navy will not be able
to sustain these levels of capability into the future, due to the
continued underfunding. The SA Navy performed in accor-
dance with its plan and exceeded expectations in certain
instances i.e. in its force preparation and force employment
commitments. It remains committed to pursuing its primary
objective of providing a credible maritime defence to the
people of South Africa.

P u r p o s e   o f   t h e   P r o g r a m m e

The Maritime Defence Programme provides prepared and
supported maritime defence capabilities for the defence and
protection of South Africa.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

Defend and protect South Africa and its maritime zones by
providing

A surface combat capability of four frigates, one combat
support vessel, three offshore patrol vessels, three
inshore patrol vessels and a maritime reaction squadron
in each annual operational cycle;

A sub-surface combat capability of three submarines in
each annual operational cycle;

Two mine countermeasures systems in each annual
operational cycle to ensure safe access to South African
harbours, and where mine clearance may be required;
and

An ongoing hydrographic survey capability to ensure

safe navigation in charting areas and to meet interna-
tional obligations.

S u b p r o g r a m m e s

Maritime Direction provides strategic direction within
the Maritime Defence programme by formulating and
controlling strategies, policies, plans and advice in order
to prepare and provide the maritime capabilities
required for the defence and protection of South Africa.
Funding is distributed based on the cost of operating the
Naval Headquarters.

Maritime Combat Capability provides mission ready
and supported maritime combat capabilities in accor-
dance with the approved force design of the DOD.
Funding is distributed according to the number and size
of units, systems and equipment operating and mainte-
nance requirements and the number of force employ-
ment operations.

Maritime Logistic Support Capability sustains the
availability of the force structure elements in the naval
force design to ensure compliance with ordered opera-
tional commitments.  Funding is distributed according
to the number and size of units, systems and equipment
operating and maintenance requirements, and the num-
ber of force preparation exercises and training courses.

Maritime Human Resources and Training
Capability ensures that the maritime combat capability
requirements are met in terms of qualified personnel for
Regular and Reserve members.  Funding is distributed
according to the number and size of units, systems and
equipment operations and maintenance requirements,
and the number of force preparation and training cours-
es.

Base Support Capability provides a general base sup-
port capability to ships and submarines, shore units and
other identified clients to ensure that the fleet complies
with specified operational-readiness levels.  Funding is
distributed according to the size of the naval base, sys-
tems and equipment operating and maintenance require-
ments.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l

Table 8.1 below reports on all outputs, performance measures
and targets specified in the output table in the DOD Strategic
Plan FY2010/11.
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/
Under Achievement

Table 8.1:   Maritime Defence Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11

Surface Warfare 
Capability

Submarine War-
fare Capability

Combat Support 
and Sealift
Capability

Mine Warfare 
Capability

Hydrographic 
Services
Capability

Patrol Capability

Maritime 
Reaction
Squadron
Capability

General educa-
tion, training
and develop-
ment of Navy
personnel

Base Support 
Capability 

Number of vessels 
operated in the annual
operational cycle

Number of submarines 
operated in the annual
operational cycle

Number of combat sup-
port vessels operated in
the annual operational
cycle

Number of mine counter 
measure vessels operated
in the annual operational
cycle

Number of hydrographic 
vessels and mobile
hydrographic survey
teams operated in the
annual operational cycle

Number of patrol vessels 
operated in the annual
operational cycle

Number of teams of the 
Operational Boat Division
prepared in accordance
with the Navy Force
Design

Number of teams of the 
Operational Diving
Division prepared in
accordance with the
Navy Force Design

Number of platoons of the 
Naval Reaction Division
prepared in accordance
with the Navy Force
Design

Number of learners on 
planned courses 

Number of Naval Bases/
Stations provided, ensur-
ing compliance with force
requirements

Four frigates 

Three 

One

Three 

One vessel 

One mobile hydro-
graphic survey team

Three inshore 
vessels 
Three offshore vessels 

Three 

Three 

Three

3 007

One Naval Base 

Two Naval Stations

Four frigates

Three 

One

Three 

One vessel 

One mobile hydro-
graphic survey team

Three inshore vessels 

Three offshore vessels 

Three 

Three 

Three

4 964

One Naval Base 

Two Naval Stations 

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

67 learning opportuni-
ties were cancelled due
to operational and work
commitments, resulting
in 1 957 less learners
than planned for

Achieved

Achieved

Maritime Combat Capability

Maritime Training Capability

Base Support Capability

Effect of Programme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.    

The achievement of the Maritime Defence Programme's Outputs has contributed positively to the Programme's Purpose 
to provide prepared and supported maritime defence capabilities for the defence and protection of South Africa.
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Exercise:  Name and Aim Scheduling 2010/11 Actual Achievement

Table 8.2.   Maritime Defence Programme Planned Exercises for FY2010/11

Exercise RED LION.  Annual Task Force 
exercise

DIVEX.  Annual diving exercise

February/March

September

The exercise has been postponed to May 2011 due 
to the commitment of vessels in Operations
IKHALA and COPPER

The first Divex was held under Operation 
KOWIE in preparation for 2010 FIFA World Cup
from 16 - 30 Apr 10 in Simon' Town

The second Divex ran concurrently with Exercise 
REVIVE I, from 22 - 26 Nov 10 in Simon's Town.
This was to train new operators and divers in the
use of the MCM system used during SWC  

The third Divex was held in Mossel Bay under 
Exercise REVIVE II from  8 - 12 Feb 11.  This
exercise was a continuation from REVIVE I,
where more divers were exposed to the system 

P L A N N E D   E X E R C I S E S   ( S E R V I C E   U N I Q U E )

Table 8.2 provides feedback on Maritime Defence Programme Unique Exercises that were planned for FY2010/11.
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Chapter  9

P R O G R A M M E   6 :   
M i l i t a r y   H e a l t h   

S u p p o r t
O v e r v i e w

In the year under review, the Military Health Support
Programme continued to render health services according to
its dual mission to support deployed forces and secondly to
deliver a base-orientated health service.  The factors impact-
ing on the service delivery objectives are the loss of scarce
skills, an insufficient budget to fulfil ordered commitments
and to renew the SA Military Health Service (SAMHS) obso-
lete equipment and capabilities.

The SAMHS contributed to the broader State service delivery
objectives through its partnership and support to the
Department of Health in providing health support to the 2010
FIFA World Cup during Operation KGWELE. A total of 902
SAMHS members were deployed at National Health
Operation Centres, stadiums and fan parks.  SAMHS mem-
bers were also deployed with the SA Army during Operation
KGWELE and health elements also rendered health support
to maritime operations during Operation KGWELE. Support
was also provided to the Department of Health during the
national strike of nursing personnel in provincial hospitals.
During Operation PROSPER, the SAMHS supported 74 hos-
pitals in the nine provinces with a total of 2 822 members
consisting of 1 266 health care practitioners. 

The health care to designated military veterans was opera-
tionalized after the approval of the Minister in December
2010. 

The SAMHS contributed immensely to the strengthening of
foreign relations. Medical equipment and general office
equipment was donated to the Uganda People’s Defence
Force. The 6th Annual Protection Course for African States
party to the Chemical Weapons Convention on behalf of the
SA Council for Non-Proliferation of Weapons of Mass De-
struction and the Organisation for the Prohibition of Che-
mical Weapons was presented by the SAMHS in September
2010.  The course was attended by representatives from
Algeria, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cote D'Ivoire, Kenya,
Malawi, Morocco, Nigeria, Tanzania, Tunisia, Zambia, Zim-
babwe and Uganda.  The Chemical and Biological Defence
Advisor attended an international workshop on Strengthening
International Efforts to Prevent the Proliferation of Biological
Weapons in November 2010 and made a presentation on the

Intercessional Process in preparation of the 7th Review
Conference that will be held in 2011. The Surgeons General
had bilateral meetings with the Surgeons General of the
Netherlands and Zambia during the attendance of the African
Aerospace Defence and a working visit to France.  The aim
was to strengthen military health relations with these coun-
tries and to discuss possible areas of future co-operation.

The SAMHS Facility Master Plan continued to guide the
repair and upgrading of infrastructure through a phased
approach. The day-to-day maintenance of facilities is ham-
pered due to the insufficient budget allocation.  Donor fund-
ing directed to antiretroviral treatment has been utilised to
upgrade and renovate health facilities such as the Sickbay at
Langebaanweg and the pharmacy at the Military Medical
Clinic Waterkloof. The upgrade of the Military Health
Training facility at Lephalale was completed for the training
of members of the military skills development system.
Progress continued to be made with the repair and mainte-
nance programme at the three military hospitals. The con-
struction of the main building at 3 Military Hospital was
completed and occupation took place during November
2010.  The refurbishment of the main building of 2 Military
Hospital has commenced in January 2011. Progress was
made with the repair and upgrade of the field hospital capa-
bility.  The Military Base Hospital at the Combat Training
Centre in Lohatlha has been equipped with integrated digital
main medical equipment.

During the reporting period, a total number of 128 emergency
care technician learners graduated and are being utilised at
decentralised military health facilities. The African
Contingency Operations Training Assistant (ACOTA) pro-
gramme presented a Trauma Nursing Care Course. Basic
Ambulance Assistant courses were presented during the
reporting period to 266 recruits of the Department of Health
at decentralised military health training facilities in Pretoria,
Bloemfontein and Simon’s Town. The Nursing College dip-
loma and pledge of service ceremony was held in October
2010 during which 103 diplomas were conferred to candi-
dates who successfully completed the four year diploma and
primary health care courses.  A total of 54 SAMHS members
from the military skills development system have successful-
ly completed the Internal Support Services logistical course
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at the School for Logistical Training.  These members will
reinforce the SAMHS logistical capability.

A comprehensive appreciation was done on patient adminis-
tration to facilitate service delivery improvements and adher-
ence to the Public Finance Management Act, ie to ensure that
the payment of all medical accounts are finalised within 30
days.  Turnkey solutions are being implemented and have
delivered results. 

The establishing of an integrated health system as a strategic
resource has become indispensable to the delivery of an
increasingly sophisticated primary and tertiary health care
system. The development of new systems promotes best busi-
ness practices and accountability through tested technologies.
Good progress has been made with the development of new
technology such as digital scanning, clinical imaging, elec-
tronic handheld palmtops, telemedicine and smart card iden-
tification cards. 

The HIV counselling and testing campaign launched by
President Zuma and the National Department of Health on
25 April 2010 was executed under the auspices of the
Comprehensive Care and Management Treatment pro-
gramme. Focused activities took place on 1 December 2010,
World Aids Day.  During a training visit in December 2010 to
San Antonio, Texas, the Directorate HIV and Aids presented
a HIV Prevention poster.

Although the retention of health care practitioners remains a
strategic issue, the Occupational Specific Dispensation for
medical officers, dentists and pharmacists, Resolution 1 of
2010, has been implemented.

A total number of 108 members of the Military Skills
Development System were translated to the Core Service
System and 160 members were translated to the Reserves.
The roll-out of the University Reserve Training programme
continued. The challenge of recruiting and remunerating
health care practitioners in the Reserves remains unresolved.

The SAMHS continued to promote a culture of good gover-
nance during the reporting period by implementing and exe-
cuting rectification plans after negative audit findings. The
SAMHS Accountability Management Committee stands cen-
tral to the monitoring of the rectification plans.

P u r p o s e   o f   t h e   P r o g r a m m e

The Military Health Support Programme provides prepared
and supported health capabilities and services for the defence
and protection of South Africa.

S u b p r o g r a m m e s

Strategic Direction formulates strategy, policies and
plans, and gives advice from the Surgeon General's
Office to prepare and provide the capabilities required

by the Chief of the SANDF.  Funding is based on the
cost of operating the military health headquarters.

Mobile Military Health Support provides health sup-
port elements for deployed and contingency forces.
Funding is distributed according to the number and size
of units, systems and equipment operating and mainte-
nance requirements and the number of force preparation
activities.

Area Military Health Service provides a comprehen-
sive, self-supporting, multidisciplinary geographic mili-
tary health service through a formation headquarters
commanding and controlling nine area military health
units to ensure a healthy military community.  Funding
is distributed according to the number and size of units
and health care facilities, systems and equipment oper-
ating and maintenance requirements and the number and
type of patient health services rendered, as well as force
preparation activities.

Specialist/Tertiary Military Service provides a spe-
cialist health service to develop and maintain tertiary
military health capabilities within the parameters of rel-
evant legislation as contained in the South African
Military Health Service (SAMHS) strategy.  Funding is
distributed according to the number and size of military
hospitals and specialist units, systems and equipment
operating and maintenance requirements, the number of
and type of patient health services rendered as well as
force preparation activities.

Military Health Product Support Capability provides
for warehousing pharmaceuticals, sundries, military
health mobilisation equipment and unique stock, procur-
ing unique military health products, materials and serv-
ices; and an asset management service, military health
product systems and cooperative common military
health logistics.  Funding is distributed according to the
number and size of units and the use of military health
products, equipment and consumables and the require-
ments for maintaining strategic military health reserves. 

Military Health Maintenance Capability provides
general base support services to identified SAMHS units
to sustain and maintain the approved force design and
structure.  Funding is distributed according to the num-
ber and size of units, systems and equipment operating
and maintenance requirements.

Military Health Training Capability provides a mili-
tary health training service to develop and maintain mil-
itary health capabilities within the parameters of rele-
vant legislation and policies.  Funding is distributed
according to the training inputs of the sub-units, equip-
ment operating and maintenance requirement and the
number of force preparation exercises and training
courses presented to Southern Africa Development
Community (SADC) countries.
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O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

Provide prepared and supported health capabilities and serv-
ices by providing:

a health support capability of five medical battalion
groups, including one specialist medical battalion
group, for deployed and contingency forces; and

a comprehensive multidisciplinary health service to a

projected patient population of 230 000 members per
year. 

O u t p u t   D e t a i l

Table 9.1 below reports on the achievement of the outputs,
performance indicators and targets as specified in the DOD
Strategic Plan FY2010/11

Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 9.1:    Military Health Support Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11

Combat-ready
Military
Health
Support
Elements for
deployed and
contingency
forces

Number of units pre-
pared according to
force requirements

One conventional 
medical battalion
group (minus)

One specialist battal-
ion group (minus)

Three Reserve medical 
battalion groups
(minus)

25% of the unit 
strength

One conventional
medical battalion
group

One specialist 
battalion group

Three Reserve medi-
cal battalion groups

Partially achieved.  Insufficient 
staff to fulfil the dual mission
of the SAMHS and to staff the
Regular Conventional
Medical Battalion Group. The
combat readiness of the
SAMHS is compromised by
the inability to retain scarce
skills, especially health care
practitioners, and the inability
to procure and upgrade main
medical equipment from the
insufficient budget allocation   

Partially achieved.  Insufficient 
health care practitioners and
inability to recruit and retain
scarce skills such as health
care practitioners, eg medical
officers and air-borne and
parachute qualified members.
Also the inability to procure
and upgrade main medical
equipment from the insuffi-
cient budget allocation 

Partially achieved.  Although 
there was an increase in the
level of staffing, the correct
profile of members, eg the
recruitment and retention of
health care practitioners
remains challenging.  The
remuneration of health care
practitioners for the Reserves
has not been resolved.  The
decentralised and modular
training of SAMHS Reserves
had been approved

Mobile Military Health Support Capability
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 9.1:    Military Health Support Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Comprehen-
sive, self sup-
porting, mul-
tidisciplinary
geographic
military
health service

Specialist/Ter
tiary military
health servic-
es and capa-
bilities by
means of mili-
tary hospitals,
institutes and
a unit for dig-
nitary and
VIP health
services

Number of health care
activities at the 88 geo-
graphic health care
facilities 

Number of health 
assessment activities
executed at the 88 geo-
graphic health care
facilities

Number of medical 
support activities at the
88 geographic health
care facilities

Number of health care
activities at the three
military hospitals

Maximum number of 
aviation health care
activities

1 241 841

65 428

5 275

784 423 

20 912

1 300 000

50 0001

2 200

990 000

15 850

Achieved.  The target remains 
to be an estimate.  Increase in
health care activities from the
previous year can be ascribed
to improved data capturing.
Fewer patients were referred
for outsourced health care.
The impact and effect of the
health care to veterans will
only be experienced in the
next financial year   

Over Achieved. The demands 
for health assessments, ie con-
current health and pre-
deployment assessments have
increased. All the demands
for health assessments were
met in line with the pre-
scribed policy in spite of
insufficient health care practi-
tioners, ie psychologists  

Over achieved.  The demand 
for medical support activities
has increased as a result of
increased force preparation
activities.  Data capturing of
the medical support activities
has also improved.  The target
will be amended for
FY2011/12

Slightly under achieved.
Fewer patients could be con-
sulted and had to be referred
to provincial and private
health facilities due to the
unavailability of certain capa-
bilities/medical departments
as a result of the Repair and
Maintenance Programmes at
the three military hospitals 

Over achieved.  The demands 
for health services and assess-
ments at the Institute for
Aviation Medicine have
increased. More members of
the SA Air Force and the SA
Civil Aviation Authority
reported for health assess-
ments and consultations.  The
aviation health capability
needs to be renewed in terms
of the facility and obsolete
equipment 

Area Military Health Service

1 The original target as per the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11 was 125 000 but was adjusted to 50 000.

Specialist/Tertiary Military Health Service
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 9.1:    Military Health Support Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Warehousing
of pharma-
ceuticals and
sundries and
military
health mobili-
sation and
unique stock

Procurement 
of unique mil-
itary health
products,
materials and
services

Asset and life-
cycle manage-
ment of main
medical
equipment

Maximum number of
maritime health care
activities

Maximum number of 
Military Psychological
Institute contacts

Number of animal 
health activities

Number of national 
and international dig-
nitary and VIP medical
support and health
care activities 

Percentage availability
of stock at all times

Percentage compliance 
with stock procure-
ment and delivery
requirements 

Number of main 
medical equipment
assets verified and reg-
istered

60 337

9 620

5 985

609

61.5%

82.5%

17 858

60 000

10 200

3 240

584

75%

80%

17 853

Achieved.  Demands for serv-
ice delivery were met.  Due to
an increase in maritime activi-
ties more healthcare related
activities are imminent 

Achieved.  Demands for serv-
ice delivery were met in spite
of the low staffing levels of
psychologists

Over achieved.  The estimated 
target was achieved in spite of
the shortage of veterinary offi-
cers.  The increase in activities
is due to preventative health
programmes, ie immunisa-
tions and de-worming pro-
gramme of canines.  Training
took place according to the
planned programme

Over achieved.  The Presi-
dential Medical Unit has per-
formed more medical support
than expected.  The structure
of the unit had been approved
to meet the increased
demands

Not achieved.  The sustain-
ment of stock levels and the
strategic reserve is challeng-
ing due to insufficient fund-
ing. The stock levels and
strategic reserve has increased
to 71% in the 4th quarter of
the period under review.
Suppliers do not honour the
specified delivery periods and
often deliver partial quantities

Over achieved 

Suppliers reacted well to 
delivery periods and there
was a larger focus on the fol-
lowing-up of orders

Achieved  

The asset and life-cycle man-
agement of main medical
equipment has been per-
formed according to plan in
spite of the initial impact of
Operations KGWELE and
PROSPER

Military Health Product Support Capability
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 9.1:    Military Health Support Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Military
health train-
ing capability

Number of learners on
planned courses 

5 2233 966 Over achieved  

Achieved targets in spite of -
challenges with accommoda-
tion as a result of the refur-
bishment and renovation pro-
gramme at the Military
Health Training Capability.
The focus was on the accredi-
tation of instructors to either
obtain or maintain accredita-
tion

Military Health Training Capability

P L A N N E D   E X E R C I S E S   ( S E R V I C E   U N I Q U E )

Table 9.2 provides feedback on Military Health Support Programme service unique exercises that were planned for FY2010/11.

Exercise:  Name and Aim Scheduling 2010/11 Actual Achievement

Table 9.2:  Military Health Support Programme Planned Exercises (Service Unique) for the FY2010/11

Exercise WAYSIDE:  force preparation exercise March/April Exercise WAYSIDE took place from 23 March to 
1 April 2011 at Ditholo.  The objectives were
achieved, namely, the detailed analysis of decon-
tamination and detection equipment and proce-
dures utilised during the 2010 FIFA World Cup,
evaluation of the existing conventional deconta-
mination and detection procedures in order to
align them with the urban procedures and for
utilisation on the battlefield.  The technology
demonstrator for the new level 1 resuscitation
post was also evaluated and improvements were
identified

Effect of Programme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.     

Military Health Support Programme's Outputs has contributed positively to the Programme's Purpose to provide pre-
pared and supported health capabilities and services for the defence and protection of South Africa.  Most of the outputs
of the sub-programmes had been achieved.  The quality of military health services had been questioned and will be
addressed in FY2011/12 by means of formalised customer surveys. 
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Chapter  10

P R O G R A M M E   7 :   
D e f e n c e   I n t e l l i g e n c e

O v e r v i e w

The Defence Intelligence (DI) Division fulfilled all obliga-
tions required by clients and delivered its products on time.
The Division continued to ensure adherence to its intelligence
mandate of conducting intelligence on foreign military forces
and their intentions  

In support of Operation KGWELE (the 2010 FIFA World
Cup), a secure intelligence data communication network was
established between DI HQ, the National Joint Operations
Centre (JOC) and the various Provincial JOCs to enable the
flow of information among all the military intelligence and
counter-intelligence entities. This enabled the instant and
secure flow of information (data) between mobile intelli-
gence functionaries deployed at the various events directly to
the Nat JOC and DI HQ.  In conjunction with the National
Communication Centre (NCC), with some equipment sup-
plied by DI, the same capability was also established between
DI and other intelligence role-players at national level.
Similarly, equipment was also issued to intelligence func-
tionaries deployed in border safeguarding. 

Borderline security visits were also conducted while opera-
tional borderline liaison forums, national border management
coordinating centre and intelligence coordinating centre
meetings were held to address border safeguarding and the
internal security situation.  

Following the rendering of support during Operation
KGWELE, DI was requested to provide operational intelli-
gence support to curtail violence against foreign nationals and
subsequently re-tasked to provide support during the hosting
of the International Cricket T20 Cup tournament. Operational
intelligence support, including counter-intelligence support,
was also provided to all external operations.  

Some of the previously reported challenges were still rele-
vant. The lack of language proficiency experienced by mem-
bers in the locally spoken languages in the different deploy-
ment areas continued during this year.  Although members
earmarked for deployment attended courses on the relevant
languages, it often takes time to become proficient.  The poor
state of the DI headquarters building continued to impact on
the productivity of the division.  A PPP has been registered to
establish a new facility and it is currently in the feasibility
phase.

The intelligence needs of the DOD have become more
sophisticated and DI is required to provide information and
advice to support the SANDF's mission and Government ini-
tiatives to bring about lasting peace and prosperity in Africa.
These developments necessitated the redirection of DI to be
able to respond quickly to changing intelligence requirements
and fast breaking contingencies. The focus for the next ten
years will therefore be to expand in-time early warning and
the current intelligence coverage.

P u r p o s e   o f   t h e   P r o g r a m m e

The Defence Intelligence Programme provides a defence
intelligence and counter-intelligence capability.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

The detail of the output of Defence Intelligence is classified
and not available to the public.

S u b p r o g r a m m e s

Strategic Direction provides defence intelligence poli-
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cy, doctrine and intelligence advice to support the
department's decision-making and policy formulation
processes.  Funding is based on the cost of operating the
defence intelligence headquarters.

Operations provide timely defence prediction, intelli-
gence and counter-intelligence capabilities and services.
Funding is distributed based on the number and size of
intelligence offices, systems and equipment operating
and maintenance requirements, and the number of intel-
ligence products produced.

Defence Intelligence Support Services provide human
resource, logistic, planning, security, labour relations,

and training and information support services to the
defence intelligence community.  Funding is distributed
according to the number and size of units and offices,
equipment operations and maintenance requirements,
and the number of force preparation exercises and train-
ing courses.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l

Table 10.1 below reports on the achievement of the outputs,
performance indicators and targets as specified in the DOD
Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 10.1:    Defence Intelligence Programme Output Detail for FY2010/11

Intelligence
processing
capability

Counter-
Intelligence
capability

Number of defence
intelligence products
according to the annu-
al schedule and client
requirements

Number of vetting 
decisions taken in
accordance with
requirement

330

4 985

331

6 500

Achieved

Deviation from target of 6 500 
was due to the delay in turn
around time of feedback
received from SAPS

Mobile Military Health Support Capability

Effect of Programme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.     

The achievement of the DI Programme's Outputs has positively contributed to the purpose of the Programme to provide 
a defence intelligence and counter intelligence capability. 
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Chapter  11

P R O G R A M M E   8 :   
G e n e r a l   S u p p o r t

O v e r v i e w

The General Support Programme is divided into the follow-
ing sub-programmes, i.e. Joint Logistic Services, Command
and Management Services and the Military Police. 

P u r p o s e   o f   t h e   P r o g r a m m e

The General Support Programme provides general support
capabilities and services to the Department.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

Provide general support capabilities and services by:

Repairing and maintaining the DOD's infrastruc-
ture at 33 bases over the next 3 years (13 in
2010/11, 9 in 2011/12 and 11 in 2012/13) and exe-
cuting the Capital Works Plan in 52 projects (7 in
2010/11, 24 in 2011/12 and 21 in 2012/13).

Providing appropriate, ready and sustained
matériel, facilities, movement and logistic services
focussing on supply chain management to enable
force preparation and employment.

Provide the department with key information and com-
munication systems by:

Ensuring that the mainframe service is available 98
per cent of the time and the Wide Area Network 95
per cent of the time.

Providing Information and Communication
Systems solutions in accordance with the Defence
Enterprise Information Systems (DEIS) Master
Plan, as per the programme and project milestones
and associated deliverables.

Reduce the number of new criminal cases under investi-
gation by the military police by 10 per cent a year, and
sustain 1 provost company for deployment, 4 regional
head-quarters, 22 area offices and 22 detachments for
investigations and crime prevention, and 2 military cor-
rectional facilities.

S u b p r o g r a m m e s

Joint Logistic Services provide logistic services to the

department. Funding is distributed according to the
number and size of units, use and warehousing require-
ments for ammunition, main equipment and stores, the
defence facility repair and maintenance programme and
the number of training courses.

Command and Management Information Systems
provides command and management information sys-
tems and related services to the department.  Funding is
distributed according to the number and size of main-
frame systems, the communication infrastructure oper-
ated by the department, and maintenance and upgrading
requirements.

Military Police provide a military policing capability to
the department.  Funding is distributed according to the
number and size of units, systems and equipment oper-
ating and maintenance requirements, and the number of
force preparation exercises and training courses

S U B P R O G R A M M E :
J O I N T   L O G I S T I C   S E R V I C E S

O v e r v i e w     

During the year under review, the Logistics Division partial-
ly achieved its objectives due to many challenges that were
identified and experienced. The management interventions
undertaken and working together as a team with numerous
stakeholders has made it possible to address challenges in a
professional and specialist way in accordance with the busi-
ness plan and business ethics, thereby minimising the impact
and ensuring good service delivery.

The inability to provide appropriate, ready and sustained
materiel, facilities, movement and logistic services and non-
compliance at the operational level by Services and Divisions
and the lack of enforcement of logistic asset management
policies (moveable and immoveable) resulted in poor asset
management due to inadequate and fragmented defence
logistics strategy, policy, planning, budgeting, systems,
processes and skills. Slow progress was also experienced
with updating and promulgating of logistic policies due to a
lack of capacity within the Logistics Division.

During the FY2010/11 the Logistic Intervention and
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Repositioning Programme (LIRP) started to finalise the
development of a new logistic process framework. This is a
single logistic process based on supply chain and life cycle
management, and a draft macro-structure for the future
SANDF logistics organisation. 

The DOD under the auspice of the Operation Clean Audit
(OCA) teamed up with SITA, embarked on alleviating cur-
rent and possible future audit qualifications by a concerted
effort in developing appropriate draft policy in respect of
assets, leases, official gifts, donations, sponsorships and dis-
posals in compliance with the Minister of Defence's instruc-
tion for a zero qualification audit cycle for a FY2010/11.   

In order to address the audit qualifications, the Logistics
Division has developed a short and long-term plan. The short
term plan focuses on the utilisation of the existing systems
(OSIS and CALMIS) to establish an asset register, while the
long term plan focuses on the implementation of a single inte-
grated defence logistics information management system,
including a codification and cataloguing system that will
enhance stock/inventory rationalisation within the DOD.  

During the reporting period, a supply chain management and
procurement implementation charter between National
Treasury (IFMS) and the DOD was finalised.  Eleven units
have been identified as lead sites and the implementation of
the asset register and procurement will commence in the next
financial year.  

In order to improve the serviceability of equipment, contracts
for the maintenance and repair of materiel handling equip-
ment for internal and external operations were concluded for
the next two years. The approval of the technical allowances
has made a significant contribution towards the attraction and
retention of suitably qualified technical members within the
DOD.

A tender for bar coding of all equipment in the DOD, with
special attention to firearm and vehicle control was published
with implementation during the next financial year, which
will greatly enhance the DOD's ability to accurately manage
its assets.

New legislation concerning the management of fuel installa-
tions required the DOD to assess all its installations through-
out South Africa to ensure compliance with municipal by-
laws and other legislation to bring about continued safe oper-
ations.

The DOD produced a user assets management plan (UAMP)
that will address the rapid and escalating deterioration of the
defence immovable assets.  From the UAMP, the DOD will
be able to develop accurate and functional accommodation
and maintenance plans that are consistent with DOD strate-
gic and operational requirements. 

Progress was also made with the capturing and verification of
the Defence Endowment Property (DEP). A DEP register is
in place with associated market values. This register will
assist in the assessment of options available to maximise util-

isation of endowment properties to address DOD facility
requirements. 

Facilities management plays a vital role within the DOD in
ensuring that property, buildings and real estate are in support
of DOD objectives. Due to the lack of capacity in the NDPW,
DOD facilities and infrastructure are in disrepair and further
deterioration will tarnish not only the image of the DOD, but
also constrain force preparation and employment and impact
on the execution of the Defence mandate.

The DOD Works Capability (Project LEBAKA) was trans-
ferred from the SA Army to the Logistics Division, and its
structure under command and control of Chief of Logistics
was approved by the Minister.  This capability places the
DOD in a better position to assume the execution of the cus-
todian functions as presently performed by NDPW. 

The DOD funded 28 capital works building projects during
the reporting period.  The bulk of the capital works funds
were spent on the upgrading of military health facilities,
installing fire detection and protection systems, making
changes to buildings to accommodate disabled members,
upgrading kitchens, buildings and improving security at
buildings.  

Range clearance operations on the former Hell's Gate training
area (Project UMTHOMBO) were concluded. The Madimbo
training area has been marked and prepared for clearance.  An
environmental awareness programme is underway within the
DOD that will ensure sustainability of the current initiatives
to enhance environmental management within the depart-
ment.

Operation VUSELELA projects which is the removal of all
alien trees and plants, was optimized in the Free State
province for increased mutual benefit to both the environment
and beneficiaries; ie military veterans.  Improved project
management has brought about enhanced monitoring and
control measures between the DOD, Department of Water
Affairs (DWA) and its implementing agent; ie the
Independent Development Trust (IDT).   

In support of the government initiative of creating jobs, a total
of 1 718 MSDS members obtained training in various logis-
tic courses and accreditation within the DOD and the private
sector. The SAQA awarded full accreditation to the DOD
Ammunition Depot and School of Ammunition while giving
provisional accreditation to the DOD School of Logistical
Training. 

P u r p o s e   o f   t h e   P r o g r a m m e
Joint Logistic Services is a subprogramme of the General
Support Programme and is to provide logistic services to the
Department.

S u b p r o g r a m m e s
Joint Logistic Services provide logistic services to the depart-
ment.  Funding is distributed according to the number and
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size of units, use and warehousing requirements for ammuni-
tion, main equipment and stores, the defence facility repair
and maintenance programme and the number of training
courses

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

Provide general support capabilities and services by:

Repairing and maintaining the department's infrastruc-
ture at 33 bases over the next 3 years (13 in 2010/11, 9
in 2011/12 and 11 in 2012/13) and executing the Capital

Works Plan in 52 projects (7 in 2010/11, 24 in 2011/12
and 21 in 2012/13).

Providing appropriate, ready and sustained matériel,
facilities, movement and logistic services focussing on
supply chain management to enable force preparation
and employment.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l

Table 11.1 below reports of the achievement of the outputs,
performance indicators and targets as specified in the DOD
Strategic Plan FY2010/11

Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 11.1:   Joint Logistic Services Output Detail for FY2010/11

Centralised
Logistic
Capabilities

Centralised 
Logistic
Services

Number of units pre-
pared and maintained
to support force
employment require-
ments

Percentage compliance 
with Capital Works
Programme

Percentage compliance 
with Repair and
Maintenance
Programme

One joint logistic oper-
ational support unit 

None

None

Three ammunition 
depots 

None

None

Two central procure-
ment service centres

One logistics school

One ammunition 
school

One hospitality school

One South African 
Forces Institute

100%

46,27%

One joint logistic 
operational support
unit 

One main ordnance 
depot 

Two ordnance 
sub-depots 

Three ammunition 
depots 

One technical 
service unit 

One mobilisation 
centre 

Two central procure-
ment service centres

One logistics school

One ammunition 
school

One hospitality 
school

One South African 
Forces Institute

100%

100%

Achieved

Depot transferred to SA Army 
(function shift)

Depots transferred to SA 
Army (function shift)

Achieved

Unit transferred to SA Army 
(function shift)

Unit transferred to SA Army 
(function shift)

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

No submission of invoices 
from NDPW for completed
work  

Projects delayed due to uncer-
tainty regarding the acquisi-
tion of the A-400M Aircraft
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 11.1:   Joint Logistic Services Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Percentage compliance 
with DOD codification
requirements

Percentage compliance 
with environmental
services project
requirements

Percentage tonnes of 
ammunition disposed
in accordance with dis-
posal plan

Percentage of procure-
ments of commercial
vehicles for the DOD
versus total requests

Percentage courses suc-
cessfully completed
SANDF requirement

Percentage procure-
ment requests satisfied
versus DOD require-
ment

89%

73.5%

100% (1000 Tonnes)

96%

93%

90%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

90%

Change from RAMP to 
Refurbishment Programme
delayed projects

The underperformance was 
due to the extension of the
environmental contingent lia-
bility to include all environ-
mentally related rehabilitation
liabilities on military training
areas

Environmental involvements 
in the planning and execution
of exercises has increased with
the promulgation of the force
employment requirements   

In additional to this, the 
contractor is awaiting appro-
val for the explosive work-
place license for Madimbo
from Department of Labour

The codification system used 
by the DOD is not fully com-
pliant with the requirements
of  NATO ACod P and needs
to be replaced 

Inadequate structure,  staff 
shortages and non-compliant
Codification System

Shortage of project manage-
ment, quality assurance and
technically qualified codifiers

Inadequate facilities (office 
space)

Achieved

4% of requirements were 
cancelled

The cancellation of requests 
originates from the end users

218 Learning Programmes 
(LPs) were planned, 204 LPs
were presented in which 3467
learners were trained and 52
were found not competent

14 LPs were cancelled due to 
students not reporting for
courses

Achieved
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 11.1:   Joint Logistic Services Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Total stock verification
of items found correct
versus items on charge
within test site

80%80% Achieved

Effect of Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.     

The achievement of the Joint Logistic Services' Outputs has contributed positively to the General Support Programme's 
Purpose to provide general support capabilities and services to the Department. 

S U B P R O G R A M M E :
C O M M A N D   A N D   M A N A G E M E N T
I N F O R M A T I O N   S Y S T E M S

O v e r v i e w

During the FY2010/11, the CMIS Division continued to pro-
vide viable Information Communication Technology (ICT)
services and a Joint Information Warfare Strategic Direction
Capability to the DOD, in accordance with its Annual
Performance Plan. This was achieved despite funding, infra-
structure and personnel deficiencies.  

The CMIS Division provided support to the 2010 FIFA
World Cup by rendering a Very Small Aperture Terminal
(VSAT) (Two Way Satellite Ground Station) capability for
national Video Conferencing.

The Free Open Source Software (FOSS) Desktop and Server
(Office Application) recommendation, that forms part of the
FOSS feasibility within the DOD, has been completed and
approved.  The DOD is now in a better position to make deci-
sions on further platforms for the future.  The preliminary
design of the Electronic Content Management System
(ECMS) for Defence Intelligence has been completed and is
ready for implementation during the next financial year.

The CMIS Division managed to rollout the Integrated
Communication Experimental Network (ICENET) in the
DOD during the financial year. A total of 338 DOD members
are now connected both internally and externally to the DOD.
To protect the DOD systems and users, a Protection Against
Malicious Code (PAMC) evaluation has been concluded with
results documented in a System Prospectus.

The funding for the essential upgrade of the DOD Central
Server has been activated through a re-allocation of funds
from projects that have a lesser priority on the Defence
Enterprise Information System Master Plan (DEIS MP).  The
process for the purchase of a new central server has been ini-
tiated and the delivery is expected in the next financial year.

As reported previously, the lack of adequate storage space for
the DOD Archives, combined with the moratorium placed on

the destruction of records, is still an obstacle as far as achieve-
ment safekeeping of DOD records in the DOD Archives is
concerned.  The CMIS Division is in consultation with the
Logistics Division and National Department of Public Works
(NDPW) for additional archive storage space.  

The problem with regard to the poor infrastructure at the
facility where the DOD's mainframe is located was also
addressed in the previous report and remains a concern. If the
infrastructure is not upgraded or adequately repaired, the ser-
viceability and availability of the DOD's mainframe within
this complex may be questionable.  

The new CMIS Division force design and structure that was
submitted to the Minister for approval was referred back to
the CMIS Division for clarification and amendments during
the year.  The updated proposal was resubmitted and
approved by the acting C SANDF in January 2011 and later,
was submitted to the Secretary for Defence for further action.
The continued shortage of personnel in most sections of the
CMIS Division will only be addreassed after the final
approval of the structure. 

The continued shortfall in funding of the DEIS Master Plan
resulted in the extension of the realisation of the Master Plan.
This may result in some technologies being "obsolete" before
being implemented. The value that the DOD ultimately
realises from these projects may therefore not be in accor-
dance with expectations.

Difficulties were also experienced during the last quarter of
the year with the obsolete telecommunication equipment,
local area network data, voice cable infrastructure and power
outages. New equipment needs to be purchased, to avoid pos-
sible poor service delivery from the CMIS Division that may
have a negative impact on the DOD.  An increase in the base-
line allocation of the Division will, however, be required to
adequately address this requirement in the next financial year. 

Despite the challenges experienced, the CMIS Division man-
aged to successfully execute its objectives. The challenges
and risks have been managed to ensure that all planned out-
puts were achieved.  The Division will endeavor to continue
to provide viable ICT Services and a Joint Information
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Warfare Strategic Direction Capability for the DOD.

P u r p o s e   o f   t h e   P r o g r a m m e

Command and Management Information Systems is a sub-
programme of the General Support Programme and is to pro-
vide command and management information and related
services to the department.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

Provide the department with key information and communi-
cation systems by

Ensuring that the mainframe service is available 98 per
cent of the time and the Wide Area Network 95 per cent
of the time.

Providing Information and Communication Systems
solutions in accordance with the Defence Enterprise

Information Systems (DEIS) Master Plan, as per the
programme and project milestones and associated deliv-
erables.

S u b p r o g r a m m e

Command and Management Information Systems pro-
vides command and management information systems and
related services to the department. Funding is distributed
according to the number and size of mainframe systems, the
communication infrastructure operated by the department,
and maintenance and upgrading requirements.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l

Table 11.2 below reports of the achievement of the outputs,
performance indicators and targets as specified in the DOD
Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 11.2:    Command and Management Information Systems Output Detail for FY2010/11

Integrated
Information
and Commu-
nication
Systems (ICS)
solutions and
enablers for
the DOD

Supported
DOD ICS and
Joint
Command
and Control
Product
System
Capability

Level of compliance
with the DOD ICS
Project Portfolio (DEIS
Master Plan) wrt ICS
solutions 

Minimum percentage
availability of ICS sup-
port capability 

Percentage availability
of all corporate tele-
communications and
information technolo-
gy product systems
and products

87%

99.94% availability of
mainframe service at
all times 

99.42% availability of 
the Wide Area
Network at all times

98.33% availability of 
the DOD tele-commu-
nication backbone at
all times

90%

98% availability of 
mainframe service
at all times

95% availability of 
the Wide Area
Network at all times

98% availability of 
the DOD tele-com-
munication back-
bone at all times

Under achievement.  Funds 
were reallocated from the
DEIS MP to the upgrade of
the DOD Central Server and
this project caused deviation
in achievement of projects on
the DEIS MP.  When the pro-
curement of the Central
Server did not materialise in
this FY, the expenditure and
planned activities did not take
place on the DEIS MP

The Electronic Content 
Management System (ECMS)
project was delayed 

Achieved

Achieved.  The Wider Area 
Network was reconfigured in
order to implement redun-
dancy in terms of connectivity

Achieved 
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Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 11.2:  Command and Management Information Systems Output Detail for FY2010/11 (continued)

Joint
Information
Warfare (JIW)
Strategic
Direction
Capability for
the DOD

Percentage Implemen-
tation of JIW policies,
strategic plans and
controls in the DOD

Minimum percentage 
secured Information
System Security (ISS)
solutions provided for
DOD ICS Projects1

according to require-
ments at al times

30%

80% of all requirements 
were satisfied 

30%

80% 

Achieved  

Achieved  

Effect of Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.       

The achievement of the Command and Management Information Systems' Outputs has contributed positively to the 
General Support Programme's Purpose to provide general support capabilities and services to the department.

S U B P R O G R A M M E :
M I L I T A R Y   P O L I C E

O v e r v i e w

The Military Police (MP) Division has achieved most of its
objectives successfully, despite structural challenges and
budget constraints. In striving towards a crime-free military
environment, the MP Division involved Services and
Divisions in crime-combating exercises and established an
anti-criminality capability to orchestrate the management of
crime in the DOD.  Although service delivery to DOD clients
remained a priority, MP members were also involved in
external and internal deployments.

In the reporting year, a total of 260 members was provided
for deployment in operations.  In the DRC 134 members
were deployed as part of Operation MISTRAL, 10 as part of
Operation THEBE, and two as part of an advisory team. A
further 10 members were deployed in Sudan, while 104 were
deployed internally during operations and exercises.  Of the
total number, 26 were female of which seven were deployed
in command positions. 

In April 2010, the Provost Marshal General led a delegation
to visit the USA to engage with the USA military police in
order to discuss the exchange of training opportunities
between the two countries. Training slots on their criminal
investigation training programme and basic special investiga-
tor course during FY2011/12 were secured.

During the opening of Parliament and the 2010 FIFA World
Cup, the MP Division assisted by rendering security support
during  and provided escort services to the DOD as required.
A total of 654 deliberate crime prevention operations were

conducted jointly with the SAPS and traffic departments
throughout the country, ranging from roadblocks and check-
points to searches and targeting of identified hot spots. 

A total of 5 056 criminal and disciplinary cases was carried
over from FY2009/10 and 2 166 new cases were reported.  Of
the reported cases 2 339 were finalized, however, 4 883 dock-
ets will be carried over to FY2011/12.  Liaison forums were
established between the MP Division and the Legal Services
Division to ensure contribution to watertight cases resulting
in the speeding up and successful finalisation of cases by both
military and civilian courts.

The monetary value of assets that were reported stolen or lost
during FY2010/11 was Rm1.4 and assets to the value of R349
798 were recovered. A total of 261 DOD members were
arrested, about 200 are uniform and 61 civilian members.
Most of them were detained at SAPS facilities because of a
lack of holding cell capacity at a number of MP structures.

The MP Division continued to play a critical role in the
Finance Management Division's upgrading of security meas-
ures at cash offices nationwide and in evaluating security
measures of cash offices in the deployment areas outside the
RSA; ie DRC, CAR and Sudan.  31 crime prevention forums
were held with military communities in different areas of
responsibility to encourage the understanding of the crime
picture and to address the levels of crime.

The Division participated in the Africa Aerospace and
Defence Exhibition 2010 held at AFB Ysterplaat in
September 2010, with the slogan 'mobilise the youth today to
sustain the aerospace and defence capability of tomorrow',
which was also aimed at creating MP awareness and target-
ing the MSDS interest.  Furthermore, in October 2010, the

1 No ICT project can be released if it is not 100% ISS secured.
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MP Division hosted an Annual Anti-criminality Conference
with the outcome that SITA will integrate data systems dur-
ing FY2011/12 in order to accommodate reporting on all
identified transactional systems. 

Despite the challenges experienced, the MP Division
remained focused and committed to rendering an effective
policing service to the DOD.

P u r p o s e   o f   t h e   P r o g r a m m e

The Military Police is a subprogramme of the General
Support Programme and provides a military policing capabil-
ity to the department.

O b j e c t i v e s   a n d   M e a s u r e s

Reduce the number of new criminal cases under investigation
by the military police by 10 per cent a year, and sustaining 1
provost company for deployment, 4 regional head-quarters,
22 area offices and 22 detachments for investigations and
crime prevention, and 2 military correctional facilities.

O u t p u t   D e t a i l

Table 11.3 provides details of the Military Police outputs,
performance indicators and targets as specified in the DOD
Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Output Performance 
Indicator

Actual Target 
Achievement

Annual 
Target

Reasons for Over/ Under
Achievement

Table 11.3:    Military Police Output Detail for FY2010/11

Military
Policing (MP)
Capability to
the DOD

Military
Policing
Combat
Capability

Number of military
policing service units

Reducing the number 
of criminal cases under
investigation by the
MP that go to court

Number of combat-
ready provost compa-
nies available accord-
ing to force require-
ments

Four regional head-
quarters

22 Area offices

22 Detachments

Two military correc-
tional facilities

4.6%

One

Four regional head-
quarters

22 Area offices

22 Detachments

Two military correc-
tional facilities

10%

One

Achieved

Achieved 

Achieved 

Achieved 

Most cases are awaiting court 
decision for finalisation. 

Achieved 

Effect of Subprogramme Output Achievement on ENE Vote 21 Purpose, Objectives and Measures.        

The achievement of the Military Police's Outputs has contributed positively to the General Support Programme's Purpose 
to provide general support capabilities and services to the department.

annrep 1011 1 to 148.qxp  2011/10/10  11:12  Page 93



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

94

annrep 1011 1 to 148.qxp  2011/10/10  11:12  Page 94



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1 95

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

PART  3:  ORGANISATIONAL  STRUCTURE
AND  HUMAN  RESOURCES

Chapter  12

O r g a n i s a t i o n a l
S t r u c t u r e   a n d   H u m a n

R e s o u r c e s
O v e r v i e w

In pursuance of the new growth path which places people's
employment at the centre of Governments' economic policy,
the Department of Defence (DOD) continued during the
FY2010/11 with the implementation of its Overarching
Human Resource Strategy.  The strategy aims to ensure an
appropriately composed, empowered and managed defence
human resource complement to execute the DOD's mandate
and mission. The emphasis of implementation remained the
ongoing rejuvenation of the South African National Defence
Force's (SANDF) human resources, the ongoing configura-
tion of the DOD's human resource composition to meet oper-
ational requirements and the development of the DOD's
human capital, including youth development initiatives
embedded in the Military Skills Development System
(MSDS) and National Youth Service (NYS).

A total of 4 296 young members were appointed in the
MSDS.  The sustained implementation of the MSDS has led
to 57% of Privates and equivalent ranks in the Regulars hav-
ing complied with the ideal rank-age norm of between 18 and
24 years, at the end of FY2010/11.  

As part of the DOD's continued efforts to rejuvenate, 145
Uniformed Personnel and 43 Public Service Act Personnel
exited voluntarily by means of the Mobility Exit Mechanism
and Employee-Initiated Severance Package, respectively.
Besides facilitating the DOD's rejuvenation efforts, these vol-
untary exits also gave further impetus to improve the demo-
graphic representation within the DOD.  At the end of
FY2010/11, the full-time human resource composition of the
Department comprised 71% Africans, 13% Coloureds, 1%
Indians and 15% Whites.  The total gender composition was
27% women and 73% men.   

During FY2010/11, the acquisition and retention of scarce

combat, technical and professional skills and experience con-
tinued to be a challenge. The DOD continued, however, to
pursue new retention incentives for the above scarce skills
categories, including the implementation of a new Technical
Allowance.  

Besides the intakes for the MSDS, the DOD executed the first
intake for the new NYS. The seven week foundation phase
pilot project provided for 500 young people who received
training in amongst others, personal discipline, civic educa-
tion, patriotism and voluntarism. Together with the MSDS,
the NYS remained core Departmental initiatives to prepare
the youth for careers either within or outside the DOD. 

In order to give further impetus to human capital develop-
ment, the DOD's Human Resource Development Strategy
was finalized and is in the final stages of approval.
Concomitant with the development of the DOD's Works
Capability to maintain its own facilities, a reskilling pro-
gramme has also been embarked on to build capacity within
the SANDF for the development of qualified professionals
and artisans who will form the core of the future Defence
Works Capability. At the end of FY2010/11, there were 673
members under training with subsequent intakes having been
planned for the coming financial years.     

In summary, during FY2010/11 the DOD continued to pursue
a human resource composition of appropriate quality, quanti-
ty, composition and cost, accountable human resource admin-
istration and meeting its commitments in pursuance of
Government's human resource policy and strategy. 

Note:  In cases where the added total differs from the
indicated total in the table, it will be due to the rounding
off of figures. 

The current DOD Organisational Design is presented in
Figure 4.1 below.
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Ministry of Defence and Military Veterans
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Defence
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Defence
International

Affairs 

Internal 
Audit 

Division

Defence Enterprise
Information Systems

Management
Division

Human
Resources
Division

Defence Legal
Services
Division

Defence Foreign
Relations
Division

Joint
Operations

Division

SA
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SA
Air Force

SA
Navy

SA
Military
Health
Service

Defence
Intelligence

Division

Corporate 
Staff 

Division

Military Policy,
Strategy and

Planning 

Defence
Reserves
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Military 
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Command &
Management
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Level 0

Level 1
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Department of Defence

DOD Central 

SA National Defence Force

Figure 12.1     Organisational Structure of the Department of Defence for FY2010/11

Defence
Inspectorate

Division

Budget Holder

SA Army

SA Air Force

SA Navy

SA Military Health Services

Defence Legal Services Division

Defence Corporate Communication

Defence Reserves

Defence Foreign Relations Division

Corporate Staff Division

Military Policy, Strategy and Planning

Planned

40 280

11 261

6 641

8 871

366

69

30

107

376

25

Actual

40 286

11 192

7 508

9 001

340

55

25

102

412

23

Table 12.1:    DOD's Average Planned and Actual Strength as at 31 March 2011

M A C R O - PP E R S O N N E L   S T R E N G T H

The Macro-Personnel Strength of the DOD as at 31 March
2011 was 70 134, excluding 8 911 MSDS and 26 147 Re-

serve members. The planned average strength budgeted for
the FY2010/11 is compared with the actual strength at the end
of the financial year, in Table 12.1 below:
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Budget Holder

Human Resources Division

Ministry of Defence

Chief of the SANDF Office

Defence Inspectorate Division

Chaplain General

Defence Policy, Strategy and Planning Division

Financial Management Division

Secretary for Defence 

Defence International Affairs

Logistic Division

Command and Management Information System Division

Military Police Division

Defence Intelligence Division*

Joint Operations Division

Defence Material Division

Department of Military Veterans

Total

Planned

1 683

31

16

137

24

98

867

40

18

2 341

173

1 958

752

1 858

75

0 

78 097

Actual

1 700

40

13

142

22

87

871

35

17

2 646

146

1 753

768

1 775

73

13

79 045

Table 12.1:   DOD's Average Planned and Actual Strength as at 31 March 2011 (continued)

2001/02     2002/03     2003/04      2004/05     2005/06     2006/07     2007/08     2008/09      2009/10      2010/11

80 000

79 000

78 000

77 000

76 000

75 000

74 000

73 000

72 000

Figure 12.2   Department of Defence Year-end Strength as at 31 March 2011

Year-end Strength

The DOD right-sizing and changes in the year-end strengths since the FY2001/02 are indicated in Figure 2 below:

* Support Personnel.
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S E L E C T E D   P E R F O R M A N C E   I N D I C A T O R S

Table 12.2 provides the achievement of the selected performance indicators and targets during the past three years and reports
on the achievement for the year under review in accordance with the Strategic Plan for FY2010/11.

Indicator

Total number of active 
Reserves

Number of external operations 
each year

Average number of personnel 
deployed daily in external
operations2

Number of internal operations 
in support of other Govern-
ment departments per year

Number of person days used 
during internal operations

Number of joint, inter-depart-
mental and multinational mili-
tary exercises conducted per
year

Number of Military Skills 
Development members in the
system per year

Number of flying hours in sup-
port of operations each year

Number of multi-national 
exercise flying hours4

Number of sea hours on patrol 
in South African maritime
zones per year

Number of health care activi-
ties per year

Performance

2009/10

13 352

12

3 024

5

156 381

9

8 833

9500

12 945

-

Table 12.2:  DOD Selected Performance Indicators for the FY2010/11

2008/09

19 763

9

2 931

6

231 608

10

6 736

11 099

10 478

-

2007/08

12 583

11

2 698

3

515 516

10

4 677

12 271

9 648

-

2006/07

13 050

14

4 810

3

-

16

4 710

9 788

9 949

-

Past Current
Programme

Landward 
Defence

Force Employ-
ment

Force Employ-
ment

Force Employ-
ment

Force Employ-
ment

Force Employ-
ment

Landward 
Defence

Air Defence

Maritime 
Defence

Military 
Health
Support

Actual
Achievement

2010/11

12 362

5

2 238

5

556 099

6

7 983

15 265

0

16 897

13 865

Projection
2010/11

13 5001

12

2 102

5

515 516

83

11 140

9 500

10 000

2 086 002

1 The estimate of 31 500 active Reserves is the projected number of Reserves in the department's database, however, the
actual Projection for FY2010/11 was 13 500  which reflects the number of Reserves called up during the financial year.

2 For every member deployed in operations, there are two members being prepared for rotation. The actual number of mem-
bers involved in deployment is therefore three times the number indicated in the table, to allow for sufficient "depth" of force
preparation and readiness.

3 J Ops Div was responsible for eight JIM exercises and the SAAF for one. 
4 A combined Air Transport exercise involving the South African and Namibian Air Forces and the Lesotho Air Wing which is 

an Air Force unique exercise, however, did not materialize during FY2010/11 as expected.
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Main Services

Military Skills Devel-
opment System. The
MSDS will provide qual-
ified military practition-
ers who will enhance the
operational readiness of
the SANDF (deployment
in external and internal
operations), by rejuve-
nating Regulars and
Reserves and granting
development and
empowerment opportu-
nities to the SA Youth.

Balanced Scorecard 
(BSC). Implementation
of performance manage-
ment in the DOD by
means of the BSC
methodology in order to
empower leadership to
make informed decisions
and enhance visibility of
performance

Primary
Clients

DOD (HR reju-
venation of
Regulars and
Reserves)

DOD 
Leadership

Standard of Service

The planned
strength of 5 570 will
enter into service to
ensure the rejuvena-
tion of Regulars and
the Reserves.

Approximately 
1 350 empowered
MSDS members join
the Reserves to
improve the conven-
tional capability of
the SANDF

Top three scorecards
integrated into DOD
2011/12 Strategic
Business Plan

Secondary
Clients

Youth of the
RSA.

Public and 
Private
Enterprises
with members
exiting the
DOD after two
years of service

Members and 
employees of
the DOD
(Personnel gov-
erned by the
Defence Act
and Public
Service Act
respectively)

Actual Achievement Against 
Standards

4 296 entered into service to
ensure the rejuvenation of
Regulars and the Reserves.

Approximately 708 empowered 
MSDS members joined the
Reserves to improve the conven-
tional capability of the SANDF

Quantity
Top three scorecards aligned with
National Treasury requirements,
the DOD's Electoral and sus-
tained mandate. Fully integrated
into the DOD 2011/12 Strategic
Business Plan.

Quality
Level 1 Strategic Business Plans
for 2011/12 approved in Balanced
Scorecard format

Table 12.3:   Main Services Provided and Standards

S E R V I C E   D E L I V E R Y   I M P R O V E M E N T   P L A N

Type of Arrangement

The recruitment  target set for the
SANDF is met in terms of quality
and quantity

The members who exit the 
SANDF join the Reserves after
Reserves briefings

The young school leavers are pro-
vided with both military and life
skills before leaving the SANDF

The service contracts are issued to 
those members who qualify to sup-
port the drive to rejuvenate the
Regulars and Reserves

Department of Treasury involved in 
the full integration of the BSC

Primary Clients

DOD (HR rejuvena-
tion of Regulars and
Reserves)

DOD Leadership

Secondary Clients

Youth of the RSA
Public and Private
Enterprises with mem-
bers exiting the DOD
after two years of 
service

Members and employ-
ees of the DOD
(Personnel governed
by the Defence Act and
Public Service Act
respectively)

Actual Achievements

That the recruiting target set
for the SANDF is 1 330 less
than the quantity but the
quality standard remain the
same.

Development of organisational 
performance and individual
performance other than senior
management (post level 12
and lower) to align based on
Balanced Scorecard 
methodology.

Table 12.4:    Consultation arrangements with clients
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Access Strategies

The DOD embarks on structured recruitment 
drives for school leavers to enter the MSDS, uti-
lizing physical recruitment visits and lectures at
schools and by means of television, newspapers,
periodicals, radio and the internet.

Partial automation of the DOD's BSC's

Actual Achievements

4 296 entered into service to ensure the rejuvenation of Regulars and 
the Reserves.

Approximately 708 MSDS members joined the Reserves to improve 
the conventional capability of the SANDF

Automation of DOD's Balanced Scorecard undergoing testing and 
evaluation.

Table 12.5:    Service delivery access strategies

Types of Information Tools

Information is provided through physical
recruitment visits to schools, including lectures,
and by means of television, brochures, pam-
phlets, periodicals, radio and the internet, open
days and Commanding Officers' briefings, once
in service.

Policies and directives

DOD HR intranet website

SA Soldier

DOD Information Bulletins

Public Service Act Personnel Induction and 
Reorientation Programmes 

Empowerment Workshops for Commanders 

Actual Achievements

Information tools utilized optimally

Promulgated and updated annually.

Updated weekly with information about DOD HR management 
notices, developments and activities.

Official DOD monthly publication that includes articles focusing on 
DOD HR activities.

Published to inform personnel about HR-related developments with
in the DOD.

Scheduled programmes conducted twice per year to introduce newly 
appointed and serving Public Service Act Personnel to the organisa-
tion and functioning of the Department at large.

Ongoing workshops presented to empower Commanders in the 
management of Labour Relations.

Table 12.6:    Service information tool

Complaints Mechanism

New Individual Grievances Regulations 
promulgated by MOD on 30 June 2010

Actual Achievements

The new process is fully supported by the Grievance IT System and 
available throughout the DOD

Table 12.7:    Complaints mechanism
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E X P E N D I T U R E

Programme

Administration

Landward Defence

Air Defence

Maritime Defence

Military Health Support

Defence Intelligence

General Support

Force Employment

TOTAL

Total
Expenditure

(Rand)

3 452 849 382

9 418 620 091

5 343 217 221

2 371 665 782

3 150 995 306

632 933 903

3 678 036 045

2 265 456 737

30 313 774 467  

Table 12.8:   Personnel Costs by Programme, FY 2010/11

Personnel
Expenditure

(Rand)

1 148 220 104

7 334 288 903

2 364 473 592

1 385 130 049

2 092 896 619

213 150 516

989 033 605

1 190 430 736

16 717 624 125 

Training
Expenditure

(Rand)

13 361 194

29 594 010

31 770 547

7 311 532

9 950 342

2 530 556

21 020 212

3 438 407

118 976 799

Professional
and Special

Services
(Rand)

42 546 867

24 669 089

292 218 656

25 329 461

65 816 475

2 957 564

244 868 380

16 639 092

715 045 584

Personnel
Cost as a

Percent of
Total

Expenditure

33%

78%

44%

58%

66%

34%

27%

53%

55%

Average
Personnel
Cost per

Employee
(Rand)

289 224 

182 056 

211 265 

184 487 

232 518 

277 540 

217 609 

670 665 

211 495 

Note: Personnel expenditure includes payments to the value of Rm120 592 272 which were made to Households in respect of attrition. In
addition, the Total Expenditure includes Special Defence Account to the value of Rm3 010 319 990.

Salary Bands

Senior Management

Senior Professionals

Highly Skilled Supervision

Highly Skilled Production

Skilled

Lower Skilled

Military Skills Development System

Interns

TOTAL

Average Personnel Cost 
per Employee (Rand)

961 944

1 374 957

421 580

236 637

174 404

86 530

72 704

62 294

211 495

Percentage of Total
Personnel Cost

1.508%

0.757%

22.681%

33.731%

36.363%

1.082%

3.875%

0.004%

100.000%

Personnel Expenditure
(Rand)

252 029 204

126 496 075

3 791 691 323

5 639 056 211

6 079 015 489

180 847 562

647 865 326

622 935

16 717 624 125

Table 12.9:    Personnel Costs by Salary Bands FY2010/11
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Salary Bands

Senior 
Management

Senior 
Professionals

Highly Skilled 
Supervision

Highly Skilled 
Production

Skilled

Lower Skilled

Interns

TOTAL

Amount

124 239 039

62 078 353 

2 432 083 536 

3 729 497 055 

4 019 956 685 

114 844 154 

492 987 

10 483 191 809 

Table 12.10:   Salaries, Overtime, Home Owners Allowance and Medical Assistance by Programme
FY2010/11

Salaries
as 

a % of
Personnel

Cost 

49%

49%

64%

66%

66%

64%

79%

63%

Amount

1 075 724

28 147 830 

127 178 942 

112 617 774 

123 357 196 

1 460 892 

0 

393 838 358 

Overtime
as a % of
Personnel

Cost

0.4%

22.3%

3.4%

2.0%

2.0%

0.8%

0.0%

2.4%

Amount

0

0 

37 805 018 

121 281 019 

164 777 382 

13 530 941 

0 

337 394 359 

HOA as 
a % of

Personnel
Cost

0.0%

0.0%

1.0%

2.2%

2.7%

7.5%

0.0%

2.0%

Amount

0

0 

3 165 988 

29 100 096 

43 732 726 

11 650 962 

0 

87 649 771 

Medical
Assistance
as a % of
Personnel

Cost

0.0%

0.0%

0.1%

0.5%

0.7%

6.4%

0.0%

0.5%

Salaries Overtime Home Owners
Allowance

Medical Assistance

Programme

Administration

Landward 
Defence

Air Defence

Maritime 
Defence

Military Health 
Support

Defence 
Intelligence

General 
Support

Force 
Employment

TOTAL

Amount

758 835 450 

4 844 589 168

1 511 183 477 

902 980 603 

1 325 336 146 

154 008 262 

677 463 251 

308 795 451 

10 483 191 809  

Salaries
as 

a % of
Personnel

Cost 

66%

66%

64%

65%

63%

72%

68%

26%

63%

Amount

3 268 955 

43 895 738

6 248 690 

29 748 373 

136 441 440

283 892 

7 650 700 

166 300 570 

393 838 358 

Overtime
as a % of
Personnel

Cost

0.3%

0.6%

0.3%

2.1%

6.5%

0.1%

0.8%

14.0%

2.4%

Amount

18 621 964 

179 394 572

47 408 958 

28 664 136 

29 648 723 

3 702 628 

22 553 678 

7 399 700 

337 394 359 

HOA as 
a % of

Personnel
Cost

1.6%

2.4%

2.0%

2.1%

1.4%

1.7%

2.3%

0.6%

2.0%

Amount

13 006 640 

32 140 379

14 396 152 

12 581 910 

7 872 488 

558 623 

5 893 589 

1 199 990 

87 649 771 

Medical
Assistance
as a % of
Personnel

Cost

1.1%

0.4%

0.6%

0.9%

0.4%

0.3%

0.6%

0.1%

0.5%

Salaries Overtime Home Owners
Allowance

Medical Assistance

Table 12.11: Salaries, Overtime, Home Owners Allowance and Medical Assistance by Salary Bands
FY2010/11
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E M P L O Y M E N T   A N D   V A C A N C I E S

Programme

Defence Administration
Landward Defence
Air Defence
Maritime Defence
Military Health Services
Defence Intelligence
General Support
Force Employment
TOTAL

Number of Posts Filled
Additional to the

Establishment
1 215 
3 068 
1 626 
-333 
862 
318 
877 
651 

8 284 

Table 12.12:    Employment and vacancies by Programme as at 31 March 2011

Number of
Employees

3 970 
40 286 
11 192 
7 508 
9 001 

768 
4 545 
1 775 

79 045 

Number of
Posts

5185 
43 354 
12 818 
7 175 
9 863 
1 086 
5 422 
2 426 

87 329 

Vacancy 
Rate

23.43%
7.08%

12.69%
-4.64%
8.74%

29.28%
16.17%
26.83%
9.49%

Salary Bands

Senior Management
Senior Professionals
Highly Skilled Supervision
Highly Skilled Production
Skilled
Lower Skilled
Military Skills Development System
Interns
TOTAL

Number of Posts Filled
Additional to the

Establishment
41 

200 
1 264 
9 262 

-2 443 
8 881 

-8 911 
-10 

8 284 

Table 12.13:    Employment and vacancies by Salary Bands as at 31 March 2011

Number of
Employees

262 
92 

8 994 
23 830 
34 856 
2 090 
8 911 

10 
79 045 

Number of
Posts

303 
292 

10 258 
33 092 
32 413 
10 971 

0 
0 

87 329 

Vacancy 
Rate

13.53%
68.49%
12.32%
27.99%
-7.54%
80.95%
0.00%
0.00%
9.49%

Note: Posts refer only to approved production posts on the post establishment of which only 78 097 were funded for FY2010/11.

Note: Posts refer only to approved posts captured on the post establishment.  There are no designated MSDS posts as MSDS members
are placed in training posts at the commencement of their training and only after training are they utilised in approved production
posts.
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Critical Occupation

Air Space Control
Aircrew
Anti-Aircraft
Artillery
Combat Navy
Engineer
Health Professional*
Nursing
Technical
TOTAL

Number of Posts Filled
Additional to the

Establishment
-11 
101 
63 

-206 
45 
37 

241 
-130 
947 

1 087 

Table 12.14:   Employment and vacancies by Critical Occupation as at 31 March 2011

Number of
Employees

548 
517 
907 

1 498 
341 
140 

1 404 
1 785 
6 788 

13 928 

Number of
Posts

537 
618 
970 

1 292 
386 
177 

1 645 
1 655 
7 735 

15 015 

Vacancy 
Rate

-2.05%
16.34%
6.49%

-15.94%
11.66%
20.90%
14.65%
-7.85%
12.24%
7.24%

Note: Occupations included in the Health Professional category are Medical Practitioners, Pharmacists, Specialists and Ancillary Health.
Posts refer only to approved production posts captured on the post establishment.  There are currently 1 138 MSDS under training
of which 270 are in the Artillery occupation resulting in a figure of 206 members additional to the establishment.

J O B   E V A L U A T I O N

Salary Bands

Senior Management

Senior Professionals

Highly Skilled Supervision

Highly Skilled Production

Skilled

Lower Skilled

Military Skills Development 
System

Interns

TOTAL

Table 12.15:    Job Evaluation for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Number
of Posts

303

292

10,258

33,092

32,413

10,971

0

0

87,329

Number of
Jobs

Evaluated

33

0

134

1,258

1,186

783

0

0

3,394

% of Posts
Evaluated
by Salary

Band

10.89%

0.00%

1.31%

3.80%

3.66%

7.14%

0.00%

0.00%

3.89%

Number

0

0

0

3

4

0

0

0

7

% of Posts
Evaluated

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.24%

0.34%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.21%

Number

0

0

0

2

0

0

0

0

2

% of Posts
Evaluated

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.16%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.06%

Posts Upgraded Posts Downgraded

Beneficiaries

Female

Male

TOTAL

Employees with a disability

TOTAL

0

0

0

0

Table 12.16:  Profile of Employees Whose Salary Positions were Upgraded due to Their Posts being
Upgraded for the Period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010

Indian

0

0

0

African

0

0

0

Coloured

0

0

0

White

0

0

0
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Employees whose salary level exceed the grade determined by job evaluation 0

Table 12.17:    Employees whose salary level exceed the grade determined by job evaluation as at 31
March 2011 (in terms of PSR 1.V.C.3)

Profile of employees whose salary
level exceed the grade determined

by job evaluation

Female

Male

TOTAL

TOTAL

0

0

0

Table 12.18:    Profile of employees whose salary level exceed the grade determined by job evaluation
as at 31 March 2011 (in terms of PSR 1.V.C.3)

Indian

0

0

0

African

0

0

0

Coloured

0

0

0

White

0

0

0

E M P L O Y M E N T   C H A N G E S

Salary Bands

Minister/Deputy/Advisors
Senior Management Service Band D
Senior Management Service Band C
Senior Management Service Band B
Senior Management Service Band A
Senior Professionals
Highly Skilled Supervision
Highly Skilled Production
Skilled
Lower Skilled
Military Skills Development System
Interns
TOTAL

Turnover
Rate

0.00%
50.00%
-7.14%
-7.69%
-7.61%
3.80%

-2.99%
-1.68%
-2.19%
10.99%
38.13%
7.14%
2.91%

Table 12.19:    Annual Turnover Rates by Salary Band for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Appointments and
Transfers into the

Department
0
1
1
2
0
9

185
232
170
316

4 296
9

5 221

Number of
Employees as at

1 April 20010
5
2

14
52

184
79

8 837
23 218
33 286
2 247
8 874

14
76 812

Terminations and
Transfers out of
the Department

0
0
2
6

14
6

449
622
900
69

912
8

2 988
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Critical Occupation

Air Space Control
Aircrew
Anti-Aircraft
Artillery
Combat Navy
Engineer
Health Professional
Nursing
Technical
TOTAL

Turnover
Rate

6.46%
-1.71%
1.45%

-3.04%
-2.97%
-0.67%
0.72%
4.43%
0.06%
0.52%

Table 12.20:  Annual Turnover Rates by Critical Occupation for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March
2011

Appointments and
Transfers into the

Department
48
9

70
111

0
10

249
132
189
818

Number of
Employees as at

1 April 2010
557
525
897

1 547
337
149

1 384
1 694
6 479

13 569

Terminations and
Transfers out of
the Department

12
18
57

158
10
11

239
57

185
747

Termination Type
Death
Resignation
Contract Expiry
Transfer
Dismiss - Ops Requirement
Dismiss- Ill Health
Dismiss - Misconduct
Discharge - Incapacity
Retirement
MEM/EISP/VSP
Total Number of Employees who left as a % of the Total Employment as at 
31 March 2011

% of Total
19.58%
13.96%
33.23%
2.44%
0.03%
3.41%
5.22%
0.10%

15.73%
6.29%
3.78%

Table 12.21a:  Reasons why staff left the department for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Number
585
417
993
73
1

102
156

3
470
188

2 988

Note:  541 MSDS members are included in the total appointment figure for all critical occupations.

Salary Band

Senior Management
Highly skilled supervision
Highly skilled production
Skilled
TOTAL

Number of Packages
Approved

6
77
42
20

145

Table 12.21b:    Mobility Exit Mechanism Packages Granted for the Period 1 April 2010 to 31 March
2011 - Uniformed Personnel
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Table 12.21c:    Employee Initiated Severance Packages Granted for the Period 1 April 2010 to 31 March
2011 - Public Service Act Personnel

Critical Occupation

Air Space Control
Aircrew
Anti-Aircraft
Artillery
Combat Navy
Engineer
Health Professional
Nursing
Technical
TOTAL

Salary Level Promotions
as a % of Employees by

Occupation
15.98%
12.19%
9.36%
3.94%

23.15%
36.24%
10.33%
6.73%

12.15%
10.86%

Table 12.22:  Promotions by Critical Occupation for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Promotions to
Another Salary Level

89
64
84
61
78
54

143
114
787

1 474

Number of
Employees as at 

1 April 2010
557
525
897

1 547
337
149

1 384
1 694
6 479

13 569

Salary Band

Senior Management
Senior Professionals
Highly Skilled Supervision
Highly Skilled Production
Skilled
Lower Skilled
Military Skills Development System
Interns
TOTAL

Salary Level Promotions
as a % of Employees by

Occupation
3.89%

11.39%
9.68%

10.47%
13.67%
1.47%
0.00%
0.00%

10.27%

Table 12.23:    Promotions by Salary Band for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Promotions to
Another Salary Level

10
9

855
2 431
4 551

33
0
0

7 889

Number of
Employees as at 

1 April 2010
257
79

8 837
23 218
33 286
2 247
8 874

14
76 812

Salary Band

Highly Skilled Supervision
Highly Skilled Production
Skilled
Lower Skilled
TOTAL

Number of Packages
Approved

7
25
10
1

43
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E M P L O Y M E N T   E Q U I T Y

Occupational Category
(SASCO)

Legislators, Senior Officials 
and Managers

Professionals

Technicians and Associate 
Professionals

Clerks

Service and Sales Workers

Craft and Related Trades 
Workers

Plant and Machine 
Operators and Assemblers

Elementary Occupations

TOTAL

African

1

750 

3 213 

5 724 

22 004 

4 624 

276 

5 418 

42 010 

Table 12.24a:  Total number of employees (INCLUDING employees with disabilities) in each of the
following occupational categories as at 31 March 2011

Asian

0

85 

60 

101 

176 

182 

1 

23 

628 

Coloured

0

143 

433 

1 515 

2 941 

1 070 

95 

1 065 

7 262 

White

0

496 

1 198 

1 132 

1 975 

2 222 

22 

529 

7 574 

Male Female TOTAL

African

1

683 

1 574 

3 428 

5 024 

1 148 

6 

2 513 

14 377 

Asian

0

83 

51 

72 

26 

11 

0 

13 

256 

Coloured

0

193 

310 

671 

771 

199 

1 

581 

2 726  

White

0

597 

564 

2 126 

512 

245 

0 

168 

4 212 

2

3 030 

7 403 

14 769 

33 429 

9 701 

401 

10 310 

79 045 

Occupational Category
(SASCO)

Professionals

Technicians and Associate 
Professionals

Clerks

Service and Sales Workers

Craft and Related Trades 
Workers

Plant and Machine 
Operators and Assemblers

Elementary Occupations

TOTAL

African

3 

16

68 

83 

27

1

9 

207 

Table 12.24b:  Total number of employees (ONLY employees with disabilities) in each of the follow-
ing occupational categories as at 31 March 2011

Asian

0 

0

2 

1 

1 

0 

0 

4 

Coloured

0 

4

19 

12 

12 

0 

15 

62 

White

2 

11

26 

18 

36 

0 

4 

97 

Male Female TOTAL

African

0

3

6

3

1

0

4

17 

Asian

0 

0

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

Coloured

0 

0

3 

1 

0 

0 

1 

5 

White

4 

5

31 

0 

6 

0 

6 

52 

9 

39

155 

118 

83 

1 

39 

444 
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Table 12.24c:  Total number of employees (INCLUDING employees with disabilities) in each of the
following occupational bands as at 31 March 2011

Occupational Band

Top Management

Senior Management

Professionally Qualified

Skilled Technical 

Semi-skilled

Unskilled 

Military Skills 
Development System

Interns

TOTAL

African

15 

142 

2 598 

10 515 

23 293 

919 

4 521

7 

42 010 

Asian

1 

11 

157 

317 

89 

2 

51

0 

628 

Coloured

0 

7 

775 

2 960 

2 738 

189 

593

0 

7 262 

White

1 

100 

3 036 

3 219 

741 

13 

464

0 

7 574 

Male Female TOTAL

African

4 

42 

980 

3 392 

6 446 

775 

2 735

3 

14 377 

Asian

0 

8 

76 

114 

32 

5 

21

0 

256 

Coloured

0 

4 

178 

792 

1 174 

160 

418

0 

2 726 

White

1 

18 

1 194 

2 521 

343 

27 

108

0 

4 212 

22 

332 

8 994 

23 830 

34 856 

2 090 

8 911

10 

79 045  

Table 12.24d:  Total number of employees (ONLY employees with disabilities) in each of the follow-
ing occupational bands as at 31 March 2011

Occupational Band

Professionally Qualified

Skilled Technical

Semi-skilled

Unskilled

TOTAL

African

22 

67 

117 

1 

207  

Asian

0 

4 

0 

0 

4 

Coloured

2 

34 

24 

2 

62 

White

35 

54 

8 

0 

97 

Male Female TOTAL

African

2 

6 

9 

0 

17 

Asian

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

Coloured

0 

4 

1 

0 

5 

White

6 

38 

8 

0 

52 

67 

207 

167 

3 

444 

Table 12.25a:  Recruitment (INCLUDING employees with disabilities) for the Period 01 April 2010 to
31 March 2011

Occupational Bands

Top Management

Senior Management

Professionally Qualified

Skilled Technical 

Semi-skilled

Unskilled 

Military Skills 
Development System

Interns

TOTAL

African

1 

6 

33 

55 

62 

161 

2 116

6 

2 440 

Asian

0 

1 

10 

5 

0 

1 

29

0 

46 

Coloured

0 

0 

15 

11 

5 

10 

320

0 

361 

White

0 

0 

22 

18 

8 

3 

190

0 

241 

Male Female TOTAL

African

1 

4 

33 

89 

79 

122 

1 305

3 

1 636 

Asian

0 

0 

13 

6 

1 

0 

13

0 

33 

Coloured

0 

0 

9 

16 

5 

13 

258 

0 

301 

White

0 

0 

50 

32 

10 

6 

65

0 

163 

2 

11 

185 

232 

170 

316 

4 296

9 

5 221 

Recruitment employees with disabilities 0

Table 12.25b:  Recruitment (ONLY employees with disabilities) for the Period 01 April 2010 to 
31 March 2011
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Table 12.26a:  Promotions (INCLUDING employees with disabilities) for the Period 01 April 2010 to
31 March 2011

Occupational Bands

Top Management

Senior management

Professionally Qualified

Skilled Technical 

Semi-skilled

Unskilled 

TOTAL

African

1 

6 

360 

1 407 

2 611 

5 

4 390 

Asian

0 

2 

15 

28 

17 

0 

62 

Coloured

0 

0 

71 

207 

348 

14 

640 

White

0 

5 

163 

168 

159 

0 

495 

Male Female TOTAL

African

0 

1 

122 

400 

1 197 

8 

1 728 

Asian

0 

2 

9 

15 

5 

0 

31 

Coloured

0 

1 

17 

82 

165 

6 

271 

White

0 

1 

98 

124 

49 

0 

272 

1 

18 

855 

2 431 

4 551 

33 

7 889 

Table 12.26b:  Promotions (ONLY employees with disabilities) for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31
March 2011

Occupational Band

Professionally Qualified

Skilled Technical

Semi-skilled

TOTAL

African

3 

5 

12 

20   

Asian

0 

1 

0 

1 

Coloured

0 

4 

2 

6 

White

0 

1 

0 

1 

Male Female TOTAL

African

1 

1 

3 

5 

Asian

0 

0 

0 

0 

Coloured

0 

0 

0 

0 

White

1 

0 

0 

1 

5 

12 

17 

34 

Table 12.27a:  Terminations (INCLUDING employees with disabilities) for the Period 01 April 2010 to
31 March 2011

Occupational Band

Top Management

Senior Management

Professionally Qualified

Skilled Technical 

Semi-skilled

Unskilled 

Military Skills 
Development System

Interns

TOTAL

African

0 

6 

87 

204 

616 

38 

462

5 

1 418 

Asian

0 

0 

17 

7 

1 

0 

6

0 

31 

Coloured

0 

0 

17 

53 

67 

6 

62

0 

205 

White

1 

14 

164 

100 

26 

0 

67 

0 

372 

Male Female TOTAL

African

1 

3 

42 

84 

157 

18 

255

3 

563 

Asian

0 

1 

16 

12 

1 

0 

2

0 

32 

Coloured

0 

0 

8 

24 

24 

6 

44

0 

106 

White

0 

2 

98 

138 

8 

1 

14

0 

261 

2 

26 

449 

622 

900 

69 

912

8 

2 988 
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Table 12.27b: Terminations (ONLY employees with disabilities) for the Period 01 April 2010 to 
31 March 2011

Occupational Band

Professionally Qualified

Skilled Technical

Semi-skilled

Unskilled

TOTAL

African

0 

2 

2 

6 

10 

Asian

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

Coloured

0 

0 

1 

0 

1 

White

1 

2 

3 

0 

6 

Male Female TOTAL

African

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

Asian

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

Coloured

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

White

0 

1 

1 

0 

2 

1 

5 

7 

6 

19 

Table 12.28:   Misconduct and Disciplinary Hearings Finalized for the Period for the Period 01 April
2010 to 31 March 2011

Occupational Bands

Senior management

Professionally Qualified

Skilled Technical 

Semi-skilled

Unskilled 

Military Skills 
Development System

TOTAL

African

0

4

0

0

6

0

10

Asian

0

0

1

2

3

0

6

Coloured

1

0

0

0

0

0

1

White

0

3

0

0

0

0

3

Male Female TOTAL

African

0

1

0

0

2

0

3

Asian

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Coloured

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

White

0

0

0

3

0

0

3

1

8

1

5

11

0

26

Table 12.29:  Skills Development - Training Provided during the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March
2011

Occupational Bands

Senior management

Professionally Qualified

Skilled Technical 

Semi-skilled

Unskilled 

Military Skills 
Development System

TOTAL

African

25

3 987

2 074

16 108

30

4 051

26 275

Asian

3

172

38

271

0

257

741

Coloured

8

377

397

1 041

0

869

2 692

White

10

1 089

566

6 445

0

1 823

9 933

Male Female TOTAL

African

15

1 258

764

5 200

37

2 047

9 321

Asian

1

65

31

165

0

21

283

Coloured

3

175

53

271

0

215

717

White

4

484

250

1 436

0

785

2 959

69

7 607

4 173

30 937

67

10 068

52 921
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P E R F O R M A N C E   R E W A R D S

Race

African

African Total

Asian

Asian Total

Coloured

Coloured Total

White

White Total

Grand Total

Employees with Disabilities

Table 12.30:    Performance Rewards by Race, Gender and Disability for Personnel below Senior
Management Service (INCLUDING members with disabilities) for the Period 01 April 2010 to 
31 March 2011

Gender

Male

Female

Male

Female

Male

Female

Male

Female

Total number of
Employees in Group

as at 1 April 2010

40 862 

13 276 

54 138 

607 

248 

855 

7 099 

2 532 

9 631 

7 634 

4 297 

11 931 

76 555 

464 

Number of
Benefi-
ciaries

7 208 

2 030 

9 238 

115 

59 

174 

1 526 

574 

2 100 

1 700 

1 144 

2 844 

14 356 

93 

% of Total
within
Group

17.6%

15.3%

17.1%

18.9%

23.8%

20.4%

21.5%

22.7%

21.8%

22.3%

26.6%

23.8%

18.8%

20.0%

Total Cost
(Rand)

20 417 244 

5 896 413 

26 313 656 

458 566 

259 760 

718 326 

4 721 500 

1 687 574 

6 409 074 

7 730 374 

4 668 370 

12 398 744 

45 839 800 

286 900 

Average cost
per Employee

(Rand)

2 833 

2 905 

2 848 

3 988 

4 403 

4 128 

3 094 

2 940 

3 052 

4 547 

4 081 

4 360 

3 193 

3 085 

Note:  The total costs for performance rewards excludes the appreciation allowance, Rm65, 640, 330, paid to all DOD uniformed person-
nel in Dec 2010.

Salary Band

Senior Professionals

Highly Skilled Supervision

Highly Skilled Production

Skilled

Lower Skilled

Military Skills 
Development System

Interns

TOTAL

Table 12.31:   Performance Rewards by Salary Band for Personnel below Senior Management Service
for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Total number
of Employees
as at 1 April

2009

79 

8 837 

23 218 

33 286 

2 247 

8 874

14 

76 555 

Number
of  Benefi-

ciaries

6 

1 999 

5 745 

6 209 

397 

0 

0 

14 356 

% of Total
within
Salary
Band

7.59%

22.62%

24.74%

18.65%

17.67%

0.00%

0.00%

18.75%

Total Cost
(Rand)

48 240 

12 251 522 

19 000 309 

13 991 840 

547 890 

0

0 

45 839 800 

Average
cost per

Employee
(Rand)

8 040 

6 129 

3 307 

2 253 

1 380 

0

0 

3 193 

Total Cost as a % of
the Total Personnel

Expenditure per
Salary Band

0.04%

0.32%

0.34%

0.23%

0.30%

0.00%

0.00%

0.27%

Beneficiary Profile Cost
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Critical Occupation

Air Space Control

Aircrew

Anti-Aircraft

Artillery

Combat Navy

Engineer

Health Professional

Nursing

Technical

TOTAL

Table 12.32:    Performance Rewards by Critical Occupations for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March
2011

Total number of
Employees as at 

1 April 2009

551 

513 

896 

1 544 

324 

144 

1 369 

1 692 

6 470 

13 503 

Number  
of  Benefi-

ciaries

99 

82 

165 

228 

71 

15 

192 

280 

1 041 

2 173 

% of Total
within Salary

Band

18.0%

16.0%

18.4%

14.8%

21.9%

10.4%

14.0%

16.5%

16.1%

16.1%

Total Cost
(Rand)

419 288 

474 400 

511 608 

683 360 

393 600 

82 440 

1 248 200 

1 310 960 

3 760 324 

8 884 180 

Average cost per
Employee (Rand)

4 235 

5 785 

3 101 

2 997 

5 544 

5 496 

6 501 

4 682 

3 612 

4 088 

Beneficiary Profile Cost

Salary Band

Senior Management 
Service Band A

Senior Management 
Service Band B

Senior Management 
Service Band C

Senior Management 
Service Band D

Minister/Deputy/Advisors

TOTAL

Table 12.33:   Performance Related Rewards (cash bonus) by Salary Band for Senior Management
Service for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Total number
of Employees

as at 
1 April 2009

184

52

14

2

5

257

Number  
of  Benefi-

ciaries

0

0

0

0

0

0

% of Total
within

Salary Band

0

0

0

0

0

0 

Average
cost per

Employee
(Rand)

0

0

0

0

0

0 

Total Cost as a % of
the Total Personnel

Expenditure per
Salary Band

0

0

0

0

0

0 0.0%

Beneficiary Profile Cost

Total
Cost

(Rand)

0

0

0

0

0

0 

F O R E I G N   W O R K E R S

Foreign Workers by Salary Band 0

Table 12.34:    Foreign Workers by Salary Band for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Foreign Workers by Major Occupation 0

Table 12.35:    Foreign Workers by Major Occupation for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011
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L E A V E   U T I L I S A T I O N   

Salary Band

Senior Management

Senior Professionals

Highly Skilled Supervision

Highly Skilled Production

Skilled

Military Skills Development 
System

TOTAL

Estimated
Cost (Rand)

1 577 964 

801 759 

40 097 053 

69 860 877 

55 010 930 

1 969 479

169 318 062 

Table 12.36a:   Sick Leave (taken by Uniformed Personnel) for the Period 01 January 2010 to 
31 December 2010

Number of
Employees using

Sick Leave

124 

38 

5 172 

13 639 

15 039 

1 547

35 559 

Total 
Days

951 

300 

39 275 

113 630 

121 303 

6 962

282 421 

% of Total
Employees using

Sick Leave

60.19%

50.00%

63.21%

66.70%

52.35%

17.36%

53.43%

Average Days per
Employee using

Sick Leave

8 

8 

8 

8 

8 

5

8 

Table 12.36b:    Sick Leave (taken by Public Service Act Personnel) for the Period 01 January 2010 to 31
December 2010

Note:  Employees are entitled to 36 working days sick leave in a cycle of 3 years on an average norm of 11 working days per year.

Salary Band

Senior Management

Senior Professionals

Highly Skilled Supervision

Highly Skilled Production

Skilled

Lower Skilled

Interns

TOTAL

Estimated
Cost (Rand)

271 011 

58 650 

4 732 559 

18 323 227 

14 272 690 

3 649 240 

15 876 

41 323 254 

Number of
Employees using

Sick Leave

28 

5 

562 

2 998 

4 543 

1 402 

10 

9 548 

Total 
Days

163 

28 

4 421 

34 425 

50 397 

15 559 

62 

105 055 

% of Total
Employees using

Sick Leave

50.00%

31.25%

69.21%

88.65%

74.11%

67.08%

100.00%

76.41%

Average Days per
Employee using

Sick Leave

6 

6 

8 

11 

11 

11 

6 

11 

Salary Band

Senior Management

Senior Professionals

Highly Skilled Supervision

Highly Skilled Production

Skilled

Military Skills Development 
System

TOTAL

Estimated
Cost (Rand)

456 295 

82 233 

7 731 343 

11 042 180 

8 770 811 

14 755

28 097 617 

Table 12.37a:  Disability Leave (temporary and permanent - taken by Uniformed Personnel) for the
Period 01 January 2010 to 31 December 2010

Number of
Employees using
Disability Leave

6 

1 

229 

596 

585 

4

1 421 

Total 
Days

278 

31 

7 455 

17 484 

18 973 

35

44 256 

% of Total
Employees using
Disability Leave

2.91%

1.32%

2.80%

2.91%

2.04%

0.04%

2.14%

Average Days per
Employee using
Disability Leave

46 

31 

33 

29 

32 

9

31  
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Table 12.37b:  Disability Leave (temporary and permanent - taken by Public Service Act Personnel) for
the Period 01 January 2010to 31 December 2010

Note:  Employees are entitled to disability leave after the 36 working days of normal sick leave have been fully utilized.

Salary Band

Senior Management

Senior Professionals

Highly Skilled Supervision

Highly Skilled Production

Skilled

Lower Skilled

Interns

TOTAL

Estimated
Cost (Rand)

0 

0 

372 129 

2 964 404 

3 723 535 

736 624 

0 

7 796 693 

Number of
Employees using
Disability Leave

0 

0 

10 

165 

248 

71 

0 

494 

Total 
Days

0 

0 

298 

5 713 

13 263 

3 048 

0 

22 322 

% of Total
Employees using
Disability Leave

0.00%

0.00%

1.23%

4.88%

4.05%

3.40%

0.00%

3.95%

Average Days per
Employee using
Disability Leave

0 

0 

30 

35 

53 

43 

0 

45 

Salary Band

Senior Management

Senior Professionals

Highly Skilled Supervision

Highly Skilled Production

Skilled

Lower Skilled

Military Skills Development System

TOTAL

Average Days per Employee
using Annual Leave

24 

23 

24 

24 

22 

1 

13 

23 

Table 12.38a:  Annual Leave (taken by Uniformed Personnel) for the Period 01 January 2010 to 
31 December 2010

Total Days Taken

4 741 

1 735 

198 377 

484 581 

567 957 

2 

29 507 

1 286 900 

Salary Band

Senior Management

Senior Professionals

Highly Skilled Supervision

Highly Skilled Production

Skilled

Lower Skilled

Interns

TOTAL

Average Days per Employee
using Annual Leave

20 

24 

23 

24 

25 

22 

7 

24 

Table 12.38b:  Annual Leave (taken by Public Service Act Personnel) for the Period 01 January 2010 to
31 December 2010

Total Days Taken

957 

239 

13 495 

78 843 

152 151 

40 319 

92 

286 096 

Note:  Employees with less than 10 years service are entitled to 22 working days annual leave and employees with more than 10 years
service are entitled to 26 working days annual leave.
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Salary Band

Senior Management

Senior Professionals

Highly Skilled Supervision

Highly Skilled Production

Skilled

TOTAL

Average Capped Leave per
Employee as at 31 December

2010

118 

69 

51 

26 

21 

30 

Table 12.39a:  Capped Leave (taken by Uniformed Personnel) for the Period 01 January 2010 to
31 December 2010

Average Number
of Days Taken per

Employee

5 

8 

6 

5 

6 

5 

Total Days of
Capped Leave

Taken

105 

55 

5 669 

9 302 

9 052 

24 183 

Salary Band

Senior Management

Senior Professionals

Highly Skilled Supervision

Highly Skilled Production

Skilled

Lower Skilled

TOTAL

Average Capped Leave per
Employee as at 31 December

2010

44 

51 

47 

31 

51 

34 

44 

Table 12.39b:  Capped Leave (taken by Public Service Act Personnel) for the Period 01 January 2010 to
31 December 2010

Average Number
of Days Taken per

Employee

6 

0 

25 

4 

6 

7 

6 

Total Days of
Capped Leave

Taken

17 

0 

1 126 

1 035 

3 028 

455 

5 660 

Note:  Although 8% of employees took capped leave, it is to the benefit of the DOD as it will reduce the financial contingent liability on the
DOD with respect to leave credits

Reason

Leave Payout for FY2010/11 due to 
non-utilization of leave for previous cycle

Leave Payout for FY2010/11 due to 
discounting of Leave

Leave Payout for FY2010/11 on 
Termination of Service

TOTAL

Average Payment per
Employee

0

10 332

49 369

16 989

Table 12.40a:  Leave Payouts, FY2010/11 - Uniformed Personnel

Number of
Employees

0

4 441

913

5 354

Total Amount

0 

45 885 059

45 073 902

90 958 962
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Reason

Leave Payout for FY2010/11 due to 
non-utilization of leave for previous cycle

Leave Payout for FY2010/11 due to 
discounting of Leave

Leave Payout for FY2010/11 on 
Termination of Service

TOTAL

Average Payment per
Employee

0

4 275 

23 405 

14 338 

Table 12.40b:  Leave Payouts, FY2010/11 - Public Service Act Personnel

Number of
Employees

0 

464 

515 

979 

Total Amount

0

1 983 439 

12 053 429 

14 036 869 

Note:  All vacation leave to an employee's credit on termination of service by means of retirement medical retirement early retirement con-
tract expiry or exit mechanisms are paid out.  Discharges (misconduct) are excluded.

H I V / A I D S   A N D   H E A L T H   P R O M O T I O N   P R O G R A M M E S

Units/categories of employees identified to be
at high risk of contracting HIV & related diseases
(if any)

Low risk:  All members

Medium risk:  Members on deployment (internal 
to RSA) ie RSA border protection bases / posts

High risk:  Members on deployment (external to RSA)

Key steps taken to reduce the risk

HIV workplace programmes

Peer education programmes

Buddy aid programmes

Availability first aid kits/boxes

Wellness programme

Condom distribution points for both males and females 

Health promotion programmes before deployment

All the above programmes and interventions apply.  The em-
phasise is on  discipline and the conduct of military person-
nel

Buddy aid lectures

Trained operational emergency care practitioners

All the programmes and interventions reflected for low and 
medium risk exposure

Peer education

Trained operational emergency care practitioners

Specific HIV prevention programmes

Specific health promotion programmes during deployment

Table 12.41a:    Steps taken to reduce the risk of occupational exposure
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Question

Has the department designated a 
member of the SMS to implement
the provision contained in Part VI
e of Chapter 1 of the Public Service
Regulations 2001?  If so provide
her/his name and position.

Does the department have a dedi-
cated unit or has it designated spe-
cific staff members to promote the
health and well-being of your
employees?  If so indicate the
number of employees who are
involved in this task and the annu-
al budget that is available for this
purpose.

Has the department introduced an 
Employee Assistance or Health
Promotion Programme for your
employees?  If so indicate the key
elements/services of this
Programme.

Details if Yes

Brig Gen L.L.  Siwisa

Director HIV/AIDS

SANDF HIV/AIDS Programme Manager

The Directorate HIV/AIDS Programmes coordinate "The 
Comprehensive Plan for Care, Management and Treatment of
HIV/AIDS in the DOD" with a staff compliment of three mem-
bers, including the Director.

Two members manage monitoring and evaluation of the 
DOD HIV/AIDS programme.

HIV prevention and health promotion Programmes are planned 
and implemented throughout the organisation by 15 Regional
HIV Managers.

Wellness programmes are executed at SA Army, SA Air Force, 
SA Navy and SAMHS unit level through Military Community
Development Committees.  All Commanding Officers in the
SANDF have the responsibility to ensure that wellness pro-
grammes take place in their respective environments.

Health care practitioners at primary health care level provide 
HIV prevention, health promotion and curative HIV/AIDS
Programmes to all patients/clients throughout the organisation.

The HIV/AIDS Programme of the DOD is funded through the 
departments' budget and the SAMHS Budget and the perform-
ance report on policy options by the SAMHS Budget Manager
indicates a budget allocation of Rm33,4.

The SAMHS remained committed to intensify 
the campaign against communicable diseases and the treatment
of patients through the Comprehensive Plan for Care, Manage-
ment and Treatment of HIV/AIDS in the DOD and Military
Veterans that includes prevention of HIV and health promotion
programmes.  The plan is currently under revision to accelerate
the accessibility for treatment and prevention programmes such
as workplace programmes.  

The key elements of the HIV Prevention Programme are:

HIV/AIDS workplace programmes.
Mass awareness campaigns.
Management of occupational transmission.
Prevention of vertical transmission, previously known as 
mother to child transmission.
Prevention of opportunistic infections.
Utilisation of all awareness opportunities (eg National Health 
Days, Health Month, World AIDS Day, Commemoration
Days, etc).
Programmes/projects that focus on abstinence and faithfulness.

Key elements of the Health Promotion Programmes are:

Counselling.

Health education training and development by means of e.g.  
lectures.

Management of sexually transmitted infections.

Health promotion through physical training, sport and 
recreation.

Table 12.41b:   Details of Health Promotion and HIV / Aids Programmes

Yes

X

X

X

No
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Question

Has the department established (a) 
committee(s) as contemplated in
Part VI E.5 (e) of Chapter 1 of the
Public Service Regulations 2001?
If so please provide the names of
the members of the committee and
the stakeholders that they repre-
sent.

Has the department reviewed its 
employment policies and practices
to ensure that these do not unfairly
discriminate against employees on
the basis of their HIV status?  If so
list the employment policies/
practices so reviewed.

Has the department introduced 
measures to protect HIV-positive
employees or those perceived to
be HIV positive from discrimina-
tion?  If so list the key elements of
these measures.

Does the department encourage its
employees to undergo voluntary
counselling and testing?  If so list
the results that you have achieved.

Details, if Yes

Poster presentations
Health programmes targeting women of childbearing age
Awareness programmes.
Involvement of non-governmental organisations and commu-
nities.
Community development programmes, e.g. Thaba Tshwane 
Project
Health Fairs and Health Walks.

The facilitation of the Combating HIV/AIDS Through 
Spiritual and Ethical Conduct (CHATSEC) programme to 982
members of the SAMHS MSDS formed part of prevention and
promotion interventions. 

Six mobile clinics were procured with donor funds for the provi-
sion of health care services to eligible patients in remote rural
areas.  An agreement has been reached with the United States of
America President's Emergency Funds For AIDS Relief donors
to take over the training of health care practitioners in anti-retro-
viral treatment from September 2009 in collaboration with the
University of Pretoria.

The "Comprehensive Plan for Care, Management and Treatment 
of HIV/AIDS in the DOD: 2011-2016" is coordinated through the
Directorate HIV/AIDS Programmes.

Coordination within the SANDF through bilateral meetings 
between the SAMHS and the SA Army,  the SA Navy and the
SA Air Force.

The Director HIV/AIDS coordinate matters through the 
SAMHS HIV/AIDS Coordinating Committee.  The committee
consists of members representing formations and units that pro-
vide health care services.

All HIV infected uniformed members of the DOD 
are managed according to "The DOD Directive on the Health
Classification and Deployability of SANDF Members with
HIV/AIDS". The document is currently under review. 

The department adheres to the principle of equity and equally of 
opportunities in all practices. It values and manages diversity
and in doing so recognises that talent, ability and potential are
inherently distributed across the population. It strives to eradi-
cate all forms of unfair discrimination within the department.

Policy documents:
DOD Directive: Transformation Management in the DOD 
DOD Instruction: Policy on Transformation Management in the
DOD 
Joint Defence Publication: Process and Procedures for
Transformation Management in the DOD. 

All uniformed members of the DOD are required to 
undergo regular HIV testing as part of Comprehensive Health
Assessments.

In addition, the SAMHS is a Key Stakeholder in the National 
Department of Health HIV Counselling and Testing Campaign
with 49% of all SANDF members and dependants to be tested
by 31 May 2011. 

Yes

X

X

X

No

X
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Question

Has the Department developed 
measures/indicators to monitor &
evaluate the impact of its health
promotion programme?  If so  list
these measures/indicators

Details, if Yes

The monitoring and evaluation of the Department of Defence 
and Military Veterans HIV and AIDS Programme is managed by
Instruction.

Sources of data are:

Knowledge Attitude and Practice Survey (Last survey performed 
2007, next survey planned for September 2011).

Health Informatics Clinical Data Management System

Project Feedback Forms submitted following interventions (all 
planned HIV prevention interventions are monitored).

Yes

X

No

L A B O U R   R E L A T I O N S

Total Collective Agreements 0

Table 12.42:   Collective Agreements for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Outcomes of disciplinary hearings

Final written warning

Suspended without pay

Dismissal

Not guilty

Case withdrawn

TOTAL

% of Total

0.00%

34.62%

7.69%

3.85%

11.54%

100%

Table 12.43:  Misconduct and Disciplinary Hearings finalised for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March
2011

Number 

9

2

1

3

11

26

Table 12.44: Types of Misconduct addressed at Disciplinary Hearings for the Period 01 April 2010 to
31 March 2011

Note: The figures indicated in tables 12.43 and 12.44 differ due to the reason that an employee may be charged for more than one offence
at a single disciplinary hearing.

Type of misconduct

Absence without permission

Theft

Fraud

Punctuality

Under the Influence

Disobedience

Unauthorised removal of Information

Security Risk

Unprofessional Conduct

Sexual Harassment

TOTAL

% of Total

23.08%

15.38%

19.23%

7.69%

3.85%

15.38%

3.85%

3.85%

3.85%

3.85%

100%

Number

6

4

5

2

1

4

1

1

1

1

26

Note: Fines do not form sanctions as contained in PSCBC Resolution 2/99 as amended by PSCBC Resolution 01/03.
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Grievances

Number of Grievances Resolved

Number of Grievances not Resolved

Total Number of Grievances Lodged

Number

6

16

22

Table 12.45:   Grievances Lodged for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Disputes

Number of Disputes Upheld

Number of Disputes Dismissed

Total Number of Disputes Lodged

Number

0

58

58

Table 10.46:   Disputes Lodged with Councils for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Note:  Not all grievances are resolved within the financial year in which they were lodged.

Note:  Councils do not schedule all disputes referred in a financial year for resolution in the same financial year.

Total number of person working days lost

Total cost of working days lost

Amount recovered as a result of no work no pay

369 Days

R93 883,45

R93 883,45

Table 12.47:    Strike Actions for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Number of people suspended

Number of people whose suspensions exceeded 30 days

Average number of days suspended

Cost  of suspensions

38

38

365

R 511 481

Table 12.48a:  Precautionary Suspensions (of Uniformed Personnel) for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31
March 2011

Number of people suspended

Number of people whose suspensions exceeded 30 days

Average number of days suspended

Cost  of suspensions

7

6

237

R 651 070 

Table 12.48b:  Precautionary Suspensions (of Public Service Act Personnel) for the Period 01 April
2010 to 31 March 2011
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S K I L L S   D E V E L O P M E N T

Occupational Categories

Legislators, senior officials and 
managers

Professionals

Technicians and associate 
professionals

Clerks

Service and sales workers

Craft and related trades workers

Plant and machine operators and 
assemblers

Elementary occupations

Subtotal

TOTAL

Table 12.49:   Training Needs Identified for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Gender

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Number of
Employees

as at 1
April 2010

27
236

1 563
1 571
1 931
4 612
5 897
8 820
4 470

28 660
1 100
8 668

10
508

3 173
7 799

18 171
60 874
79 045

Learner-
ships

0
0
0
0

13
29

726
863
202
143

0
0
0
0

1 023
2 012
3 964
1 047
5 011

Skills Program-
mes and other
Short Courses

22
36

277
473
639

1 503
1 428
1 750
1 635
6 692

582
899

1
319
852
478

5 436
12 150
17 586

Other
Forms of
Training

1
3

344
856
448

2 961
1 018
1 229
1 378

12 175
479

1 514
5

132
1 215
4 532
5 888

22 402
28 290

Total

23
39

621
1 329
1 100
4 493
3 172
3 842
3 215

19 010
1 061
2 413

6
451

3 090
7 022

15 288
35 599
50 887

Training Needs Identified at Start of Reporting Period

Occupational Categories

Legislators, senior officials and 
managers

Professionals

Technicians and associate 
professionals

Clerks

Service and sales workers

Craft and related trades workers

Plant and machine operators and 
assemblers

Elementary occupations

Subtotal

TOTAL

Table 12.50:  Training Provided for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Gender

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Female
Male

Number of
Employees

as at 1
April 2010

27
236

1 563
1 571
1 931
4 612
5 897
8 820
4 470

28 660
1 100
8 668

10
508

3 173
7 799

18 171
60 874
79 045

Learner-
ships

0
0
0
0

20
30

730
865
210
150

0
0
0
0

1 025
2 020
1 985
3 065
5 050

Skills Program-
mes and other
Short Courses

22
43

307
484
770

1 500
2 253
2 650
1 640
6 700

580
1 100

5
325
860
480

6 437
13 282
19 719

Other
Forms of
Training

1
3

361
851
524

2 760
855

1 300
1 384

12 200
510

1 520
3

130
1 220
4 530
4 858

23 294
28 152

Total

23
46

668
1 335
1 314
4 290
3 838
4 815
3 234

19 050
1 090
2 620

8
455

3 105
7 030

13 280
39 641
52 921

Training Provided within Start of Reporting Period
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Nature of Injury on Duty

Required basic medical attention only5

Temporary total Disablement6

Permanent Disablement7

Fatal8

TOTAL

% of Total

89.17%

5.46%

4.05%

1.33%

100.00%

Table 12.51a:  Injury on Duty (by Uniformed Personnel) for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Number 

1,144

70

52

17

1,283

Nature of Injury on Duty

Required basic medical attention only5

Temporary total Disablement6

Permanent Disablement7

Fatal8

TOTAL

% of Total

85.51%

11.59%

2.54%

0.36%

100.00%

Table 12.51b.  Injury on Duty (by Public Service Act Personnel) for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31
March 2011

Number 

236

32

7

1

276

5 Required Basic Medical Attention Only. This is the action or manner of treating an individual medically or surgically to
stabilise and promote healing.

6 Temporary Total Disablement. This is the temporary alteration of an individual's physical or mental status that limits activity.
Medical or surgical treatment may stabilize the condition and restore the health of an individual to normal within a defined
period.

7 Permanent Disablement. This is the permanent alteration of an individual's capacity to meet personal social or occupational
demands or statutory or regulatory requirements.

8 Fatal.   An injury, disease or condition causing or ending in organ or multi-organ failure and death.

U T I L I S A T I O N   O F   C O N S U L T A N T S

Project Title

SA Navy

Viability of Construction of New Naval Headquarters 
and Naval Mess Building 

SA Navy

Rendering of Transaction Advisor Service to the DOD 
for Establishment of Sea Safety Training Centre for the
SA Navy

SA Air Force

Training of Air Force crews in the use and application 
of the Lynx helicopter systems in the maritime envi-
ronment.

SA Air Force

Supply of specialised imaging interpretation training 
(analytical/metrics aspects) 

Contract Value
in Rand for the

FY 2010/11

505 558,08

471 293,10

1 519 443,00

55 000,00

Table 12.52:    Report on Consultant Appointments using Appropriate funds FY2010/11

Duration: 
Worked Days

Project worked 
according to mile-
stones and not to
workdays

Project worked 
according to mile-
stones and not to
workdays

183 Days  

10 Days 

Total Number of
Consultants that

Worked on the Project 

1*

1*

One Royal Navy 
Observer

1

I N J U R Y   O N   D U T Y
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Project Title

SA Air Force

Supply of specialised Security Risk management 
training

SA Air Force

Survival Electronics

SA Air Force

EW Training of SAAF members

C Logistics

Supply Chain Strategic Plan of Action and Technical 
Support towards the Creation of an enabling environ-
ment for DOD Facilities to undertake their mandate
functions.  

CSIR: CPSC/G/230/08

C Logistics

Asset Management Stock Verification programme
Classic One Consortium: B/G/839/08

C Logistics

Origin Exchange

SA Army

Business Architecture for CD Army Force Structure

SA Army

Personnel related activities for SA Army Signal 
Formation

Chief Financial Officer

KPMG - Operation Clean Audit

Ministry of Defence

Ministerial Task Team Academics on National Youth 
Service -

5 x Professors

Defence Intelligence

Appointment of a Transaction Advisor to conduct a 
feasibility study for a possible PPP for a head quarters
for Defence Intelligence - Kagiso Financial Services

Total number of Projects

15

Contract Value
in Rand for the

FY 2010/11

78 000,00

500 000,00

435 703,00

89 080 500,00

45 841 901,00

59 161 374,00

2 284 849,91

900.00

40 955 643,33

1 035 294,00

2 615 352,15

Total contract 
value in Rand

244 540 811,57 

Table 12.52:  Report on Consultant Appointments using Appropriate funds FY2010/11 (continued)

Duration: 
Worked Days

10 Days

100 Days

119 Days

235 Days

254 Days

117 Days

260 Days

2 Days

151 Days

127 Days

Per Milestone 

Total duration:  
Work days

1 568

Total Number of
Consultants that

Worked on the Project 

1

1

1

1*

1*

1*

1*

1

1*

5

1*

Total individual 
consultants

11

* Denotes that one firm was appointed as a consultant and provided the DOD with personnel at different remuneration rates as
well as their administration fees and overheads. As a result it would be inappropriate to mathematically distribute the figures
based on mainly man-hours or man-days. The DOD Policy on the management and utilisation of Consultants is currently
under review.
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P E R F O R M A N C E   A G R E E M E N T S

Salary Band

Band A - Level 13

Band B - Level 14

Band C - Level 15

Band D - Level 16

TOTAL

Number of Unsigned
Performance 
Agreements

33

16

7

1

57

Table 12.53a:  Performance Agreements Signed (by Uniformed Personnel) by Salary Band for Senior
Management Service for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Number of Signed
Performance
Agreements

118

18

0

0

136

Number of
employees as at 

1 April 2010

151

34

7

1

193

Salary Band

Band A - Level 13

Band B - Level 14

Band C - Level 15

Band D - Level 16

TOTAL

Number of Unsigned
Performance 
Agreements

8

7

8

1

24

Table 12.53b:  Performance Agreements Signed (by Public Service Act Personnel) by Salary Band for
Senior Management Service for the Period 01 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

Number of Signed
Performance
Agreements 

18

6

0

1

25

Number of
employees as at 

1 April 2010

26

13

8

2

49
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The defence diplomacy actions by the DOD continued to
vary from focussed efforts such as defence representation
abroad, bilateral and multilateral meetings to indirect actions
which had a defence diplomacy impact. The latter include
participation in combined exercises, participation in function-
al and developmental training with foreign defence forces
and attendance of conferences and seminars.  The benefits to
bilateral cooperation are greatly valued and give impetus to

SANDF DEFENCE ATTACHÉS

Resident representation in coun-
tries and at organisations (38)

Non-residential representation
(22)

Algeria;  Angola;  Argentina;  AU; Belgium;  Botswana;
Brazil;  Côte d'Ivoire;  Cuba; Democratic Republic of the
Congo;  Ethiopia;  Egypt;  France;  Germany;  India;
Italy;  Kenya; Malaysia; Mozambique;  Namibia;
Nigeria;  Pakistan; PRC;  Russia;  Saudi Arabia;  Spain;
Sudan;  Sweden; Tanzania;  Tunisia; UAE;  Uganda;
UK;  UN;  USA;  Vietnam;  Zambia;  Zimbabwe

Bahrain, Brunei; Burundi; Canada; Chile; Ghana;
Indonesia;  Jordan;  Kuwait;  Lesotho; Malawi;
Mauritius; Morocco;  Netherlands; Oman,
Philippines; Qatar;  Rep of Congo;  Romania;
Rwanda; Swaziland; Uruguay

Figure A.1:  Map indicating Representation by SANDF Attachés.

the defence diplomacy drive of the DOD.

S A N D F   D e f e n c e   A t t a c h é
R e p r e s e n t a t i o n

Figure A.1 below indicates SANDF Defence Attaché repre-
sentation internationally for the FY2010/11.
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MILITARY ATTACHÉ AND ADVISOR
CORPS IN SOUTH AFRICA

Resident (48)

Non-resident (3)

Algeria;  Angola;  Argentina;  Belgium;  Botswana;  Brazil;  Burundi; Cameroon; Canada;  Chile;  Côte d'Ivoire;
Egypt;  France;  Gabon;  Germany;  Greece;  India;  Indonesia;  Italy;  Kenya;  Korea (ROK); Malawi;  Malaysia;
Mozambique; Namibia;  Netherlands;  Nigeria;  Pakistan;  PRC;  Republic of Congo;  Romania;  Russia;  Rwanda;
Saudi Arabia;  Senegal;  Spain;  Sweden;  Tanzania;  Thailand; Turkey; Uganda;  Ukraine;  United Kingdom;
United States of America;  Uruguay;  Vietnam;  Zambia; Zimbabwe

Australia; Israel, Kuwait

Figure A.2:    Map indicating MAAC Representation in South Africa.

M i l i t a r y   A t t a c h é   a n d   A d v i s o r   C o r p s   ( M A A C )   R e p r e s e n t a t i o n   

Figure A.2 below indicates MAAC representation in South Africa for the FY2010/11.

B i l a t e r a l   a n d   M u l t i l a t e r a l
I n t e r a c t i o n

The South African Development Community (SADC) as a
region, as well as the African continent remains the main

focus of the DOD for bilateral and multilateral interaction.
Table A.1 indicates the meetings held within the framework
of the SADC Interstate Defence and Security Committee
structures (ISDSC).
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Committee

Personnel Work Group

Ops Sub sub-committee and Chiefs of Defence

Evaluation workshop of the Strategic Indicative Plan of the Organ

Logistical Technical Committee

Telecommunication Workgroup

31st Interstate Defence and Security Committee meeting

Meeting of the Ministerial Committee of the Organ

SADC Military HIV/AIDS 1st Technical Committee meeting

SADC Military Malaria managers meeting

1st SADC Non-communicable Diseases Technical Committee meeting

4th annual SADC Standing Maritime Committee  Work Session

SADC Standing Maritime Committee

Logistics Workgroup

Venue

Cape Town

Maputo

Botswana

Botswana

Tanzania

Mozambique

Mozambique

Zimbabwe

Madagascar

Namibia

Tanzania

Namibia

Tanzania

Date 

13-15 April

11-15 May

22-26 May

21-23 June

27 Apr - 1 May

22-23 July

02-07 August

01-07 August

26-30 September

21-24 September

7-11 September

20-26 February

16-20 March

Table A.1:  Map indicating Representation by SANDF Attachés.

African Union. During December 2010, the Minister of
Defence and a representative of C SANDF attended the
6th Meeting of the African Chiefs of Defence Staff and
Heads of Security in Addis Ababa.  Concurrently the 4th

Ordinary Meeting of the Specialised Technical
Committee on Defence, Safety and Security met and
was attended by the SANDF representative.

Intergovernmental Meetings. Defence representatives
attended intergovernmental bilateral meetings, namely;
the Mozambique/RSA Joint Bilateral Commission for
Cooperation. The bilateral Joint Permanent Commis-
sions on Defence and Security with respectively
Namibia, Zimbabwe and Botswana met during the year.
Participation in these meetings enables Defence support
to South African foreign policy.

Bilateral Defence Committee Meetings. During the
reporting year the Germany/RSA Defence Committee,
the PRC/RSA Defence Committee, the RSA/USA
Defence Committee and the RSA/UK Defence
Committee met to discuss co-operation between the
SANDF and respective countries.

Service Level Bilateral Meetings. On Service and
Divisional level, Naval Staff talks were held between
the SA Navy and their counterparts from the USA, India
and Malawi.  The latter was in support of Government's
African Agenda and the ICTS cluster objectives.  The
SAAF held staff talks with the Air Forces of Germany
and the USA respectively.

F o r e i g n   V i s i t s

Foreign visits to African Countries. About 54 visits
were undertaken by members from the SANDF to
African countries for reasons varying from high-level
goodwill visits, planning, debriefing conferences and
meetings on combined exercises, quarterly non-residen-
tial accreditation to Lesotho, and visits to SA troops
deployed in Africa and intelligence exchanges.  The SA
Army is involved in training in the 'Train the Trainer'
concept in Namibia as part of bilateral co-operation
between the two countries. The presentation by the
SAAF of the Senior Air Power Programme in Rwanda
demonstrates the SANDF commitment to co-operation
in Africa.  Fifty members from five African countries
attended the 4th SA Army Rifle Shooting Evaluation.

Visits to the DOD by African Countries. The SANDF
hosted six delegations from Africa. The reasons for
these visits varied from benchmarking and comparative
studies on training, human resource management to
medical matters, intelligence exchanges, sport and
goodwill visits. 

Foreign Visits to Countries from the Rest of the
World. About 98 visits took place during the
FY2010/11. The purpose of these visits included;
observers to military exercises, benchmarking of train-
ing, attendance of conferences as members of profes-
sional bodies, programmes on strategic issues or work
groups and defence exhibitions.
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Visits to the DOD by Countries from the Rest of the
World. The 25 visits to the SANDF ranged from recip-
rocal goodwill visits, discussions on specific functional
topics, study visits by military training institutions and
the hosting of workgroups.  

Foreign Military Training. About 18 foreign officers
attended the flagship development courses of the
SANDF, namely the Executive National Security
Programme and the Joint Senior Command and Staff
Programme.  The SANDF hosted foreign members on
55 functional courses. SANDF officers attended devel-
opment courses in 11 foreign countries.  A further 111
members of the SANDF attended functional courses in
foreign countries. Seven foreign delegations compri-
sing officers on Senior Command and Staff courses
chose South Africa as destination for their foreign study
visits.

Ship Visits. During the reporting year, various ships
from the Navies of France, the UK, Korea and Pakistan
came alongside at South African ports.  During EX
INTEROP EAST, the Navy sailed to Maputo with the
SAS DRAKENSBERG, SPIOENKOP and
GALESHEWE and during Operation COPPER; the
SAS MENDI sailed to Mozambican ports of Maputo
and Pemba.

The African Standby Force and the Southern
African Standby Force. The Roadmap II for the oper-
ationalisation of the African Standby Force (2006-2010)
envisaged a validation exercise that will test early warn-
ing and crises management, as well as the structures that
underpin the African Standby Force concept.  Against
this background, the AU Peace Support Operations
Department hosted EX AMANI, a command post exer-
cise, during October 2010 in Addis Ababa. As part of
Roadmap III (2011-2015), the operationalisation of the
African Standby Force will continue with a continental
exercise during the FY2011/12, which is currently being
planned.  Also during the FY2011/12, the SADC will
host EX BLUE CRANE, which is an exercise undertak-
en in support of humanitarian assistance.

S p e c i f i c   D e f e n c e   D i p l o m a c y
A c t i o n s     

The biennual African Aerospace and Defence
Exhibition (AAD) was co-hosted with the SA Defence
Industry took place from 21 to 25 September 2010. The
SANDF was responsible for co-ordinating the Foreign
Visitors Programme. About 17 Ministers of Defence or
representatives attended the Expo including; six Chiefs
of Defence Force; seven Chiefs of Army; 21 Chiefs of
Air Force, seven Chiefs of Navy and two Surgeons
General and / or their representatives were hosted dur-
ing AAD.

Military Operations. Operational co-operation forms
a mainstay of military bilateral and multilateral cooper-
ation between countries, in general and enhances opera-
tional inter-operability, whilst knowledge transfer takes
place. Although military operations do not always com-
mence as a defence diplomacy action, the advantages of
participation in multinational peace support operations
lie in the enhancement of the RSA's commitment to pro-
viding capacity to these operations and the image of the
South African soldier abroad.  Multinational peace sup-
port operations in which the SANDF participated
include Operations MISTRAL in the DRC, CORDITE
in Sudan and VIMBEZELA in the Central African
Republic. Through participation in these operations, the
SANDF supported the work of the African Union and
the United Nations in striving for peace and security in
the African continent.  

Specialist Advisory Team to Kinshasa, DRC. Team
BULISA is currently developing plans for the imple-
mentation of the now completed Military Strategy for
the FARDC. A number of workshops and benchmarking
visits were conducted, during the period under review,
in the fields of financial management and human
resources management in the SANDF.

Mission THEBE. The SA Army provided 120 instruc-
tors to train three Battalions in the DRC. This was com-
pleted successfully and the handing and taking over
parade was held on 25 February 2011. This was attend-
ed by the South African Ambassador to the DRC, who
presided as the chief dignitary at the parade. A small HQ
element remains in the DRC to look after the RSA
equipment that is still there.

Joint, Interdepartmental and Multinational (JIM)
Military Exercises. JIM military exercises reported in
detail under the Force Employment Programme have
major impact on defence diplomacy. The decisions
taken on multinational force preparation cooperation
and interaction during bilateral and multilateral forums
were aligned with the requirements of the SANDF in
terms of the approved Joint Force Employment (JFE)
objectives and missions. In May 2010, two members of
the SANDF were in Australia to participate in Exercise
BELL BUOY, an exercise on naval co-ordination and
guidance of shipping in the Pacific and Indian Oceans
involving a number of Navies. Exercise IBSAMAR
took place during September 2010, which was a mar-
itime interaction and co-operation exercise with the
Navies of India and Brazil.  Exercise FAIRWAY BUOY,
a naval co-operation and guidance of shipping exercise
with SADC counties also took place in Namibia from 2
to 18 August 2010. EX ATLASUR, another annual mar-
itime exercise between the Navies of Argentina, Brazil
and Uruguay took place during October/November
2010. The SANDF representatives also participated in
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Ex COBRA GOLD (Thailand) and FLINT LOCK
(Senegal) respectively.

Secondments to Multinational Organisations. Four
members of the DOD are currently seconded to the AU

Peace and Support Operations Divisions, of which one
member heads this Division. At the UN, the SANDF
member was seconded to UNAMID in Sudan and his
term of duty was completed during November 2010.
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Donor 
country 
(Source)

USA 

USA 

USA 

USA

Germany

USA

USA

USA

USA

USA

USA

Type of Aid
(Funds or 
In-kind)

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

Intended Use 
of the 

Assistance

Joint Forces Staff
course

US Army Ranger 
Training

Health Care 
Specialist course

Programme on ter-
rorism and Security
Studies

Legal aspects of 
Combating Terrorism

US Basic Leader 
urban course

International Military 
STO Manoeuvre
(Armour)

Senior Leadership 
Seminar in Portugal

Army Command and 
General Staff College

Visit of US Military 
Service Commands
for the SANDF
Vision 2030 for train-
ing and career paths
for other ranks

US Environment, 
Energy, Security and
Sustainability
Symposium

Rand 
Value
(R’000)

100

120

170

40

29

122

223

60

599

45

40

Pending
Application

for Assistance

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Force Employment

Table B.1:  Foreign Aid Assistance to and from the DOD for the FY2010/11

Actual Performance
on the Use of

Assistance

Attended by one
member 

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Each attended by 
one member (three
SANDF members in
total)

Reason for
Deviation

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

The table below indicates the foreign aid assistance to the
DOD for FY2010/11. Funding was mostly in kind and took
the form of the provisioning of air tickets and/or messing
accommodation and/or a daily stipend. Tuition fees for atten-

Landward Defence

dance of military courses are normally free. The actual cost to
the donor is therefore not visible and the rand value is mere-
ly an estimate.
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Donor 
country 
(Source)

USA

USA

UK

Germany

PRC

PRC

Zimbabwe

Malaysia

Netherlands

UK 

Switzerland

Zambia

Germany

Kenya

USA

USA

USA

USA

USA

USA

Type of Aid
(Funds or 
In-kind)

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

Intended Use 
of the 

Assistance

New York National 
Guard State Partner-
ship Programme plan-
ning conference

US Army War College

Royal College of 
Defence Studies

UN Military Observers 
course

Defence and Strategic 
Studies course

Army Command and 
Staff course

Joint Senior Command 
and Staff course

DSA Expo

Participation in the 
18th Netherlands
Shooting Competition

Participation in 
Edinburgh Military
Tattoo

Participation in Basel 
Tattoo

Joint Senior Command 
and Staff course

Programme in 
Advanced Security
studies

National War College

Air War College

Comprehensive Secu-
rity response to
Terrorism

Aviation Safety Course

Defence Acquisition 
management course

Senior NCO Officers 
Academy

Joint Forces Staff 
College

Rand 
Value
(R’000)

28

736

700

60

371

443

396

25

60

80

80

99

86

681

1360

130

110

120

140

280

Pending
Application

for Assistance

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Table B.1:  Foreign Aid Assistance to and from the DOD for the FY 2010/11 (continued)

Actual Performance
on the Use of

Assistance

Attended by four 
reserves and three
regular members

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by nine 
members

Attended by SA 
Irish Pipes and
Drums

Attended by the 
Cape Town High-
landers Pipes and
Drums

Attended by one 
member

Attended by two 
members

Attended by one 
member

Course attended by 
two members

Attended by one 
member

Attended by a two 
members

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by two 
members

Reason for
Deviation

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Air Defence
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Donor 
country 
(Source)

USA 

USA 

USA 

India

PRC

USA

USA

USA

USA

USA

USA

USA

USA

Wilton Park 
(Organisers),
UK Foreign
and Common-
wealth Office,
Ministry of
Defence, Min-
istry of Foreign
Affairs of Neth-
erlands, US
Government

Sponsored by 
Astra Zeneca
and the Lung
Function Trust
Fund

Sponsored by 
the Interna-
tional  Military
Forum on
Emerging
Infectious
Diseases

Type of Aid
(Funds or 
In-kind)

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

Intended Use 
of the 

Assistance

Purchase Advanced 
training

Comprehensive 
crises management

Next Generation of 
African military

Senior Defence 
College course

Senior Staff course

Maritime Security 
conference

Inspector General 
course

Course on Legal 
Aspects

Security Response 
seminar

Programme on 
Terrorism

Naval Academy

Senior Enlisted 
course

Warrant Officers 
symposium

Wilton Park Con-
ference on
Prospects for the
2011 Biological &
Toxic Weapons
Convention Review
Conference

European 
Respiratory Society
Annual Congress

International 
Military Forum on
Emerging Infectious
Diseases

Rand 
Value
(R’000)

50

130

80

50

96

50

49

98

105

67

525

88

49

50

77

45

Pending
Application

for Assistance

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Table B.1:  Foreign Aid Assistance to and from the DOD for the FY2010/11 (continued)

Actual Performance
on the Use of

Assistance

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by two 
members

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by two 
members

Attended by three 
members

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by two 
members

Attended by one 
member

Attended by one 
member

Attended by two 
members

Attended by one 
member

Reason for
Deviation

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Maritime Defence

Military Health Support
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Donor 
country 
(Source)

Sponsored by
the Depart-
ment of
Trade and
Industry on
behalf of the
Non-
Proliferation
Council.

USA 
(PEPFAR)

USA 
(PEPFAR)

USA 
(PEPFAR)

USA

National 
Institute of
Allergy and
Infectious
Disease
(NIAID)

Type of Aid
(Funds or 
In-kind)

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

Intended Use 
of the 

Assistance

Workshop on the 
strengthening of
International efforts
to prevent the pro-
liferation of Biolo-
gical Weapons, the
role of the Biolo-
gical and Toxin
Weapons Conven-
tion in Beijing,
China from 2-8 Nov
2010.

HIV/AIDS Strategic 
planning and policy
development con-
ference

Sponsorship of 
drugs for anti-retro-
viral treatment

Project MASIBAM-
BISANE: HIV and
AIDS prevention
program for
SANDF members

Project PHIDISA:

Sponsorship of 
drugs for anti-retro-
viral treatment and
the establishment of
a Clinical Research
Capability.

Rand 
Value
(R’000)

54

90

See note

See note

See note

Pending
Application

for Assistance

Not applicable

Not applicable

Ongoing proj-
ect until donor
indicates oth-
erwise.

Ongoing proj-
ect until donor
indicates oth-
erwise

A 5-year proj-
ect that is
meant to be
ended in 2010

Table B.1:  Foreign Aid Assistance to and from the DOD for the FY2010/11 (continued)

Actual Perfor-
mance on the Use

of Assistance

Attended by one
member

Attended by two 
members

The donation is not a 
predetermined
amount.  The value
of the donation is
determined by the
number of patients
receiving treatment.

A complete data-
base of implement-
ed programs is
available at Military
Psychological
Institute

The donation is not a 
predetermined
amount. The value
of the donation is
determined by the
number of patients
receiving treatment.

P1A - ±1 771 
patients. (to be con-
firmed)

Reason for
Deviation

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

There has 
been a devia-
tion from
planned pro-
gram activi-
ties due to a
delay in sub-
mission of
projects and
human
resources
shortages

Protocols I & 
II ended in
December
2007 as the
scientific
integrity of
data collected
was sufficient
to continue
with actual
research until
the study
completes in
2010. 

Note:  Information on the value of the donation in kind was requested from the US DOD, however, was not available at the time of publi-
cation.
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Donor 
country 
(Source)

USA

USA

USA 

Canada

UK

USA

Type of Aid
(Funds or 
In-kind)

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

In-kind

Intended Use 
of the 

Assistance

US Environment,
Energy, Security
and Sustainability
Symposium

Guidebook on envi-
ronmental auditing
in the Military

Logistics Infor-
mation Manage-
ment course

Military Training 
and Co-operation
programme - UN
Integrated Mission
Staff Officers course

Global Military 
Satellite
Communication
conference

New York National 
Guard State
Partnership
Programme plan-
ning conference

Rand 
Value
(R’000)

40

58

95

45

84

167

Pending
Application

for Assistance

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Not applicable

Table B.1:  Foreign Aid Assistance to and from the DOD for the FY2010/11 (continued)

Actual Performance
on the Use of

Assistance

Attended by two 
members

Two members par-
ticipated in the com-
pilation of the
guidebook

Attended by two 
members

Attended by one 
member

Attended by four 
members.  

Attended by seven 
officers

Reason for
Deviation

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

Not appli-
cable

General Support (Logisitics)

General Support (Command And Management Information Systems)

Defence Reserve Direction
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Appendix  C
Chapter  12

CCrr iimmiinnaa ll ii tt yy   ii nn   tt hhee   DDOODD  ff oo rr   tt hhee
yyeeaa rr   eenndd ii nngg   3311   MMaa rr cchh   22001111

The DOD made significant progress during the year under
review on the management of Anti-Criminality. The Annual
DOD Anti-Criminality Conference held on 8 October 2010
was aimed at providing orientation-training to representatives
of Services and Divisions in support of the Nodal Point on
Anti-Criminality. Members were trained to conduct crime
risk surveys in order to determine the extent to which physi-
cal security measures were lacking and/or adequate at units in
the DOD.

In order to strengthen the management of Anti-Criminality,
policies will have to be aligned with the Strategy on Anti-
Criminality and DOD members will have to undergo formal
training on managing crime. To this end, the Provost
Marshall General has been tasked to formalize the DOD
Anti-Criminality Policy by no later than the end of June
2012. The DOD Nodal Point on Anti-Criminality has
engaged Defence Intelligence on the design of a training pro-
gram which will be specifically aimed at managing crime in
the DOD. 

The DOD Nodal Point on Anti-Criminality also actively
interacted with SITA for the design of an overarching Crime
Information System that integrates all the existing fragment-
ed information data already available in other DOD systems.
The aim of this system is to verify the integrity of informa-

tion from the existing systems and to make business intelli-
gence available to commanders and managers at all levels.
This overarching integrated data system is in an advanced
stage of development.  

The management of crime requirement has been included in
the performance agreements and management directives of
all commanders and managers.  In addition, Anti-Criminality
has been incorporated as a standing agenda point in the com-
mand and management forums of the DOD. This serves as a
constant reminder and raises awareness of crime in the drive
to implement the Anti-Criminality Strategy. The DOD
Safeguarding Board meets monthly and is attended by the
Services and Divisions. The commitment of commanders
and managers to the management of crime was demonstrated
by their personal signature on all safeguarding or anti-crimi-
nality reports and compliance plans.

The DOD vehicle fleet is safeguarded through the use of non-
removable stickers on D-vehicles in order to make them eas-
ily identifiable.  Some vehicles have also been fitted with
satellite tracking systems, which are monitored by Defence
Intelligence or the respective Service/Division.

Anti-Criminality in the DOD is well on its way to achieving
the goals of the Strategy on Anti-Criminality.  All members
of the DOD will be part of the fight against crime.
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DD OO DD   EE nn tt ee rr pp rr ii ss ee   RR ii ss kk   aa nn dd
MM ii tt ii gg aa tt ii oo nn   SS tt rr aa tt ee gg ii ee ss   ff oo rr

FF YY 22 00 11 00 // 11 11

Table D.1. provides the actual achievement of the Enterprise Risk and Mitigation Strategy for the FY2010/11, in accordance with
the DOD Strategic Plan FY2010/11.

Risk

The continued loss
of scarce skills due
to the exit of large
numbers of highly
skilled personnel

Mitigation Action

Interim Service
Commission has been
established to consider
remuneration and the
conditions of service of
members of the South
African National Defence
Force (SANDF).   A
unique service dispensa-
tion for the SANDF out-
side the ambit of the
Public Service

Implementation of the 
DOD retention strategy

Air Force partnering
with local aviation indus-
try

Actual Achievement

The DOD has developed a remuneration dispen-
sation that recognises military uniqueness for the
SANDF, salary levels 1 to 12 and will be imple-
mented in phases starting 1 July 2011

The Occupation Specific Dispensations (OSD) 
has been implemented for nurses, social work-
ers, medical practitioners and legal practitioners. 

On 15 March 2011 the DOD implemented a spe-
cial allowance for technicians in all applicable
environments 

The 22% increase in the payment scales of 
Reserve Force personnel has resulted in an
increasingly positive response from call-ups

The vigorous implementation of the retention 
strategy by Services and Divisions has led to
18% decline in scarce skills exit compared to the
previous financial year  

The Services and Divisions are complying with 
DOD Planning Instruction 13/09 and this is fur-
ther demonstrated by the above-mentioned
decline in the scarce skills exit

The SAAF together with DENEL Aviation have 
partnered in a SAAF/DENEL Co-Operation
agreement.  This agreement is known as the
Maintenance, Repair Organisation (MRO).  Since
the signing of this agreement the SAAF has
experienced a huge improvement in the avail-
ability of aircraft especially the C130.  The
SAAF/DENEL MRO has contributed to a 50%
increase in the C130 availability.  An amount of
Rm460 465 51 was used in the FY2010/11 and a
further Rm344 050 2 has been allocated for the
FY 2011/12

Table D.1:  DOD Risks and Mitigation Factors for the FY2010/11

Responsible
Service/Division

CHR

CHR

CHR/CAF
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Risk

Inadequate funding
for human resource
expenditure could
result in a further
burden on DOD's
budget vote/alloca-
tion

The declining Rand 
value of the DOD
budget could nega-
tively impact on the
Department's oper-
ating budget and
capital acquisitions
budget

Inadequate facility 
infrastructure main-
tenance and renova-
tion capacity result-
ing in unacceptable
facility repair and
renovation backlog
that detrimentally
impacts on force
preparation and
employment  

Incompatible sys-
tems could result in
ineffective and inef-
ficient performance

Lack of single logis-
tics management
information system
due to historic frag-
mentation system
enhancements.  This
has led to inability
to comply with
National Treasury
asset management
requirements
including financial
reporting leading to
audit qualification

Mitigation Action

DOD will engage
National Treasury for
additional funding

DOD will engage 
National Treasury for
additional funding to
address deficiencies in
the capital acquisition
budget

Immediately establish 
bilateral forum between
DPW and DOD leading
towards migrating some
custodian functions to
the DOD, and develop-
ment of an effective
memorandum of under-
standing. 

Finalize the development 
of the Works Capability
to assume some of the
migrated functions from
DPW to address capacity
inadequacies

Analysis of all the sys-
tems in the Department
with the intention of inte-
gration

Approaching National 
Treasury for permission
to procure DOD integrat-
ed system

Employment of out
sourced capabilities to
assist in addressing audit
qualification and asset
verification challenges.

Establishment of Inte-
grated Project Team to
investigate all available
options to develop a sin-
gle logistics information
system

Actual Achievement

National Treasury was engaged during the
Adjustment Budget process for additional fund-
ing. Rm352,4  was allocated to DOD's Budget for
increase in the cost of living and housing
allowance and the deficit in terms of the new
salary dispensation for military personnel, was
made available by means of internal savings

The DOD presented policy proposals for 
additional funding that amounted to R2, 600 bil-
lion for FY2010/11 to the National Treasury.
Due to economic circumstances and other, more
pressing, priorities of government the National
Treasury only provided an additional amount of
R650 million to the DOD for the FY2010/11. The
Department continues to engage with National
Treasury on the policy proposals for the addi-
tional funding  

The Council for Scientific Industrial Research 
(CSIR) is developing a DOD User Assets
Management Plan (UAMP) that will address the
rapid and escalating deterioration of the Defence
immovable assets. The condition assessment will
enable the DOD to bridge a maintenance gap
and determine the immovable assets book value.
However, the limited capability to manage facili-
ty maintenance funds via NDPW continues to
contribute further to the collapse and deteriora-
tion of facilities.   The DOD Works Capability
structures and migration were approved.   The
Maintenance Programme has progressed well
with the completion of 10 projects with a further
13 projects in progress.  Simultaneously, a Skills
Development Programme is underway with 674
students undergoing specialised facility related
training and 40 students have qualified

A task team has been appointed by the A/GITO 
and the CMIS to draft the DOD ICT Strategy
that will enable the effective and efficient align-
ment of all legacy and new ICT requirements in
support of the DOD's business requirement.  The
ICT Strategy is to be completed by end of July
2011

An Integrated Financial Management System for
supply chain management and procurement
implementation charter between National
Treasury and the DOD was formulated. Eleven
DOD units have been identified as lead sites and
the implementation of the asset register and pro-
curement will commence from 1 April 2011  

Table D.1:  DOD Risks and Mitigation Factors for the FY2010/11 (continued)

Responsible
Service/Division

CFO

CFO

C Log

GITO

C Log
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Risk

Non-compliance
with legislation, e.g.
certain aspects of the
PFMA

Poor communica-
tion on Defence
could lead to poor
reputation in the
public domain

Mitigation Action

Enhance good corporate
governance throughout
the DOD

Enhance the DOD's 
communication strategy

Actual Achievement

The DOD is in the process of establishing a
Compliance Chief Directorate.  The process of
drafting a Compliance framework, policy and
standard operating procedures commenced in
the period under review

The DOD (Corporate Communication Division 
Restructuring Task Team) has completed the
first draft of the DOD Corporate
Communication Doctrine and DOD Corporate
Communication Policy and Strategy. The
Personnel Management Code for the Corporate
Communication Division was approved by the
Minister of Defence.  This approval professional-
izes Corporate Communication as a mustering
and career dispensation for the Corporate
Communication function in the DOD  

Table D.1:  DOD Risks and Mitigation Factors for the FY2010/11 (continued)

Responsible
Service/Division

CFO

HOC

annrep 1011 1 to 148.qxp  2011/10/10  11:16  Page 139



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

140

Appendix  E
Chapter  12

NN ee ww   SS ee rr vv ii cc ee ss // OO uu tt pp uu tt ss   SS cc aa ll ee dd
UU pp   aa nn dd   SS ee rr vv ii cc ee ss   //   OO uu tt pp uu tt ss
SS cc aa ll ee dd   DD oo ww nn   oo rr   SS uu ss pp ee nn dd ee dd

ff oo rr   tt hh ee   FF YY 22 00 11 00 // 11 11

N e w   S e r v i c e s / O u t p u t s   S c a l e d   U p

HH uu mm aa nn   RR ee ss oo uu rr cc ee ss   SS uu pp pp oo rr tt   SS ee rr vv ii cc ee ss

The migration of the corporate Occupational Health and
Safety functions from the SA Military Health Services to the
HR Division has been finalised. However, the migration of
the corporate Physical Training, Sports and Recreation func-

tions is still not finalised.  The required staff liaison and staff
work in this regard is continuing.

SS AA   AA rr mm yy

Details of New Services/Outputs and/or Services/Outputs
Scaled Up is reflected in Table E.1 below. 

Sub-Sub Programme

Command and
Control Capability
Training Capability, 

Mot Inf Capability, 
Mech Inf Capability,
Para Inf Capability

Training Capability, 
Mot Inf Capability,
Mech Inf Capability,
Para Inf Capability

Support Capability

Table E.1:  Landward Defence (SA Army) New Services/Outputs and/or Services/Outputs Scaled Up

Status

In process

1 Apr 2010 target attained.  Rest in 
process, ie waiting delivery of
video cameras, shotgun ban-
doliers and crowbars; and pro-
curement of crowd control
equipment for one sub-unit at all
the remaining Regular and
Reserve nodal training points is
in process

In process.  One bn (-) deployed 
on the RSA Zimbabwe border
(Madimbo), One sub-unit
deployed on the RSA/Mozam-
bique border (Macadamia) and
one sub-unit deployed on the
RSA/Mozambique border
(Ndumo)

In process

Reason for 
New Output / Up-Scaling of Service

Migration of the SA Army Reserves
facility footprint from the status quo
to agreed footprint (SA Army
Implementation Instruction
044/2009)

SAAO/C Dir Army F 
Prep/002/01/09 dd 20 Jul 09 task to
GOC SA Army Inf Fmn - "GOC SA
Army Inf Fmn is to establish before 1
Apr 2010 and thereafter manage the
SA Army's crowd con cap until fur-
ther orders."

Cabinet decision to employ the 
SANDF on the RSA borders with
phased approach, deploying in three
phases starting in the short term

Migration to the SA Army Support 
Formation from the DOD Log
Support Formation

Output
(Quantity, Quality)

2 x HQ units

(Fort Ikapa and 
Kensington
Garrison)

Crowd Control

Border Safeguarding

5 x units
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The following services were scaled up:

The planning has been completed for the establishment
of a SAMHS unique operational logistical support unit
to prepare and support SAMHS members for external
and internal deployments. The initial appreciation for 9
Medical Battalion Group has been completed. However,
a decision was taken to defer any further planning and
implementation until such time that the SA Army struc-
tures have been approved and funding is made available
for new services or outputs.

The SADC Military Health Secretariat was established
during FY2009/10; however, funding has become a
challenge. The SADC Military Health Doctrine is being
developed to guide the different operational activities of
the regional Military Health Workgroups.

The establishment of a SAMHS counter-intelligence
staff function is negatively affected by structural issues
such as the availability of posts, suitable human
resources and funding.

Donor funding continues to be utilised for the renova-
tion and upgrading of military health facilities under the
Area Military Health Service Sub-programme.
Renovations of the pharmacies at the Sickbays
Langebaanweg and the Waterkloof Military Medical
Clinic have been completed for the roll-out of antiretro-
viral treatment. The pharmacies at 2 Military Hospital
and the roll-out site in Potchefstroom have been com-
pleted and contributed to the provision of services and
the managing of patients accessing anti-retroviral treat-
ment. The dental treatment facility at Overberg in
Bredasdorp has been scaled up for rendering a dental
service.

The establishment of a hospice/palliative care facility at
Lenz Military Base was completed in liaison with the
SA Army, however, is not operational due to the short-
age of human resources. The initial appreciation and
staff work for the establishment of emergency care facil-
ities at the three military hospitals have also been com-
pleted.  

The Military Veterinary Institute has initiated a basic
Veterinary Epidemiology section to provide the Surgeon
General and the DOD with early warning pertaining to
zoonotic diseases.  Funding and structural changes are
required to establish a full capability.

The establishment of unique cleaning services for the
three military hospitals has proved to be challenging in
terms of funding, structural changes and trained human
resources. The management interventions to implement
this initiative are continuing.

The internal restructuring of the Military Health
Procurement unit and the establishment of a codification

section has assisted the SAMHS to address challenges
with regard to the codification of suppliers.  The struc-
ture of Military Health Procurement Unit must be
reviewed in accordance with legislative prescripts in
terms of the separation of functions.  Restructuring of
the unit is also required to execute the codification func-
tion.

The establishment of additional accommodation and
messing facilities have been appreciated and possible
options for consideration have been investigated.
SAMHS has performed initial planning for border safe-
guarding in liaison with CJ Ops for the establishment of
health facilities in accordance with the concept of oper-
ations for Operation CORONA.  

DD ee ff ee nn cc ee   FF oo rr ee ii gg nn   RR ee ll aa tt ii oo nn ss   (( DD FF RR ))

The Minister of Defence instructed that a Defence Attaché
office be opened in Cuba.  As this was an unfunded change to
plan, it was approved that residential Defence representation
in Tunisia be closed down and that representation be contin-
ued by means of non-residential accreditation from Algiers.
The Defence Office in Tunisia will be closed by the end of
May 2011.

CC oo mm mm aa nn dd   MM aa nn aa gg ee mm ee nn tt   II nn ff oo rr mm aa tt ii oo nn
SS yy ss tt ee mm   (( CC MM II SS ))

Concurrent with involvement in the Integrated Financial
Management System (IFMS) initiative, the DOD is position-
ing itself to be able to accept IFMS modules and integrate
these modules with DOD Unique information systems.  

SS AA   AA ii rr   FF oo rr cc ee

Operational Support and Intelligence Systems (Protection
Services)

Creation of Centre of Excellence for Functional
Protection Training. Functional training became the
full responsibility of Operational Support and
Intelligence Systems following the relocation of Basic
Military Training to Air Force Base Hoedspruit.
Protection Services training is also relocating to the Air
Force Gymnasium at Hoedspruit.  The relocation is on
schedule as instructed by Air Command Council.  The
intended relocation date was 01 January 2011, however,
due to the Department of Public Works preparation
phase" 2" that is yet not completed, the relocation date
was moved to 01 January 2012.  

Protection Services are awaiting confirmation of the
start of phase "2" in the new financial year starting April
2011. The phase will be monitored to ensure the com-
mencement of training from 01 January 2012. All mem-
bers have been notified and transfer list will be finalised
at the end of September 2011.
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The training to qualify protection members to Civil
Aviation Security Standards. The aim is to exit MSDS
members with portable skills at the end of their service
period. The SAAF must also comply with International
Civil Aviation Standards in adherence to Air Field
Security Regulations. This process has been postponed
due to the high cost and budget restrictions implement-
ed by the SAAF. The identified qualification to replace
the Civil Aviation Security Standard is the SASSETA
accredited Aviation Ground Protection (AGP) Course.

The first accredited AGP was presented in the
FY2010/11.

S e r v i c e s / O u t p u t s   S c a l e d   D o w n   o r
S u s p e n d e d

HH uu mm aa nn   RR ee ss oo uu rr cc ee ss   SS uu pp pp oo rr tt   SS ee rr vv ii cc ee ss

Table E.2.:  Subprogramme Human Resources Support
Services Services/Outputs Scaled Down or Suspended during
FY2010/11

Sub
Programme

HR Div
(DMVA)

Reason for 
Deviation

Not Applicable

Table E.2.:  Subprogramme Human Resources Support Services Services/Outputs Scaled Down or
Suspended during FY2010/11

Actual 
Achievement

With the establish-
ment of the
Department of
Military Veterans the
responsibility for this
aspect no longer
resides within the
HR Div  

Reason for Scaling
Down/ Suspen-

sion/Abolishment

The Directorate
Military Veterans
Affairs has been inte-
grated with the
Department of
Military Veterans

Reduction in
Output

Quantitative
reduction in
the output

Implications

The integration
resulted in a
decrease in the
structure as well
as the allocated
budget of HR
Div (CD HRM)

Units Closed Down during the FY2010/11. Out of the 30
Force Structure Element (FSE) codes to be closed, 22 FSE
Codes were submitted to IG DOD for final inspection. 22
FSE Codes were submitted to DIMS for re-allocation to DOD
HQ Unit as these codes were incorrectly allocated to the HR
Division.

SS AA   AA rr mm yy

Units Closed Down during the FY2010/11. The status of
closing down of redundant FSEs as on 15 March 2011 is
depicted in the tables below.

Institution

Gp HQs

Commandos

Legacies

ASBs

CMI

TOTAL

Rectification 
Process

7

0

0

0

7

Table E.3.:   SA Army Units Closed Down during the FY2010/11.

Awaiting 
De-activation

5

1

0

0

6

Closed
FY 2010/11

5

12

2

0

19

Total FSE's to 
be closed

20

183

18

4

37

262

Still to be 
Closed

3

170

16

4

37

230
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Sub
Programme

Product 
Support
Capability

Base 
Maintenance
Capability

Area Military 
Health
Service 

Reason for 
Deviation

Achieved

Structures for the 
self-accounting status
of units have to be
addressed

Shortage of qualified 
pharmacists

None

Table E.4.:  Military Health Support Programme Services/Outputs Scaled Down or Suspended during
FY2010/11.

Actual 
Achievement

Functions and activities
have been migrated to
the Military Health
Mobilisation Depot
Unit 

Process of rolling 
back of the functions
had been initiated.
Training of human
resources had been ini-
tiated.  Self accounting
status and structural
implications are being
appreciated by the
Directorate Military
Health Plan,
Management and
Renewal Services, in
liaison with all SAMHS
role players

In process

Reason for Scaling
Down/ Suspen-

sion/Abolishment

Decision from
authorities

Corporate DOD deci-
sion to close the
General Support
Base concept 

Shortage of qualified 
pharmacists

Reduction in
Output

Closing down 
of  the
Medical Base
Ordinance
Depot

Rolling back 
of functions

Dispensing of 
medication at
approved
decentralised
service points

Implications

No implications 
as the functions
have been taken
over

Functions from 
the support base
concept to be
rolled back to
units 

Closing of phar-
macies, ie Air
Force Base
Bloemspruit

In the SAArmy a maximum period of three years is required
to close a structure to its full consequence due to the number
of external role players involved.

SS AA MM HH SS

Table E.4.:  Military Health Support Programme
Services/Outputs Scaled Down or Suspended during
FY2010/11.

SAMHS Units Closed Down during the FY2010/11. The
SAMHS has 141 force structure elements and/or accounting
codes with the status "Closing".  The final audit by the IG
DOD on the Pomfret Military Base Hospital (Com Log) had
been completed. Three more force structure elements name-
ly North West Medical Command, Eastern Transvaal
Medical Command and 14 MSD Unit Services are ready for
the scheduled pre-audit.  A 108 accounting codes require a
shortened closure process.  The Chiefs of Divisions are to

perform the investigation and to certify the readiness for clo-
sure to the IG DOD.  Chief Human Resources has completed
some of the investigations.  The normal closing down process
has to be followed with 29 force structure elements.  Seven of
these force structure elements are ready for the pre-audits
namely Gauteng Medical Command, the Senior Medical and
Staff School, the SAMHS Academy, the Military Base
Ordinance Depot, Sickbay Thaba Nchu, Sickbay
Wallmansthal and the Prop Items Standard Stock.
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Units Closed Down during the FY2010/11. The outstand-
ing administrative actions were finalised during the financial
year to close the following units:

SAS ADAM KOK

SAS UNITIE

SAS CHAPMAN

JJ   OO PP SS

Table E.5.:  Force Employment Programme Services/Outputs
Scaled Down or Suspended during FY2010/11

Sub
Programme

Support to
the People

Reason for 
Deviation

No deviation

Table E.5.:  Force Employment Programme Services/Outputs Scaled Down or Suspended during
FY2010/11.

Actual 
Achievement

The operation was successfully
executed.  The SANDF provided
support in the provision of safety
and security to the SAPS, the pro-
vision of airspace security, the pro-
vision of Special Forces teams, the
provision of maritime resources to
ensure maritime safety; the provi-
sion of Chemical, Biological and
Radiological Response teams; and
the provision of medical staff in
support of the Department of
Health.  In total the SANDF
resources for this operation was as
follow: On Average from 21 May
2010 to 15 July 2010, 4 573 mem-
bers where deployed per day, (de-
ployed members peaked at 6 421)
supported by the SAAF with
Grippens, Hawks, C130 Transport
Aircraft, C212 Cessna Transport
Aircraft,  C47TP Dekota Transport
Aircraft,  Koiler aircraft, King Air
(VIP Transport) Oryx Helicopters,
C208 Casa aircraft, A109 Agusta
Helicopter, Lynx Helicopter,
MBK7 Helicopter, PC12 Pilatus air-
craft and PC7 Pilatus aircraft.
Total flying hours 2 328

SA Navy support: 
SAS AMATOLA, SAS DRAKENS-
BERG, SAS PROTEA, SAS UMZ-
IMKULU, SAS QUEEN MODJAD-
JI, SAS CHARLOTTE MAXEKE,
SAS GALESHEWE, SAS UMKO-
MAAS and SAS TERN with a total
of  9 215 Sea Hours utilised 

Service Support was provided by 
the SAMHS 

Reason for Scaling
Down/ Suspen-

sion/Abolishment

Once off event.
2010 FIFA World
Cup successfully
executed 

Reduction in
Output

Operation
KGWELE
(SANDF
support dur-
ing the host-
ing of the
2010 FIFA
World Cup) 

Implications

With the suc-
cessful comple-
tion of this
event South
Africa proved
to the whole
world that
Major events in
the future  can
be successfully
hosted

Units Closed Down during the FY2010/11. 4 Units, namely:  Operations Division, Regional Joint Task Force Central, Regional
Joint Task Force South and Regional Joint Task Force North was prepared for closure.  Final Inspection Report is awaited for
final closure. 
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Table E.6.: Joint Logistic Services Subprogramme Service/Outputs Scaled Down or Suspended.

Sub
Programme

Logistics

Reason for 
Deviation

Ministerial Instruction
(function shift)

Ministerial Instruction 
(function shift)

Table E.6.: Joint Logistic Services Subprogramme Service/Outputs Scaled Down or Suspended

Actual 
Achievement

Depots transferred

Mobilisation centre 
and sub-depot
transferred 

Reason for Scaling
Down/ Suspen-

sion/Abolishment

Function Shift - One
main ordinance
depot and two sub-
ordinance depots

Function Shift - One 
mobilisation centre
and sub-depot

Reduction in
Output

Centralised
Logistic
Capabilities

Centralised 
Logistic
Capabilities

Implications

SA Army
obtained the
responsibility for
the management
of the depots and
its content

SA Army ob-
tained  the
responsibility for
the management
of mobilisation
and of the sub-
depot and its 
contents

Sub
Programme

Directorate
Regulatory
Audits

Inspection 
Services
capability

Reason for 
Deviation

The Directorate
Regulatory/Complian
ce Audits had to scale
down on commit-
ments due to their
involvement with the
Consortium training

No capacity to con-
duct inspections

Table E.7.:  Inspection Services Subprogramme Services/Outputs Scaled Down or Suspended during
FY2010/11. 

Actual 
Achievement

58

0

Reason for Scaling
Down/ Suspen-

sion/Abolishment

The Directorate
Regulatory/Complia
nce Audits had to
scale down on com-
mitments due to
their involvement
with the Consortium
training

Structure for separa-
tion of audit/inspec-
tion function not
implemented

Reduction in
Output

Postponed 6
compliance
audits

No inspec-
tions con-
ducted.

Implications

Revision of target

No inspections 
conducted

II nn ss pp ee cc tt ii oo nn   SS ee rr vv ii cc ee ss

Table E.7.:  Inspection Services Subprogramme Services/Outputs Scaled Down or Suspended during FY2010/11. 
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Table E.8.:  Air Defence Programme Services/Outputs Scaled Down or Suspended during FY2010/11.

Sub
Programme

Fighter capa-
bility
(Gripen)

Fighter 
trainer capa-
bility

Ammunition
/ bombs/
cartridges/
pyrotechnics

Reason for 
Deviation

Underfunding

Underfunding

Underfunding

Table E.8.:  Air Defence Programme Services/Outputs Scaled Down or Suspended during FY2010/11.

Actual 
Achievement

The serviceability of the
Gripen fleet peaked at 9 air-
craft and has stabilised to 6
during the 4th quarter and
an average of 7 for the year.
The Capability managed to
increase 550 allocated hours
to 850 by means of the
SAAF allocating additional
funds 

The Hawk fleet service-
ability was 6 during the 4th

quarter; an average 9 for
the year.  No additional
hours could be funded

This expenditure plan is 
still unchanged for the
munitions of 120, 250 kg
bombs, fireball fuses and
practice fuses.  It must be
indicated that this concept
has been derived to reduce
a once off large commit-
ment of funds to a limited
budget.  This enormous
commitment has therefore
been staggered over a 4-
year term contract so that it
may be aligned with the
Air Force budgetary con-
straints.  The limited stock
of countermeasure flare
operational stock requires
urgent attention.  No fund-
ing is available for Gripen
27 mm ammunition.  Hawk
30 mm ammunition has
very limited stock.
Operational countermea-
sure flare stock for Gripen
(Flare Countermeasure 218
Mk3) limited stock.  These
flares are utilised by Gripen
and C130 aircraft and only
1300 flares are left

Reason for Scaling
Down/ Suspen-

sion/Abolishment

Funding shortfall
on Gripen operat-
ing budget

Funding shortfall 
on Hawk operat-
ing budget

Funding shortfall 
on munitions
budget

Reduction in
Output

Reduction of
flying hours
per current air-
crew member
to 110 hours
versus 224
required

Reduction in 
flying hours
per current air-
crew member
to approximate-
ly 120 versus
required 175 for
the year

Below require-
ment weapon
acquisitions

Implications

Output objec-
tives will not
be achieved

Output objec-
tives will not
be achieved

Output objec-
tives will not
be achieved

Air Combat Capability
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Sub
Programme

VIP trans-
port capabili-
ty

Medium  
transport
capability
(C130)

Light 
Transport
Capability
(CASA)

Liaison 
Capability
(King Air,
PC12 and
Citation)

Maritime 
Patrol /
Medium
Light
Transport
(C47TP)

Light 
Transport
(C208)

Reason for 
Deviation

Underfunding

Underfunding

Underfunding

Underfunding

Underfunding

Underfunding

Table E.8.:  Air Defence Programme Services/Outputs Scaled Down or Suspended during FY2010/11.

Actual 
Achievement

BBJ received additional 160
Hours and a 100 Hours from
the Falcon 900 was reallocat-
ed to assist other A/C sys-
tems

BBJ received additional 
funding to reduce the reduc-
tion in output

Due to lack of spares and 
also the low serviceability of
aircraft, the Squadron flew
496.7 hours that was allocat-
ed for FY2010/11

Due to lack of spares and 
high unserviceability of the
CASA fleet, the Squadron
flew 490 hours less than that
was allocated (1560 Hours) to
them

Hours utilised to assist 
other A/C Systems

Due to poor serviceability of 
the Citation fleet, reduction
in 85 hours to assist other
A/C Systems

Increase in allocated hours 
for the King Air fleet by 170
hours for the FY2010/11

Increase in allocated hours 
for the PC12 by 68 hours for
the FY2010/11

The C47-TP fleet was well 
maintained throughout the
FY2010/11 with the shortage
of spares and limitations of
the aircraft

Due to increased tasking, 
this system received an addi-
tional 200 hours from the
original 1,400 hours that was
allocated for FY2010/11

This A/C system was allo
cated 2 270 hours for
FY2010/11, an additional
1 290 was allocated due to
increased tasking

Reason for Scaling
Down/ Suspen-

sion/Abolishment

Limited funding
allocation

Funding shortfal 
on C130 operating
budget

Limited funding 
allocation

Limited funding 
allocation.

Limited funding 
allocation

Limited funding
allocation

Reduction in
Output

250 Hours

404 Hours

672 Hours

389 Hours

606 Hours

474 hours

Implications

Output objec-
tives will not
be achieved

Output objec-
tives will not
be achieved

Output objec-
tives will not
be achieved

Output objec-
tives will not
be achieved

Output objec-
tives will not
be achieved

Output objec-
tives will not
be achieved

Air Transport and Maritime Capability

Units Closed Down during the FY2010/11. During the
course of the financial year, the SAAF has finalised and pre-
audited the accounting documentation of eight units and 45
accounting codes. About six units and 41 accounting codes

have been forwarded to the IG DOD to conduct their final
closing down audits. The remaining two units and four
accounting codes are still in the logistical finalisation
process.

annrep 1011 1 to 148.qxp  2011/10/10  11:16  Page 147



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

148

annrep 1011 1 to 148.qxp  2011/10/10  11:17  Page 148



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1 149

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

DEPARTMENT  OF  DEFENCE  
AND  MILITARY  VETERANS  

2

F INANCIAL  PERFORMANCE

1  Apr i l   2010  to   31  March  2011

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

Safeguarding South Africa for a Better Life for all
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21
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PART  4:  FINANCIAL  PERFORMANCE  

REPORT  OF  THE  AUDIT
COMMITTEE  -   DEPARTMENT
OF  DEFENCE  AND  MILITARY

VETERANS
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2011.

A u d i t   C o m m i t t e e   M e m b e r s   a n d   A t t e n d a n c e :   

The Audit Committee consists of the external members listed hereunder and should meet 4 times per annum as per its approved
terms of reference. During the current year, 5 meetings were held. 

Name of Member
Dr D. Konar (Chairperson) 
Mr K.A. Ross 
Ms J. Kumbirai (contract expired 6 December 2010)

Number of Meetings Attended
5
5
3

Mr V. Nondabula (Chairperson from 26 May 2011)

Mr S. Radebe

Mr Z. Ngcakani

Dr Konar’s contract expired in May 2011. Mr Ross passed on in January 2011. Mr Nondabula, Mr Radebe and Mr Ngcakani
were appointed as members of the Audit Committee on 26 May 2011. The Audit Committee, under the chairmanship of Mr V.
Nondabula, reviewed the Audit Report, Management Letter and Financial Statements for the year ending 31 March 2011.

A u d i t   C o m m i t t e e   R e s p o n s i b i l i t y   

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 77 of the PFMA and Treasury
Regulation 3.1.

The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit Committee Charter, has
regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein. 

T h e   e f f e c t i v e n e s s   o f   i n t e r n a l   c o n t r o l     

The system of internal control applied by the Department over financial risk and risk management is partially effective, efficient
and transparent. 

The system of internal control was not entirely effective for the year under review. During the year under review, several defi-
ciencies in the system of internal control and/or deviations were reported by the internal auditors and the Auditor-General South
Africa. In certain instances, the matters reported previously have not been fully and satisfactorily addressed. 
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REPORT  OF  THE  AUDIT  COMMITTEE  -   
DEPARTMENT  OF  DEFENCE  AND  MILITARY  VETERANS

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

T h e   q u a l i t y   o f   i n   y e a r   m a n a g e m e n t   a n d   q u a r t e r l y   r e p o r t s   s u b m i t t e d   i n
t e r m s   o f   t h e   P F M A

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the content and quality of monthly and quarterly reports prepared and issued by the
Accounting Officer of the Department during the year under review. 

E v a l u a t i o n   o f   F i n a n c i a l   S t a t e m e n t s   

The Audit Committee has: 

reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements to be included in the annual report, with the Auditor-General
and the Accounting Officer; 

reviewed the Auditor-General's management report and management's response thereto; 

reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices; 

reviewed the departments compliance with legal and regulatory provisions, and 

reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit. 

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the Auditor-General's conclusions on the annual financial statements, and is of the
opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor-General. 

I n t e r n a l   a u d i t   

The Audit Committee is not satisfied that the internal audit function is operating effectively and that it has addressed the risks
pertinent to the Department in its audit.  The internal audit function needs to be further capacitated to execute its professional
responsibilities.

A u d i t o r - GG e n e r a l   S o u t h   A f r i c a   

The Audit Committee has met with the Auditor-General South Africa to ensure that there are no unresolved issues. 

Chairperson of the Audit Committee 

Pretoria

29 July 2011
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AACCCCOOUUNNTTIINNGG  OOFFFFIICCEERR  

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

Report by the Accounting Officer to the Executive Authority and Parliament of the Republic of South Africa.

The Annual Financial Statements attached to this report include the expenditure of the Department of Military Veterans and the
performance information of the Department of Military Veterans is covered in the Annual Report of the Department of Defence. 

1. General Review of the State of Financial Affairs

1.1 Strategic issues and decisions

This section provides an overview of the strategic positioning that the Department of Defence (DOD) has taken as
directed by the Executive Authority and the Accounting Officer to improve its resource base as well as to maximise
the efficient, economic and equitable accountability thereof.  During the period under review the following progress
was made on previously identified strategic issues and policy decisions.

1.1.1 Strategic issues

1.1.1.1 White Paper on Defence and Defence Review. During September 2010, a work team finalised the development of
the Defence Strategy Conceptual Framework as a prelude to the development and drafting of the Defence Strategy.
The Defence Strategy Conceptual Framework was presented to the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans during
March 2011 for her consideration and approval.  As a further input to the development of the Defence Strategy, two
detailed staff papers pertaining to Geostrategic Environment and Defence scenarios and key elements of the Defence
Strategy are in the process of development. It is envisaged that the Defence Strategy will be considered for approval
by the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans during the course of the financial year 2011/12 after a public/stake-
holder consultation process has been finalised as a final input to the Defence Strategy.  In addition to the above, a staff
paper on the National Security Strategy is in the process of development wherein the National Security Strategy Policy
Anchors impacting on Defence are being identified.

1.1.1.2 The Department of Military Veterans. The Military Veterans' Bill was approved during December 2010, which was
consequently followed with an analysis and determination of the strategic resourcing to enable the Department of
Military Veterans to achieve its constitutional mandate of ensuring justifiable socio-economic rights to military veter-
ans.  This was presented to the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans during a Ministerial work session in March
2011.  The developed Medium Term Expenditure Framework budget costing and Medium Term Expenditure
Committee funding requirements as approved by the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans were articulated in a
Cabinet Memorandum and presented to Cabinet on 16 March 2011.  The DOD is in the process of formulating sub-
sequent Departmental regulations and policies in support of the approved Bill.  During the year under review the activ-
ities of the Department of Military Veterans continued to be funded under this Vote with progress being made to oper-
ationalise these for future implementation under a separated Vote.

1.1.1.3 Improvements of the SANDF members service conditions. The promulgation of the Defence Amendment Act 22
of 2010 provided for the establishment of the permanent Defence Force Service Commission (DFSC).  The mandate
of the DFSC will be, amongst others, to focus on the conditions of service of SANDF members.  Support structures
to facilitate the mandate of the DFSC are to be completed during the financial year 2011/12.

1.1.1.4 Establishment of the National Youth Service (NYS). The concept paper on the NYS has been completed.  A pilot
programme has been completed in Bloemfontein with a group of 500 recruits undergoing training. 1 500 recruits are
planned for the financial year 2011/12, 2 500 recruits planned for the financial year 2012/13 and  6 000 recruits plan-
ned for the financial year 2013/14.
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1.1.1.5 Provision of skills

1.1.1.5.1 The Military Skills Development System (MSDS) was implemented in January 2003 with the aim of providing the
SANDF with military human resources as required for force preparation and force employment specifications.  It
forms the DOD's primary contribution to youth development.  The MSDS also alleviates unemployment and poverty
by preparing young people between the age of 18 and 26 years for rewarding careers either in the SANDF or for decent
employment in the broader public and private sectors.  The MSDS is a two-year contract based service system and is
the main feeder system for the Regular Force and Reserves.  The MSDS has the following goals:

The system inducts new members into the SANDF.

It equips members with basic military skills and functional training for service in the military.

It evaluates member's development potential and suitability for continued services in the Regular Force and
Reserves.

It tests members so that the organisation can choose individuals for a possible continued career in the military.

It ensures a sufficiently trained pool of young and fit members to fulfil the SANDF's deployment needs.

It feeds the Reserves with trained troops and junior leaders.

Is the primary vehicle to rejuvenate the SANDF's Human Resource composition (Regular Force and Reserves)
to improve mission readiness and to grant development opportunities to the youth.

1.1.1.5.2 Since the inception of the MSDS, 33 536 youths joined the employment system of the SANDF.  Of the total intake,
8 542 are currently serving in the MSDS, 6 770 have separated from the SANDF (of whom 4 821 are serving in the
Reserves) and 18 224 translated to the Regular Forces where they are undergoing advanced training in various disci-
plines and are being utilised accordingly.

1.1.1.5.3 The results of implementing the MSDS are best viewed from the vantage point of rank-age compliance: only 10.8%
of Privates were in the age group 18 to 24 years old in the year 2000 compared to 55% currently.

1.1.1.5.4 The MSDS also is a feeder system, at entry levels, of scarce skills and critical musterings.  Since its inception, 6 172
youths have been employed in critical musterings i.e. air space control, aircrew, combat navy, engineer, medical pro-
fessional, nursing, technical and technical air.  Therefore, the MSDS significantly contributes, at entry level, to the sus-
tainment of scarce skills and critical musterings.

1.1.1.5.5 The young men and women who emerge after MSDS service are on the whole much more mature, disciplined, serv-
ice delivery orientated, career orientated and patriotic than one would normally expect from young people who have
just completed high-school.  Through the MSDS, the SANDF continues to invest directly in South Africa's most
important asset, our youth.  In support of the government initiative on job creation, the DOD plans to create job oppor-
tunities for 5 700 young South Africans per year through the MSDS.

1.1.1.6 Border Safeguarding. As per the 2009 Cabinet decision, the SANDF has assumed the borderline control function.
In execution of this task under Operation CORONA, the SANDF has adopted a phased-in strategy.  The first phase
(Zimbabwe/South Africa border) and the second phase (Mozambique/South Africa border) has been rolled out.  The
last phase of the strategy with regards to the Lesotho/South Africa border will be completed by the financial year
2012/13.

1.1.1.7 Defence Industry.

1.1.1.7.1 ARMSCOR and DENEL are central in this regard.  Armscor is established in terms of applicable legislation to serve
as the acquisition agency of the DOD.  Because of this role, ARMSCOR is a critical stakeholder in so far as the
SANDF's operational effectiveness is concerned.  As the agency serving the DOD, ARMSCOR falls under the juris-
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dictional authority of the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans.  Experience over the years has continuously
pointed towards the need for the review of the relationship between the DOD and ARMSCOR for the purposes of
achieving efficiency and economy.  A conceptual framework for the repositioning of ARMSCOR has been developed.
This framework addresses matters of relationships between ARMSCOR and the DOD in terms of business process,
governance, risk, compliance and accounting.

1.1.1.7.2 DENEL is a public enterprise falling under the jurisdiction of the Minister of Public Enterprises.  DENEL is very
important to the DOD as it serves as the repository of some of the SANDF's strategic capabilities.  For DENEL to
remain such an important supplier of defence capabilities and given the current challenges faced by DENEL, the rela-
tionship between the DOD and DENEL has to be clearly defined.  Noting the importance of DENEL to the SANDF's
continued operational efficiency and effectiveness, the DOD has adopted a framework which forms the basis of its
discussions with the Department of Public Enterprises on DENEL.  Central to the discussions is the realisation of an
end state where DENEL shall remain the reliable supplier of strategic capital equipment to the SANDF, yet remains
a going concern that claims a share in the international defence market.  A presentation outlining several options in
terms of the public entities will be made to the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans for consideration and
approval by the Council on Defence (COD) during the financial year 2011/12.

1.1.1.8 Revitalisation of the Reserves. The current Reserves strength has increased to 26 147 of which approximately 84%
are from the previously disadvantaged groups.  About 12 500 of the 26 147 are being called-up per year.  This has
enabled the DOD not only to utilise the Reserves in external deployment but also to deploy them on the borders where
they are achieving success.  During the reporting period, the Defence Act was amended to make it compulsory for the
Reserves to respond to call-ups not only in times of war but also in times of national need.  This has provided the abil-
ity to invest in the development of the Reserves.

1.1.1.9 Defence Infrastructure. The reversal of the DOD deteriorating infrastructure requires both additional financial allo-
cation and increased technical capacity.  In order to address the declining state of defence infrastructure, the DOD will
be finalising discussions with the Department of Public Works on the establishment of the Defence Estate
Management mechanism which will result in the DOD progressively exiting from the current arrangement on Property
and Facilities Management by the Department of Public Works.  In pursuance of this objective, the rolling-out of the
Defence Works Capacity, which is an in-house capacity to maintain and repair defence facilities, will be implement-
ed in the financial year 2011/12.  On 01 April 2011 Project LEBAKA officially merged to form the Defence Works
Capability.  The new formation is aimed at providing efficient, effective and economical operational level Facility
Management in support of the strategy and objectives of the DOD.  The macro-structure of the Defence Works
Formation was approved by the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans on 23 March 2011.  Subsequently, the
Acting CSANDF issued an implementation instruction for the establishment of the Defence Works Formation with
effect from 01 April 2011.

1.1.1.10 Balanced Scoreboard (BSC) Project. The ongoing development of the BSC within the DOD has been enhanced
through the development of the DOD Strategic Planning Framework (SPF) during the financial year 2010/11.  The
BSC has aligned itself with the corporate Level 0 and 1 performance information as contained within the SPF and
approved by the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans.  The translation of the noted SPF performance informa-
tion into the electronic COGNOS system, in conjunction with SITA, will see the incremental roll-out of electronical-
ly managed performance information during the financial year 2011/12.

1.1.2 Strategic decisions. During the year under review the following strategic decisions were confirmed:

On 3 March 2011, the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans made a determination on matters considered impor-
tant for the DOD to pursue as strategic priorities during the financial year 2011/12 and beyond.  These defence prior-
ities seek, on the one hand, to implement the State of the Nation Address pronouncements applicable to the DOD
whilst on the other hand, they place at focus other defence important sustained agenda matters.  The strategic priori-
ties identified are as follows:
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Execution of the border safeguarding function.

Establishment of the new Service Dispensation.

Enhancement of the SANDF's Landward Defence capabilities.

Maritime security.

Job creation.

Enhancement of the SANDF's peacekeeping capability.

National Youth Service.

Revitalisation of the Reserves.

Restructuring and support of the Defence Industry.

Department of Defence Works Capability.

1.2 Defence Vote: Rm 30 715,333 (Appropriation Act, Act No 3 of 2010)

1.2.1 The DOD approved budget published in the Estimate of National Expenditure: 2010 report for the period 1 April 2010
to 31 March 2011 was compiled on a cash basis per programme and amounted to Rm30 715,333.  It included all enti-
ties under control of the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans.  The original budget was approved through leg-
islative action and specifically the Appropriation Act, Act 3 of 2010.  The original budget objectives and policies per
main division of the Vote were also published in the 2010/11 Strategic Business Plan and will be reported on in detail
in the relevant parts of this Annual Report.  This was adjusted by a net reduction of Rm272,742  after virements, funds
shifts and additional allocations through the Adjustment Appropriation Act of 2010.  Full details of the adjustments
are provided in par 1.3 below.

1.2.2 The 2010/11 Defence Vote decreased by Rm1 673,971 (5,17%) from the 2008 Medium Term Expenditure Framework
allocation for the same year and decreased by Rm1 309,051 from the previous financial year's annual audited expen-
diture outcomes.  The Defence Vote amounted to 1,14% of South Africa's gross domestic product (GDP) or 3,75% of
total government expenditure (GE).  The overall decrease in the allocation is due to the termination of the A400M air-
craft procurement contract, exchange rate savings on the strategic defence procurement programme and the institution
of some efficiency savings.

1.2.3 Additional and reduced allocations that influenced the 2010/11 Defence Vote are:

Inflation related adjustment for salaries Rm 423

New SANDF remuneration system       Rm 600

Upgrade of Air Force Base Waterkloof runway Rm 250

Military Skills Development System     Rm 50

Military Veterans' affairs                       Rm 20

Foreign exchange rate adjustments      Rm       (503)

Termination of the A400M contract       Rm     (2 067)

Efficiency savings                                 Rm       (447)

1.2.4 Landward Defence (32,5%) and Air Defence (9,73%) are the two largest programmes within the Defence Vote.  The
year-on-year increase in the Landward Defence programme was mainly due to the Military Skills Development
System, procurement of critical ammunition and the establishment of a works capability.  The large decrease in the
Air Defence programme was due to the termination of the A400M aircraft procurement contract.  The higher than

annrep 1011 Finrep.qxp  2011/10/10  10:42  Page 156



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1 157

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

REPORT  OF  THE  ACCOUNTING  OFFICER  
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

average, year-on-year increases in the Administration and General Support programmes were mainly due to the estab-
lishment of the Department of Military Veterans, the activities of the Interim Defence Force Service Commission,
upgrade of the Air Force Base Waterkloof runway and the maintenance and repair of Defence infrastructure and facil-
ities.

1.2.5 From an economic classification perspective compensation of employees (43,79%) and transfers and subsidies
(22,24%) amounted to 66,03% of the Vote, leaving available 33,97% for operating the department and renewing cap-
ital assets.  Significant operating costs  provided for are contractors (Rm3 844), inventory, food and food supplies
(Rm560), computer services (Rm971) and property payments (Rm506).

1.3 Defence Adjustment Vote:  Minus Rm272,742 (Adjustment Appropriation Act, 2010)

1.3.1 The Defence Vote in total has decreased by Rm272,742 through the Adjustment Vote due to the following:

1.3.1.1 Increases

Unforeseen and unavoidable expenditure to the amount of Rm225,000 for the support provided to the South
African Police Service during the hosting of the 2010 FIFA World Cup and for support provided during the
2010 public service strike.

Salary increase, including housing allowance, not included in the Vote to the amount of Rm352,400 which
were allocated to the following programmes:

Administration Rm     28,172

Force Employment Rm     20,032

Landward Defence Rm    149,412

Air Defence Rm      49,199

Maritime Defence Rm      29,789

Military Health Support Rm      43,754

Defence Intelligence Rm       4,340

General Support Rm      27,702

Self financing expenditure to the amount of Rm149,858 resulting from the sale of equipment and spares dur-
ing the previous financial year, originally procured through the Special Defence Account.  This amount was
reallocated to the following programmes:

Landward Defence Rm      13,396

Air Defence Rm     135,197

Maritime Defence Rm         1,265

1.3.1.2 Decreases

A declared saving on the Air Defence programme to the amount of Rm 1 000,000 due to the cancellation of
the procurement of the A400M airlift capability.

1.4 Adjusted Defence Vote:  Rm 30 442,591

1.5 Expenditure

1.5.1 The total expenditure against the Adjusted Defence Vote amounted to Rm 30 313,985 resulting in a relative small
under expenditure of Rm128,606 including an amount of Rm0,220 earmarked for the Regular Force Medical
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Continuation Fund which was not transferred.  The under expenditure to the amount of Rm128,386 was utilised to
partially write off the unauthorised expenditure incurred on the personnel budget during the 1997/98 financial year.

1.5.2 Spending Trend

The DOD has again managed to achieve a relatively small under expenditure of its allocated appropriation.  The
expenditure for the period under review, in comparison with the previous two years, is indicated in the table below:

1.6 Virements  

The following virements were approved during the period under review:

1.6.1 Approved by the National Treasury

1.6.1.1 The reallocation of Rm6,000 within Programme Maritime Defence from Goods and Services to Transfers and
Subsidies to Departmental Agencies and Accounts for an additional transfer to the Armscor Dockyard.

1.6.1.2 The reallocation of Rm50,000 from the Special Defence Account to Programme Military Health Support for the pro-
curement of medical equipment.

1.6.1.3 The reallocation of Rm180,244 to  increase Compensation of Employees from various Programmes within the
Defence operating allocation in order to partially fund the implementation of the Occupational Specific Dispensation
for engineers and the new Defence Reserves Salary Dispensation.

1.6.1.4 The reallocation of Rm210,000 to increase Compensation of Employees from Programme General Support
(Rm111,800 Capital Assets), from Programme Maritime Defence (Rm9,500 Transfers and Subsidies - Households)
and from various Programmes' budget (Rm88,700 Goods and Services). The reason for the virement was to fund the
expenditure of the new Military Dispensation, Technical Allowances and Defence Reserves' salary dispensation and
the military aviator's career incentive remuneration. 

1.6.1.5 The reallocation of Rm41,000 from Programme General Support (Capital Assets) to Programme Air Defence (Goods
and Services) to fund the shortfall as a result of the increased number of VVIP flights.

1.6.2 Approved by the Accounting Officer

1.6.2.1 The reallocation of Rm4,000 from Programme Force Employment to Programme Administration (Chief Human
Resources) for services rendered by the Centre for Conflict Simulation to Joint Operations Divisions.

1.6.2.2 The reallocation of Rm2,697 from Programme General Support (Departmental Support) to Programme Military
Health Support for the establishment of a Private Public Partnership (PPP).

1.6.2.3 The reallocation of Rm11,790 from Programme General Support (Command and Management Information Services)
to Programme Force Employment for the procurement of UHF digital tactical radio equipment for utilisation by the
SANDF during border control.

2010/11

30 442,591

30 442,371

0,,220

0,00%

Financial year

Adjustment Estimate of National Expenditure (Rm)

Expenditure (Rm)

Amount surrendered (Rm)

Amount surrendered as a percentage of the Vote

2009/10

31 325,256

31 324,247

1,009

0,01%

2008/09

27 899,027

27 801,286

97,741

0,35%
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1.6.2.4 The reallocation of Rm5,378 from Programme Air Defence to Programme Administration (Acquisition Services) for
the payment of Armscor to set up a system of Intellectual Property (IP) Management.

1.6.2.5 The reallocation of Rm117,000 from Programme General Support (Joint Logistic Services) to Programme
Administration (Ministerial Direction and Property Management) for the Multi Media Campaign (Rm8,000) and
Municipality Services (Rm109,000)

1.6.2.6 The reallocation of funds between Programmes within the Defence Budget to defray expenditure in respect of autho-
rised losses, compensation of employees and to balance the expenditure for the 2010/11 financial year.

2. Services rendered

2.1 The services rendered by the DOD are detailed in Part 1 Chapter 2 of the Annual Report.

2.2 Tariff policy

The DOD tariff policy consists of the following elements:

tariffs instituted by law,

tariffs prescribed by a department that are applicable to all spheres of government; and

tariffs unique to the DOD determined by the tariff owner and where the tariff structure is approved by the
National Treasury.

2.3 Free services

Free services to the amount of Rm0,291 were provided by Naval Base Simon's Town to visiting foreign ships.

3. Capacity Constraints and the impact thereof

Capacity constraints impacted again on the DOD across most functional areas.

3.1 The downward trend in skills losses continued throughout the period under review resulting in some critical skills to
be acquired from industry at exorbitant cost due to the expertise not being available in the department anymore.
Although new personnel, as an initiative to address a joint human resource strategy for training and the utilisation of
scarce human resources were recruited and trained, it will take time for these members to gain the necessary experi-
ence.  The improved remuneration dispensation implemented during the year under review, is expected to decrease
the rate of loss of personnel at specifically the lower levels.

3.2 The impact of non-repair and maintenance of Defence facilities has resulted in further dilapidation of DOD facilities.
This continued to negatively affect service delivery.  A forum has been established at a strategic level between the
Departments of Defence and Public Works to ensure better service delivery and liaison between the two departments.
This has already led to a slight improvement in services provided by the National Department of Public Works
(NDPW).  The phased approach to create own maintenance of facilities capability and migration away from reliance
on the NDPW which was accepted by the DOD in the previous financial year has been pursued.  In this regard, a
Defence Works Capability has been established and has already undertaken some maintenance and repair tasks.

3.3 The state of prime mission equipment, particularly in the Landward Defence programme, continued to decline to unac-
ceptable levels.  Additional funding provided for maintenance and repair of the operational vehicle fleet has had some
effect, but is not sufficient to address this concern adequately.  The rejuvenation of these capabilities therefore remains
one of the DOD's top priorities.  It is expected that in the ensuing financial year, this capacity will be upscaled.

3.4 The shortage of specialists (technical staff) and support personnel continued to have a negative effect on the staffing
of personnel to all the peace support missions, resulting in contingents not being fully staffed.  This again has result-
ed in the non-compliance of minimum standards of serviceability of major equipment and as a result thereof the DOD
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is not fully reimbursed by the United Nations if serviceability levels of major equipment are not maintained at the pre-
scribed level in peacekeeping deployment areas. 

3.5 Also in the environments of financial and logistic management, critical personnel shortages are experienced which has
been increased by developing regulatory requirements of accounting and financial reporting. To mitigate this, the
Financial Management Division is in the process of realigning its structures with the intention of creating capacity in
terms of skills and qualifications as well as the number of incumbents. Within the Logistic Division the macro struc-
ture has already been adjusted making provision for the appointment of senior managers in the specialist areas of asset
management, accruals and leases. Micro structures will be developed in the 2011/12 financial year and will be staffed
with skilled and qualified incumbents.

4. Utilisation of donor funding

4.1 The DOD did not receive any donations that were directly administered by the department.

4.2 The DOD received reimbursements from the United Nations for the participation in peace support operations amount-
ing to Rm250, 767.  This was deposited into the National Revenue Fund and recognised in note 2 of the financial state-
ments to this report.

5. Public Entities

The Castle Control Board and the Armaments Corporation of South Africa (ARMSCOR) are reported as listed pub-
lic entities under the ownership control of the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans.  Each of these public enti-
ties is controlled by a Board of Directors reporting to the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans.  The transfer pay-
ment made to Armscor is included in the table of transfer payments below and no transfer payment was made to the
Castle Control Board.

6. Organisations to whom transfer payments have been made

Transfer payments were made to the following organisations:

Transferee Adjusted
Appropriation 

2010/11
Rm

Final
Appropriation

2010/11
Rm

Annual
Expenditure

2010/11
Rm

Reason for
Payment

Accountability
Arrangements

Armaments
Corporation
of South
Africa Ltd
(ARMSCOR)

731,510 737,510 737,510To subsidise
ARMSCOR in their
mission to meet the
acquisition, mainte-
nance and disposal
needs of the
Department of
Defence and other
clients in terms of
defence matériel,
related products and
services

Armscor is a Schedule 2 Public
Entity managed by a Board of
Directors appointed by the
Minister of Defence and Military
Veterans.  ARMSCOR annually
submits a business plan and an
estimate of expenditure, which is
motivated by the General
Manager Finance and
Administration of ARMSCOR, to
the Department's Programme
and Budget Evaluation
Committee before such funds are
included in the Departmental
Vote.  Audited financial state-
ments for the financial year
2009/10 were submitted accord-
ing to payment conditions
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Transferee Adjusted
Appropriation 

2010/11
Rm

Final
Appropriation

2010/11
Rm

Annual
Expenditure

2010/11
Rm

Reason for
Payment

Accountability
Arrangements

St John's
Ambulance
Brigade

Regular
Force
Medical
Continua-
tion Fund
(Medical
Fund B)

Special
Defence
Account

Reserve
Force
Council

Households 

TOTAL

0,360

0,220

3 060,320

4,827

135,638

3 946,082

0,360

0,220

3 010,320

4,827

120,593

3 888,238

0,360

0

3 010,320

4,827

120,593

3 888,018

To provide accreditation
for training of Defence
members and make their
members and equipment
available to be called-up
by the SA Military
Health Service (SAMHS)
during times of national
disaster and emergency

To reimburse the Regular
Force Medical
Continuation B-Fund for
members who retired
before 1964

To acquire, procure and
develop armament and
technology

To subsidise the Reserve
Force Council in their
aim to secure community
and private sector sup-
port for the Reserve
Forces and to maintain a
sound relationship and
communication between
the Reserve Forces, the
Minister of Defence and
Military Veterans the SA
National Defence Force

To cover the cost of
employment benefits due
to Defence members
being separated from the
department through the
Mobility Exit Mechanism

Audited financial statements
for the financial year
2009/10 were submitted
according to payment condi-
tions

Under control of the
Accounting Officer of the
Department of Defence

The Accounting Officer of
the Department is represent-
ed in the National Council.
The Council annually sub-
mits a business plan and an
estimate of expenditure
before such funds are
included in the
Departmental Vote.
Audited financial statements
for the financial year
2009/10 were submitted
according to payment condi-
tions

As approved by the Minister
of Defence and Military
Veterans
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7. Public private partnerships

No formal Public Private Partnership (PPP) has been concluded in the DOD.  The following progress is reported
regarding identified PPP projects registered with the National Treasury:

7.1 SA Navy. The SA Navy is currently involved in two possible PPPs.  This is only in the feasibility study phase.  The
first project is the establishment of a Sea Safety Training Centre in Simon's Town and the second the establishment of
a new Navy Headquarters and Mess in Pretoria.  The feasibility studies for both projects are completed.  The DOD is
in the process of obtaining approval.

7.2 SA Military Health Service. The SA Military Health Service (SAMHS) is currently involved in three possible PPPs:

The establishment of Medical Referral Services in eight regional centres.  The Request for Proposal is in the
process of being advertised to appoint a possible Private Party for the actual PPP.

The establishment of a new headquarters.  The feasibility study was completed by the Transaction Advisor.  The
DOD is in the process of obtaining approval.

The establishment of new facilities for a Military Health Training Formation.  A Transaction Advisor must still
be appointed to conduct the feasibility study.

7.3 Human Resources Division. The establishment of a SA National Defence Training Institute.  The feasibility study
has been concluded by the Transaction Advisor.  The DOD is in the process of obtaining approval.

7.4 Defence Intelligence. The establishment of a new headquarters for Defence Intelligence.  The feasibility study was
completed by the Transaction Advisor.  The DOD is in the process of obtaining approval.

8. Corporate Governance Arrangements

8.1 Standard of behaviour

8.1.1 Leadership. Senior commanders and managers of the Department exercise their leadership in accordance with the
constitutional principles of transparency, good governance and accountability.  Confidentiality is preserved in certain
circumstances when it is in the national interest to do so.

8.1.2 Codes of Conduct. Codes of conduct have been formally adopted for military members and public service employ-
ees.  All officials subscribed to the standards contained in these codes by signature.  Disciplinary procedures are
applied for non-conformance.

8.1.3 Conflict of Interest. Members of the DOD are expected to declare their economic interest annually. Although this is
not always complied with, accountability is enforced through the line of command and management bodies. Members
of management bodies dealing with procurement and acquisition are required to declare potential conflicts and with-
draw before commencement of meetings.  All officials are required to declare gifts in registers open to scrutiny. To
enhance the understanding of good governance by improving systems and processes that will enable the DOD to rise
to the challenges of contemporary public service of accountability, fairness and transparency and based on moral duties
that find expression in discipline.  The DOD intends to strengthen the capability regarding the management of conflict
of interest.  The DOD Inspectorate and Internal Audit will provide assurance capacity to monitor progress in these
areas. The DOD will ensure the integrity of the DOD's integrated report to have control, to enable, to verify and safe-
guard. The DOD will delegate the Audit Committee to evaluate sustainability disclosures.

8.2 Departmental Structures and Processes

8.2.1 Compliance. Compliance with the applicable statutes and regulations are monitored through various levels of audit
and inspections. However, the Department's capacity to ensure compliance is inadequate because of the scope of activ-
ities and complexity of the environment in which it operates. The DOD seeks to improve the situation through risk
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and accountability forums. 

8.2.2 Statutory Accountability. The Secretary for Defence accounts to Parliament for the management of the implemen-
tation of the Defence Vote.  All departmental budget authorities are held to account by the Secretary for Defence for
the economic, efficient and effective utilisation of resources to achieve the objectives of their respective programmes
through the monthly Accountability Management Committee (AMC) meetings.  The AMC agenda provides for the
discussion of delegation management, risk management, internal and external audit reports management, SCOPA
Resolutions and reports on irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure.

8.2.3 Communication with Stakeholders. DOD officials appear regularly before relevant Parliamentary committees on
instruction of the Minister to explain departmental plans, programmes and budgets (including resource management
policies) as well as account for performance.  All media enquiries are answered through a corporate communication
service.

8.2.4 Roles and Responsibilities. The Minister of Defence and Military Veterans directs and controls the DOD functions
through the Council on Defence.  The Secretary for Defence and the Chief of the SANDF implement ministerial direc-
tives through the Defence Staff Council.  Top level budget authorities are members of the Defence Staff Council.
Subordinate boards and committees serve this Council.  A formal strategic direction and control process is followed
that sets the agenda for these councils, boards and committees.

8.3 Control

8.3.1 Risk Management

8.3.1.1 The DOD Enterprises Risk Management Framework which is aligned to the Public Sector Risk Management
Framework and the South African National Standard 31000:2009 (ISO 31000:2009) was approved in December 2010.
This framework is a set of components that provide the foundations and organisational arrangements for designing,
implementing, monitoring, reviewing and continually improving risk management in the DOD.  Based on the
approved framework, the revision of the current DOD Risk Management Policy and DOD Risk Management Strategy
is at an advanced stage to be promulgated in the calendar year 2011 and to be implemented in the calendar year 2012.

8.3.1.2 To enhance the culture of risk management, extensive awareness initiatives were embarked on during the period under
review.  Training workshops and risk assessments were held with members of the Services and Divisions.

8.3.2 Fraud Prevention

8.3.2.1 The Directorate Anti-Corruption and Anti-Fraud (DACAF) is organised to produce a Corruption and Fraud Prevention
Plan within its mandate for the DOD and monitors the implementation thereof.  The Prevention Plan, together with
the approved processes within the DACAF regulates all the activities for the directorate.

8.3.2.2 A sound Corruption and Fraud Prevention Strategy formed the basis for the DACAF activities during the year under
review with the focus on:

The promotion of transparency and accountability in the actions and conduct of DOD members.

Regulatory measures to determine correct conduct of individuals.

Policies and controls to prevent the occurrence of fraudulent and corrupt acts within the DOD.

Alternative measures in addition to the main strategy of the DOD to combat fraud and corruption.

The awareness of DOD personnel concerning the nature and extent of fraud and corruption, and what to look
out for to detect such activities.

Emphasis on promoting integrity of individuals as well as work ethics, as these are factors to prevent corrup-
tion and fraud from taking place in the first place.
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8.3.2.3 DACAF Mandate. To provide anti-corruption and anti-fraud services, including serving as a nodal point for foren-
sic auditing, to the department, provided that evidence of corruption and fraud shall be handed over to the Military
Police Division for further investigation in terms of and in accordance with applicable law.

8.3.2.4 The Corruption and Fraud Prevention Plan (version 2) was reviewed and is effective from 1 April 2011.  The Preven-
tion Plan is distributed to Service and Divisional Chiefs and also being communicated by means of road-shows in an
effort to reach all members of the DOD on all levels.

8.3.3 Internal Audit

8.3.3.1 Internal Audit is an independent process conducted to evaluate internal controls implemented by management to
ensure that resources have been acquired economically, utilised efficiently and effectively, and to report this to man-
agement and its legislative body. It is acknowledged that during the year under review, the Internal Audit Unit did not
operate under the leadership of the Head of Internal Audit as the post was vacant, thus all its activities were carried
out under the leadership of the Inspector General DOD. It is anticipated that the unit's head will be appointed during
the financial year 2011/12 as the recruitment process has reached an advanced stage. It is anticipated that once the
internal audit function is fully functional in the coming years, it will provide management with the assurance about
the processes in place to ensure accurate reporting in-year and the adequacy of these before the external audit is con-
ducted which should reduce the number of findings and misstatements in the interim and final financial and perform-
ance reports.

8.3.3.2 During the period under review, 87 audits were conducted and the following components were addressed:

Performance Measurement. Annual and quarterly reports were audited and inconsistencies in the reporting
of targets were identified and reported to the appropriate management.  However, there has been a remarkable
improvement on the accuracy of performance information reported in the quarterly and annual reports.

Combat Readiness. Although no combat readiness audits were conducted in the period under review, the out-
come of the audits conducted in the previous financial year proved to be valuable.  Chronic and critical short-
comings in the resources, budget constraints and loss of technically qualified and/or skilled personnel report-
ed in the previous financial year, led to the improvement of combat readiness of forces reporting to the mobil-
isation centres.

Mobilisation and Foreign Deployment. Based on the audit findings and recommendations of the mobilisa-
tion and foreign deployment audits conducted, the Joint Operations Division is developing a mission readiness
training curriculum.

Risk based audits. 50 risk based audits were conducted.  Internal auditors recommended to management a
system of internal controls to prevent, detect and correct deviations that may occur in the operational proce-
dures.

Follow-up audits. Follow-up audits were conducted mainly on two risks (Procurement System and
Codification System) and the internal auditors recommended control measures to mitigate the risks.

8.3.4 Audit Committee

8.3.4.1 The Audit Committee provided guidance to the Defence Inspectorate Division during the period under review.  The
Audit Plan and Auditor General's audit report revealed that the financial statements were not adequately addressed,
which was ascribed to the lack of expertise of the internal auditors.  The external members of the Audit Committee
made their services available to assist the DOD to address the lack of expertise.  The Audit Committee was partly sat-
isfied with the content and quality of quarterly reports prepared by the IG DOD during the period under review.
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8.3.4.2 The Defence Inspectorate Division provided the secretarial services for the Audit Committee.  The following infor-
mation regarding the Audit Committee is relevant:

Composition. During the year under review, the Audit Committee for the Department of Defence (DOD AC)
was duly constituted according to the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA).  The external members to the
DOD were as follows with their appointment dates indicated in brackets: Dr D. Konar (Chairperson) (30 May
2008); Mr K.A. Ross (26 May 2008) and Ms J. Kumbirai (December 2007).  Mr Ross passed away on 21
January 2011.  Ms Kumbirai's contract expired in December 2010 and indicated that she is not available to
serve another term as a member of the DOD AC.  Mr Radebe and Mr Mudaly were appointed by the Minister
of Defence and Military Veterans in January 2009, but are not active members due to security clearances.  Mr
Mudaly indicated that he was no longer available to serve as a DOD audit committee member.  Mr Radebe
applied for a security clearance which was submitted for evaluation.  Dr T. Gamede (Chief Defence Policy,
Strategy and Planning) was appointed as an internal member to the DOD AC on 31 March 2009.

Responsibilities. The Audit Committee complied with its responsibilities arising from Section 38 (1)(a) of the
PFMA and Treasury Regulation 3.1.3.  Three scheduled and two special meetings were held.  Two Special In-
committee-meetings were held with the Auditor-General.  Activities of the Audit Committee were formalised
into a plan, allowing the coverage of the total spectrum of risk areas that need to be assessed and monitored,
in accordance with the Public Finance Management Act and National Treasury Regulations.  The Terms of
Reference, which guide the activities of the Department of Defence's Audit Committee, were reviewed in May
2010 and was approved by the Accounting Officer.  The Terms of Reference were distributed for review in
January 2011.  The external and internal members, Ex-Officio Officers, the Auditor-General, Chief Audit
Executive and the Accounting Officer, formally assessed the DOD Audit Committee.

Activities. The Audit Committee members had direct access to the Auditor-General, the Secretary for Defence
and the Chief of the South African National Defence Force.

8.3.5 Consolidated Control System

8.3.5.1 The Consolidated Control System, specifically the financial misconduct module, was signed off at the end of the pre-
vious reporting period and activated through DODI 01/10 dated 22 February 2010. The aim of the system is to:

register all non-compliant events as it occurs in the DOD;

finalise it in accordance with legislation, prescripts and DOD policies;

generate reports to substantiate the Annual Financial Statements;

provide managers at all levels in the DOD access to management information regarding non-compliance and
misconduct;

provide guidance regarding which policies/governance in the DOD requires to be addressed; and

perform trend analysis to identify, confirm and evaluate risks.

8.3.5.2 During the financial year 2010/2011 officials at level 1 and 2 of the DOD were trained to manage incidents and a
process is underway to commence with training of officials at levels 3 and 4 in the financial year 2011/2012.  The aim
is to further develop processes that prevent and therefore, in the medium term, eliminate the occurrence of incidents
of financial misconduct in the department.

8.3.6 Budgeting and Financial Management

The DOD budget is developed in accordance with Government's guidelines and priorities, is aligned with departmen-
tal strategies and plans, tabled in Parliament and enacted through the annual Appropriation Act.  The Executive
Authority, Accounting Officer and budget authorities monitor budget execution on a monthly basis in accordance with
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the financial management regulatory framework.  The budget and supporting systems are cash-based resulting in lim-
ited decision making financial management information.  Defence is continuously assessing and updating its budget-
ing systems to ensure compliance with the regulatory framework.

8.4 External reporting

8.4.1 Annual Report. The Minister tables the annual report including financial statements to provide an account of the
department's performance against the objectives set in the strategic business plan and its financial position and per-
formance against the appropriate budget.

8.4.2 Accounting Standards. The Financial Statements have been prepared on the cash basis of accounting modified for
the recognition of certain near-cash balances and supplemented with disclosures on transactions and balances not
recognised in the primary statements. 

8.4.3 Performance Measures. The performance measures for departmental outputs are set out in the strategic business
plan as measurable outputs and targets.  The actual performance against these measures is reported in the main por-
tion of the annual report.  

8.4.4 External Audit. An objective and professional relationship has been established with the Auditor-General.  The
Secretary for Defence chairs first, interim and final audit steering committee meetings.  Co-ordination meetings are
held with the Secretary for Defence quarterly and with the Chief Financial Officer monthly.  The Audit Committee
co-ordinates the internal audit programme with that of the Auditor-General.

8.5 Occupational Health and Safety (OHS)

8.5.1 The function shift of the Joint Directorate Occupational Health and Safety (JDOHS) from the SA Military Health
Service (SAMHS) to the Human Resources Division was approved by the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans
on 19 July 2010.  This has improved the line of reporting to the Secretary for Defence and the Chief of the SANDF.

8.5.2 Significant progress was achieved in the execution of OHS by the Services and Divisions.  The formally constituted
DOD OHS Forum contributed to this improvement.  The DOD OHS Forum is a coordinating management forum
which meets monthly.  As constituted, all divisions with units under command are represented on the DOD OHS
Forum.  The Forum also provides for the participation of experts to provide OHS training and health service delivery
inputs or legal advice.

8.5.3 The review of the OHS policy was completed and the draft has been distributed for comments.  The OHS policy
adopts a wider scope.  It incorporates the need for the DOD to address precautionary and preventative measures; to
identify the need for strict selection and training of members, and to review training and equipment doctrine to match
anthropomorphic features of members.  The emphasis has also been placed on instituting good monitoring systems.

8.5.4 Good progress was also made in building capacity through training.  Altogether 345 officials underwent OHS train-
ing.  The OHS course curriculum was redesigned to train managers on the OHS Management System at the level of
execution.  This was undertaken to align the training curriculum with the new OHS policy and to meet the require-
ments for accreditation.  An OHS Seminar was held in February 2011 and attended by 89 delegates.  The Seminar
served to expand the knowledge of DOD officials on the nature of occupational hazards in the military.

8.5.5 Monitoring OHS compliance is undertaken through the monthly and quarterly reporting system that has been institut-
ed.  In addition, on-site inspections of units were conducted.  This is instrumental in rectification actions and preven-
tative measures.

8.5.6 The emphasis was placed on units conducting the workplace assessment as prescribed in section 8(d) of the OHS Act
1993.  The Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment (HIRA) was conducted in 64 units.  This achievement will be
improved as the DOD builds its OHS capacity and skills.  By means of the HIRA, the Unit commander is informed
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of health and safety risks and is in a better position to take precautionary measures or plan and budget for rectifica-
tions.  The SAMHS continued to render a multi-professional OHS service at the five Regional OHS Centres.  Their
primary output being the OHS assessments conducted at units and biological monitoring of members.  As regards pro-
fessional skills and staffing, it must be noted that there is a national skills shortage of occupational medical practition-
ers, nurses and occupational hygienists.  To address this skill shortage, the SAMHS has initiated a Service Level
Agreement (SLA) with the National Institute of Occupational Health to meet this need.

8.5.7 The JDOHS and IG DOD held discussions during the period under review regarding OHS inspections and audits.  The
key issue being; the building of capacity and skills.  The concepts of establishing an OHS inspectorate is under dis-
cussion with the Chief of Human Resources and requires the approval of the concept and a post structure.  The IG
DOD inspects the OHS management aspects during their scheduled inspections.

8.5.8 The status of OHS compliance of facilities received critical attention in the department.  Under the direction of the
Chief of Logistics the facilities refurbishment programme has been prioritised and the Works Capability Formation
has been established.  This programme will see many occupational health and safety issues addressed.

8.6 Military Integrated Environmental Management

8.6.1 International Environmental Co-operation. The RSA-USA Environmental Security Working Group (ESWG)
under the RSA-USA Defence Committee achieved all its objectives including the initiation of the Joint Guidebook on
Environmental Auditing and attendance of the US Environment, Energy Security and Sustainability (E2S2) sympo-
sium in June 2010 in Denver, Colorado.  In collaboration with the ESWG, two events namely, on Maritime Spill
Response during August 2010 in Durban and on Contaminated Land and UXO Contamination during September 2010
in Pretoria, were presented to arrange, plan and train personnel from military training areas.

8.6.2 Military Range Clearance and Total Environmental Contingent Liability. The range clearance operations on the
former Hell's Gate Training Area as part of Project UMTHOMBO were concluded with the finalisation of independ-
ent quality assurance.  The surface clearance operations on the thirteen identified priority areas at Madimbo Training
Area have been initiated with one of the danger areas finalised.  The development of various training modules for the
functional streams have been finalised for delivery in May 2011 at the Centre of Excellence at De Aar.  Relevant mil-
itary personnel are being trained to support and provide decision support to the proposed Military Range Clearance
capability, as well as the implementation of Integrated Training Area Management on military training areas.  The
UXO costing model has been extended to include spill contamination, soil erosion and alien vegetation to determine
the total environmental contingent liability for disclosure in the DOD financial statements.

8.6.3 Operation CORONA. DOD Environmental Services are providing environmental decision support in the re-estab-
lishment of operational bases for the border safeguarding as part of Operation CORONA to ensure environmental
compliance by the DOD.

8.6.4 Operation VUSELELA. Operation VUSELELA projects were optimised in the Free State Province for increased
benefit to the environment as well as the military veterans.  Monitoring and control measures between the DOD,
Department of Water Affairs (DWA) and its implementing agent, the Independent Development Trust (IDT) were
strengthened to improve the management of the project.  The identification and verification of military veterans by the
Department of Military Veterans for participation in this project remain a challenge for the DOD, DWA and IDT.

8.6.5 Environmental Appreciation in Force Employment Planning Processes. The Joint Operations Force Employment
Requirements and Guidelines were promulgated by CSANDF Directive 069/2010. A permanent factor "Environment"
for all force employment planning processes will in future be appreciated and incorporated in planning processes.  In
this sense, environmental personnel have been involved in the planning of joint, bilateral and multi-national exercis-
es, namely, Exercise YOUNG EAGLE, Exercise IBSAMAR II, Exercise SHARED ACCORD and Exercise BLUE
CLUSTER, respectively.  Military environmental personnel have also been deployed in the Sudan.
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9. Discontinued activities/activities to be discontinued and new/proposed activities.

Discontinued activities, activities to be discontinued, new services/outputs to be scaled up and services scaled up and
services scaled down or suspended are reported on in Appendix E of the Annual Report.

10. Asset Management

10.1 Background. The DOD was not in a position to disclose the required asset information in the Annual Financial
Statements for the past three years as a result of the following challenges:

10.1.1 Assets are managed manually or on one of the five logistical systems and are paid for via the Financial Management
System (FMS).  These systems support cash accounting and are not integrated.

10.1.2 The use of the multiple logistic systems lead to data integrity issues, especially when assets are transferred between
units using different logistical systems.

10.1.3 No segregation between asset and inventory items on the system as required by the National Treasury's Standard Chart
of Accounts (SCOA).

10.1.4 Monetary values such as the original purchase price are only carried in respect of certain items as it was not required
on the system.

10.1.5 In cases where the original purchase price has been captured, it is not always verifiable.

10.1.6 Acquisition dates were also not carried on the systems and it is therefore difficult to determine the value of the assets.

10.1.7 Not all assets are uniquely identifiable (equipment unique serial number or bar code) such as office furniture.  They
are managed based on quantities per National Stock Number (NSN) and location only.

10.2 Asset Management Plan

In order to address these challenges and the audit qualifications, the DOD developed a short and long term rectifica-
tion plan.  The short term plan focuses on the utilisation of the existing systems, Operational Support Information
System (OSIS) and Computer Aided Logistic Management Information System (CALMIS) to establish an asset
register, while the long term plan focuses on the implementation of an integrated defence supply chain and life cycle
management system based on internationally recognised best practices, and enabled by a single integrated logistic
management information system, including the IFMS asset register and procurement modules.

10.3 Progress against plan

10.3.1 Short Term Intervention Plan. As a result of the high volumes of assets, geographical spread and in some cases the
lack of unique identification (bar coding) of assets, the short term plan is executed in three phases.  Phase one focussed
on the serial controlled items, while phase 2 and 3 will focus on the bar coding and verification of the other asset cat-
egories.  Highlighted below is the progress with regards to phase 1.

10.3.1.1 Moveable Capital Assets

A draft asset management policy framework has been developed.

The Item Identification Database (IID) has been updated to allow for the indication of SCOA Asset
Classifications.  Each NSN can be marked as an Asset or an Inventory Item based on the SCOA and managed
accordingly.

The current logistic Information Systems (CALMIS and OSIS) have been updated to carry the information
required as reflected in the National Treasury Asset Management Framework in order to adhere to the mini-
mum requirements of an asset register.  Although these are two separate registers - a single view on assets has
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been created within the DOD Corporate Warehouse.

The systems were also updated to:

Cater for all forms of acquiring assets.

Continuously update and verify data as well as to support fair value updates (asset verification).

Support the management of assets (includes capitalisation, depreciation, improvements, impairments
and disposal).

As part of phase 1 of the plan in compiling an asset management register, in cooperation with Services
and Divisions, the verification and population of the acquisition data for end items such as aircraft, ves-
sels, military combat vehicles, other vehicles and weapons has commenced. The first step in phase 2
will be to complete this process.

The relevant asset information is available on the DOD Corporate Data Warehouse in order to provide
a single view on end assets (Asset Register).

10.3.1.2 Immoveable Capital Assets - Defence Endowment Property (DEP)

The Endowment Property Asset Register compilation project has advanced considerably.  Category A assets, being the
Land and Buildings register has been fully compiled and work to complete valuation in that regard is nearing comple-
tion.Category B assets, being Leases and Agreements and Category C assets, being Securities are currently being
analysed and appropriately classified and valued and it is anticipated that the work on this will be completed by 30
September 2011 at which stage the DOD will be in a position to have a fully compliant asset register of all these assets
in line with the requirements of the Endowment Property and Account Act (Act No 33 of 1922). 

10.3.2 Long Term Repositioning Plan

10.3.2.1 A draft Supply Chain Management and Life Cycle Management Framework has been developed.

10.3.2.2 The User Requirement Specification for an integrated Defence Logistic Information System is in the process of being
developed.

10.3.2.3 An implementation charter was signed with the IFMS project team of the National Treasury, whereby it was agreed
that the DOD will implement the Asset and Procurement modules of the IFMS.  National Treasury (IFMS Section)
will assist the DOD in acquiring approval for the lifting of the moratorium on procurement and implementation of a
unique Single Defence Logistic Integrated Information Management System.

10.4 Valuations

As highlighted above, all the assets were carried at the latest purchase price on the current logistical systems. As part
of the short term intervention plan, all serial controlled items are in a process of being revalued at fair value or in cases
where sufficient evidence was available, it was recorded at cost price. 

10.5 Disclosure

In order to illustrate the progress that has been made during Phase 1 of the short term intervention plan the DOD
agreed to disclose assets information in the Annual Financial Statements. The DOD recognizes that the asset informa-
tion disclosed is not complete and has therefore included additional notes to explain what has been disclosed in order
to ensure a fair presentation of the financial statements. The work largely completed in Phase 1 of the project dealt
with the verification and data clean-up on the complete systems of the major categories of Transport Assets and
Specialised Military Equipment.  The balance will be carried out together with the other categories of assets under
Phase 2 of the project which will entail the bar coding of these assets as well.
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10.6 Intangible Assets

The DOD established a task team to compile an asset register for all intangible assets.  A proper project plan has been
compiled and it is envisaged that a proper intangible asset register will be completed by the end of the 2011/12 finan-
cial year.  In the meantime all the additions as per the SCOA definitions for the 2010/11 financial year have been dis-
closed.

11. Inventories

Both the short and long term asset management plan will also address the current challenges with regards to invento-
ry, especially the segregation between assets and inventory and the valuation of inventory.  The DOD will however,
in the interim, disclose inventory on the first-in-first-out (FIFO) basis which matches the design of the current systems
that reflect values at the latest purchase price.

12. Special Defence Account 

In the year under review, the annual financial statements of the Special Defence Account are excluded from the Annual
Report of the DOD. This has been necessitated by the decision to change the accounting framework from an entity-
specific framework to GRAP. The change in the framework necessitated the financial statements to be reconstructed
to be in line with the new framework, including the restatement of all comparative figures for the previous year, includ-
ing the notes and accounting policies applicable. It is anticipated that these statements will be available for tabling to
the Legislature immediately after completion of the audit process.

13. Events after the reporting date

There were no events after the reporting date.

14. Performance information

14.1 Performance information is described in Part 1 to 4 of the Annual Report.

14.2 The DOD is addressing the following issues regarding performance information as identified by the Auditor General:

14.2.1 Policy Framework. In order to deal with the weaknesses in the policy framework around the management of per-
formance information, the department is developing a comprehensive corporate policy which clearly describes roles,
responsibilities and control activities necessary for the efficient management of this task.

14.2.2 Strategic Plan. During the financial year 2010/11 the DOD undertook the institutionalisation and implementation of
the results-based  planning process principles (outcomes, outputs, activities and inputs) as prescribed by the National
Treasury through the development of the DOD Strategic Planning Framework (SPF). The SPF facilitated the reformu-
lation and enhancement of departmental performance information as aligned to outcomes and outputs, thereby ensur-
ing the auditability of performance information in compliance with the National Treasury performance information
standards. This will be evident in the financial year 2011/12.

14.2.3 Internal Control. Taking cognisance of the weaknesses that have been raised regarding the accuracy and complete-
ness of the information reported in the Annual Report, during the year under review, improvements in controls have
been implemented to ensure that the information planned and reported at the lower levels is accurately and complete-
ly transferred to the Annual Report. The matters raised in the Audit Report have been investigated and rectified in
preparation for the next audit cycle. 

14.2.4 Risk Management. The DOD Strategic Risk Register has been updated to include the risks and mitigation actions
relating to performance information. 
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15. SCOPA Resolutions

15.1 The DOD appeared before SCOPA on 1 March 2011 on its 2007/08 and 2008/09 Annual Reports and is awaiting the
resultant resolutions to be adopted by SCOPA.

15.2 The DOD has prepared a preliminary response to SCOPA on issues raised and commitments made at the hearing,
which is in the approval process.

15.3 The SCOPA Hearing on the DOD's 2006/07 AG Report was held on 21 November 2007 and the 2006/07 SCOPA
Resolutions were adopted on 8 February 2008 by Parliament.  The DOD submitted the action plans on the 2006/07
SCOPA Resolutions to Parliament (SCOPA) on 9 June 2008.  The detailed feedback in the table below reflects
progress made with the implementation of these action plans (only on those not yet finalised):

DOD PROGRESS ON ACTION PLANS0607 AG ANNUAL
REPORT REFER-
ENCE

RECOMMENDATIONS MADE
IN SCOPA RESOLUTIONS
DATED 8 FEB 08

The Asset Management Project has been imple-
mented in 2007. The scope of this project is broken
into three phases, namely a) inventory verification
and error identification, b) asset register clean-up
and functional specification development, and c)
rolling out an Integrated Asset Management
System in line with IFMS requirements. Phase one
has been completed and phase two is currently
running. It is envisaged that phase three will kick
in late 2010. Until then, CALMIS and OSIS will
remain as the main systems.
DOD representatives are involved with the devel-
opment of the National Treasury IFMS system.
CALMIS is implemented in the SA Army accord-
ing to plan and OSIS has been implemented in 80%
of SAAF units and 90% of SA Navy units. Once all
units are computerized migration to IFMS will pro-
ceed.
The manual system implemented was refined and 
an amended instruction was issued to Services and
Divisions to obtain additional information in order
to accurately complete accruals disclosure in the
08/09 Annual Financial Statements.  Different
teams, under the leadership of the Operation Clean
Audit team (Accruals) were sent to pre-determined
units to assist with the compilation of information.
The outcome of this initiative will only be available
after final reconciliation of accruals for the 08/09
FY.

Page 190 Par 1 - Tangible & intangible assets,
accruals. The Committee recom-
mends that the Accounting Officer
ensures that:
a) the current information systems 

used, are upgraded or alterna-
tives be investigated to imple-
ment a single logistical system
that can provide the financial
information as required by
National Treasury in respect of
accruals, tangible and intangible
capital assets;

b) shortcomings in the information 
systems are reduced by imple-
menting manual controls to
ensure proper identification,
classification, recording and dis-
closure of accruals and
tangible/intangible capital assets;
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DOD PROGRESS ON ACTION PLANS0607 AG ANNUAL
REPORT REFER-
ENCE

RECOMMENDATIONS MADE
IN SCOPA RESOLUTIONS
DATED 8 FEB 08

An interim instruction was issued in April 2008, 
clearly spelling out the processes and procedures for
the control of leases and also how to maintain the
lease register.  Although Services and Divisions have
maintained the required register, a lack of training at
unit level resulted in limited successes being
achieved. Interventions undertaken include the
deployment of specialists from the consortium of
KPMG and SAB&T(Operation Clean Audit Team)
throughout the DOD to assist with training and
compilation of lease registers.  A letter was also dis-
tributed to Services and Divisions to confirm the cor-
rect accounting of all hired equipment.

Classification. The DOD has decided not to pro-
ceed with the reclassification of the SDA as a
Schedule 4.
Framework. The National Treasury was
approached for guidance on the accounting frame-
work for the SDA.  In the absence of an answer from
the National Treasury and in the light of the possible
repeal of the Defence Special Account Act to be
included in the Public Finance Management Bill the
DOD recommended to the National Treasury to pro-
ceed preparing the financial statements for the SDA
on the entity-specific basis of accounting and it was
again approved for the 2008/09, 2009/10 and
2010/11 financial statements.

The National Treasury instructed the DOD to, in 
spite of the requirements of the Defence Special
Account Act, not invest the reserve funds of the SDA
as it will not be in the economic interest of the State.
The investment policy is currently in the approval
process and will be promulgated during the 2011/12
financial year.

The DOD has prepared an investment policy for the 
SDA reflecting the instruction by the National
Treasury not to invest the reserve funds of the SDA.
The amendment of the Defence Special Account Act
is not currently considered in the light of the possi-
ble repeal of the Act and the inclusion of the condi-
tions of the Act in the Public Finance Management
Bill.

Page 191-192

Page 268-269

Par 3 - Lease commitments. The
Committee recommends that the
Accounting Officer ensures that:
a) internal controls are imple-

mented to ensure that transac-
tions and other significant
events with respect to lease
commitments are properly
identified, classified, promptly
recorded and disclosed;

Par 6 - Special Defence Account 
(SDA). The Committee recom-
mends that the Accounting Officer
ensures that:
a) the accounting framework 

applicable to the SDA and the
classification of the SDA,
which have been outstanding
since 2004/05, is clarified with
National Treasury as a matter
of urgency;

b) surplus funds not required for
immediate use are invested
and withdrawn when neces-
sary; and

c) a policy governing invest-
ments of all moneys to the
credit of the account is com-
plied with, approved and
implemented as a matter of
urgency. If investing is not the
way to go, the Defence Special
Account Act, 1974 (Act No. 6
of 1974) must be amended.
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16. Prior modifications to audit reports

Matters reported on by the AGSA in the 2009/10 financial year.

Progress made in clearing/resolving the matter09/10 AGSA Audit Report 
Reference

FY first 
reported

Tangible Movable Capital Assets. The following initia-
tives are underway to accomplish NT asset management
requirements:

Implementation of a DOD Asset and Inventory
Verification Program (started in 2008 - first phase com-
pleted, busy with second phase).
Busy procuring a two-dimensional bar-coding, tagging
and scanning capability to enhance item identification
and tracking.
Continuous monitoring of National Stock Numbers
(NSNs) to SCOA which enables the DOD to report in
the required categories.
Completed functional specifications for a single, inte-
grated asset and inventory management system (inclu-
sive of cataloguing and codification).
Busy engaging the IFMS team to consider the unique-
ness of the DOD supply chain requirements and to
grant a deviation from the moratorium for the procure-
ment of a single logistics information system.

Tangible Immovable Assets. The following initiatives
are underway to accomplish NT asset management
requirements:

A user Asset Management Plan has been developed in
co-operation with the CSIR.
Busy with the verification of all Defence Endowment
Properties, assisted by the CSIR.
The requirement specifications for an Integrated
Immovable Asset Management System have been
developed.

Intangible Capital Assets (ICA). The following initia-
tives are underway to accomplish NT asset management
requirements:

SLA with Armscor was extended to include the estab-
lishment and maintenance of an ICA register.
Busy revising the DOD IP policy to include all ICAs.
Busy establishing the current and historical Defence
ICA and population of the ICA register.

Tangible and Intangible Capital
Assets Qualification - Page 176.
The department did not disclose
any financial information for
both the current and prior year
in notes 34, 35 and 36 to the
financial statements as required
by the financial reporting frame-
work set by National Treasury.
The DOD did not maintain a
proper asset register, supported
by relevant documentation to
enable me to quantify the mis-
statements.

06/07
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Progress made in clearing/resolving the matter09/10 AGSA Audit Report 
Reference

FY first 
reported

The CFO has implemented the following corrective
actions:

Irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure are
from 1 Apr 09 reported to the nodal point immediately
upon discovery thereof.
Incidents of irregular and fruitless and wasteful expen-
diture are from 1 Apr 09 properly investigated and
dealt with in accordance with PFMA and TR pre-
scripts.
The Financial Misconduct policy has been revised to
include irregular and fruitless and wasteful expendi-
ture and has been promulgated and implemented.
Boards of Inquiry processes are being followed up to
ensure speedy conclusion of investigations and
inquiries.
The Mandating Committee has condoned the expendi-
ture for 2009/10.

The following corrective measures were implemented:
The DOD has contracted the services of the Technical
Assistance Unit (TAU) of National Treasury to assist
with the streamlining and improvement of the DOD
planning process in terms of definition of performance
indicators, measures and targets.
Over and above the yearly comprehensive reporting
instructions, the DOD has started a process to develop
a DOD policy framework to streamline the reporting
requirements, responsibilities and accountabilities.
A DOD team was established to coordinate and verify
DOD performance information. (DOD Corporate
Strategic Planning Team)
The head of the Internal Audit Unit is in the process of
being appointed.

Appointment of the Head of Internal Audit
The first round of interviews for the post of Chief Internal
Auditor has been held and recommended to the Minister
for final interviews by a Committee of Ministers as is the
case for the appointment of Deputy Directors-General in
the Public Service.
Approval and roll-out of the DOD Fraud Prevention
Plan

A corruption and fraud prevention plan was devel-
oped and implemented for the DOD.
A fraud prevention forum was established to ensure
active participation and commitment of all Services
and Divisions.
The DOD is in the process of conducting road shows
to create awareness and ensure compliance with the
policy.

Irregular expenditure Emphasis
of Matter - Page 177. ·Irregular
expenditure (as disclosed in note
27 to the financial statements) to
the amount of R1 billion, mainly
comprising of housing
allowance, new military dispen-
sation and performance awards
was paid during the year under
review without following the
proper approval processes as
prescribed in section 55 of the
Defence Act, 2002 (Act no. 42 of
2002) and section 2 of the Public
Service Act, 1994 (Act no. 103 of
1994).

Predetermined objectives - 
Reliability of reported perform-
ance information Other Matter -
Page 178.
For the three selected programs
tested the validity, accuracy, or
completeness of some of the
reported targets could not be
established as sufficient appro-
priate audit evidence could not
be provided for audit purposes.

Non-compliance with the Public 
Finance Management Act and
Treasury regulations  Other
Matter - Page 178.

The department did not com-
ply with section 38 (1)(a)(ii) of
the PFMA as an internal audit
function was not fully opera-
tional for the year under
review.  Furthermore, con-
trary to the requirements of
TR 3.2.1 the department did
not have an approved fraud
prevention plan.

08/09

09/10

09/10

annrep 1011 Finrep.qxp  2011/10/10  10:43  Page 174



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1 175

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

REPORT  OF  THE  ACCOUNTING  OFFICER  
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

Progress made in clearing/resolving the matter09/10 AGSA Audit Report 
Reference

FY first 
reported

Policies and Procedures for Asset Management
The DOD is in the process of establishing policy frame-
works for key asset management policies.
Key Controls for Performance Management
The DOD has an established system of managing per-
formance information which is governed by DOD
instructions issued on an annual basis detailing how the
DOD provides performance reports on predetermined
objectives on a quarterly and annual basis as required by
law. The system also helps to provide performance
reports to NT and government cluster system as required
and consists amongst others of the following:

Issue a Quarterly Report Instruction for the 2010/11
financial year.
Issue an Annual Report Instruction for the 2010/11
financial year.
Develop and implement a DOD Performance
Management Policy.

Compliance Monitoring
The following corrective measures were implemented:

A Ministerial Directive outlining the compliance
requirements have been issued.
The top high risk acts were identified and risk assess-
ments were initiated.
The DOD is in the process of developing compliance
risk management plans for the above mentioned acts.
A compliance structure has been developed and is in
the approval process.

Adequacy of manual and automated systems
National Treasury's moratorium on the major enhance-
ment of systems including logistics is a major barrier in
the ability of DOD to submit the required information in
the format required by AG. The current logistics systems
are designed to support operations and maintenance of
military capabilities and not the reporting requirements
as required by the AG. A task team commenced negotia-
tions with the IFMS Team from NT on the lifting of the
moratorium on unique modules of logistics in the DOD.
The DOD is currently the lead site for the implementation
of the IFMS module on asset management. The full roll-
out of the asset management module and integration to
the different logistics systems will enable the DOD to
report accordingly.  In the mean time, the DOD will be
acquiring a single logistic system for the department.
Record keeping and review of performance information

The DOD has contracted in the services of the
Technical Assistance Unit (TAU) of National Treasury
to assist with the streamlining and improvement of the
DOD planning process in terms of definition of per-
formance indicators, measures and targets.

Internal Control Deficiencies
Other Matter - Page 179.
Leadership - Management did
not have approved policies and
procedures to guide manage-
ment at the lowest level to
ensure compliance with National
Treasury disclosure requirements
with regard to the recording and
disclosure of the various cate-
gories of tangible and intangible
assets. Furthermore, the depart-
ment did not have the necessary
key controls in place to effective-
ly manage performance against
predetermined objectives. The
department also did not effec-
tively monitor compliance with
laws, regulations and policies.

Internal Control Deficiencies 
Other Matter - Page 178.
Financial and performance
management - Manual and auto-
mated systems are not adequate
to facilitate the preparation and
accurate recording and disclo-
sure of the various categories of
assets in the financial statements
as required by National Treasury.
Furthermore, the record keeping
pertaining to performance infor-
mation was not adequate, result-
ing in information not always
being readily available for audit.
The performance information in
the annual report was not ade-
quately reviewed for complete-
ness and accuracy prior to sub-
mission for audit.

09/10

09/10
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Progress made in clearing/resolving the matter09/10 AGSA Audit Report 
Reference

FY first 
reported

Over and above the yearly comprehensive reporting
instructions, the DOD has started a process to develop
a DOD policy framework to streamline the reporting
requirements, responsibilities and accountabilities.
A DOD team was established to coordinate and verify
DOD performance information. (DOD Corporate
Strategic Planning Team).

Airbus made a proposal to the DOD on 4 October 2010
regarding the repayment of the advance payments on
the A400M purchase contract.
On 3 March 2011 the Ministers of Trade and Industry
and Finance accompanied by NT representatives met
Airbus representatives in Paris to discuss the A400M
advance payment reimbursement.  
An inter-departmental work group (IDWG) consisting
of representatives from the DPE, DTI, NT, DOD, and
Armscor has been established to harmonise a RSA
position.

Notwithstanding the requirements of the Defence Special 
Account Act the National Treasury has requested the
DOD not to invest the reserve on the SDA.

SDA - Irregular expenditure
(A400M) Emphasis of Matter -
Page 263. As disclosed in note
7.3 to the financial statements,
irregular expenditure to the
amount of R63 999 205.32 was
incurred, as the Accounting
Officer did not obtain the neces-
sary exemption from National
Treasury to deviate from the
standard tender process.
SDA - Non-compliance with 
applicable legislation Other
Matters - Page 264. Contrary to
the requirements of section 3 of
the Defence Special Account Act,
moneys standing to the credit of
the account, which were not
required for immediate use or as
a reasonable working balance,
were not invested.  The
Department of Defence was
authorised to deviate from the
Defence Special Account Act by
National Treasury per letter
dated 30 June 2008.

08/09

09/10

17. Exemptions and deviations received from the National Treasury.

No exemptions or deviations were received.

18. Appreciation

The progress and success of the Department's achievements over the past year is due to the efforts of many.  The strate-
gic guidance and support of the Minister and Deputy Minister of Defence and Military Veterans has been consistent
exemplary and is acknowledged.   The funding and support provided by the Minister of Finance and the National
Treasury is appreciated.  My colleagues in the Plenary Defence Staff Council and the Defence Secretariat Council
have provided wise council and shared the operational load.  To our various forces, locally and abroad, and our admin-
istrative and management personnel go my heartfelt thanks for their commitment, dedication and perseverance in a
challenging year of major accomplishments.
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19. Approval

The Annual Financial Statements set out in pages 183 to 269 have been approved by the Accounting Officer.

(N.Z.H. Mpofu)

Secretary for Defence: Director General

Pretoria

30 July 2011
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Chapter 2
REPORT  OF  THE  

AUDITOR-GGENERAL  TO  
PARLIAMENT  ON  

VOTE  N o.   21:     DEPARTMENT
OF  DEFENCE  AND  MILITARY

VETERANS

R E P O R T   O N   T H E   F I N A N C I A L   S T A T E M E N T S   

I n t r o d u c t i o n   

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the department of Defence and Military Veterans, which comprise the
appropriation statement, statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011, the statement of financial performance, statement
of changes in net assets, cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information as set out on pages 183 to 269.  

A c c o u n t i n g   o f f i c e r ' s   r e s p o n s i b i l i t y   f o r   t h e   f i n a n c i a l   s t a t e m e n t s

The accounting officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the Departmental
Financial Reporting Framework prescribed by the National Treasury and the requirements of the Public Finance Management
Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for such internal control as management determines necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

A u d i t o r - GG e n e r a l ' s   r e s p o n s i b i l i t y   

As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996) and, section 4 of the
Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these finan-
cial statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and General Notice 1111 of 2010 issued in Govern-
ment Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010.  Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control rel-
evant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appro-
priate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my qualified audit opinion.
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B a s i s   f o r   q u a l i f i e d   a u d i t   o p i n i o n

M o v a b l e   a n d   i m m o v a b l e   t a n g i b l e   c a p i t a l   a s s e t s

These assets are now stated at R 76.9 billion (no disclosure in prior years) in disclosure notes 32, 33 and 34 to the financial state-
ments.  Although the department has commenced addressing some of the prior year qualification matters, the process is unfin-
ished, in that the department could not provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support the amount disclosed, and the
records did not permit the application of alternative procedures. 

Q u a l i f i e d   o p i n i o n   

In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for qualified opinion paragraph, the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the department of Defence and Military Veterans as at
31 March 2011 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the Departmental
Financial Reporting Framework prescribed by the National Treasury and the requirements of the PFMA.

E m p h a s i s   o f   m a t t e r

I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters:

R e s t a t e m e n t   o f   c o r r e s p o n d i n g   f i g u r e s

As disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements, the corresponding figures for operating leases for 31 March 2010 have been
restated as a result of an error discovered during 2010-11 financial year.

I r r e g u l a r   e x p e n d i t u r e

As disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements, irregular expenditure to the amount of R 799,349 million, mainly comprising
procurement not in terms of Treasury Regulations, was incurred by the department.

A d d i t i o n a l   m a t t e r

I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters:

F i n a n c i a l   r e p o r t i n g   f r a m e w o r k

The financial reporting framework prescribed by the National Treasury and applied by the department is a compliance frame-
work. Thus my opinion would have reflected that the financial statements had been properly prepared instead of fairly present-
ed as required by section 20(2)(a) of the PAA, which requires me to express an opinion on the fair presentation of the financial
statements of the department.
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U n a u d i t e d   s u p p l e m e n t a r y   s c h e d u l e s   

The supplementary information set out in annexures 1A to 6 on pages 255 to 269 do not form part of the financial statements and
is presented as additional information. I have not audited these schedules and, accordingly, I do not express an opinion thereon.

R E P O R T   O N   O T H E R   L E G A L   A N D   R E G U L A T O R Y   R E Q U I R E M E N T S   

In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General notice 1111 of 2010, issued in Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December
2010, I include below my findings on the annual performance report as set out on pages 23 to 93 and material non-compliance
with laws and regulations applicable to the department.

PP rr ee dd ee tt ee rr mm ii nn ee dd   oo bb jj ee cc tt ii vv ee ss

There are no material findings on the annual performance report. 

C o m p l i a n c e   w i t h   l a w s   a n d   r e g u l a t i o n s   

II nn tt ee rr nn aa ll   AA uu dd ii tt

The accounting officer did not ensure that an internal audit function was in place as per requirements of Treasury Regulation
(TR) 3.2.2. However, the Inspector General did perform certain compliance and other procedures which were reported to the
audit committee.

FF ii nn aa nn cc ii aa ll   mm ii ss cc oo nn dd uu cc tt   

Sufficient appropriate audit evidence was not available in all instances, to determine if the accounting officer ensured that inves-
tigations were conducted into all allegations of financial misconduct made against officials within 30 days from the date of dis-
covery of the allegation as required in terms of TR4.1.2.

AA nn nn uu aa ll   ff ii nn aa nn cc ii aa ll   ss tt aa tt ee mm ee nn tt ss ,,   pp ee rr ff oo rr mm aa nn cc ee   aa nn dd   aa nn nn uu aa ll   rr ee pp oo rr tt

The accounting officer did not implement adequate control systems for the safeguarding and maintenance of assets to prevent
theft, losses, wastage and misuse, as required by the PFMA section 38(1)(d) and TR 10.1.1(a).

The accounting officer submitted financial statements for auditing that were not prepared in all material aspects in accordance
with modified cash basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, supported by full and proper records in all instances
as required by section 40(1)(a) and (b) of the PFMA. Certain material misstatements identified with regards to operating lease
commitments were subsequently corrected, however, the uncorrected material misstatements in capital assets resulted in the
financial statements receiving a qualified audit opinion in contravention of section 40(3)(a).

HH uu mm aa nn   rr ee ss oo uu rr cc ee   mm aa nn aa gg ee mm ee nn tt   aa nn dd   cc oo mm pp ee nn ss aa tt ii oo nn

Some senior managers did not enter into a performance agreement for the current year as per the requirements of PSR 4/III/B.1
and Department of Defence Instruction: POL and PLAN No. 00065/2002 (Edition 2) dated 1 January 2005.
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PP rr oo cc uu rr ee mm ee nn tt   aa nn dd   cc oo nn tt rr aa cc tt   mm aa nn aa gg ee mm ee nn tt

In some instances goods and services with a transaction value of more than R500 000 were not procured by means of a compet-
itive bidding process as per the requirements of TR 16A6.1, TR 16A6.4 and National Treasury Practice Note 6 and 8 of 2007/08.

Awards were made to suppliers who did not declare their employment by the state or their connection with a person employed
by the state or their relationship with persons involved in the evaluation and/or adjudication of the bids as per the requirements
of Practice Note 7 of 2009/10. Contrary to Supply Chain Management (SCM) requirements this is not a requirement in terms of
departmental policies.

Instances were identified where senior managers did not disclose their business interest in a supplier to the department and to the
executive authority as per the requirements of chapter 3(C1) of the Public Service Regulations.

In some instances the SCM officials and/or other SCM role players and those whose close family members and/or partners and/or
associates had a private or business interest in contracts awarded by the department failed to disclose their interest and in some
cases participated in the process relating to the awarding of the contract contrary to the requirements of TR 16A8.4(a) and (b).

Some employees performed remunerative work outside their employment in the department without written permission from the
relevant authority as per the requirements of section 30 of the Public Service Act and Department of Defence Instruction: PERS
No. 4/99 dated 22 December 1999. 

EE xx pp ee nn dd ii tt uu rr ee   mm aa nn aa gg ee mm ee nn tt

The accounting officer did not, in all instances, immediately upon the discovery reported irregular expenditure to the National
Treasury as per the requirements of section 38(1)(g) of the PFMA.

I N T E R N A L   C O N T R O L

In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General notice 1111 of 2010, issued in Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December
2010, I considered internal control relevant to my audit, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control. The matters reported below are limited to the significant deficiencies that resulted in the basis for the qualified
opinion and the findings on compliance with laws and regulations included in this report.

LL ee aa dd ee rr ss hh ii pp

The department did not exercise sufficient oversight responsibility regarding financial reporting over capital assets, compliance
and related internal controls. This is evident as the department did not have sufficient monitoring controls to ensure the proper
implementation of the overall process of reporting, and regular reviewing of information to ensure the accuracy, and complete-
ness of the information reported.

Management does not, in all instances, have approved updated policies and procedures, including the reporting process to guide
management at the lowest level to ensure compliance with National Treasury disclosure requirements. 

FF ii nn aa nn cc ii aa ll   aa nn dd   pp ee rr ff oo rr mm aa nn cc ee   mm aa nn aa gg ee mm ee nn tt

Existing manual and automated controls are not designed to ensure adequate record keeping and accurate and complete financial
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reporting in a timely manner which is accessible and available and to ensure that the transactions are complete and accurately
recorded without delay as required by the National Treasury.

The assets are currently managed on various logistical subsystems. These systems are not integrated nor are they integrated with
the financial system or reconciled. Inventory and capital assets are also not separated on these subsystems. Due to a moratorium
on the acquisition of a new assets system the above shortcomings could not be addressed. Records of some units/depots are still
manual and are not integrated for reporting purposes.

Adequate controls were not implemented over daily and monthly processing and recording of transactions to ensure the accura-
cy, and completeness of the information reported.

Adequate processes were not in place to ensure complete and timely reporting to relevant authorities as required by laws and reg-
ulations.

GG oo vv ee rr nn aa nn cc ee

The department is still in the process of capacitating the internal audit component.

O T H E R   R E P O R T S   

P e r f o r m a n c e   a u d i t s

A performance audit was conducted during the year under review on the department's use of consultants, contractors and agen-
cies/outsourced services. The management report was issued in February 2011.

Pretoria

30 July 2011
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Chapter 2
ACCOUNTING  POLICIES

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the following policies, which have been applied consistently in
all material aspects, unless otherwise indicated. However, where appropriate and meaningful, additional information has been
disclosed to enhance the usefulness of the Financial Statements and to comply with the statutory requirements of the Public
Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999 (as amended by Act 29 of 1999), and the Treasury Regulations issued in terms of the
Act.

1. Presentation of the Financial Statements

1.1 Basis of preparation

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a modified cash basis of accounting, except where stated otherwise.
The modified cash basis constitutes the cash basis of accounting supplemented with additional disclosure items.
Under the cash basis of accounting transactions and other events are recognised when cash is received or paid. 

1.2 Presentation currency

All amounts have been presented in the currency of the South African Rand (R) which is also the functional
currency of the department.

1.3 Rounding

Unless otherwise stated all financial figures have been rounded to the nearest one thousand Rand (R'000).

1.4 Comparative figures

Prior period comparative information has been presented in the current year's financial statements.  Where necessary
figures included in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified to ensure that the format in which the
information is presented is consistent with the format of the current year's financial statements.  

1.5 Comparative figures - Appropriation Statement

A comparison between actual amounts and final appropriation per major classification of expenditure is included in
the Appropriation Statement.  

2. Revenue

2.1 Appropriated funds

Appropriated funds comprises of departmental allocations as well as direct charges against revenue fund (i.e.
statutory appropriation).

Appropriated funds are recognised in the financial records on the date the appropriation becomes effective.
Adjustments made in terms of the adjustments budget process are recognised in the financial records on the date the
adjustments become effective.

Unexpended appropriated funds are surrendered to the National Revenue Fund.  Any amounts owing to the National
Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year are recognised as payable in the statement of financial position.

Any amount due from the National Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year is recognised as a receivable in the
statement of financial position.
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2.2 Departmental revenue

All departmental revenue is recognised in the statement of financial performance when received and is subsequently
paid into the National Revenue Fund, unless stated otherwise.

Any amount owing to the National Revenue Fund is recognised as a payable in the statement of financial position. 

No accrual is made for the amount receivable from the last receipt date to the end of the reporting period. These
amounts are however disclosed in the disclosure note to the annual financial statements.

2.3 Aid assistance

Aid assistance is recognised as revenue when received.

All in-kind aid assistance is disclosed at fair value on the date of receipt in the annexures to the Annual Financial
Statements.

The cash payments made during the year relating to aid assistance projects are recognised as expenditure in the
statement of financial performance when final authorisation for payments is effected on the system (by no later than
31 March of each year).

The value of the assistance expensed prior to the receipt of funds is recognised as a receivable in the statement of
financial position.

Inappropriately expensed amounts using aid assistance and any unutilised amounts are recognised as payables in the
statement of financial position.

All CARA funds received must be recorded as revenue when funds are received.  The cash payments made during the
year relating to CARA earmarked projects are recognised as expenditure in the statement of financial performance
when final authorisation for payments effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

Inappropriately expensed amounts using CARA funds are recognised as payables in the statement of financial
position. Any unutilised amounts are transferred to retained funds as they are not surrendered to the revenue fund.

3. Expenditure

3.1 Compensation of employees

3.1.1 Salaries and wages

Salaries and wages are expensed in the statement of financial performance when authorisation for payment is
effected on the system (by no later than 31 March each year).

Other employee benefits that give rise to a present legal or constructive obligation are disclosed in the disclosure
notes to the financial statements at its face value and are not recognised in the statement of financial performance or
position.

Employee cost are not capitalised to the cost of a capital project when an employee spends more than 50% of
his/her time in the project. These payments do not form part of expenditure for capital assets in the statement of
financial performance.

3.1.2 Social contributions

Employer contributions to post employment benefit plans in respect of current employees are expensed in the state-
ment of financial performance when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31
March each year).
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No provision is made for retirement benefits in the financial statements of the department. Any potential liabilities
are disclosed in the financial statements of the National Revenue Fund and not in the financial statements of the
employer department.

Employer contributions made by the department for certain of its ex-employees (such as medical benefits) are
classified as transfers to households in the statement of financial performance.

3.2 Goods and services

Payments made during the year for goods and/or services are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial
performance when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each
year). 

The expense is classified as capital if the goods and/or services were acquired for a capital project or if the total
purchase price exceeds the capitalisation threshold (currently R5, 000). All other expenditures are classified as
current.

Rental paid for the use of buildings or other fixed structures is classified as goods and services and not as rent on land.

3.3 Interest and rent on land

Interest and rental payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance when the final
authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).  This item excludes rental
for the use of buildings or other fixed structures.   If it is not possible to distinguish between payment for the use of
land and the fixed structures on it, the whole amount should be recorded under goods and services.

3.4 Payments for financial assets

Debts are written off when identified as irrecoverable. Debts written-off are limited to the amount of savings and/or
underspending of appropriated funds. The write-off occurs at year-end or when funds are available.  No provision is
made for irrecoverable amounts but an estimate is included in the disclosure notes to the financial statements amounts. 

All other losses are recognised when authorisation has been granted for the recognition thereof.

3.5 Transfers and subsidies

Transfers and subsidies are recognised as an expense when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the
system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

3.6 Unauthorised expenditure

When confirmed unauthorised expenditure is recognised as an asset in the statement of financial position until such
time as the expenditure is either approved by the relevant authority, recovered from the responsible person or written
off as irrecoverable in the statement of financial performance.

Unauthorised expenditure approved with funding is derecognised from the statement of financial position when the
unauthorised expenditure is approved and the related funds are received.  

Where the amount is approved without funding it is recognised as expenditure in the statement of financial
performance on the date of approval.

3.7 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as expenditure in the statement of financial performance according to
the nature of the payment and not as a separate line item on the face of the statement. If the expenditure is recoverable
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it is treated as an asset until it is recovered from the responsible person or written-off as irrecoverable in the statement
of financial performance.

3.8 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure is recognised as expenditure in the statement of financial performance.  If the expenditure is not
condoned by the relevant authority it is treated as an asset until it is recovered or written-off as irrecoverable.   

4. Assets

4.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost.  

Bank overdrafts are shown separately on the face of the statement of financial position.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held, other
short-term highly liquid investments and bank overdrafts.

4.2 Other financial assets

Other financial assets are carried in the statement of financial position at cost.

4.3 Prepayments and advances

Amounts prepaid or advanced are recognised in the statement of financial position when the payments are made and
are derecognised as and when the goods/services are received or the funds are utilised.

Prepayments and advances outstanding at the end of the year are carried in the statement of financial position at cost.

4.4 Receivables

Receivables included in the statement of financial position arise from cash payments made that are recoverable from
another party (including departmental employees) and are derecognised upon recovery or write-off.

Receivables outstanding at year-end are carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus any accrued interest.
Amounts that are potentially irrecoverable are included in the disclosure notes.

4.5 Investments

Capitalised investments are shown at cost in the statement of financial position. 

Investments are tested for an impairment loss whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
investment may be impaired. Any impairment loss is included in the disclosure notes.  

4.6 Loans

Loans are recognised in the statement of financial position when the cash is paid to the beneficiary. Loans that are
outstanding at year-end are carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus accrued interest.

Amounts that are potentially irrecoverable are included in the disclosure notes.

4.7 Inventory

Inventories that qualify for recognition must be initially reflected at cost. Where inventories are acquired at no cost,
or for nominal consideration, their cost shall be their fair value at the date of acquisition.

All inventory items at year-end are reflected using the FIFO cost formula.
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4.8 Capital assets

4.8.1 Movable assets

Initial recognition

A capital asset is recorded in the asset register on receipt of the item at cost.  Cost of an asset is defined as the total
cost of acquisition. Where the cost cannot be determined accurately, the movable capital asset is stated at fair value.
Where fair value cannot be determined, the capital asset is included in the asset register at R1.

All assets acquired prior to 1 April 2002 are included in the register at R1.

Subsequent recognition

Subsequent expenditure of a capital nature is recorded in the statement of financial performance as "expenditure for
capital assets" and is capitalised in the asset register of the department on completion of the project.  

Repairs and maintenance is expensed as current "goods and services" in the statement of financial performance.

4.8.2 Immovable assets

Initial recognition

A capital asset is recorded on receipt of the item at cost.  Cost of an asset is defined as the total cost of acquisition.
Where the cost cannot be determined accurately, the immovable capital asset is stated at R1 unless the fair value for
the asset has been reliably estimated.

Subsequent recognition

Work-in-progress of a capital nature is recorded in the statement of financial performance as "expenditure for capital
assets".  On completion, the total cost of the project is included in the asset register of the department that is
accountable for the asset.

Repairs and maintenance is expensed as current "goods and services" in the statement of financial performance.

5. Liabilities

5.1 Payables

Recognised payables mainly comprise of amounts owing to other governmental entities. These payables are carried
at cost in the statement of financial position.

5.2 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are included in the disclosure notes to the financial statements when it is possible that
economic benefits will flow from the department, or when an outflow of economic benefits or service potential is
probable but cannot be measured reliably.

5.3 Contingent assets

Contingent assets are included in the disclosure notes to the financial statements when it is possible that an inflow of
economic benefits will flow to the entity.

5.4 Commitments

Commitments are not recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability or as expenditure in the statement
of financial performance but are included in the disclosure notes.
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5.5 Accruals

Accruals are not recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability or as expenditure in the statement of
financial performance but are included in the disclosure notes.

5.6 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits that give rise to a present legal or constructive obligation are disclosed in the disclosure
notes to the financial statements.  These amounts are not recognised in the statement of financial performance or the
statement of financial position.

5.7 Lease commitments

Finance lease

Finance leases are not recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position. Finance lease payments
are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance and are apportioned between the capital and
interest portions. The finance lease liability is disclosed in the disclosure notes to the financial statements.

Operating lease

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance. The operating lease
commitments are disclosed in the disclosure notes to the financial statements.

5.8 Impairment and other provisions

The department tests for impairment where there is an indication that a receivable, loan or investment may be
impaired. An assessment of whether there is an indication of possible impairment is done at each reporting date. An
estimate is made for doubtful loans and receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts at year-end.
Impairments on investments are calculated as being the difference between the carrying amount and the present value
of the expected future cash flows or service potential flowing from the instrument.

Provisions are disclosed when there is a present legal or constructive obligation to forfeit economic benefits as a result
of events in the past and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

6. Receivables for departmental revenue

Receivables for departmental revenue are disclosed in the disclosure notes to the annual financial statements.

7. Net assets

7.1 Capitalisation reserve

The capitalisation reserve comprises of financial assets and/or liabilities originating in a prior reporting period but
which are recognised in the statement of financial position for the first time in the current reporting period. Amounts
are recognised in the capitalisation reserves when identified in the current period and are transferred to the National
Revenue Fund when the underlining asset is disposed and the related funds are received.

7.2 Recoverable revenue

Amounts are recognised as recoverable revenue when a payment made in a previous financial year becomes
recoverable from a debtor in the current financial year. Amounts are either transferred to the National Revenue Fund
when recovered or are transferred to the statement of financial performance when written-off.
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8. Related party transactions

Specific information with regards to related party transactions is included in the disclosure notes.

9. Key management personnel

Compensation paid to key management personnel including their family members where relevant, is included in the
disclosure notes.
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

NOTES  TO  THE  APPRORIATION  STATEMENT
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

1. Detail of transfers and subsidies as per Appropriation Act (after Virement):
Detail of these transactions can be viewed in note 6 to Transfers and subsidies and Annexure 1 (A-E) to the Annual
Financial Statements.

2. Detail of specifically and exclusively appropriated amounts voted (after Virement):
Detail of these transactions can be viewed in note 1 (Annual Appropriation) to the Annual Financial Statements.

3. Detail on financial transactions in assets and liabilities:
Detail of these transactions per programme can be viewed in note 5 to Financial transactions in assets and liabilities
to the Annual Financial Statements.

4. Explanations of material variances from Amounts Voted (after Virement):

4.1 Per programme:

4.2 Per economic classification:

4.3 Restatement of prior year figures:
Prior year figures have been restated because of additional sub-programmes in the current year.

Final
Appropriation

R’000

Actual
Expenditure

R’000

Variance as a %
of Final Approp.

%

Transfers and subsidies
Non-profit institutions 5 407 5 187 4.07%

Variance

R’000

220

The variance of R220 000 under spending is on Transfers Payments to the Regular Force Medical Continuation
Fund that did not occur and have to be surrendered.

Per programme Final
Appropriation

R’000

Actual
Expenditure

R’000

Variance as a %
of Final Approp.

%

Military Health Support 3 150 334 3 150 114 0.01%

Variance

R’000

220 

Per economic classification

The variance of R220 000 under spending is on Transfers Payments to the Regular Force Medical Continuation
Fund that did not occur and have to be surrendered.
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

STATEMENT  OF  F INANCIAL  PERFORMANCE
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

REVENUE
Note 2009/10

R’000

Annual appropriation
Departmental revenue
TOTAL REVENUE

EXPENDITURE
Current expenditure
Compensation of employees
Goods and services
Total current expenditure

Transfers and subsidies

Expenditure for capital assets
Tangible capital assets
Software and other intangible assets
Total expenditure for capital assets

Payments for financial assets

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

NET SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR

Reconciliation of Net Surplus for the year
Voted Funds
Departmental revenue

NET SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR

1
2

3
4

6

7
7

5

15
16

31 325 256 
699 949 

32 025 205 

12 705 579 
8 069 332 

20 774 911 

9 363 427 

1 136 210 
140 

1 136 350 

49 559 

31 324 247 

700,958 

1 009 
699 949 
700 958 

2010/11
R’000

30 442 591 
689 688 

31 132 279 

16 597 098 
8 890 703 

25 487 801 

3 888 017 

899 422 
132 

899 554 

166 999 

30 442 371 

689 908 

220 
689 688 
689 908 
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ASSETS

Note 2009/10 
R’000

Current assets
Unauthorised expenditure
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepayments and advances
Receivables
Loans

Non-current assets
Investments

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund
Departmental revenue to be surrendered to the 
Revenue Fund
Bank overdraft
Payables

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

Represented by:
Capitalisation Reserves
Recoverable revenue

TOTAL

8
9
10
11
12
14

13

15
16

17
18

915 549 
60 918 

927 
70 951 
92 237 

678 154 
12 362 

75 000 
75 000 

990 549 

784 145 
1 009 
2 371

737 695 
43 070 

784 145 

206 404 

75 000 
131 404 

206 404 

2010/11
R’000

740 829 
60 918 

29 
58 607 
74 964 

533 949 
12 362 

75 000 
75 000 

815 829 

598 913 
220 

4 139

538 000 
56 554 

598 913 

216 916 

75 000 
141 916 

216 916 

An amount of R6 135 215 disclosed as non-current payables in the 2008/09 financial statements has been
reclassified as current payables.

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

STATEMENT  OF  F INANCIAL  POSITION
as  a t   31  March  2011
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

STATEMENT  OF  CHANGES  IN  NET  ASSETS
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

ASSETS

Note 2009/10
R’000

Capitalisation Reserves
Opening balance

Other movements
Closing balance

Recoverable revenue
Opening balance
Transfers

Irrecoverable amounts written off
Debts revised
Debts recovered (included in departmental receipts)
Debts raised

Closing balance

TOTAL

5.4

75 000 
- 

75 000 

162 016 
(30 612)
(5 245)

(52 725)
(25 295)

52 653 
131 404 

206 404 

2010/11 
R’000

75 000 
- 

75 000 

131 404 
10 512 
(3 326)
(5 975)

(27 135)
46 948 

141 916 

216 916 
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

CASH  FLOW  STATEMENT
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

ASSETS

Note 2009/10
R’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts

Annual appropriated funds received
Departmental revenue received

Net decrease/(increase) in working capital
Surrendered to Revenue Fund
Current payments
Payments for financial assets
Transfers and subsidies paid
Net cash flows available from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for capital assets
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Net cash flows from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase/(decrease) in net assets
Net cash flows from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

1
2

19

20

32 005 724 
31 325 256 

680 468 

(22 777)
(803 273)

(20 774 911)
(49 559)

(9 363 427)
991 777 

(1 136 350)
19 481 

(1 116 869)

(30 612)
(30 612)

(155 704)

(511 040)

(666 744)

2010/11
R’000

31 109 211 
30 442 591 

666 620 

175 860 
(688 929)

(25 487 801)
(166 999)

(3 888 017)
1 053 325 

(899 554)
23 068 

(876 486)

10 512 
10 512 

187 351 

(666 744)

(479 393)
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1. Annual Appropriation

1.1 Annual Appropriation

Programmes

Administration
Force Employment
Landward Defence
Air Defence
Maritime Defence
Military Health Support
Defence Intelligence
General Support
Total

2. Departmental Revenue

Sales of goods and services other than capital assets
Fines, penalties and forfeits
Interest, dividends and rent on land
Sales of capital assets
Transactions in financial assets in liabilities
Transfer received 
Departmental revenue collected

2.1 Sales of goods and services other than capital assets
Sales of goods and services produced by the department

Administrative fees
Other sales

Sales of scrap, waste and other used current goods
Total

2.2 Fines, penalties and forfeits
Fines 

2.3 Interest, dividends and rent on land
Interest

2.4 Sales of capital assets
Tangible assets
Machinery and equipment
Specialised military assets

2.5 Transactions in financial assets and liabilities
Other Receipts including Recoverable Revenue
Total
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

Notes  to   the  Annual   F inancia l   S ta tements
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Final
Appropriation

R’000

Actual Funds
Received

R’000

Appropriation
Received 

2009/10
R’000

3 452 915 
2 265 457 
9 295 568 
5 488 936 
2 349 916 
3 150 334 

633 853 
3 805 612 

30 442 591 

3 452 915 
2 265 457 
9 295 568 
5 488 936 
2 349 916 
3 150 334 

633 853 
3 805 612 

30 442 591 

2 914 090 
1 887 489 
9 042 226 
8 643 761 
1 997 454 
2 608 189 

594 704 
3 637 343 

31 325 256 

Funds not
requested/

not received
R’000

-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   

Note 2009/10
R’000

2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6

209 606 
3 724 
2 750 

19 481 
236 097 
228 291 
699 949 

194 410 
53 

194 357 
15 196 

209 606 

3 724 

2 750 

19 481 
19 481 

- 

236 097 
236 097 

2010/11
R’000

263 989 
4 459 
2 628 

23 068 
144 777 
250 767 
689 688 

255 338 
15 

255 323 
8 651 

263 989  

4 459 

2 628 

23 068 
140 

22 928 

144 777 
144 777 

32.2
32.2
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

Notes  to   the  Annual   F inancia l   S ta tements
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

2.6 Transfers received
Foreign governments
Total

3. Compensation of employees

3.1 Salaries and wages

Basic salary
Performance award
Service Based
Compensative/circumstantial
Other non-pensionable allowances
Total

3.2 Social contributions
3.2.1    Employer contributions

Pension
Medical 
Bargaining council
Total

Total compensation of employees

Average number of employees

4. Goods and services

Administrative fees
Advertising
Assets less then R5 000
Catering 
Communication
Computer services
Consultants, contractors and agency/outsourced services
Entertainment
Audit cost – external
Inventory
Operating leases 
Owned and leasehold property expenditure
Travel and subsistence
Venues and facilities
Training and staff development
Other operating expenditure
Total

Note

4.1

4.2
4.3

4.4
4.5

4.6
4.7

4.8

8 136 264 
112 579 
40 176 

998 935 
2 012 693 

11 300 647 

1 331 782 
72 778 

372 
1 404 932 

12 705 579 

74 560 

9 668 
7 186 

126 736 
39 235 

107 906 
841 358 

3 517 891 
6 997 

46 442 
1 591 843 

222 160 
485 521 
703 034 
14 897 

110 696 
237 762 

8 069 332 

10 483 192 
111 480 
48 598 

1 825 212 
2 371 257 

14 839 739 

1 669 043 
87 650 

666 
1 757 359 

16 597 098 

77 125 

10 318 
5 553 

108 647 
38 016 
88 873 

856 280 
3 940 203 

9 170 
49 972 

1 787 881 
259 120 
580 930 
728 501 

9 972 
118 977 
298 290 

8 890 703 

2009/10
R’000

228 291 
228 291 

2010/11
R’000

250 767 
250 767
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

Notes  to   the  Annual   F inancia l   S ta tements
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

4.1 Assets less than R5 000

Tangible assets
Biological assets
Machinery and equipment
Specialised military assets
Intangible assets
Total

4.2 Computer services

SITA computer services
External computer service providers
Total

4.3 Consultants, contractors and agency/outsourced services

Business and advisory services
Infrastructure and planning
Laboratory services
Legal costs
Contractors
Agency and support/outsourced services
Total

4.4 Audit cost – external

Regularity audits
Performance audits
Other audits
Total

4.5 Inventory

Food and food supplies
Fuel, oil and gas
Other consumable materials
Maintenance material
Stationery and printing
Medical supplies
Medicine
Military stores
Total

4.6 Property payments

Municipal services
Other
Total

Note

4

4

4

4

4

4

126 736 
43 

121 334 
5 359 

-   
126 736 

815 999 
25 359 

841 358 

311 613 
10 577 
11 698 

635 
2 834 305 

349 063 
3 517 891 

41 227 
415 

4 800 
46 442 

697 727 
312 415 
135 503 
123 545 
74 168 
74 483 

143 334 
30 668 

1 591 843 

451 060 
34 461 

485 521 

108 647 
-   

101 115 
7 532 

-   
108 647 

832 677 
23 603 

856 280 

288 098 
2 231 

20 436 
1 568 

3 263 031 
364 839 

3 940 203 

41 968 
1 958 
6 046 

49 972 

708 875 
405 662 
166 715 
122 365 
68 762 
99 388 

152 825 
63 289 

1 787 881 

544 560 
36 370 

580 930 

2009/10
R’000

2010/11
R’000
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

Notes  to   the  Annual   F inancia l   S ta tements
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

4.7 Travel and subsistence

Local 
Foreign
Total

4.8 Other operating expenditure

Professional bodies, membership and subscription fees
Resettlement costs
Other
Total

5. Payments for financial assets

Other material losses written off
Debts written off
Forex losses
Total

5.1 Other material losses written off

Nature of losses
Settlement
Legal fees State Attorney
Motor vehicle losses
Other claims against the state
Legal opinions
Legal fees  
Interest claims
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Spectacle losses
Unauthorised expenditure written off
Total

5.2 Debts written off

Nature of debts written off
Debt transfer
Salary related
Medical
State guarantees
Estates
Treatment of private patients
Loss of state property
Loss of state funds
Humanitarian
Total

Note

4

4

5.1
5.2
5.3

460 351 
242 683 
703 034 

1 911 
41 677 

194 174 
237 762 

42 409 
1 389 
5 761 

49 559 

29 361 
74 

1 765 
724 
421 

9 458 
592 

7 
7 
-   

42 409 

-   
1 015 

-   
104 
143 

2 
1 

119 
5 

1 389 

516 724 
211 777 
728 501 

1 525 
42 190 

254 575 
298 290 

158 873 
2 199 
5 927 

166 999 

4 811 
-   

1 714 
442 

4 068 
18 540 

29 
880 

3 
128 386 
158 873 

6 
1 375 

2 
71 
78 
1 
-   

666 
-   

2 199 

2009/10
R’000

2010/11
R’000
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

Notes  to   the  Annual   F inancia l   S ta tements
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

5.3 Forex losses

Nature of loss
Foreign exchange losses on operations

5.4 Recoverable revenue written off
Nature of losses
Salary related
Contractual Liabilities
State guarantees
Estates
Motor vehicle accidents
Loss of state property
Sales per tender
Treatment of state patients
Operations/Marketing Support
Private institutions and Other
Total

5.5 Assets written off
Nature of write-off
Transport assets
Computer equipment
Other machinery and equipment
Specialised military assets
Total

6. Transfers and subsidies

Departmental agencies and accounts
Public corporations and private enterprises
Non-profit institutions
Households
Gifts, donations and sponsorships made
Total

7. Expenditure for capital assets

Tangible assets
Buildings and other fixed structures
Machinery and equipment
Specialised military assets
Biological assets

Software and other intangible assets
Computer software
Total

Note

5 761 

24 
3 748 

90 
103 
575 
458 

-   
165 

-   
82 

5 245 

-   
-   
-   
-   
-   

8 629 128 
603 608 

4 342 
126 349 

- 
9 363 427 

1 136 210 
599 093 
454 015 
83 092 

10 

140 
140 

1 136 350 

5 927 

8 
1 848 

70 
62 

1 179 
36 
35 
20 
54 
14 

3 326 

13 209 
52 

442 
617 

14 320 

3 024 728 
737 510 

5 187 
120 592 

- 
3 888 017 

899 422 
251 203 
581 388 
66 760 

71 

132 
132 

899 554 

2009/10
R’000

2010/11
R’000

Stat Chg in NA

5.1
5.2
5.3

Annex 1A
Annex 1B
Annex 1C
Annex 1D
Annex 1G

7.1
7.1
7.1
7.1

7.1
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7.1 Analysis of funds utilised to acquire capital assets - 2010/11

Tangible assets
Buildings and other fixed structures
Machinery and equipment
Specialised military assets
Biological Assets

Software and other intangible assets
Computer software

Total

7.2 Analysis of funds utilised to acquire capital assets - 2009/10

Tangible assets
Buildings and other fixed structures
Machinery and equipment
Specialised military assets
Biological Assets

Software and other intangible assets
Computer software

Total

8. Unauthorised expenditure
8.1 Reconciliation of unauthorised expenditure

Opening balance
Amounts approved by Parliament
Transfer to receivables for recovery (not approved)
Unauthorised expenditure awaiting authorisation/written off

8.2 Analysis of unauthorised expenditure awaiting authorisation 
per economic classification
Current
Total

8.3 Analysis of unauthorised expenditure awaiting authorisation 
per type
Unauthorised expenditure incurred not in accordance with the 
purpose of the vote or main division
Total

Note

899 422 
251 203 
581 388 
66 760 

71 

132 
132 

899 554 

1 136 210 
599 093 
454 015
83 092

10 

140 
140 

1 136 350 

899 422 
251 203 
581 388 
66 760 

71 

132 
132 

899 554 

1 136 210 
599 093 
454 015 
83 092

10 

140 
140 

1 136 350 

-   

60 918 
-   
-   

60 918 

60 918 
60 918 

60 918 

60 918 

- 
- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

- 
- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

60 918 
-   
-   

60 918 

60 918 
60 918 

60 918 

60 918 

2009/10
R’000

2010/11
R’000

Voted Funds
R’000

TOTAL
R’000

Aid Assistance
R’000

Voted Funds
R’000

TOTAL
R’000

Aid Assistance
R’000

The prior year figures were restated with an amount of R40 292 420 which was previously classified 
within receivables.
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9. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
9.1 Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Opening balance
Less:  Amounts condoned

Current
Capital
Transfers and subsidies

Less:  Amounts transferred to receivables for recovery
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure awaiting condonement

9.2 Analysis of awaiting condonement per economic classification
Current
Total

10. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand
Cash with commercial banks
Total

11. Prepayments and advances

Travel and subsistence
Total

12. Receivables 

Claims recoverable
Staff debt
Other debtors
Total

12.1 Claims recoverable

National departments
Total

Note

931 
(4)
(4)

- 
- 
- 

927 

927 
927 

48 285 
22 666 
70 951 

92 237 
92 237 

9 383 
91 192 

577 579 
678 154 

9 383 
9 383 

927 
(897)
(897)

- 
- 

(1)
29 

29 
29 

39 511 
19 096 
58 607 

74 964 
74 964 

7 031 
67 152 

459 766 
533 949 

7 031 
7 031 

2009/10
R’000

2010/11
R’000

5.1
5.2
5.3

In the 2009/10 financial year, an amount R10 635 773,26 was reclassified from cash on hand 
to staff debtors (salary related). An amount of R3 001 420,95 was also reclassified from 
cash on hand to current payables.

12.1 & Annex 4
12.2
12.3

Older than
three years

R’000

2009/10
Total
R’000

2010/11
Total
R’000

Less than 
one year

R’000

One to 
three years

R’000

2 238 
7 921 

403 879 
414 038 

3 423 
49 095 
30 217 
82 735 

1 370 
10 136 
25 670 
37 176 
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12.2 Staff debtors

Description
Salary related
Students
Motor vehicle accidents
Deposits
State guarantees
Loss of state money
Damage to state property
Private patients
Total

12.3 Other debtors

Unauthorised expenditure not approved by Parliament and to 
be written off
Operations
Contractual liabilities
Aviation services
Suppliers
Motor vehicle accidents
Estates
State guarantees
Medical claims
Private patients
Market support
Humanitarian aid
Institutions
Damage to state property
Miscellaneous
Loss of state money
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
State departments
Salary overpayments
Sales per tender
Total

Note

69 117 
9 191 
4 232 
6 184 
1 401 

844 
75 

148 
91 192 

427 411

44 993 
58 583 
7 653 
2 140 
4 143 

776 
586 

2 648 
213 

2 833 
47 
62 
30 
42 

13 734 
360 
29 

11 261 
35 

577 579 

45 027 
10 167 
4 582 
5 035 
1 356 

763 
85 

137 
67 152 

299 029

61 631 
60 221 
4 591 
1 517 
4 437 

829 
395 

1 980 
229 
636 

- 
16 
28 

344 
13 828 

128 
- 

9 927 
- 

459 766 

2009/10
R’000

2010/11
R’000

In the 2009/10 financial year, an amount of R10 635 773,26 was reclassified from cash on hand to
staff debtors (salary related).
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13. Investments

Non-Current
Shares and other equity
Armscor
Total

Analysis of non current investments
Opening balance
Closing balance

14. Loans

Public Corporations
Total

Analysis of Balance
Opening Balance
Closing Balance

15. Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Opening balance
Transfer from Statement of Financial Performance
Add:  Unauthorised expenditure for current year
Voted funds not requested/not received
Paid during the year
Closing balance

16. Departmental revenue to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Opening balance
Transfer from Statement of Financial Performance
Paid during the year
Closing balance

17. Bank overdraft

Consolidated Paymaster General account
Total

Note

75 000 
75 000 

75 000 
75 000 

12 362 
12 362 

12 362 
12 362 

97 741 
1 009 

- 
- 

(97 741)
1 009 

7 954 
699 949 

(705 532)
2 371 

737 695 
737 695 

75 000 
75 000 

75 000 
75 000 

12 362 
12 362 

12 362 
12 362 

1 009 
220 

- 
- 

(1 009)
220 

2 371 
689 688 

(687 920)
4 139 

538 000 
538 000 

2009/10
R’000

2010/11
R’000

8
1.1

This represents a loan to the South African Forces Institute (SAFI) for the purpose of bridging finance.
This loan is unsecured.  The interest rate is fixed at 0% per annum and was payable by March 2007.

Refer to Note 31 for the details on impairment of the SAFI loan.
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18. Payables - current

Amounts owing to other entities
Advances received
Clearing accounts
Other payables
Total

18.1 Advances received

National Rural Youth Service Corps Programme
Total

18.2 Clearing accounts

Subsistence and Travel Cash Voucher Receipt
Foreign Subsistence and Travel not included in Subsistence 
and Travel Cash Voucher Receipt above
Total

18.3 Other payables

Unclaimed salaries
Debtors in credit
Other payables 
State guarantees
Suppliers
Total

19. Net cash flow available from operating activities

Net surplus/(deficit) as per Statement of Financial Performance
Add back non cash/cash movements not deemed operating activities
(Increase)/decrease in receivables – current
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and advances
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in payables – current
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Expenditure on capital assets
Surrenders to Revenue Fund
Voted funds not requested/not received
Other non-cash items
Net cash flow generated by operating activities

Note

24 
- 

2 844 
40 202 
43 070 

- 
- 

2 791 
53

2 844 

14 758 
2 888 

14 721 
4 949 
2 886 

40 202 

700 958 
290 819 
(24 816)
(2 073)

4 
4 108 

(19 481)
1 136 350 
(803 273)

- 
- 

991 777 

20 
13 800 
1 059 

41 675 
56 554 

13 800 
13 800 

1 059 
-

1 059 

9 953 
4 200 

16 903 
4 660 
5 959 

41 675 

689 908 
363 417 
144 205 
17 273 

898 
13 484 

(23 068)
899 554 

(688 929)
- 
- 

1 053 325 

2009/10
R’000

2010/11
R’000

Annexure 5
18.1
18.2
18.3

For the financial year 2009/10 an amount of R7 461 654,50 has been reclassified from debtors in credit to
other payables and an amount of R832 061,86 has been reclassified from debtors in credit to suppliers.

An amount of R3 001 420,95 was reclassified from cash on hand to other payables (unclaimed salaries) for 
the 2009/10 financial year.
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20. Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents for cash flow purposes

Consolidated Paymaster General account
Cash on hand
Cash with commercial banks (Local)
Total

Note

(737 695)
48 285 
22 666 

(666 744)

(538 000)
39 511 
19 096 

(479 393)

2009/10
R’000

2010/11
R’000
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Included in the claims against the department is an amount of 35 563 211 euro in respect of foreign currency claims. 

The total outstanding balance as on 31 March 2011 is R343 281 008 (exchange rate as at 31 March 2011 was R9,6527)

Note 2009/10
R’000

Annexure 3A
Annexure 3B
Annexure 5

Annexure 3B
Annexure 3B

19 954 
428 720 
22 197

181 845 
11 815 

664 531 

2 855 899 
862 610 

3 718 509 

141 009 
54 685 

195 694 

3 914 203 

2 855 899 
862 610 

3 718 509 

141 009 
54 685 

195 694 

333 929 
-   

9 509 
689 
56 

344 183 

2010/11
R’000

15 773 
858 272 

7 077

129 372 
-   

1 010 494 

1 788 316 
1 892 227 
3 680 543 

74 783 
119 924 
194 707 

3 875 250 

97 605 
100 337 
197 942 

3 861 
5 

3 866 

343 855 
-   

8 237 
3 870 

-   
355 962 

21. Contingent liabilities

Liable to 

Housing loan guarantees Employees 
Claims against the department 
Other departments 
(interdepartmental unconfirmed balances) 
Environmental rehabilitation liability 
Other 
Total

22. Commitments

Current expenditure
Approved and contracted
Approved but not yet contracted

Capital expenditure (including transfers)
Approved and contracted
Approved but not yet contracted

Total Commitments

Commitments longer than 1 year

Current expenditure
Approved and contracted
Approved but not yet contracted

Capital expenditure 
Approved and contracted
Approved but not yet contracted

23. Accruals

Listed by economic classification

Goods and services
Interest and rent on land
Transfers and subsidies
Capital assets
Other
Total

These amounts are not recognised in the financial statements, and are disclosed to enhance the usefulness of the financial state-
ments and to comply with the statutory requirements of the Public Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999  

Nature

30+ Days
R’000

30 Days
R’000

149 860 
-   
-   

1 612 
-   

151 472 

193 995 
-   

8 237 
2 258 

-   
204 490 

2009/102010/11

Total
R’000

Total
R’000
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The opening balance has been restated by an amount of (R42 568 662,61) due to a change in estimate.

Note 2009/10
R’000

45 437 
84, 820 
15 552 
9 421 

91 150 
436 

22 154 
75 213 

344 183 

5 570
-   

5 570

343 051 
418 228 
985 049 
219 859 

1 966 187 

2010/11
R’000

64 566 
22 094 
88 514 
12 303 

105 278 
57 

26 046 
37 104 

355 962 

65 905
-   

65 905

359 566 
464 437 
987 560 
182 894 

1 994 457 

Listed by programme level

Administration
Landward Defence
Air Defence
Maritime Defence
Military Health Support
Defence Intelligence
Joint Support
Force Employment
Total

Confirmed balances with departments
Confirmed balances with other government entities
Total

24. Employee benefits

Leave entitlement
Service bonus (Thirteenth cheque)
Capped leave commitments
Other
Total

25. Lease Commitments

25.1 Operating leases expenditure

2010/11

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later 
than 5 years
Later than five years
Total lease commitments

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

Disc losure  notes   to   the  Annual   F inancia l   S ta tements
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Buildings and
other fixed
structures

R'000

180 755 
428 478

340 780 
950 013 

Total

R'000

Machinery
and equip-

ment
R'000

Specialised
military
assets
R'000

-   
-   

-   
-  

193 355 
432 335

341 007 
966 697 

-   
-   

-   
-  

Leave entitlement with negative balances amounting to R31 194 860 for the 2010/11 financial year and R40 805 209
for the 2009/10 financial year were included in the figures above.

Land

R'000

12 600 
3 857

227 
16 684
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The amount disclosed in the financial year 2009/2010 with regards to Operating leases has been restated from 
R662 407 000 to R842 665 407. This was due to the extention of lease contracts which existed in the prior year.
The Department has open-ended contracts on Land and properties and are mainly used as shooting ranges and 
communication sites.
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Buildings and
other fixed
structures

R'000

167 104 
364 620

296 490 
828 214 

Total

R'000

Machinery
and equip-

ment
R'000

Specialised
military
assets
R'000

-   
-   

-   
-  

178 359 
367 625

296 682 
842 666 

-   
-   

-   
-  

Land

R'000

11 255 
3 005 

192 
14 452 

2009/10

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later 
than 5 years
Later than five years
Total lease commitments

25.2 Finance leases expenditure

2010/11

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later 
than 5 years
Later than five years
Total lease commitments
LESS:  finance costs
Total present value of lease liabilities

2009/10

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later 
than 5 years
Later than five years
Total lease commitments
LESS:  finance costs
Total present value of lease liabilities

Buildings and
other fixed
structures

R'000

-   
-

-   
-   
-   
-   

Total

R'000

Machinery
and equip-

ment
R'000

Specialised
military
assets
R'000

-   
-

-   
-   
-   
-   

13 320 
6 467

-   
19 787 

550 
19 237 

13 320 
6 467

-   
19 787 

550 
19 237 

Land

R'000

-   
-

-   
-   
-   
-   

Buildings and
other fixed
structures

R'000

-   
-

-   
-   
-   
-   

Total

R'000

Machinery
and equip-

ment
R'000

Specialised
military
assets
R'000

-   
-

-   
-   
-   
-   

29 480 
9 773

-   
39 253 
1 320

37 933 

29 480 
9 773

-   
39 253 
1 320 

37 933 

Land

R'000

-   
-

-   
-   
-   
-   

The amount disclosed in the 2009/10 financial year for Finance Lease Expenditure has been restated from R37 262 000 
to R37 932 128 due to an understatement of the commitment for pool cell phones in the lease register.
Assumptions:
1. Discounting rate: Repo rate at 5.5% in 2011 and 6.5% in 2010.

annrep 1011 Finrep.qxp  2011/10/10  10:48  Page 239



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

240

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

Disc losure  notes   to   the  Annual   F inancia l   S ta tements
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Note 2009/10
R’000

763 
-   

22 931 
126 164 
160 604 

310 462 

351 692 
466 954 
425 724 
310 462 

65 128 
723 731 

1 000 874 
(24 423)

(13)
(20)

1 765 277 

991 618 
773 659 

1 765 277 

2010/11
R’000

344 
-   

25 383 
56 501 

172 770

254 998 

310 462 
400 625 
345 161 
254 998 

1 765 277 
139 

799 349 
(1 522 522)

(55 440)
- 

986 803 

694 888 
291 915 
986 803 

13 901 

89 888 

2 564 

101 

866 

467 449 

224 580 

799 349 

26. Receivables for departmental revenue

Sales of goods and services other than capital assets
Fines, penalties and forfeits
Sale of capital assets
Transactions in financial assets and liabilities
Transfers received (incl conditional grants 
to be repaid by prov depts)
Total

26.1 Analysis of receivables for departmental revenue
Opening balance
Less:  Amounts received
Add:  Amounts recognised
Closing balance

27. Irregular expenditure

27.1 Reconciliation of irregular expenditure

Opening balance
Add:  Irregular expenditure - relating to prior year
Add:  Irregular expenditure - relating to current year
Less:  Amounts condoned
Less:  Amounts recoverable (not condoned)
Less:  Amounts not recoverable (not condoned)
Irregular expenditure awaiting condonement

Analysis of awaiting condonement per age classification
Current
Prior years
Total

27.2 Details of Irregular expenditure - Current Year

Incident

Procurement without Financial 
Authority and Government Order
Housing allowance

Financial lease payments

A400M Airbus: Day-to-day

Payments were made after the 
contract has expired
Deviation from bidding process

Deviation from payment process

Total

Disciplinary steps taken/criminal
proceedings
Under investigation to determine
responsible official
Under investigation to determine
responsible official
Under investigation to determine
responsible official
Under investigation to determine
responsible official
Under investigation to determine
responsible official
Under investigation to determine
responsible official
Under investigation to determine
responsible official
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Note 2009/10
R’000

4 587 
- 

6 065 
(107)

(8)
10 537 

2010/11
R’000

28 121

2 564 
1 010 728 

480 981 
50 

18 

60 

1 522 522 

55 300 
136

4

55 440 

22 680 

4 055 
4 225 

38 027 
224 580 

6 859 
106 306 
467 449 
112 002 

620
986 803 

10 537 
- 

491 
(15)

(424)
10 589 

27.3 Details of irregular expenditure 
condoned
Incident

Procurement without Financial 
Authority and Government Order
Lease payments
Housing Allowance
Military Dispensation
Exceeding delegated powers

Service continued after contract 
had expired
Other matters

27.4 Details of irregular expenditure 
recoverable (not condoned)
Incident

AMG Account:  Order number 2H209112
Incorrect payments to suppliers

Double payment for goods, because of fraud

27.5 Details of irregular expenditure under investigation
Incident
Procurement without Financial Authority and Government
Order
Contract irregularities
Payment BMO Payment schedule without authority
A400M Airbus day-to-day operational costs
Deviation from payment
Exceeding delegation limit
AMG Account
Deviation from Bidding process
Performance incentives
Other matters

28. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

28.1 Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Opening Balance
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – relating to prior year
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – relating to current year
Less:  Amounts condoned
Less:  Amounts transferred to receivables for recovery
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure awaiting condonement

Condoned by (condoning 
authority)
Central Commercial Procurement
Sub-Committee
Practice note 5 of NT
Accounting Officer
Committee of Ministers
Prosecution and Recovery
Committee
Central Commercial Procurement
Sub-Committee
Prosecution and Recovery
Committee

Condoned by (condon-
ing authority)
Chief Air Force
Prosecution and
Recovery Committee
Prosecution and
Recovery Committee
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Note 2009/10
R’000

5 973 
4 564 

10 537 

12 362 
-   

12 362 

2010/11
R’000

6 386 
4 203 

10 589 

1

1 

54 
9 

48 

378 
491 

12 362 
-   

12 362 

28.2 Analysis of awaiting condonement per economic 
classification
Current
Capital
Total

28.3 Analysis of Current Year's Fruitless 
and wasteful expenditure
Incident

Payment of allowances to members not 
entitled to it
Deviation from State contract resulting in 
paying more
Cancellation fees paid on different occations
Cash withdrawal charges levied twice on 
the same amount
Payment of interest claim on air services
Payment of finance for late payment of 
invoices regarding navigation and over flight
Total

29. Related party transactions

Loans to/from related parties
Non-interest bearing loans to/(from)
Interest bearing loans to/(from)
Total

Disciplinary steps taken/
criminal proceedings
Still under investigation

Still under investigation

Still under investigation
Still under investigation

Still under investigation

Still under investigation

Identification and nature of related party relationship

As at 31 March 2011 the DOD had the following related parties, namely the: 

- President of the RSA; 

- Deputy President of the RSA; 

- Cabinet of the Government of the RSA, including the Ministers of all National Departments; 

- National Departments; 

- Public Entities resorting under the National Departments; 

- Public Entities resorting under the portfolio of the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans, these being the:   

- Armaments Corporation of South Africa Limited (Armscor) including subsidiaries, joint ventures or units under
its control;   

- Castle Control Board (CCB);   

- South African National Defence Force Fund (SANDF Fund); and   

- Reserve Force Council 

- Key management personnel of the DOD (members of the Plenary Defence Staff Council); and 

- All entities under the control, joint control or significant influence of a key management personnel member of the
DOD.

As per clarification letter from the National Treasury dated 31 March 2009, Department of Defence funds (messes,
clubs, regimental funds, etc.) are not regarded as related parties.
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Related party transactions

The Department is not aware of any related party transactions (i.e. transactions not at arms length) that occurred dur-
ing the period between the Department and the President of the RSA; the Deputy President of the RSA; the Cabinet
of the Government of the RSA, including the Ministers of all National Departments; National Departments and pub-
lic entities falling under these departments. Armscor and the Department are not aware of any related party transac-
tions that occurred during the period between the related parties other than, the use of six South African Military
(SAMIL) vehicles.  Four SAMIL 50’s and two SAMIL 100 vehicles, owned by the Department were allocated to Gerotek
(Pty) Ltd, a subsidiary of Armscor, several years ago.  Gerotek (Pty) Ltd uses these vehicles in its operations at no con-
sideration to the Department.  These vehicles are primarily for Defence purposes.  Gerotek (Pty) Ltd carries the
responsibility of the maintenance and insurance of the above mentioned vehicles.  The age of the vehicles is in excess
of 20 years. During the period the following related party transactions occurred between the Department and the
Castle Control Board (CCB);

- The CCB is mandated in terms of the Castle Management Act, 1993 (Act 207 of 1993), to govern and manage the
Castle of Good Hope on behalf of the Minister of Defence and Military Veterans.  The CCB is housed and located
in the Castle of Good Hope, Cape Town.

- The following entities and activities occupy or utilise parts of the Castle of Good Hope, at no consideration to the
Department however in some instances consideration is paid to the CCB:   

- Die Goewerneur restaurant;   

- Waterblommetjie restaurant;   

- Castle Forge;   

- Carriage rides;   

- Castle Military Museum;   

- Souvenir shop;   

- Iziko Museum of Cape Town;   

- The Western Cape Army Support Base (forming part of the Department) supplied guards to the CCB to guard
the Castle of Good Hope and to perform ceremonial duties at no charge.   

- Defence Reserves Provincial Office Western Cape;   

- SA Heritage Resources Agency (SAHRA);   

- Good Hope Art Studio;  

- 5X Reserve Force Regiments.

- The Department provides management and advisory services to the CCB at no consideration. The cost to the
Department for the time and subsistence for these services for the period was R2 373 734 (2009/10: R2 270 696).  

The Deparment provides management and administrative support to the SANDF Fund at no consideration.  The cost
to the Department for the time spent in providing this support for the period was R25 690 (2009/10: R5 772).The
Department is not aware of any related party transactions that might have occurred during the period between the
Department and the Reserve Force Council.  The Department did not identify any related party transaction during the
period between the Department and its key management personnel, and the entities under the control, joint control
or significant influence of key management personnel of the Department, except for the following:

- Major-General R.C. Anderson, a member of key management personnel (PDSC) of the Department is the chairper-
son of Murray & Roberts, which provides training services to the Works Regiment of the SANDF at no considera-
tion.
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The amount disclosed for closing balance is stated at a combination of either the historical cost of an asset, or at the
last purchase price of assets of a similar type grouped together under one National Stock Number (NSN). It also
exclude assets recorded in manual asset registers as well as asset items for which the National Stock Numbers (NSN)
are not yet linked to National Treasury Standard Chart of Accounts (SCOA).

Note 2009/10
R’000

No. of
Individuals

3

16
17
16

5 524 

18 262 
10 883 
2 978 

37 647 

12 362 
12 362 

1 612 
478 670 

1 397 
481 679 

494 041 

2010/11
R’000

3 499 

19 166 
13 484 
3 960 

40 109 

12 362 
12 362 

1 584 
352 942 

2 238 
356 764 

369 126 

30. Key management personnel

Description
Political Office Bearers:
Officials

Level 15 to 16
Level 14
Family members of key management personnel

Total

31. Impairment and other provisions

Potential irrecoverable debts
Impairment
Loans
Total

Other provisions
Staff Debtors
Other Debtors
Claims Recoverable

Total

Current year ad-
justments to prior
year balances
R'000

- 
- 

38 655 027 
7 758 680 

423 387 
58 706 

30 414 254 

37 758 672 
37 758 672 

30 
30 

76 413 729 

Closing
balance

R'000

Additions

R'000

Opening 
balance

R'000
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

- 
- 

39 093 941 
7 759 132 

472 669 
59 591 

30 802 549 

37 709 720 
37 709 720 

30 
30 

76 803 691 

- 
- 

674 089 
218 859 
49 470 
1 726 

404 034 

31 567 
31 567 

- 
- 

705 656 

HERITAGE ASSETS
Heritage assets

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT
Transport assets
Computer equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Other machinery and equipment

SPECIALISED MILITARY ASSETS
Specialised military assets

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
Biological assets

TOTAL MOVABLE TANGIBLE 
CAPITAL ASSETS

Disposals

R'000
- 
- 

235 175 
218 407 

188 
841 

15 739 

80 519 
80 519 

- 
- 

315 694 

32. Movable Tangible Capital Assets
MOVEMENT IN MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2011
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Current year ad-
justments to prior
year balances
R'000

- 
- 

169 409 
6 456 
8 098 

58 
154 797 

22 306 
22 306 

-   
-   

191 715 

Closing
balance

R'000

Additions

R'000

Opening 
balance

R'000
- 
- 

581 388 
316 073 
57 533 
7 712 

200 070 

66 760 
66 760 

71 
71 

648 219 

- 
- 

674 089 
218 859 
49 470 
1 726 

404 034 

31 567 
31 567 

-   
-   

705 656 

- 
- 

(73 595)
(101 881)
(15 872)
(6 034)
50 192 

(54 585)
(54 585)

(71)
(71)

(128 251)

HERITAGE ASSETS
Heritage assets

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT
Transport assets
Computer equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Other machinery and equipment

SPECIALISED MILITARY ASSETS
Specialised military assets

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
Biological assets

TOTAL ADDITIONS TO 
MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL 
ASSETS

Disposals

R'000
- 
- 

(3 113)
(1 789)

(289)
(10)

(1 025)

(2 914)
(2 914)

-   
-   

(6 027)

32.1 Additions
ADDITIONS TO MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
MARCH 2011

The amount disclosed for non cash additions includes assets purchased through the Special Defence Account, but
recorded in the asset register together with the assets purchased through the General Defence Account.

The amount disclosed for work-in-progress comprises differences in Standard Chart of Accounts (SCOA) classifica-
tions as well as differences in additions monetary values between the Financial Management System and the Logistic
Systems used for the recording of the Department's assets. 

The amount disclosed for total additions excludes purchases not yet posted in the logistic systems as well as purchas-
es for which the National Stock Numbers (NSN's) are not yet linked to the National Treasury Standard Chart of
Accounts (SCOA).
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Sold for cash

R'000
- 
- 

183 918 
182 224 

104 
830 
760 

55 000 
55 000 

- 
- 

238 918 

Cash
received
Actual
R'000

Transfer out or
destroyed or

scrapped
R'000

- 
- 

140 
- 
- 
- 

140 

22 928 
22 928 

- 
- 

23 068 

- 
- 

51 257 
36 183 

84 
11 

14 979 

25 519 
25 519 

- 
- 

76 776 

HERITAGE ASSETS
Heritage assets

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT
Transport assets
Computer equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Other machinery and equipment

SPECIALISED MILITARY ASSETS
Specialised military assets

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
Biological assets

TOTAL DISPOSAL OF MOVABLE 
TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

Total dis-
posals

R'000
- 
- 

235 175 
218 407 

188 
841 

15 739 

80 519 
80 519 

- 
- 

315 694 

32.2 Disposals
DISPOSALS OF MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
MARCH 2011

The amount disclosed for disposals is not stated at assets historical cost or fair value but at the last purchase price of
assets of a similar type grouped together under one National Stock Number (NSN), and exclude assets for which the
National Stock Number (NSN) are not yet linked to National Treasury Standard Chart of Accounts (SCOA). The
amount disclosed for cash received excludes monies received for assets sold on auction, these monies are disclosed
under another category of Departmental Revenue.
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Opening balance 

R'000

- 
- 

- 
-
-
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

Closing
balance 

R'000

Additions 

R'000

- 
- 

- 
-
-
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

- 
- 

- 
-
-
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

HERITAGE ASSETS
Heritage assets

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT
Transport assets
Computer equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Other machinery and equipment

SPECIALISED MILITARY ASSETS
Specialised military assets

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
Biological assets

TOTAL MOVABLE 
TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

Disposals 

R'000

- 
- 

- 
-
-
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

32.3 Movement for 2009/10 
MOVEMENT IN MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2010

32.4 Minor assets 
MOVEMENT IN MINOR ASSETS PER THE ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

Intangible
assets 

R'000
-

59 
- 
- 

59

99 
113 
212 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

Total 

R'000

Machinery 
and 

equipment 
R'000

Specialised
military
assets 
R'000

-

2 548 244 
15 004 

813 
2 562 435 

121 360 
2 213 343 
2 334 703 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

-   

8 055 927 
173 540 
11 514 

8 217 953 

617 837 
31 366 088 
31 983 925 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

-

5 507 382 
158 478 
10 698 

5 655 162

496 138 
29 152 533 
29 648 671 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

Opening balance 
Current Year Adjustments to Prior Yr
Balances 
Additions 
Disposals 
TOTAL MINOR ASSETS 

Number of R1 minor assets 
Number of minor assets at cost 
TOTAL NUMBER OF MINOR 
ASSETS 

Minor Assets 
TOTAL 

Number of R1 minor assets 
Number of minor assets at cost 
TOTAL NUMBER OF MINOR
ASSETS 

Biological
assets 

R'000
-

242 
58 
3 

297

240 
99 

339 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

Heritage
assets 

R'000
-

- 
- 
- 
-

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

MINOR ASSETS OF THE DEPARTMENT AS AT 31 MARCH 2010 
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The amount disclosed for closing balance is stated at the last purchase price of assets of a similar type grouped togeth-
er under one National Stock Number (NSN). It also exclude assets recorded in manual asset registers as well as asset
items for which the  National Stock Numbers (NSN) are not yet linked to National Treasury Standard Chart of
Accounts (SCOA).

33. Intangible Capital Assets
MOVEMENT IN INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2011

Current year 
adjustments to prior

year balances
R'000

- 

21 447 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

21 447 

Closing
balance

R'000

Additions

R'000

Opening 
balance

R'000

- 

- 

-

-

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

21 790 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

21 790 

- 

499 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

499 

CAPITALISED DEVELOPMENT COSTS 

COMPUTER SOFTWARE 

MASTHEADS AND PUBLISHING
TITLES 

PATENTS, LICENCES, COPYRIGHT,
BRAND NAMES, TRADEMARKS 

RECIPES, FORMULAE, PROTOTYPES,
DESIGNS, MODELS 

SERVICES AND OPERATING RIGHTS 

OTHER INTANGIBLES 

TOTAL INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

Disposals

R'000

- 

156 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

156 
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Non-cash

R'000

- 

56 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

56 

Total

R'000

(Development
work-in-

progress current
costs)

R'000

Cash

R'000

- 

132 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

132 

- 

499 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

499 

- 

311 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

311 

33.1 Additions
ADDITIONS TO INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

CAPITALISED DEVELOPMENT COSTS 

COMPUTER SOFTWARE 

MASTHEADS AND PUBLISHING
TITLES 

PATENTS, LICENCES, COPYRIGHT,
BRAND NAMES, TRADEMARKS 

RECIPES, FORMULAE, PROTOTYPES,
DESIGNS, MODELS 

SERVICES AND OPERATING RIGHTS 

OTHER INTANGIBLES 

TOTAL ADDITIONS TO INTANGIBLE
CAPITAL ASSETS

Received cur-
rent, not paid
(Paid current
year, received

prior year)
R'000

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

The amount disclosed as work-in-progress comprises differences in Standard Chart of Accounts (SCOA) classifica-
tions as well as differences in additions monetary values between the Financial Management System and the Logistic
Systems used for the recording of the Department's assets. The amount disclosed as total additions excludes purchas-
es not yet posted in the logistic systems as well as purchases for which the National Stock Numbers (NSN's) are not
yet linked to the National Treasury Standard Chart of Accounts (SCOA).

annrep 1011 Finrep.qxp  2011/10/10  10:49  Page 249



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

250

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

Disc losure  notes   to   the  Annual   F inancia l   S ta tements
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Sold for
cash

R'000

- 

- 

- 

-

-

- 

- 

- 

Cash
received
Actual
R'000

Transfer out or
destroyed or

scrapped
R'000

- 

- 

- 

-

-

- 

- 

- 

- 

156 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

156 

33.2 Disposals
DISPOSALS OF INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

CAPITALISED DEVELOPMENT COSTS 

COMPUTER SOFTWARE 

MASTHEADS AND PUBLISHING TITLES 

PATENTS, LICENCES, COPYRIGHT, BRAND
NAMES, TRADEMARKS 

RECIPES, FORMULAE, PROTOTYPES, DESIGNS,
MODELS 

SERVICES AND OPERATING RIGHTS 

OTHER INTANGIBLES 

TOTAL DISPOSAL OF INTANGIBLE CAPITAL
ASSETS

Total 
disposals

R'000

- 

156 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

156

Opening
balance

R'000

- 

- 

- 

-

-

- 

- 

- 

Closing 
balance

R'000

Additions

R'000

- 

- 

- 

-

-

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

-

-

- 

- 

- 

33.3 Movement for 2009/10 
MOVEMENT IN INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

CAPITALISED DEVELOPMENT COSTS 

COMPUTER SOFTWARE 

MASTHEADS AND PUBLISHING TITLES 

PATENTS, LICENCES, COPYRIGHT, BRAND 
NAMES, TRADEMARKS 

RECIPES, FORMULAE, PROTOTYPES, DESIGNS, 
MODELS 

SERVICES AND OPERATING RIGHTS 

OTHER INTANGIBLES 

TOTAL  

Disposals

R'000

- 

- 

- 

-

-

- 

- 

- 
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Current year 
adjustments to prior

year balances
R'000

102 062

- 
- 

102 062 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

102 062 

Closing
balance

R'000

Additions

R'000

Opening 
balance

R'000

-

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

102 149

- 
- 

102 149 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

-

- 

102 149 

107

- 
- 

107 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

107 

34. Immovable Tangible Capital Assets
MOVEMENT IN IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2011

BUILDINGS AND OTHER FIXED
STRUCTURES
Dwellings
Non-residential buildings
Other fixed structures

HERITAGE ASSETS
Heritage assets

LAND AND SUBSOIL ASSETS
Land
Mineral and similar non-regenerative
resources

INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Investment property

TOTAL IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE
CAPITAL ASSETS

Disposals

R'000

20

- 
- 

20 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

20 

The amount disclosed for closing balance comprises specialised shipping and storage containers, storage tanks, mobile
homes etcetera, and is stated at the last purchase price of assets of a similar type grouped together under one National
Stock Number (NSN). It also exclude assets recorded in manual asset registers as well as asset items for which the
National Stock Numbers (NSN) are not yet linked to National Treasury  Standard Chart of Accounts (SCOA).
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66

-   
-   

66 

-   
-   

-   
-   
-   

-   
-   

66 

251 203

-   
244 181 

7 022 

-   
-   

-   
-   
-   

-   
-   

251 203 

107

-   
-   

107 

-   
-   

-   
-   
-   

-   
-   

107 

(251 162)

-   
(244 181)

(6 981)

-   
-   

-   
-   
-   

-   
-   

(251 162)

34.1 Additions
ADDITIONS TO IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2011

BUILDINGS AND OTHER FIXED
STRUCTURES
Dwellings
Non-residential buildings
Other fixed structures

HERITAGE ASSETS
Heritage assets

LAND AND SUBSOIL ASSETS
Land
Mineral and similar non-regenerative
resources

INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Investment property

TOTAL ADDITIONS TO IMMOVABLE
TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

-

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

Non-cash

R'000

Total

R'000

(Capital work-
in-progress cur-
rent costs and
finance lease

payments)
R'000

Cash

R'000

Received cur-
rent, not paid
(Paid current
year, received

prior year)
R'000

12

- 
- 

12 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

12 

-

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

8

- 
- 
8 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

8 

34.2 Disposals
DISPOSALS OF IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2011

BUILDINGS AND OTHER FIXED STRUCTURES

Dwellings
Non-residential buildings
Other fixed structures

HERITAGE ASSETS
Heritage assets

LAND AND SUBSOIL ASSETS
Land
Mineral and similar non-regenerative resources

INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Investment property

TOTAL DISPOSAL OF IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE
CAPITAL ASSETS

20

- 
- 

20 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

20 

Sold for
cash

R'000

Cash
received
Actual
R'000

Transfer out or
destroyed or

scrapped
R'000

Total 
disposals

R'000
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-

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

-

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

-

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

34.3 Movement for 2009/10 
MOVEMENT IN IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2010

BUILDINGS AND OTHER FIXED STRUCTURES

Dwellings
Non-residential buildings
Other fixed structures

HERITAGE ASSETS
Heritage assets

LAND AND SUBSOIL ASSETS
Land
Mineral and similar non-regenerative resources

INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Investment property

TOTAL TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

-

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

Opening
balance

R'000

Closing 
balance

R'000

Additions

R'000

Disposals

R'000
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21

Disc losure  notes   to   the  Annual   F inancia l   S ta tements
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

R1 Immovable assets 
TOTAL 

Heritage 
assets

R

Total

R

Land and 
subsoil assets

R

Buildings and
other fixed
structures

R

34.4 Immovable assets valued at R1 
IMMOVABLE ASSETS VALUED AT R1 IN THE ASSET REGISTER FOR 31 MARCH 2011

Investment
property

R

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

R1 Immovable assets 
TOTAL 

Refer to paragraph 1.1.2.12.7 of the Report of the Accounting Officer concerning the non disclosure of Tangible 
and Intangible Assets.  

Heritage 
assets

R

Total

R

Land and 
subsoil assets

R

Buildings and
other fixed
structures

R

IMMOVABLE ASSETS VALUED AT R1 IN THE ASSET REGISTER FOR 31 MARCH 2010

Investment
property

R

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans - Vote 21

Annexures   to   the  Annual   F inancia l   S ta tements
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Inventory
Opening balance
Add/(Less):  Adjustments to prior year balances
Add:  Additions/Purchases - Cash
Add:  Additions - Non-cash
(Less): Disposals
(Less): Issues
Add/(Less): Adjustments
Closing balance

ANNEXURE 6

INVENTORY

QuantityNote R'000

-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   

-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   

Quantity R'000

-   
2 925 032 246 

88 141 356 
30 660 096 

(456 694)
(11 825 735)

(2 222 094 469)
809 456 800 

-   
165 287 866 

2 499 266 
680 455 
(36 480)

(161 727)
(148 468 253)

19 801 127 

2010/11 2009/10

The amount disclosed for closing balance is stated at last purchase price and exclude inventory recorded in manual inventory
registers as well as inventory items for which the National Stock Number (NSN) are not yet linked to National Treasury
Standard Chart of Accounts (SCOA).

The amount disclosed for non cash additions includes inventory purchased through the Special Defence Account, but recorded
in the inventory register together with the inventory purchased through the General Defence Account.
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Department of Defence and Military Veterans 
Vote 21
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SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND    
ANNUAL  REPORT

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

I N T R O D U C T I O N

B a c k g r o u n d

The SANDF Fund was established in terms of the Fund Raising Act 1978, (Act No. 107 of 1978), as amended.  The aim of the
Fund is to render aid to members and former members of the South African National Defence Force and Auxiliary Services, and
their dependants who suffer hardship or financial distress arising, directly or indirectly, as a result of any service or duties in terms
of the new Defence Act 2002, (Act No. 42 of 2002) and to provide facilities to such members and former members who perform
such services or duties.  

S T R A T E G I C   D I R E C T I O N

V i s i o n

The SANDF Fund's vision is aid to all beneficiaries of the Fund suffering hardship or financial distress.

M i s s i o n

The SANDF Fund's mission is, with due regard to the financial position of the Fund and the requirements of each case, to ren-
der such aid as the Board may deem fair and reasonable to members and former members of the South African National Defence
Force and Auxiliary Services established in accordance with the Defence Act, and their dependants who suffer hardship or finan-
cial distress arising, directly or indirectly, as a result of any service or duties in terms of the new Defence Act 2002, (Act No. 42
of 2002), performed by such members, and to provide facilities to or for such members and former members or dependants who
perform such services or duties.

L e g i s l a t i v e   M a n d a t e

The Fund is mandated in terms of the Fund Raising Act 1978, (Act No. 107 of 1978), as amended.

O R G A N I S A T I O N A L   S T R U C T U R E

Minister of Defence

Chairperson of the Board

Board members

Finance Committee

Administration
Accountant
Administrator
Secretary

Secretary
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SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND    
ANNUAL  REPORT

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

B o a r d   m e m b e r s

The following were the officially appointed members of the Board until new appointments were made during the year under
review:

Full Time Members
Lt Gen J.L. Jansen van Rensburg - (Chairperson)
Lt Gen T.T. Matanzima
Maj Gen J.C. van der Poel - (Deputy Chairperson)
Maj Gen L.C. Pepani
Brig Gen J.C. Beukus
Brig Gen N.E. Motumi
R Adm (JG) J.G. Barker
Col M.J. Louw
Col R.C.J. Wood - (Secretary)

Part Time Members
Prof D.F.S. Fourie
Lt Gen (Ret) D.P. Knobel
R Adm (JG) (Ret) L.M. Bakkes

The position of most of the Board members had changed due to internal transfers and appointments and retirement.  Subsequent
to the official appointment of the Board, there were various persons acting as Board members including the chairpersons Lt Gen
Ramlakan and Lt Gen Matanzima.

A submission was forwarded to the Minister of Defence for the appointment of the following persons who were acting as Board
members.  The Minister formally approved the appointments on 13 August 2010.

Members
Full Time Members
Lt Gen D.M. Mgwebi (Chairperson)
Brig Gen N. Yengeni
Maj Gen H.A. Bhembe
R Adm (JG)  A.E. Kubu
R Adm (JG)  G. Mbulaheni 
Col R. Pillay
Ms F.G. Mabilane
WO1 F.J.S. Scheepers
Col M.J. Louw (Minuting secretary)

Representing

SA Army
SA Air Force
SA Navy
HR Division
SA Medical Health Service
Secretary for Defence
Warrant Officer of the SANDF
HR
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Members
Part Time Members
Prof D.F.S. Fourie - Deputy Chairperson
Lt Gen (Ret) D.P. Knobel
Brig Gen A. Maminza
R Adm (JG) L.M. Bakkes
Lt Col (Ret) L. Poorter
Lt Col M.A. Thulare
Ms M.N. Tsotsi

Co opted Members
Capt (SAN) R.B. Warrin
Asst Dir P.J. du Bois

Representing

Self
Military Veterans
SAMHS Reserves
Reserve Force
Council of Military Organisations
Reserve Force
Military Veterans

SA Navy
Accountant

SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND    
ANNUAL  REPORT

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Members
Full Time Members
Lt Col (Ret) L. Poorter - Chairperson
Brig Gen N. Yengeni
Col R. Pillay
Capt (SAN) R.B. Warrin

Representing

Council of Military Organisations
SA Army
SA Medical Health Service
SA Navy

F i n a n c e   C o m m i t t e e   m e m b e r s

A d m i n i s t r a t i o n   p e r s o n n e l

Personnel
Vacant
Asst Dir P.J. du Bois

Representing
Administrator
Accountant

C O R P O R A T E   G O V E R N A N C E

A u d i t   C o m m i t t e e

Although not a legislative requirement, an Audit Committee has not yet been appointed due to the fact that the Fund is not yet
fully operational.  However, taking cognisance of best practice in this regard the Fund has already made an approach to the
Defence Force Audit Committee to assist with these functions to which they have agreed and will commence with once the Fund
is fully operational.  
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SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND    
ANNUAL  REPORT

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

I n t e r n a l   a u d i t

The Inspector General, DOD (IG DOD) has agreed to provide an internal audit function to the Fund and will commence with
such function once the Fund becomes operational.  Since the formal appointment of the Board it is anticipated that the Fund will
become operational during the 2011/12 financial year thus implying that the internal audit function will become a reality.

A t t e n d a n c e   o f   B o a r d   m e e t i n g s

The Board is established in terms of the Fund Raising Act 1978, (Act No. 107 of 1978), as amended to manage the Fund.  The
Board is required to meet 4 times per annum.  However, the Board has been inactive due to the majority of members serving in
an acting capacity awaiting official appointment.  Thus the Board was limited in its powers of decision making until such time
the members were officially appointed.  Notwithstanding, although it is envisaged to hold at least four meetings per year and they
are scheduled as such, during the year under review, due to other pressing service exigencies this was not always possible.  Only
three Board meetings were held during the financial year.

The meetings were attended as follows:

Members
Lt Gen D.M. Mgwebi (Chairperson)
Brig Gen N. Yengeni
Maj Gen H.A. Bhembe / Maj Gen J.D. Pelser
R Adm (JG)  A.E. Kubu / Capt (SAN) R.B. Warrin
R Adm (JG)  G. Mbulaheni / Col M.F. Dibetso / Col E. Yon
Col R. Pillay / E.C. Moremi
WO1 F.J.S. Scheepers
Prof D.F.S. Fourie - Deputy Chairperson
Lt Gen (Ret) D.P. Knobel
Brig Gen (Dr) K.O.P. Matseki / Col A. Mamunza
R Adm (JG) L.M. Bakkes
Lt Col L. Poorter
Lt Col M.A. Thulare
Ms F.G Mabilane / Mr I. van der Walt
Ms M.N. Tsotsi
Col M.J. Louw (Minuting Secretary)

Co opted Members
Capt (SAN) R.B. Warrin
Mr P.J. du Bois

No of meetings attended
2
1
3
3
3
3
1
3
2
2
2
2
0
2
1
3

3
3

Meetings held
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3

3
3

The objective of the Board is, with due regard to the financial position of the Fund and the requirements of each case, to render
such aid as the Board may deem fair and reasonable to members and former members of the South African National Defence
Force and Auxiliary Services established in accordance with the Defence Act, and their dependants who suffer hardship or finan-
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SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND    
ANNUAL  REPORT

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

cial distress arising, directly or indirectly, as a result of any service or duties in terms of the new Defence Act 2002, (Act No. 42
of 2002) performed by such members, and to provide facilities to or for such members and former members who perform such
services or duties.  

S t a t e m e n t   o f   r e s p o n s i b i l i t y

The Board members are responsible for monitoring the preparation of and the integrity of the financial statements and related
information included in this Annual Report.

The Auditor-General South Africa is responsible for auditing and reporting on the financial statements. 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with statements of South African Generally Recognised Accounting Practice
(GRAP) and incorporate disclosure in line with the accounting philosophy of the entity.  The financial statements are based on
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 

The Board members believe that the entity will be a going concern in the year ahead. For this reason they continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the entity's annual financial statements. 

P E R F O R M A N C E

S t r a t e g i c   o b j e c t i v e s

A Strategic Plan for the Fund has been prepared and submitted to the Interim Board for consideration.  Once the appointment of
the members of the Board has been confirmed and the Fund resumes its activities, the plan will be formally approved and the
strategic objectives therein pursued.

The objective of the Board is, with due regard to the financial position of the Fund and the requirements of each case, to render
such aid as the Board may deem fair and reasonable to members and former members of the South African National Defence
Force and Auxiliary Services established in accordance with the Defence Act, and their dependants who suffer hardship or finan-
cial distress arising, directly or indirectly, as a result of any service or duties in terms of the new Defence Act 2002, (Act No. 42
of 2002), performed by such members, and to provide facilities to or for such members and former members who perform such
services or duties.  

Key 
objective

Members
Provide aid to
qualifying mem-
bers and depen-
dants.

.

Strategy

To enable military social work-
ers and veterans' organisations
to identify and process the need
and applications for aid. 

Quarterly 
targets

30 Jun 2010

3 persons

Performance
Indicator

No of persons
aided.

Actual 
performance

R0.00
The Fund was not operational
due to the following reasons:
Board members were not 
officially appointed and thus
lacked an official mandate. The
Board was only appointed on
13 August 2010.
The SANDF Order is still 
under review after which it
will be promulgated.
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Key 
objective

Facilities
Provide financial
aid for provision
of facilities 

Strategy

To enable military social work-
ers and veterans' organisations
to identify and process the need
and applications for aid on
behalf of beneficiaries. 

Quarterly 
targets

30 Sep 2010
3 persons

31 Dec 2010
3 persons

31 Mar 2011
3 persons

30 Jun 2010
Nil
30 Sep 2010
Nil
31 Dec 2010
Nil
31 Mar 2011
Nil

Performance
Indicator

No of persons
aided.

No of Facilities
aided.

Actual 
performance

R0.00
The Fund was not operational
due to the following reasons:
Board members were not 
officially appointed and thus
lacked an official mandate. The
Board was only appointed on
13 August 2010.
The SANDF Order is still 
under review after which it
will be promulgated.
R0.00
The Fund was not operational
due to the following reasons:
Board members were not 
officially appointed and thus
lacked an official mandate. The
Board was only appointed on
13 August 2010.
The SANDF Order is still 
under review after which it
will be promulgated.
R0.00
Applications for aid were not 
approved.

R0.00
Not a present priority.
R0.00
Not a present priority.
R0.00
Not a present priority.
R0.00
Not a present priority.
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A C C O U N T I N G A U T H O R I T Y ’ S   R E P O R T   F O R   T H E   Y E A R   E N D E D
3 1   M A R C H   2 0 1 1

The Board presents their Annual Report, which form part of the audited financial statements of the Fund for the year ended
31 March 2011.

N a t u r e   a n d   a i m   o f   t h e   S A N D F   F u n d

The SANDF Fund was established in terms of the Fund Raising Act 1978, (Act No. 107 of 1978) as amended.  The aim of the
Fund is to render aid to members and former members of the South African National Defence Force and Auxiliary Services, and
their dependants who suffer hardship or financial distress arising, directly or indirectly, as a result of any service or duties in terms
of the new Defence Act 2002, (Act No. 42 of 2002) and to provide facilities and matters connected therewith to such members
and former members who perform such services or duties.  

G e n e r a l   r e v i e w

The activities in the SANDF Fund were still at a low level for the year under review.  Isolated requests for aid were reviewed
but not approved.  The newly appointed Board has finally been officially approved by the Minister of Defence and Military
Veterans. With the Board in place and the finance committee functioning, it is anticipated that activities of the Fund will increase
and the Fund will render aid to the beneficiaries of the Fund during the 2011/2012 financial year. 

F i n a n c i a l   r e s u l t s

Income for the financial year consisted of interest received mainly on investments.  Interest on investments was capitalised.  This
resulted in the investment capital increasing by 5.97 %. (7.39 % in 2009/2010).  The growth of the investment is lower than the
prior year due to the lower interest rates during the current year and the transfer of capital (R16 000) to the current account to
finance operating costs.

Expenditure for the financial year consisted mainly of audit fees, honorarium of the accountant and travelling expenses for Board
members attending Board meetings.

E v e n t s   a f t e r   t h e   r e p o r t i n g   d a t e

There were no events, favourable and unfavourable, that occurred after the reporting date.

I n t e r e s t   o f   t h e   B o a r d   m e m b e r s

Board members do not have any interest in the SANDF Fund.

annrep 1011 Finrep.qxp  2011/10/10  10:51  Page 278



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  F Y  2 0 1 0 / 2 0 1 1 279

DD EE PP AA RR TT MM EE NN TT   OO FF   DD EE FF EE NN CC EE

SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND    
ANNUAL  REPORT

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

A u d i t o r s

The Auditor of the SANDF Fund is the Auditor-General South Africa.

A d d r e s s

Armscor Building, Nossob Street, Erasmusrand.

LIEUTENANT GENERAL D.M. MGWEBI

CHAIRPERSON OF THE SANDF FUND BOARD

31 July 2011
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REPORT  OF  THE  AUDITOR-GGENERAL  TO  
PARLIAMENT  ON  THE  SOUTH  AFRICAN  

NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND    
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

R E P O R T   O N   T H E   F I N A N C I A L   S T A T E M E N T S   

I n t r o d u c t i o n   

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the South African National Defence Force Fund, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011, and the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets
and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory infor-
mation, and the accounting authority's report, as set out on pages 278 to 279 and 282 to 294. 

A c c o u n t i n g   a u t h o r i t y ' s   r e s p o n s i b i l i t y   f o r   t h e   f i n a n c i a l   s t a t e m e n t s

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP),  and the requirements of the
Fund-Raising Act, 1978 (Act No. 107 of 1978) and General Notice 1111 of 2010 issued in Government Gazette 33872 of
15 December 2010, and for such internal control as management determines necessary to enable the preparation of financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

A u d i t o r - GG e n e r a l ' s   r e s p o n s i b i l i t y   

As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996) and section 4 of the
Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these finan-
cial statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and General Notice 1111 of 2010 issued in
Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010.  Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control rel-
evant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appro-
priate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

O p i n i o n

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the South African National
Defence Force Fund as at 31 March 2011, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of
section 22 (7) of the Fund Raising Act 1978, (Act No. 107 of 1978).

A d d i t i o n a l   m a t t e r s

I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters:
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R E P O R T   O N   O T H E R   L E G A L   A N D   R E G U L A T O R Y   R E Q U I R E M E N T S   

In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General notice 1111 of 2010, issued in Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December
2010, I include below my findings on the annual performance report as set out on pages 276 to 277 and material non-compliance
with laws and regulations applicable to the fund.

PP rr ee dd ee tt ee rr mm ii nn ee dd   oo bb jj ee cc tt ii vv ee ss

There are no material findings on the annual performance report. 

CC oo mm pp ll ii aa nn cc ee   ww ii tt hh   ll aa ww ss   aa nn dd   rr ee gg uu ll aa tt ii oo nn ss

SS tt rr aa tt ee gg ii cc   pp ll aa nn nn ii nn gg   aa nn dd   pp ee rr ff oo rr mm aa nn cc ee   mm aa nn aa gg ee mm ee nn tt

No predetermined measurable objectives, expected outcomes and targets were set at the beginning of the financial year, and no
evidence could be obtained that these objectives were agreed on by the executive authority as required by the 2010/11 Audit
Directive - (General Notice 1111 issued in Government Gazette 33872).

I N T E R N A L   C O N T R O L   

In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General notice 1111 of 2010, issued in Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December
2010, I considered internal control relevant to my audit, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control. The matters reported below are limited to the significant deficiencies that resulted in the finding on compliance
with laws and regulations included in this report.

L e a d e r s h i p

Oversight responsibility was not exercised regarding performance reporting and compliance, as the Board was only appointed
during August 2010.

Pretoria

31 July 2011
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SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND
STATEMENT  OF  F INANCIAL  POSITION

for  the  year   ended  31  March  2011

ASSETS

Note 2009/10 
R

ASSETS 
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Total assets

LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities
Payable
Provision    
Total liabilities

Net assets

NET ASSETS
Accumulated surpluses
Total net assets

2
3

4

47 000
11 343 333
11 390 333

614
5 000
5 614

11 384 719

11 384 719
11 384 719

2010/2011 
R

24 976
12 021 035
12 046 011

418
6 000
6 418

12 039 593

12 039 593
12 039 593
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SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND
STATEMENT  OF  F INANCIAL  

PERFORMANCE
as  a t   31  March  2011

ASSETS

Note 2009/10 
R

Revenue
Other operating revenue
Total revenue

Expenses
Administration expenses
Interest 
Total expenses

Surplus for the period

Attributable to Net asset holders

5 781 891
781 891

34 872
-

34 872

747 019

747 019

2010/11 
R

693 836
693 836

38 729
233

38 962

654 874

654 874
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SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND
STATEMENT  OF  CHANGES  

IN  NET  ASSETS
for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

ASSETS

Note 2008/2009 
R’000

Balance at 31 March 2008
Surplus for the period
Balance at 31 March 2009
Surplus for the period
Balance at 31 March 2010
Surplus for the period
Balance at 31 March 2011

5 1 085 771
1 085 771

22 988
22 988

1 062 783

1 062 783

2010/11 
R

Accumulated
surpluses

9 574 917
1 062 783

10 637 700
747 019

11 384 719
654 874

12 039 593
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SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND
CASH  FLOW  STATEMENT

for  the  year   ended  31  March  2011

ASSETS

Note 2009/10 
R

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Other payments
Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Income from investments
Increase in investments
Finance income
Finance expenses
Net cash flows from investing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period

7

2

(34 259)
(34 259)

780 698.   
(780 698)

1 193.
-.

1 193.

(33 066)
80 066.
47 000.

2010/11 
R

(37 925)
(37 925)

693 702.
(677 702)

134.
(233)

15 901.

(22 024)
47 000.
24 976.
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SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND
NOTES  TO  THE  F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

1. Accounting Policy

1.1 Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), including any interpretations and directives issued by the Accounting
Standards Board.  The measurement base applied is historical cost.

The financial statements was prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with GRAP,  issued by the Account-
ing Standards Board.

1.2 Investments in Financial Instruments

Held to maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the fund's management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  Held to maturity
is included in non-current assets, except for those with maturities less than 12 months from the reportinge date, these
are classified as current assets.

1.2.1 Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Fund's Statement of Financial Position when the Fund
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

1.2.2 Measurement

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value.  Subsequent measurement of financial instruments is
determined based on the category of financial instruments.  Held to maturity investments are subsequently meas-
ured at amortised cost.

1.2.3 Investment in Financial Assets

The Fund's principle financial assets are investments and cash and cash equivalents.

1.3 Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial assets are derecognised where the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or matured.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled.

1.4 Revenue

1.4.1 Other income

Other income is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.  Other income is recognised when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Fund and these benefits can be measured reliably.

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding and the effec-
tive interest rate over the period to maturity.

1.4.2 Revenue

Revenue is measured at fair value of consideration received or receivable.  Revenue comprises of donations received.

1.5 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that this will
result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be estimated reliably.  The amount recognised shall be the best
estimate of expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date.
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NOTES  TO  THE  F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS    

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

1.6 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at the fair value.

1.7 Related parties

Related parties represent those transactions which have been entered into between the SANDF Fund and related
parties.

1.8 Unauthorised, irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure

The financial statements must, in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Section 55(2)(h)(1), include par-
ticulars of any such expenditure. When such expenditure is incurred, it would be charged against income when
incurred. 

1.9 Budgets

The SANDF Fund prepares the budget on the cash basis for a period of twelve months which coincides with the
reporting period.

The SANDF Fund does not budget for interest income because of the fluctuation of  interest rates and because the
income from interest is not the core business of the Fund.

Budget for expenditure is limited to 90% of the prior year interest earned on investments.  

1.10 Use of Estimates, Judgements and Assumptions

Management is required to make estimates and assumptions in preparing the annual financial statements. These
assumptions and estimates are made on the best available information relating to provisions.

1.11 Events after the reporting date

Events after the reporting date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable that occur between the reporting
date and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  Two types of events can be identified:

1.11.1 Adjusting events

Adjusting events are those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date (adjusting events);
and

1.11.2 Non-adjusting events

Non-adjusting events are those events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non-adjust-
ing events).
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SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND
NOTES  TO  THE  F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

3. Investments in financial assets

3.1 Fixed term deposit

3.1.1 Maturity date: 26/05/10
Interest rate: 6.5%
Opening balance
Interest accrued
Closing balance 
Opening balance
Interest earned
Closing balance transferred to Investment (refer 3.1.3)

3.1.2 Maturity date: 31/05/10
Interest rate: 7%
Opening balance
Interest accrued
Closing balance
Opening balance
Interest earned
Closing balance transferred to Investment (refer 3.1.5)

3.1.3 Maturity date: 26/08/2010
Interest rate: 5.85%
Opening balance
Interest earned
Closing balance transferred to Investment (refer 3.1.4)

3.1.4 Maturity date: 30/11/2010
Interest rate: 5.65%
Opening balance
Interest earned
Closing balance transferred to Investment (refer 3.1.7)

3.1.5 Maturity date: 30/11/2010
Interest rate: 6.1%
Opening balance
Interest earned
Closing balance transferred to Investment (refer 3.1.6)

1 022 719
6 010

1 028 729

10 073 124 
241 480 

10 314 604

1 028 729
10 199

1 038 928

10 314 604
117 841

10 432 445

1 038 928
15 320

1 054 248

1 054 248
15 667

1 069 915

10 432 445
319 061

10 751 506

2. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with banks.

Cash on hand and balances with banks

Note

47 000
47 000

24 976
24 976

2009/10
R

2010/11
R
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3.1.6 Maturity date: 31/05/2011
Interest rate: 5.50%
Opening balance
Interest accrual
Closing balance at year end 31/03/2011

3.1.7 Maturity date: 31/01/2011
Interest rate: 5%
Opening balance
Interest earned
Closing balance transferred to Investment (refer 3.1.8 and 3.1.10)

3.1.8 Maturity date: 28/02/2011
Interest rate: 4.95%
Opening balance
Interest earned
Closing balance transferred to Investment (refer 3.1.9)

3.1.9 Maturity date: 31/03/2011
Interest rate: 5.05%
Opening balance
Interest earned
Closing balance transferred to Investment (refer 3.1.11)

3.1.10 Maturity date: 31/3/2011
Interest rate: 5%
Opening balance
Interest earned
Closing balance
Transferred to current account
Closing balance transferred to Investment (refer 3.2.2)

3.1.11 Maturity date: 30/6/2011
Interest rate: 5.25%
Opening balance
Interest earned
Closing balance at year end 31/03/2011

Note

47 000
47 000

1,022,719
6,010

1,028,729

10,073,124 
241 480 

10,314 604

10 751 506
197 651

10 949 157

1 069 915
9 086

1 079 001

69 915
265

70 180

70 180
301

70 481

1 009 087
8 156

1 017 243
(16 000)

1 001 243

1 071 724
154

1 071 878

2009/10
R

2010/11
R

4. Provisions

A provision for accounting fees has been recognised to be incurred in the 2010/11 financial year.

The accounting fees relate to an Honorarium fee for meetings attended, monthly accounting work and compilation
of annual financial statements. The accounting fee and the timing of the payment are determined based on the dis-
cretion of the Board (no fix contract exist between the accountant and the Board) subsequent to the year end and
preparation of financial statements.
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Accountant fees
Opening balance
Additions
Used
Closing balance

5. Other operating revenue

Investment income on held to maturity investments
SA National Defence Force Fund
SA National Defence Force Welfare Fund
Interest earned on investment is capitalised

6. Profit for the year

Profit for the year includes expenditure for:
Audit fees

7. Cash flow from operating activities

Surplus for the year
Adjusted for:

Interest received on investments
Interest paid
Interest paid
Increase in payables

Note

5 000.
5 000.

(5 000)
5 000.

780 698.
18.

1 175.
781 891.

25 258.
25 258.

747 019.

(781 891)
-
-

613.
(34 259)

5 000.
6 000.

(5 000)
6 000.

693 702.
4.

130.
693 836.

26 816.
26 816.

654 874.

(693 702)
(134)
233.
804.

(37 925)

2009/10
R

2010/11
R

8. Financial instruments

8.1 Financial risk factors

8.1.1 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices.  Interest rates will affect the SANDF Fund. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters while opti-
mising return.  The SANDF Fund does not manage this risk aggressively as the investments of funds are deter-
mined by the Minister of Defence and the Minister of Finance.  Within these parameters, funds are invested with
reputable commercial banks.

SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND
NOTES  TO  THE  F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

8.1.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the SANDF Fund if a financial institution to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations.

The SANDF Fund's exposure to credit risk is influenced only by the individual characteristics of the financial insti-
tutions where funds are deposited or invested.  Reputable financial institutions are used for investing and cash
handling purposes.
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8.1.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the SANDF Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
SANDF Fund’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that investment terms chosen will ensure that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet it’s liabilities when due.

The liquidity risk is considered being low, because the SANDF Fund has adequate funds at their disposal.

ABSA Bank
Rand Merchant Bank (RMB)

Note

47 000
11 343 333
11 390 333

47 000.
11 343 333.
11 390 333.

(5 614)
11 384 719.

11 343 333
113 433

24 976
12 021 035
12 046 011

24 976.
12 021 035.
12 046 011.

(6 418)
12 039 593.

12 021 035
120 210

2009/10
R

2010/11
R

2
3

Investment

8.1.5 Interest risk sensitivity analysis

Investments
1% interest fluctuation impact

8.1.4 Interest risk

The SANDF Fund's exposure to changes in interest rates is limited to that of the reputable financial institutions.
Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents are not material and does not pose a risk.  Investment funds are
invested for short terms.

2009/10
Effective Rate

%

2010/11
Effective Rate

%

Change

7.395.97 (1.42)

2009/10
R

2010/11
R

The investment contractual maturities for all borrowings and payables outstanding at 31 March 2011 are 
12 months or less.

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

Current liabilities
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Non-Interest
bearing 

R

-
-
-

(6 418)
(6 418)

Interest 
bearing

R

24 976
12 021 035
12 046 011

-
12 046 011

Total

R

24 976
12 021 035
12 046 011

(6 418)
12 039 593

8.1.6 Capital managements

The policy of management is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain aid in the future.  There were no changes
in management's approach to capital management during the year.

SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND
NOTES  TO  THE  F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

2011

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

Current liabilities
Net financial assets (liabilities)

Non-Interest
bearing 

R

-
-
-

(5 614)
(5 614)

Interest 
bearing

R

47 000
11 343 333
11 390 333

-
11 390 333

Total

R

47 000
11 343 333
11 390 333

(5 614)
11 384 719

2010

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

Current liabilities
Net financial assets (liabilities)

8.1.7 Currency risk

The SANDF Fund does not enter into forward exchange contracts and therefore have no currency risk.

8.2 Fair value estimation

The face values of cash, and trade payables less any estimated credit adjustments, are the approximate fair values
on 31 March 2011, as a result of the short-term maturity of these assets and liabilities.
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Attendance allowance for attendance of meetings of non Department 
of Defence (DOD) Board Members:

Prof D.F.S. Fourie
Lt Gen (Ret) D.P. Knobel
R Adm (JG) L.M. Bakkes
Lt Col L. Poorter

Department of Defence (DOD) personnel serving on the Board or rep-
resentatives who provide services to the SANDF Fund during DOD
official working hours without compensation from the SANDF Fund. 

100
100
300

2 100

10 772
13 372

300
200
600

2 400

25 691
29 191

2009/10
R

2010/11
R

9. Related parties

The SANDF related parties and the Department of Defence are related because of common control under the
Minister of Defence.  Board members are related parties.

The related party transactions for the year under review are as follows: 

10. Budget and actual amounts

10.1 The Fund did not plan for any fund raising events for the year under review and consequently no budget was
prepared.  The income from interest is not the core business of the Fund and does not require a budget.

10.2 Budget for expenditure is limited to 90% of the prior year interest earned on investments.  The increase of admin-
istrative expenses were due to the significant increase of audit fees.

Reconciliation of budget deficit with the surplus in the statement of financial performance

Net surplus per the statement of financial performance
Adjusted for:

Administration expenses
Members aid
Other operating revenue
Net deficit per approved budget

100
100
300

2 100

10 772
13 372

654 874

(11 462)
(653 278)
(693 278)
(703 702)

2009/10
R

2010/11
R

Note

10.2
10.2
10.1
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Actual

2010/2011
R

693 836
693 836

38 962
-

38 962

Approved 
budget

2010/2011
R

-
-

50 424
653 278
703 702

Difference:
Budget less

Actual
2010/2011

R

(693 836)
(693 836)

11 462
653 278
664 740

Reconciliation of budget with the actual

RECEIPTS
Other operating revenue

PAYMENTS
Administration expenses 
Members aid 

Note

10.1

10.2

SOUTH  AFRICAN  NATIONAL  DEFENCE  FORCE  FUND
NOTES  TO  THE  F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011
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ASSURANCE  REPORT  OF  THE  
AUDITOR-GGENERAL  TO  PARLIAMENT
ON  COMPLIANCE  WITH  SECTION  4
OF  THE  NATIONAL  CONVENTIONAL

ARMS  CONTROL  ACT  IN  TERMS  
OF  SECTION  12  OF  THE  NATIONAL
CONVENTIONAL  ARMS  CONTROL  

ACT  OF  2002,
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2011

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 

I n t r o d u c t i o n

I have performed my limited assurance engagement on the compliance by the National Conventional Arms Control Committee
(NCACC) with section 4 of the National Conventional Arms Control Act, 2002 (Act No. 41 of 2002) (the Act), as required by
section 12 of the Act.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, I do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than Parliament for my work, for
this report, or for the conclusions I have formed.

N C A C C ' s   r e s p o n s i b i l i t y     

The NCACC is responsible for compliance with the Act and related regulations.

A u d i t o r - GG e n e r a l ' s   r e s p o n s i b i l i t y

As required by section 12 of the Act, my responsibility is to conclude on compliance by the NCACC with section 4 of the Act.
I performed my assurance engagement in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE 3000),
(Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historic Financial Information). That standard requires me to com-
ply with the ethical requirements and plan and perform my assurance engagement to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence
regarding the subject matter of the engagement to support my assurance conclusion expressed below.

S u m m a r y   o f   w o r k   p e r f o r m e d

As the auditor of the NCACC, I have also audited the Department of Defence, which provides the secretariat to the NCACC, for
the period ended 31 March 2011. My limited assurance procedures included the following specific procedures:

Inspecting the processes and structures established by the NCACC for effective control of trade in conventional arms.

Inspecting the guidelines, structures and processes established by the NCACC for the scrutiny and assessment of the appli-
cation for a permit.

Confirming that the committee liaises with relevant government agencies regarding the enforcement of the Act.
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ASSURANCE  REPORT  OF  THE  AUDITOR-GGENERAL  
TO  PARLIAMENT  ON  COMPLIANCE  WITH  SECTION  4  
OF  THE  NATIONAL  CONVENTIONAL  ARMS  CONTROL

ACT  IN  TERMS  OF  SECTION  12  OF  THE  NATIONAL  
CONVENTIONAL  ARMS  CONTROL  ACT  OF  2002,

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 

Inspecting cases where the issue of a permit was refused by the NCACC and confirming that this had been done as required
by section 14 of the Act.

Inspecting on a sample basis permits issued to ensure that the conditions under which a permit is issued are complied with
as detailed in the regulations. 

No compliance procedures were performed in the following areas of the NCACC's responsibilities:

The evaluation of end user certificates received.

Control evaluation at development and manufacturing companies.

Compliance visit reports, conclusion and recommendations.

Inspecting the register that must be kept in the prescribed form, indicating persons involved in the trade in conventional
arms.

Inspecting the register for all permits issued and undertaking the following:

Selecting a sample of permits issued and following it through to the register.

Selecting a sample of entries in the register and following it through to the issued permits.

Confirming that all reports issued had been issued as required by section 23 of the Act.

An analysis to identify anomalies in reported data.

Determining whether information supplied is relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable.

For the purpose of my limited assurance conclusion, my evidence-gathering procedures were more limited than for a reasonable
assurance engagement, and therefore less assurance was obtained than in a reasonable assurance engagement.

I believe that the evidence obtained as part of my assurance engagement with the NCACC for the period ended 31 March 2011
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my conclusion expressed below.

C o n c l u s i o n         

In my opinion, except for non-compliance with section 23(1)(b) of the Act as described in the finding below, nothing came to
my attention to indicate that the NCACC did not comply with section 4 of the Act in all material respects.
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ASSURANCE  REPORT  OF  THE  AUDITOR-GGENERAL  
TO  PARLIAMENT  ON  COMPLIANCE  WITH  SECTION  4  
OF  THE  NATIONAL  CONVENTIONAL  ARMS  CONTROL

ACT  IN  TERMS  OF  SECTION  12  OF  THE  NATIONAL  
CONVENTIONAL  ARMS  CONTROL  ACT  OF  2002,

for   the  year   ended  31  March  2011

Department of Defence and Military Veterans 

F i n d i n g

NN oo nn - cc oo mm pp ll ii aa nn cc ee   ww ii tt hh   ss ee cc tt ii oo nn   22 33 (( 11 )) (( bb ))   oo ff   tt hh ee   AA cc tt

The NCACC did not submit three quarterly reports (April to June 2010, July to September 2010 and October to December 2010)
on all conventional arms export concluded during the preceding quarters to a committee of Parliament, as required in terms of
section 23(1)(b) of the Act.

Pretoria

28 July 2011
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Chapter 1
GLOSSARY OF 

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

AAD  
AACB  
AASB  

FI5 AC
ACCORD  

AFB
ALFA
AMC  
AMD

AMHU
ARMSCOR  

ARV  
ASB

ASGISA
AU

BEE
BOST
BPST
BSC

C2

CAR
C Def Mat

CD HR
CFO

C HR
CHATSEC  

CI
C4I3RS

CJ Ops
C Log
CMIS  
COTS

CPX
C SANDF

African Aerospace and Defence

Armaments Acquisition Control Board

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board

FI5 Aircraft

African Centre for the Constructive Resolution of Disputes

Air Force Base

Advanced Light Fighter Aircraft

Accountability Management Committee

Aerospace, Maritime and Defence Industries Association

Area Military Health Unit

Armaments Corporation of South Africa Ltd

Antiretroviral 

Army Support Base

Accelerated and Shared Growth Initiative for South Africa

African Union

Black Economic Empowerment

Basic Operational Sea Training

British Peace Support Training

Balanced Scorecard

Command and Control

Central African Republic

Chief Defence Matériel

Chief Director Human Resource

Chief Financial Officer

Chief of Human Resources

Combating HIV/Aids through Spiritual and Ethical Conduct

Counter-Intelligence

Command and Control, Communications, Computers, Information,    

Intelligence, Infrastructure, Reconnaissance and Surveillance

Chief Joint Operations

Chief Logistics

Command and Management Information Systems 

Commercial Off-the-Shelf

Command Post Exercise

Chief of the South African National Defence Force
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CSIR  
CSND

CSS

DCAC I&A
DEIS

DEISM
DERI  
DFR  

DI  
DICTA
DIMS  
DISC  

DI Div  
DLSD
DOD

DPBEC  
DPE

DPSA
DPSP
DPW
DRC
DRI  

DSA
DSC  
DST  
DTI

EFQM  
EIS  

ENE  
ETD  

EX

FAZSIO

FIFA
FMD
FMS

FOSAD
FSE
FTX

FY

Council for Scientific and Industrial Research 

Council for Support to National Defence

Core Service System

Directorate Conventional Arms Control Audits and Inspections       

Defence Enterprise Information System

Defence Enterprise Information System Management

Defence Evaluation and Research Institute

Defence Foreign Relations

Defence Intelligence

Defence information Communication Technology Architectures

Directorate Integrated Management Systems

Defence Intelligence Standing Committee 

Defence Intelligence Division

Defence Legal Services Division

Department of Defence

Departmental Programme and Budget Evaluation Committee

Department of Public Enterprise

Department of Public Service and Administration

Defence Policy, Strategy and Planning

Department of Public Works

Democratic Republic of the Congo

Defence-Related Industry

Defence Services Asia

Defence Staff Council 

Department of Science and Technology

Department of Trade and Industry

European Foundation for Quality Management          

Enterprise Information System

Estimates of National Expenditure 

Education, Training and Development

Exercise

Forces Armées de la Zone Sud de I'Océan Indien

(French Armed forces in the Southern Indian Ocean)

Fédération Internationale de Football Association 

Financial Management Division

Financial Management System

Forum of South African Directors-General

Force Structure Element

Field Training Exercise

Financial Year
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GEPF  
GITO  

GOCs

HQ
HR

IBSA
ICS
ICT

ICTS
IFMS

IG DOD
IP

ISDSC
ISS

IT

JCPS
JD

JIM 
JIPSA

LHD
LIALLS

LIRP
LPD

MAAC
MAB

MDSMA
MEDUNSA

MOD
MOU

MP
MP Div

MPSPO
MRCC
MSDS

MSF
MTEF
MTSF

NATO

Government Employees' Pension Fund

Government Information Technology Officer

General Officers Commanding

Headquarters

Human Resources

India, Brazil and South Africa

Information and Communications System

Information and Communication Technology

International Cooperation, Trade and Security Cluster

Integrated Financial Management System

Inspector General Department of Defence

Intellectual Property

Inter-State Defence Security Committee

Information Security System

Information Technology

Justice, Crime Prevention and Security Cluster

Joint Defence Committee 

Joint, Interdepartmental and Multinational

Joint Initiative for Priority Skills Acquisition

Landing Helicopter Dock

Lessons Identified and Lessons Learned System

Logistic Intervention and Realignment Programme

Landing Platform Dock

Military Attaché and Advisor Corps

Military Arbitration Board

Military Discipline Supplementary Measure Act

Medical University of Southern Africa

Ministry of Defence

Memorandum of Understanding

Member of Parliament

Military Police Division

Military Policy, Strategy and Planning Office

Maritime Rescue Coordination Centre

Military Skill Development System

Mission Success Factors

Medium-Term Expenditure Framework

Medium-Term Strategic Framework

North Atlantic Treaty Organisation
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NB SMST
NCACC 
NCAGS

NDOT
NDPW

NEPAD
NICOC
NIAID

NQF
NSI

OBS
OC

OHS  
OSD  

Para
PCD

PDSC
PEPFAR  

PFMA
PME

PMTC
POA
PSO
PXD

R&D
RAB

RAMP
Regt
RSA

SAAF
SABS  

SACAA
SADC

SADC BRIG  
SADESO

SADRI
SAI

SAMHS
SAN

SANAD

Naval Base Simon's Town

National Conventional Arms Control Committee 

Naval Coordination and Guidance of Shipping

National Department of Transport

National Department of Public Works

New Partnership for African's Development

National Intelligence Co-ordinating Centre 

National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Disease

National Qualification Framework

National System of Innovation

Operational Boat Squadron

Officer Commanding 

Occupational Health and Safety

Occupational Specific Dispensation

Parachute

Portfolio Committee on Defence 

Plenary Defence staff Council

President's Emergency Plan for Aids Relief 

Public Finance Management Act

Prime Mission Equipment

Peace Mission training Centre 

Programme of Action

Peace Support Operations

Post-Exercise Discussion

Research and Development

Religious Bodies and Advisor Boards

Repair and Maintenance Programme

Regiment

Republic of South Africa

South African Air Force

South African Bureau of Standards 

South African Civil Aviation Authority

Southern African Development Community

Southern African Development Community Brigade

South African Defence Export Support Organisation

South African Defence-Related Industry

South African Industry

South African Military Health Service

South African Navy

South African Naval Armaments Depot
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SANDF
SAMVA

SAPS
SAQA

SASSETA
SBP

SC  
SCAMP

SCOA
Sec Def  

SG
SITA
SME
SMS
SMJ  
SSR  

TBD

UK  
UN

UNISA
USA

USAF
UNSC  

VIP

WAN
WATC
WHO

YFTP

South African National Defence Force

South African Military Veterans' Association

South African Police Service

South African Qualification Authority

Safety and Security Sector Education and Training Authority

Strategic Business Plan

Secretariat Council

Strategic Capital Acquisition Master Plan

Standard Chart of Accounts

Secretary of Defence 

Surgeon-General

State Information Technology Agency 

Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises

Senior Management Service

School of Military Justice

Security Sector Reform

To Be Determined

United Kingdom

United Nations

University of South Africa

United States of America

United States Air Force 

United National Security Council

Very Important Person

Wide Area Network

West African Training Cruise

World Health Organisation   

Youth Foundation Training Programme
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